Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2022:330

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan

The contents and shaping of transition work

Lessons learned from Norwegian ports

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Humanities Department of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan

The contents and shaping of transition work

Lessons learned from Norwegian ports

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, November 2022

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Humanities Department of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Humanities Department of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture

© Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan

ISBN 978-82-326-5344-7 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-5781-0 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2022:330

Printed by NTNU Grafisk senter

Preface

This thesis is submitted to the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD).

The research for this thesis has been performed at the Department of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture (KULT), Faculty of Humanities, NTNU, Trondheim. Professor Marianne Ryghaug has been the main supervisor, while Professor Tomas Moe Skjølsvold has been the co-supervisor.

The research has been undertaken as part of the research project Transition towards Zero Emission Ports (TRAZEPO) (2018–2022), which is funded by the Research Council of Norway's program EnergiX. The aim of TRAZEPO is to provide relevant decision-makers with knowledge of technologies and opportunities that may accelerate ports' transitions to zero-emission energy hubs. This involves understanding the prerequisites for transition work and dynamics between the microlevel (i.e., specific ports) and the macrolevel (i.e., the broader energy and transport system).

Abstract

To counter the increasingly visible effects of climate change, societies are forced to rethink the ways in which they function. To accelerate towards net zero emissions, policymakers should not only focus on technological innovation and technological diversity, but also stimulate non-technological change processes. Further, it is increasingly clear that societal transformations occur at the intersections of many different technologies and many different sectors. Thus, ports, which are located amidst many actors, sectors, and markets, could play a key role in societal transformation.

This thesis therefore addresses the need for knowledge and understanding of the ways in which ports can drive sustainability transitions. To do so, it turns to the content and shaping of transition work in three Norwegian ports. Transition work is here understood as all forms of deliberate and purposeful activities aiming to progress sustainability transitions. This understanding is based on perspectives on socio-technical stability and change expressed in the field of sustainability transitions and its theoretical lineage within science and technology studies (STS). I propose a conceptualization of transition work that I believe contributes to active narratives around applied agency, induces directionality onto agency in studies of sustainability transitions, provides empirically applicable constructs, and lead to explicit definitions of transition work.

This conceptualization of transition work has been applied to investigate the transition work of the Port of Narvik, the Port of Kristiansand, and the Port of Oslo. This investigation encouraged a conceptual framework for transition work that distinguishes between six types of such work: technological work, visionary work, governance and policy work, political work, reflexive work, and relational work. These groups serve to simplify the many facets of transition work and provide one way of collecting and gathering different activities that are dedicated to progress transition.

This thesis has further studied how different types of transition work emerge. Specifically, it has discussed ways in which transition work emerges within socio-technical configurations, which reflect transition dynamics typically expressed in the multi-level perspective (MLP). These discussions provide examples of the ways transition work is shaped by the unique socio-technical systems of which ports are part, the ways actors and technologies direct and influence transition work, they ways that landscape pressure contest rationalities and determine the need and scope for transition work, and the ways normative expectations of ports urge them to take on roles as intermediaries.

As particularly potent sites for deep transition and whole-system transformations, ports could play a cardinal role in society's quest for sustainable futures. However, this calls for ports and policy alike to recognize the potential transformative effect of the transition work of ports and the need to encourage such work through transformative policy mixes.

Acknowledgements

I never dreamed of becoming a doctor, at least not the philosophical kind. For someone who has never held high academic aspirations, studying for a doctoral degree might seem a peculiar choice. Still, this journey has shown me how useful apparently floating and evasive perspectives could be for engaging also with real world problems, and I am happy to have experienced that the work I have undertaken has made me better equipped to understand and deal with empirical problems in the practice fields I encounter.

My thanks go to Sigrid and Adrian for discussions in FME MoZEES, which led us to TRAZEPO. Thanks are also owed to my other TRAZEPO colleagues, Truls, Assiya, Hanne, Markus, and Lillian, for their excellent collaboration and engaging discussions. Especially, thanks are due to Hanne for all venting and debriefing sessions—it has been good knowing you had my back. Also, I thank our committed TRAZEPO partners: Ports of Norway, the Norwegian Coastal Administration, and the ports of Narvik, Oslo, and Kristiansand. Their time spent sharing knowledge and experience allowed us to gain a real understanding of ports as transition sites.

During my research for this thesis I have entered scholarly fields I had never heard of, with academic cultures and norms that are quite different from the ones with which I was already familiar. Therefore, getting into transition studies has been like learning an entirely new language for talking about issues I had already researched for some time. This has been by far the most challenging part of my doctoral research. However, somehow, I have ended up incorporating transition lingo into much of my research. Getting to this point is a huge win, and I would not have accomplished it without NTNU.

My fellow PhD students, in STS classes I had never thought I would ever sign up to, have demonstrated how incredibly useful and versatile STS is. Above all, I would like to thank my brilliant supervisors, Marianne Ryghaug and Tomas Moe Skjølsvold, for their enduring belief in, and patience with, an STS novice. I appreciate their calm and constructive approaches, their sociable and productive collaboration, and our interesting discussions. Their steady guiding hands definitely calmed my nerves when I was digging into the world of transitions.

I would also like to thank Timo von Wirth for a very useful critical reading of my thesis. His constructive insights helped to clarify many unfinished logics. I also appreciate the work of Roar and Unn Karin to get the practicalities in place so that I could do conduct my doctoral work as a SINTEF researcher. Also, I would like to highlight the general support and inspiration provided by my SINTEF colleagues. They are the main reason why I am excited to go to work every day. Special thanks go to "the persistent few," Astrid, the Ninas, and Kroken, who persevered in our offices during lockdowns.

Last, but most importantly, I wish to express my endless love and gratitude to my bunch at home, Magnus, Marius, Mali, and Gazi, for reminding me how unimportant degrees really are.

Trondheim, April 2022

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan

Table of contents

Preface	i
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	v
Contents	vi
List of figures	vii
List of tables	viii
	VIII

Part A: Introduction and overview

1	Intro	oduction1
	1.1	Purpose and objectives 4
	1.2	Structure of thesis
2	Prev	vious research: decarbonization efforts in the port sector
	2.1	The scope of decarbonization efforts in ports
	2.2	Renewed port functions and implications for sustainability 13
3	Trar	sition work for systemic change
	3.1	Socio-technical systems
	3.2	Socio-technical stability and change
	3.3	Agency for systemic transformation
	3.4	Beyond agency: towards a concept of transition work
	3.5	Shaping transition work through socio-technical configurations
	3.6	Summarizing transition work
4	Met	hods 39
	4.1	The empirical domain: the Norwegian port sector
	4.2	Methods and data 42
	4.3	Scope and transferability issues
	4.4	Naturalist approach to qualitative data

Part B: Papers

5	Рар	ers	59
5.	1	Paper summaries on transition work	95

Part C: Cross-cutting analysis

6	The	contents of transition work in Norwegian ports1	.03
	6.1	Technological work1	.05
	6.2	Visionary work 1	.05
	6.3	Governance and policy work 1	.06
	6.4	Political work 1	.08
	6.5	Reflexive work 1	.10
	6.6	Relational work 1	.11
	6.7	Summary of transition work in ports1	.11
7	The	shaping of transition work in Norwegian ports1	.13
	7.1	Shaping by socio-technical systems 1	.14
	7.2	Shaping by actors and technologies 1	.18
	7.3	Shaping by landscape pressures1	.22
	7.4	Shaping by normative rule developments 1	.29
8	Con	clusions1	.35
	8.1	The conceptualization, contents, and shaping of transition work 1	.35
	8.2	Transition work and transition potentials 1	.38
	8.3	Critical reflections on the nature of transition work1	.43
	8.4	The future of research and ports as transformative sectors1	.45
R	eferenc	es1	.48
A	opendix	res 1	.71

List of Figures

Figure 1. Trends in atmospheric concentrations of CO_2 (Carbon dioxide) (parts/million) 1750–202	16 1
Figure 2. Types of transition work and socio-technical elements that shape transition work	7
Figure 3. Ranking of the top five environmental priorities in European ports 2004–2021	10
Figure 4. Technologies and innovations implemented by Norwegian ports	12
Figure 5. Overview of transition dynamics in the multi-level perspective	24
Figure 6. Context for transition work: socio-technical configurations	36
Figure 7. Port calls and throughput in Norwegian ports, 2010–2020	40
Figure 8. Port calls from main vessel segments in the case ports in 2020	41
Figure 9. Hypothetical preliminary timeline used to guide interviews.	52
Figure 10. Summarized normative expectations of ports.	131
Figure 11. Example of socio-technical configurations in ports.	140
Figure 12. Examples of connections between socio-technical configurations in ports	141

List of Tables

Table 1. Research questions concerning the concept, contents, and shaping of transition work	5
Table 2. Environmental issues in ports and relevant innovations and technologies	11
Table 3. Elements of socio-technical systems	18
Table 4. Elements of socio-technical regimes	23
Table 5. Agency as expressed in activities identified in studies of sustainability transitions	30
Table 6. Summary of the theoretical foundations for conceptualization of transition work	37
Table 7. Overview of the data collection	43
Table 8. Policies and regulations reviewed in the research relating to the thesis	44
Table 9. Actors included in the data collection	46
Table 10. General topics covered in interview guide for collecting data for Paper 1 and Paper 2	2 49
Table 11. Codes used for analyzing the interview data for Paper 1 and Paper 2	50
Table 12. Codes used to identify problems, policies, and politics in events	53
Table 13. Content and shaping of transition work	95
Table 14. Examples of transition work discussed in the thesis.	104
Table 15. Examples of the shaping of transition work discussed in the thesis.	113
Table 16. Summary of the ways in which socio-technical systems may shape transition work	118
Table 17. Summary of the claims about the shaping of transition work	137

Part A: Introduction and overview

1 Introduction

To counter the increasingly visible effects of climate change, societies are forced to rethink the ways in which they function. Although sustainable futures are multifaceted and require attention to numerous social, economic, and environmental challenges, policy, research and development (R&D), and public debate all tend to revolve around needs to cut global emissions. The sixth assessment report from the International Panel on Climate Change (2021, 2022) clearly demonstrates the severity of climate change and the obvious need to cut emissions to limit further escalation. However, despite a series of global policy efforts to counter climate-related developments—from the first World Climate Conference in 1979, the United Nation's Framework Convention on Climate Change in 1995, the Kyoto Protocol's entry into force in 2005, to the adoption of the Paris Agreement in 2015—CO₂ emissions have continued to increase (Figure 1). Therefore, it is clear that the latest acts of the world community, exemplified by the UN's Climate Change Conference (COP26) held in Glasgow in 2021 and the European Green Deal, a new growth strategy of the European Union (EU), need to significantly accelerate counter efforts.



Figure 1. Trends in atmospheric concentrations of CO₂ (Carbon dioxide) (parts/million) 1750–2016 Source: European Environment Agency (2017)

The Science Advice for Policy by European Academies (SAPEA 2021) consortium suggests that to accelerate towards net zero emissions, policymakers should not only focus on technological innovation and technological diversity, but also stimulate non-technological change processes. Both SAPEA and a growing community of scholars consider that such acceleration is essential in order to succeed with sustainable transformations of contemporary society. In parallel, research on energy and sustainability transitions is mounting, and is concerned with how societal functions could be maintained in a more sustainable manner, assuming that transitions depend on the breakthrough of sustainable niche innovations that are supported by renewed regulation, science, culture, norms, and economic structures. Scholars have typically focused on transitions in the energy system, (e.g., Erlinghagen & Markard 2012, Kern & Howlett 2009, Raven & Verbong 2007, Solomon & Krishna 2011), but increasingly they are finding themselves working within a research field dedicated to transitions also in sectors that

converge or interact with energy systems, such as the transport sector (Geels 2012, Ghosh & Schot 2019, Mullen & Marsden 2016, Sopjani et al. 2019, Sovacool 2017). Common to much research on transitions is the focus on single technologies that could usher in transformative processes within a given sector. For instance, in transport-related research, scholars have so far focused mainly on the rise of electric automobiles (e.g. Figenbaum 2017, Sovacool 2017).

However, it is increasingly clear that societal transformations occur at the intersections of many different technologies and many different sectors, leading some scholars to focus on interactions between sectors and systems (e.g., Brown et al. 2018, Rosenbloom 2020). In recent years, this has led to discussions on *deep transitions* or *whole system transformation*. McMeekin et al. (2019) draw attention to interdependencies between subsystems, arguing that "whole system transition involves multiple changes that unfold over decades and may involve knock-on effects or innovation cascades" (p. 1219). Furthermore, Schot and Kanger's notion of deep transition (2019, 2018) covers the intersectoral nature of societal transformation more explicitly. They argue that transformations of a wide range of socio-technical systems occurs over the course of centuries, unfolding in waves, with each wave contributing to "broadening and deepening" the transition. Schot and Kanger build their conceptualization on a review of the history of industrialization, in which developments within mechanization and mass production spurred and strengthened transitions across different sectors, such as agriculture, transport, and housing.

Thus, recent transition studies have recognized the need to focus on how multiple niche innovations could diffuse in order to accelerate sustainable transformations of interconnected systems. One type of transition site that connects several systems is ports. Ports are particularly useful cases for exploring and understanding transitions that unfold between different sectors, as well as between different levels of regulation and government. Ports are nodes in transport systems and potential nodes in future energy systems. They connect road, rail, and sea transport, and can produce and provide low-emission energies and operations for various actors on sea and land. Thus, port organizations,¹ which are located amidst the many actors, sectors, and markets that intersect in ports, could play a key role in transitioning different sectors. However, the central position of ports has yet to be fully recognized, as expressed by the efforts of the European Sea Ports Organisation (ESPO) to obtain recognition of the role of ports in transitioning mobility systems. ESPO highlights that transport policies should recognize port organizations as facilitators in the ecosystem of ports, that such ecosystems are crucial elements in value chains, and that ports should be considered key partners in implementing ambitious environmental policy (ESPO 2020c). ESPO further contends that port organizations "can act as catalysts by including tools to facilitate, promote, raise awareness and encourage the decarbonization and greening of their stakeholders in their port strategies" (ESPO 2020c:2).

Also in Norway, the main function of ports has not been to facilitate sustainability and emission reductions among its users. Rather, the role of ports in regional production, supply and value chains has primarily made them centers for labor and economic activity, with a

¹ Publicly or privately owned enterprises responsible for managing the port.

commercial raison-d'être. This has been the case for private and public ports alike, and the many public port enterprises have mainly taken a laissez-faire approach to port governance, in which the port board and the port management have been granted a large degree of autonomy by public owners. However, ports are reorienting their roles and increasingly focusing on their own potential in moving port actors and activities towards more sustainable functioning.

A growing volume of research has addressed the sustainability efforts of ports and different governance approaches that port organizations can undertake to deal effectively with global and local emissions (e.g. Lim et al. 2019, Verhoeven 2010). This research field has focused on specific technologies and innovations that port organizations could implement to reduce emissions from their own and their users' operations. However, to date the research has generated little empirical knowledge about the actual implementations and applications of technologies and innovations, and has mainly comprised hypothetical, conceptual, and modelling studies pointing to the potential of solutions (Bjerkan & Seter 2019). Consequently, current research has informed little about how ports may drive transformations in other sectors as well as their own transformations. A first step towards understanding the transformative potential of transition sites such as ports is to increase our knowledge and understanding of how ports address sustainability, meaning what specific actions and interactions they take in response to the many different sustainability challenges they face.

In this thesis I address the need for knowledge and understanding of the ways in which ports can drive sustainability transitions. Studies of sustainability transitions provide many different understandings of how transitions could be furthered. Transition Management (e.g. Loorbach & Rotmans 2010) and Strategic Niche Management (e.g. Schot & Geels 2008) focus on ways in which transition processes or particular niches could be deliberately fostered and promoted. Scholars of Technological Innovation Systems (e.g. Bergek et al. 2008) seek to understand how sustainable technologies evolve amidst actors, networks and institutions. Also prominently placed in transition studies are understandings inherent in the multi-level perspective (MLP), which assumes that transitions. More specifically, the MLP asserts that transitions develop when established ways of maintaining societal functions (e.g., transport) are placed under pressures that reduce the legitimacy and ability of existing social and technical system elements to uphold specific functions.

Different understandings of how change processes emerge and progress also contain different perspectives and emphases on the role of actors and agency in those processes. Although the MLP has been criticized for insufficiently recognizing the role of agency in transitions, many scholars in science and technology (STS) and sustainability transitions have highlighted the roles of actors and users. They refer to active expressions of agency, such as institutional entrepreneurialism (e.g. Duygan et al. 2019), strategic niche management (e.g. Schot & Geels 2008), and intermediation (e.g. Kivimaa et al. 2019b). However, agency could also be associated with the *potential* to act, expressed through, for example, actor roles and resources. In this sense, agency could be understood as something that someone has, and that *could* be purposefully applied. In my perspective, this understanding represents latent expressions of agency is not necessarily followed by action.

In studying the ways in which ports engage with their sustainability challenges, I wish to emphasize the active dimension of agency more fervently. Therefore, I seek an operationalization of agency that allows for identifying specific activities or practices in ports that are deliberately and purposefully executed to progress sustainability transitions. As such, I also engage explicitly with transitions-in-the-making (e.g. Elzen et al. 2011), which, in contrast to many studies focusing on historical transitions, orient towards currently evolving sprouts of transition. As elaborated in Chapter 3, I do so by introducing my conceptualization of the term *transition work*.

In this thesis, I discuss transition work as an enabler in processes of socio-technical change. By focusing on socio-technical changes that enhance sustainability in and around ports, as potential sites of whole-system transformations, the thesis finds obvious place within studies of sustainability transitions. However, in building my conceptualization of transition work, which rests of different understandings of agencies on socio-technical change process, I also lean on some of the lineage of sustainability transitions that is found in science and technology studies (STS). Like sustainability transitions, STS also engages with socio-technical change, and ideas of socio-technical systems – which are key in understandings of sustainability transitions – developed in the forming years of STS. Thus, its focus on transition work as a driver to change socio-technical systems, also places this thesis within one of the core STS perspectives identified by Hess & Sovacool (2020). However, as elaborated in Chapter 3, the STS connection of this thesis is downplayed by its lack of emphasis on the agency of things, although it is recognized. Further, in this thesis I will not go into the black box of socio-technical matters to the same extent as STS scholars would, i.e. to investigate how "socio-technical matters are defined, constructed, maintained and shaped" (Hess & Sovacool 2020:14).

Finally, this thesis departs from STS in its orientation towards layered structuration. I seek to understand under what conditions active expressions of agency, in this thesis understood as transition work, emerge. Accordingly, I address the embeddedness of transition work, highlighting that transition work (like other forms of agency) occurs within particular structures. The three papers on which this thesis is based all demonstrate that transition work is not separable from structure, but rather emerges and evolves as proactive and reactive responses to the socio-technical contexts of which they are a part.. As elaborated in Chapter 3, I discuss the structuring of transition work with reference to its embeddedness in socio-technical configurations, implying that the configurations represent ways of enabling, directing, or limiting transition work.

1.1 Purpose and objectives

Thus far, I have pointed to certain theoretical and empirical observations that remain fundamental throughout this thesis. First, despite the substantial amount of attention paid by transition scholars to dynamics and processes that drive sustainability transitions, and despite the recognized role of actors and agency in those processes, transition studies have yet to provide a comprehensive understanding of the active dimensions of agency that deliberately and purposefully propel transitions. Second, despite of ports being an obvious example of transition sites that could unite transition work across different sectors, scholars who focus on sustainability transitions and port governance alike have yet to examine dedicatedly and comprehensively the activities that port organizations and port actors initiate to enhance sustainability.

Thus, by applying perspectives from sustainability transitions to investigate the sustainability efforts of the port sector, this thesis seeks to operationalize active dimensions of agency as transition work and to increase our knowledge and understanding of the content and shaping of transition work. More specifically, this thesis addresses the research questions listed in Table 1. The first question represents a response to what I consider is a gap in the operationalization of agency in transition studies, and which I mainly address with reference to established understandings of agency and change processes in studies of sustainability transitions, as well as science and technology studies . The second and third questions allow for an exploration of what transition work ports are doing, and how the transition work emerged. The three research questions are related to the empirical work described in this thesis, which is focused on the three Norwegian ports of Narvik, Kristiansand, and Oslo.

Table 1. Research questions concerning the concept, contents, and shaping of transition work.

ansition work	Concept	RQ1: How could agency be operationalized to capture more fully the active dimensions that promote sustainability transitions?
	Contents	RQ2: How are actors in the port sector working to promote and accelerate transitions in and around ports?
11	Shaping	RQ3: How do particular forms of transition work emerge?

1.2 Structure of thesis

To increase our conceptual understanding of transition work, what transition work contains, and how it emerges, this thesis draws on empirical investigations of the port sector. The next chapter provides an overview of current knowledge about the sustainability efforts of ports and aspects that might encourage or discourage ports from explicitly engaging with sustainability issues. Drawing on literature from research on port governance, Chapter 2 also demonstrates the need for more deliberate investigation of not only what technologies and innovations ports are directing their attention towards, but also the *ways* in which ports deal with sustainability and the specific activities they engage in to realize sustainability strategies. Considering how the lack of attention to the actual practices of ports has been identified as a gap in research on port sustainability (Bjerkan & Seter 2019), conceptualizations of transition work could also facilitate further empirical investigations of sustainability efforts in the port sector.

The operationalization of active agency as transition work, and hence the first research question of this thesis, is covered in Chapter 3. As Chapter 3 shows, my understanding of transition work relates strongly to its potential for progressing sustainability transitions. As sustainability transitions are typically considered the products of change processes surrounding socio-technical systems, it follows that transition work could also be considered

a component of such change. Thus, Chapter 3 starts with an overview of existing notions of socio-technical change processes, as understood by research on sustainability transition and science and technology studies. Specifically, the ways in which these understandings of change processes account for and understand agency are crucial to my conceptualization of transition work. Although agency is a prominent feature in much of the theoretical lineage of this thesis, there is a need to move towards understandings of agency that more explicitly emphasize *applied agencies*, rather than latent agencies inherent in, for example, power and resources. For this reason, I present four arguments that demonstrate the need to conceptualize transition work, which relate to agency applied, the directionality of agency, epistemological understandings of agency, as well as existing use of the concept of transition work in the literature.

Chapter 3 further elaborates on understandings in the multi-level perspective that are particularly instrumental in framing discussions on the shaping of transition work. In Chapter 7, the shaping of transition work is discussed with reference to socio-technical configurations, the elements of which derive from understandings of transition dynamics primarily described by Geels (2004). In Chapter 3 I show how the different elements of such dynamics—socio-technical systems, actors, and sociotechnical regimes—and their interactions with niche and landscape pressures could all be expected to shape transition work in different ways.

Chapter 4 presents the empirical basis of this thesis. It gives an overview of the Norwegian port sector and the three ports that have been studied. It also describes how document studies and qualitative expert interviews (i.e., interviews with experts) have been applied to explore transition work, including what documents and actors were included in data collection, as well as strategies for data collection and analysis. The chapter ends also includes a short discussion of the transferability implications of data and methods. Considering that this thesis is anchored within the highly constructivist tradition of science and technology studies, Chapter 4 ends with some reflections on the naturalist character of the data collection.

Chapter 5 provides an overview of the three published papers included in this thesis. Specifically, the overview describes the transition work identified in the studies presented in the papers, as well as what elements of socio-technical configurations could have contributed to the emergence of specific transition work. Thus, Chapter 5 addresses the second and third research questions of this thesis, regarding the contents and shaping of transition work.

These research questions are discussed more fully in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7. Chapter 6 provides a thorough discussion of what types of activities (i.e., transition work) have been identified in the empirical investigations. More specifically, it distinguishes between six types of transition work—technological, visionary, policy and governance, political, reflexive, relational—that might be interconnected and/or induce other types of transition work. With reference to Papers 1–3, as well as understandings of socio-technical configurations presented in Chapter 3, Chapter 7 discusses what might have shaped the transition work described in Chapter 6. This is done with reference to eight claims about the shaping of transition work (as shown in Figure 2), concerning how transition work emerges in relation to socio-technical





Figure 2. Types of transition work and socio-technical elements that shape transition work.

Finally, Chapter 8 presents the conclusions relating to the three research questions (listed in Table 1). The chapter also presents reflections on the potential of the port sector to drive deep or whole system transformations, and ways in which transition work could provide linkages between systems or socio-technical configurations in such transformation processes. It also includes some critical reflections on the motivations and transformative nature of transition work. Chapter 8 is concluded with some thoughts on the future of ports both as sectors and as the subject of research.

2 Previous research: decarbonization efforts in the port sector

Ports are facing increasing pressure to reduce emissions and negative impacts on their surroundings. In accordance with the European Green Deal (European Commission 2019b), "transport should become drastically less polluting" and the policy initiatives highlight efficient multimodal transport as a crucial element in achieving net zero greenhouse gas emissions from the EU member states within 2050. As nodes in transport, industry, and energy sectors, ports could be strategic partners in realizing such ambitions (ESPO 2020b, ESPO 2020d) because (1) they are potential producers, suppliers, and facilitators of clean energy solutions, (2) they can create synergies between industries, and (3) they are potential centers of circularity (ESPO 2020c).

Hence, the strategic importance of ports rests on their role in connecting several sectors and thus their ability to impact transition endeavors in those sectors. When referring to sustainability efforts in ports, one might readily think of activities aimed at the many operations taking place at the physical premises under the jurisdiction of the port authority or the port company. These typically comprise the lifting, stacking, and shifting of containers, the collection of port fees and waste, customs and security clearances, vessel repairs, and industrial production, all of which are carried out by terminal operators, goods owners, industrial companies, and providers of maintenance services. However, sustainability efforts in ports may also include activities aimed at the transport systems that intersect in ports. Sustainability efforts related to sea transport could, for example, be directed at the arrival, departure and (un)loading of vessels, fuel bunkering, and naval services linked to piloting and tugboat operations. By contrast, sustainability efforts related to land transport could be directed at the arrival, departure and (un)loading of trains and vehicles, as well as fueling. Furthermore, sustainability efforts aimed at both types of transport systems could involve shipping and transport companies, shipping and forwarding agents, owners of vessels and vehicles, fuels providers, and infrastructure owners.

Thus, port sustainability issues concern a number of different activities carried out by a range of different actors. Given that ports are located amidst these many actors and activities, they potentially play a crucial role in moving entire transport systems towards zero emissions.

The ways in which systems boundaries of sustainability activities are reflected in ports is also a central issue to be addressed in research and practice. This has generated a growing and substantial body of research on port sustainability.

2.1 The scope of decarbonization efforts in ports

Although transition studies have previously paid limited attention to the port sector, the practice field itself and scholars who study port governance provide valuable insights into port approaches to environmental sustainability. One valuable source of information on the sustainability efforts of ports are the environmental reports of the European Sea Ports Organisation, which provide regular, self-reported accounts of the environmental

performance and priorities of European ports.² In 2021, the five most prominent environmental priorities of European ports were air quality, climate change, energy efficiency, noise, and relationship with the local community. Figure 3 shows how the prominence of these priorities has evolved since 2004, demonstrating how air quality, energy efficiency, and noise have become stable focus areas in the European port sector. However, the importance of efforts targeting climate change has increased significantly. To some extent, this contrasts with environmental priorities in Norwegian ports, which still give lower priority to global emissions and energy use than to emissions to water and noise reduction (Bjerkan et al. 2021c).



Figure 3. Ranking of the top five environmental priorities in European ports 2004–2021. Source: ESPO Environmental Report 2021 (ESPO 2021).

The scope of sustainability efforts in the port sector can also be understood from the many scientific studies that address the environmental performance of ports (e.g. Di Vaio et al. 2018, Puig et al. 2014). Environmental issues in ports cover the many dimensions of port activity, ranging from local and global air emissions from vessels, vehicles, and machinery to emissions to water and consumption, waste generation, and recycling (Table 2). This multitude of environmental issues, arising from the multitude of activities taking place in port areas and adjacent transport systems, also renders relevant a range of innovations and technologies that can improve port sustainability.

Research on port sustainability has focused mainly on how the sustainability efforts of ports could be aided by port policies and managerial solutions, such as port plans, concession agreements, monitoring, port dues, and energy management (e.g. Acciaro et al. 2014a, Acciaro et al. 2014b, Bergqvist & Egels-Zandén 2012, Ferrari et al. 2015, Schipper et al. 2017).

² The reports are based on self-reported data from member ports in ESPO, and thus comprise only a limited part of the European port sector. For instance, the *Environmental Report 2021* (ESPO 2021) is based on responses from 97 ports.

Researchers have also focused on the many ways ports can reduce emissions by producing and providing energy from renewable sources, such as wind, solar, wave, tidal, and geothermal, or by providing alternative fuels (e.g., hydrogen, LNG, methanol) or fuels with low sulfur levels (e.g. Calderón et al. 2016, Gibbs et al. 2014, López-Aparicio et al. 2017, Ramos et al. 2014, Styhre et al. 2017). In addition to supplying port users on sea and land with different types of fuels, port authorities could seek emission reductions in sea and land activities by promoting speed reductions for vessels approaching/departing the port areas (e.g. Jia et al. 2017, Linder 2018), by increasing the efficiency of port operations (e.g.Johnson & Styhre 2015, Moon & Woo 2014, Torkjazi et al. 2018), by promoting modal shifts (e.g. Bergqvist et al. 2015, Gonzales-Aregall et al. 2019), and by reducing emissions from industrial activities in ports (e.g. Fenton 2017).

	Air emissions	Environmental guality	Light emissions	Water
Š	Air quality	Environmental policy	Noise	consumption
sue	Combustion	Environmental	Pollutant emissions	Water
lis	Eco-efficiency	management	Port development	management
nta	Effects on local ecosystem	Environmental training	Recycling	Water quality
me	Emission control	Greenhouse gas	Resource	
on	Energy consumption	emissions	consumption	
nvir	Environmental accidents	Knowledge	Shipping emissions	
ū	Environmental costs	management	Waste generation	
S	Automation	Electrification	Methanol	Shore power
gie s	Biofuels	Geothermal energy	Modal split	Solar energy
olc	Clean industrial activity	Hydrogen	Monitoring	Speed reduction
hn. /ati	Collaboration	LNG	Concessions	Tidal energy
tec	Efficient vessel handling	Low-sulfur fuel	Port dues	Wind energy
int J in	Efficient trucking	Management of	Port plans	Wave energy
eva and	Efficient	environment and		
Rel	loading/unloading	energy		

Table 2. Environmental issues in ports and relevant innovations and technologies.
Sources: Di Vaio et al. (2018), Bjerkan & Seter (2019).

Although significant research has been done on technologies and innovations that might reduce emissions from ports and connected transport systems, it has tended to emphasize potentials and opportunities associated with these solutions rather actual implementations and empirical experiences. Thus, research has provided limited knowledge about actual, practical sustainability efforts in ports (Bjerkan & Seter 2019), which is necessary to assist decision-makers in ports and policymakers in identifying and specifying potential and promising avenues for continued transition efforts.

However, in recent years there has been an increasing focus on the actual sustainability endeavors of ports. In a recent study of 93 ports worldwide, Sornn-Friese et al. (2021) examined ports that did and did not adopt solutions to reduce air emissions, while Ashrafi et al. (2019) conducted a survey to investigate sustainability efforts and approaches to corporate social responsibility in Canadian and US ports. Canadian ports were also targeted by Hossain et al. (2019), who particularly investigated their use of administrative and managerial measures. Other studies have taken qualitative approaches to understand the scope and content of sustainability efforts in ports. Poulsen et al. (2018) conducted interviews with port representatives to learn about their experiences and assessments concerning specific solutions for reducing emissions from port activities, such as shore power, LNG, virtual arrival, and traffic management. Similarly, Lozano et al. (2019) interviewed representatives of a Swedish port and its users to study how organizational change management in ports could promote port sustainability. The above-mentioned studies have provided a first glimpse into factors that shape sustainability efforts in ports. For instance, the authors found that economic costs and financial concerns outweighed environmental concerns. They also suggest that ports engage in sustainability issues when they are located close to urban populations, and when emissions are visible, when there is governmental push, and when potential solutions are easily implemented and financed.

Most research on port sustainability relates to the practices of large, front-runner ports. Hence, small and medium-sized ports, which comprise the majority of ports in Norway and worldwide, have received less attention. The sustainability efforts of Norwegian ports have recently been examined through a survey of 96 Norwegian private and public ports, and the findings revealed what technologies and innovations that the ports were orientated towards, as well as the scope and character of their sustainability efforts (Bjerkan et al. 2021b, Bjerkan et al. 2021c). As shown in Figure 4, 82% of Norwegian ports had implemented at least one measure to improve sustainability, and shore power was the most frequently implemented measure (Bjerkan et al. 2021b). The finding corresponds with the finding in the latest ESPO environmental report (ESPO 2021), which shows that 57% of the European ports in the sample had implemented shore power in 2021. The report also shows that 31% of ports had implemented LNG, and 53% had implemented differentiated port fees for vessels with greener fuels. Furthermore, in Norwegian ports, the most prominent drivers in implementing solutions to improve sustainability relate to support and pressure from owners and the surroundings, as well as political governance and steering by port owners. Economic conditions also represent primary barriers, followed by access to and demand for low-emission technologies (Bjerkan et al. 2021b).



Figure 4. Technologies and innovations implemented by Norwegian ports. Source: Bjerkan et al. (2021b:12).

2.2 Renewed port functions and implications for sustainability

Research on Norwegian ports shows significant variation in whether and how ports address sustainability. For example, there are clear differences in the approaches followed by private and public ports, ports with dissimilar traffic volumes and characteristics, and ports that take either more or less active roles in facilitating sustainability endeavors in the entire port area (Bjerkan et al. 2021b, Bjerkan et al. 2021c). Damman and Steen (2021) discuss how opportunities for enabling energy transitions in ports relate not only to exogenous landscape pressures and the involvement with niche innovations, but also to place and geographical contexts, to the networks and institutions each port belongs to, and the opportunities provided by each port's role and functions. Port functions have received substantial attention in the literature on port governance and go a long way in describing the contexts within which ports execute their sustainability efforts.

In recent years, the literature on port governance has increasingly discussed how port functions have evolved in response to structural changes in the port sector. Historically, ports have been considered engines of economic growth in coastal areas and the hinterland through creating jobs, providing cheap and effective transport, and enabling exchanges of goods and materials (Cheon 2017, Dwarakish & Salim 2015). In Norway, the primary activity of ports has been to facilitate maritime transport (Ports of Norway 2017). Hence, the functions of ports have been geared to facilitating and enabling flows of information, materials, resources, and people within and between countries, and across seas and oceans (Fenton 2017:271).

Scholars who have studied port governance have typically distinguished between three main functions that port authorities have sought to uphold: the landlord function, the regulator function, and the operator function (Acciaro et al. 2014b, Poulsen et al. 2018, Verhoeven 2010). As landlords, ports act as owners responsible for port areas and the port's estate, infrastructure, and facilities. This implies ensuring that they are maintained and developed in an appropriate and efficient manner, and in line with policies and plans established to ensure responsible management of physical resources (Verhoeven 2010). The landlord function is still quite prominent in Norwegian ports, and approximately 80% of ports work with the administration, maintenance, and development of property (Bjerkan et al. 2021c). By contrast, the responsibilities inherent in the regulator function are more immaterial and include controlling, surveillance, and policing (Verhoeven 2010). Depending on the types of activities and operations that characterize the individual port, ports need to comply with and uphold different regulations related to the handling of goods, passengers, and vessels, such as regulations concerned with environmental protection, health, and safety issues. This also includes ensuring that port users and tenants abide by the same regulations. Many ports are highly focused on environmental security and complying with regulations to protect against spills and emissions to water. In some cases, the ports themselves also issue and enforce own regulations, for example when they include environmental scores as a basis for calculating port fees for vessels. Overall, most Norwegian ports are dedicated to the regulator function, and over 90% claim to impose requirements, rules, and fees on their users (Bjerkan et al. 2021c).

Historically, ports have also taken on the role as operator, which implies that the port organization itself is responsible for carrying out port services, such as handling goods and waste in the port area and technical-nautical services such as pilotage, towage, mooring, and anchor services (Verhoeven 2010). However, the operator function has been increasingly outsourced and ports are less often involved in practical port operations and services. In Norway, only 25% of ports provided port services themselves in 2020, while 42% were involved in the practical handling of goods and passengers (Bjerkan et al. 2021c). However, while the operator function has diminished throughout the port sector, another function has emerged and become vital to the continued development of ports, namely the community manager function.

Community management is "a coordinating function, meant to solve collective action problems in and outside the port area, such as hinterland bottlenecks, training and education, ICT, marketing and promotion as well as innovation and internationalization" (Verhoeven 2010:257). It also involves lobbying on behalf the port community, as well as aligning interests (Verhoeven 2010), and ensuring good relationships between port actors (Chlomoudis et al. 2003). This aspect of the community manager function relates to the position of ports as links in global supply chains, allowing and catalyzing also global economic growth and development (Becker et al. 2013). The position fits with the increasingly global character of the port sector, in which increasing disconnection between the port and economic actors discourages the latter from binding their operations and investments to their local port. This requires ports to find new ways to uphold relationships with existing users and customers and to establish relationships with potential users and customers (Verhoeven 2010). Another aspect of the community manager function relates specifically to increasing pressures regarding environmental sustainability. The environmental dimension of port sustainability has received less attention in the past than social and economic dimensions. The economic dimension of port sustainability (Sislian et al. 2016), which highlights returns on investment, efficient land use, and facility provision, could be considered a core dimension in the landlord function of ports. The social dimension of port sustainability, which highlights labor in port areas, relations with local communities, and the livability of neighboring areas (Sislian et al. 2016), has been prominent in the operator function of ports, but has also been strengthened as ports have moved towards community management.

Ports have a dual nature as public bodies with corporate characteristics that are "deeply rooted in the local normative and social context" (Acciaro 2015:293). This suggests that ports need to acknowledge their own impacts on the development of local communities in order to maintain their license to operate (Verhoeven 2010). Thus, the environmental dimension of port sustainability has arisen from the need to seek legitimacy from local communities and public opinion, as well as from customers and users (Acciaro 2015). Also, pressure from markets and governments to address the societal and environmental dimensions of ports has fostered the prevalence of the community manager function (De Langen 2007), and has increased ports' stake in environmentalism, urban development, labor conditions, and the interests of neighboring communities (Verhoeven 2010).

Conventional port authority functions could enable sustainability efforts through, for example, including environmental concerns in port development projects (landlord function),

monitoring and regulating pollution (regulator function), or reducing emissions in the port authorities' own activities (operator function) (Acciaro et al. 2014b). In private ports in particular, port authorities could also engage port users in sustainable behavior by drawing on the mechanisms available to the port through the landlord and regulator function (Verhoeven 2010). However, even more explicitly, the community manager function encourages multilateral engagement with the different sets of users that inhabit and comprise port operations and activities. Ports that attend to the community manager function actively seek to promote sustainability efforts also among port users and stakeholders by promoting the use of technologies and practices that reduce emissions, and by demonstrating marketing opportunities associated with showcasing green profiles and specific sustainability efforts (Acciaro et al. 2014b). Furthermore, the sustainability efforts of community managers are characterized by collective action, the alignment of interests, and lobbying on behalf of the port community, as the ability to demonstrate environmental performance is a strategic effort to ensure the legitimacy of entire port clusters (van der Lugt et al. 2013).

The degree to which different port authority functions correspond to sustainability efforts has not received substantial attention in research on port governance. One exception is a Norwegian study that found community management to be prominent among port authorities that were progressive in their sustainability efforts (Bjerkan et al. 2021c), for example by reducing energy use, working strategically to become low- or zero-emission ports, and implementing more technologies and practices to improve port sustainability.

In sum, this chapter has shown that the functions of ports are evolving in ways that make ports orient more actively towards their communities and towards environmental sustainability. However, the chapter also highlights a lack of empirical research on sustainability efforts in ports, specifically how port organizations and other actors in ports engage to facilitate and promote environmental sustainability. The gap in knowledge highlights the need to pay more direct attention to port practices and activities aimed at sustainability. In the next chapter I seek to accommodate this need by conceptualizing transition work, thus responding to the first research question in this thesis, about the conceptualization of transition work.

3 Transition work for systemic change

To provide an elaborate and theoretically grounded understanding of transition work, I will in this chapter present and discuss theoretical underpinnings that I consider useful to conceptualize transition work. I will also exemplify insights from sustainability transitions and STS that can inform about the transition work of ports. Additionally, I present my approach to discuss the shaping of transition work.

My conceptualization and understanding of transition work is closely related to notions of change, as transition work could per se be considered efforts to induce change. Studies of sustainability transitions are concerned with dynamics of stability and change. More specifically, they are dedicated to understanding change processes that lead towards sustainability, and they rely on understandings of socio-technical systems to study such processes. Therefore, I start with an introduction to the concept of socio-technical systems, before presenting a selection of perspectives on socio-technical change and stability. These theories—placed within both studies of sustainability transitions and within science and technology studies —all provide perspectives on the nature of change processes in which actors, users, and other agents are all prospective executors of transition work.

3.1 Socio-technical systems

Transition scholars typically consider socio-technical systems to encapsule societal functions, which are upheld and reproduced by the socio-technical systems that constitute them (exemplified in Table 3). According to Sorrell (2018:1269), a socio-technical system comprises "the dominant technologies, infrastructures, industries, supply chains and organizations associated with delivering a particular function." Such societal functions may be water supply, housing, energy provision, and transport. Performing these societal functions depends on linkages and alignment between "tangible and measurable elements," which are reproduced, maintained, and modified by social groups and actors (Geels 2005, Geels 2012, Geels & Kemp 2007). Transition scholars also highlight the cohesion provided by institutions, as they embed or produce certain values and beliefs that guide actor behavior (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2016, Genus 2016). In addition, transition scholars particularly emphasize the core technologies of socio-technical systems (Sorrell 2018), the strength and position of which is shaped by their co-evolution and interdependence with other elements in the socio-technical system (Geels 2004).

One vital societal function of ports is facilitating the shifting of goods between land and sea transport, in which cranes and stackers are core technologies. The operation of these technologies depends on infrastructure for refueling or recharging, and on networks for repairs and maintenance. Furthermore, ports relate to a range of other artifacts, such as containers, ships, trucks, and the goods themselves. The technologies and the artifacts are operated by dock laborers and sailors, who incorporate their usage into their own practices and develop knowledge about them accordingly. The operation of technologies and artifacts is also bound by regulations related to health, safety, and environment, and regulations concerning air emissions and noise levels. Thus, following understandings of socio-technical systems, the successful shifting of goods (i.e., the societal function of ports) emerges from smooth and mutually supportive interaction between core technologies, infrastructure,

maintenance and repair networks, other artifacts, user practices, and regulation. It could also rest on norms and routines following historical cultural practices associated with transporting particular types of goods in particular ways or along particular routes.

Table 3. Elements of socio-technical systems Source: Geels (2004, 2005, 2011), Geels & Kemp (2007)

Artifacts	Knowledge	Regulation
Consumption practices	Maintenance networks	Science
Cultural meaning	Markets	Supply networks
Cultural discourse	Production networks	Technology
Infrastructure	Public opinion	User practices

Socio-technical systems enable societal functions because they have become stable over many decades (Geels 2018a). Transition scholars argue that the stability of socio-technical systems is preserved by their material, economic, and social characteristics. The materialist component of socio-technical systems (e.g., in the form of cranes, docks, and containers) produces stability because it is hard to abandon, while sunk investments in infrastructure, production lines, and skills reduce willingness to invest in new technologies that could also uphold the societal function covered by the socio-technical system (Geels 2004). In the port sector, stability is also provided by existing market structures, in which fierce inter-port competition imposes a great risk for ports that, for example, wish to introduce alternative fuels for vessels. Additionally, stability is provided by regulations that define the autonomous nature of public ports, allowing them to emphasize the commercial aspects of their mandates rather than societal aspects. Equally importantly, socio-technical systems are stable because they are inherently tied to social actor groups, the interactions of which not only produce, maintain, and modify the socio-technical system, but also introduce interests, perceptions, values and norms, preferences, strategies, and resources (Fraedrich et al. 2015:2). Geels (2012) argues that the socio-technical systems themselves also impact social practices, as "people adapt their lifestyles to artifacts" (Geels 2004:911).

3.2 Socio-technical stability and change

The stability of socio-technical systems is at the core of understandings of socio-technical change. This applies to research in sustainability transitions and STS alike, as understandings of socio-technical change connects to a series of perspectives typically located within these (Sovacool & Hess 2017, Sovacool et al. 2020a). Sustainability transitions are considered to occur when socio-technical changes lead for example ports to uphold their societal function in a more sustainable manner. The ways in which socio-technical changes occur have been subject to extensive scholarly discussions, and in this thesis, I contribute to the discussions by suggesting that transition work is an accelerating force in developing and altering socio-technical systems. However, this understanding of transition work builds on several notions of socio-technical stability and change, as represented by transition scholars, as well as understandings from science and technology studies (STS).

3.2.1 Perspectives from science and technology studies

Three perspectives from science and technology studies (STS) are particularly useful in understanding socio-technical stability and change: large technical systems (LTS), social

construction of technology (SCOT), and actor-network theory (ANT). These discuss how systems, technological artifacts, and networks could achieve dominance and preference by becoming stable and competitive vis-à-vis other systems, artifacts, and networks. In each perspective, the roles of actors and agency are central in establishing such stability and enhancing competitiveness. Thus, although the perspectives are not very explicit about change processes, they point to how actors orient towards systems, artifacts, and networks, and how actors relate to the socio-technical arrangements of which they are part.

The idea of large technical systems (LTS) was originally introduced by Thomas P. Hughes (1983, 1987), who considered such systems to consist of "messy, complex, problem solving components" (Hughes 1987:1), such as technological and physical artifacts, social organizations, natural resources, scientific components, legislation, research, and teaching programs. The core focus of LTS has been the construction and development of systems (i.e., the networks of technical and non-technical components), which Hughes considered to evolve through interactions between their different components and through the systems' interaction with their surroundings. Furthermore, LTS were perceived to evolve through "patterns of evolution," referring to the different stages through which technical systems mature and gain momentum. Momentum emerges with the accelerated alignment of volumes of interconnected social and technical system elements, thereby increasing the system's influence on other systems, groups or individuals (i.e., soft determinsism, Hughes 1987). Paramount to the successful evolution of LTS, i.e. their ability to exert soft determinism, was therefore the building of strong, aligned LTS. Such system building involved solving technical and social issues that might keep system components and functions from being arranged in ways that would "maximize efficiency of a given technique, process or goals" (Sovacool & Hess 2017:716). For instance, in the port sector, port organizations' increasing orientation towards the community manager function, as discussed in Chapter 2, could reflect an increasing orientation towards system-building, in which ports work to identify and implement lowemission technologies and create dialogue between users and providers to incorporate technologies in daily port operations. Thus, Hughes (1987) considered technical systems to be socially constructed, which is one expression of how actors could influence change and stability in LTS.

Another STS perspective that sheds light on the role of actors in socio-technical stability and change is social construction of technology (SCOT). While LTS has typically been applied in studies of large systems like power grids and district heating, SCOT has primarily been applied to studies less systemic artifacts, such as bikes. First formulated by Pinch and Bijker (1984), SCOT emerged as a response to deterministic perspectives on technology, which assumed that technologies existed independently of where, when, or by whom they were constructed. Like the way LTS was concerned with the competitiveness of technological systems, SCOT has been concerned with the competitiveness of technological artifacts and selection processes in which new technological artifacts or specific variations of artifacts prevail because of their perceived superiority. According to SCOT, the superiority of technological artifacts derives from the meaning that relevant social groups ascribe to them, particularly meanings relating to the artifacts' ability to solve problems and provide solutions.

One example from the port sector of how technological artifacts are ascribed problem-solving capabilities relates to the introduction of shore power: Although emissions from sea transport occur mainly *between* ports, local protests about visible air pollution in Norwegian fjords have contributed to frame shore power technology *in ports* as a solution to emission problems in the maritime transport sector. This could also be regarded as an example of how one particular group (e.g., local protesters) attributes meaning to a given technological artifact. SCOT holds that technological artifacts might be perceived differently by different social groups with regard to their differing potential for solving problems and providing solutions. SCOT assumes that different perspectives could produce conflicts and controversies around what technological artifact should be selected over others. Thus, following SCOT, actors contribute to (de)stabilizing technological artifacts through contestations between social groups' perception, interpretation, and sensemaking of technological artifacts.

Yet another set of thoughts on socio-technical stability and change exists in actor-network theory (ANT), which focuses on the strength of reciprocal relationships between artifacts and actors. As different understandings within ANT have evolved and diverged over time, it is challenging to present a simplified idea of ANT. Therefore, I highlight a few core concepts that inform about how socio-technical stability and change could be perceived through the lens of ANT. Originally introduced by Callon (1986), Latour (1987), and Law (1992), ANT has been concerned with understanding processes that produce stability and support around technologies or facts, but has also been oriented towards processes that produce "societal stability and order" (Skjølsvold 2015:87). At the core of these processes are human and nonhuman actors who act and interact to pursue their own goals and objectives. In contrast to SCOT, the original thinkers behind ANT emphasized that there is reciprocal shaping between humans and artifacts. For example, in ports, artifacts could shape humans through the introduction of electric and automated cranes, which change planning procedures and work processes among port administrators and stevedores. This emphasis on non-human actors (actants) is particular to ANT and expresses ANT-related perceptions that objects, artifacts, and technologies themselves have agencies that impact their relations and interactions with other actors. ANT thus diverges from SCOT theory and other sociological understandings by placing symmetrical emphasis on what human and non-human actors do, and by opening the black box of social structure (Latour 1999). Following a highly empiricist orientation, ANT assumes that social structure can only be observed by studying how structure is enacted. Thus, the flat ontology of ANT perceives structure as only observable if we can observe what actors do.

Thus, following ANT, stability is maintained by networks of human and non-human actors, which seek to solve controversies and enroll actors into their networks. Crucial to network building is *translation* (Callon 1984), which could increase the coherence and durability of actor-networks by developing shared understandings, ideas, and interests. More specifically, translation could strengthen *relations* between actors, by aligning them and making them more equipped to promote the establishment of a particular fact, technology, or worldview. As I show in Chapter 6, the Port of Oslo's work on uniting its users around a shared vision for the future zero-emission port could be considered one example of such translation efforts.
The above-presented STS perspectives all suggest that stability and change relate to sociotechnical processes: in LTS socio-technical change appears in the social construction of technical systems, in SCOT it appears in social perceptions of technological artifacts, and in ANT it appears in networks that include actors (social) and actants (technical). These strands of thought have evolved in close relation to each other, and all three perspectives are concerned with interactions between the social and the technical. These perspectives are also foundational aspects in assumptions that guide studies of sustainability transitions, which are devoted to understanding how societies transform in sustainable directions.

Although transition scholars do not necessarily make explicit connections with STS, the research field of sustainability transitions is considered to lend an ear to "STS inspired socio-technical perspectives" (Sovacool et al. 2020a:2). This is apparent in overviews of main trends in transition studies (Hess & Sovacool 2020, Köhler et al. 2017, Köhler et al. 2019, Loorbach et al. 2017, Sovacool et al. 2020a), which clearly display their STS legacy. This legacy relates primarily to shared emphasis on socio-technical change processes, but it is also apparent in how transition studies increasingly study actors as "active players in socio-technical change" (Köhler et al. 2019:24), in ideas of windows of opportunity (Geels 2007b) and transition pathways that originated in LTS understandings of "momentum" (Sovacool et al. 2020a), and in perspectives tending to the arrangements of actors and networks around emerging innovations and technologies (e.g. Hekkert et al. 2007, Rip & Kemp 1998).

Current approaches to understanding sustainability transitions build on concepts and ideas that started to develop in STS during the 1980s. Approaches to sustainability transitions also represent a continuance of early transition research, which focused on understanding technological innovation and historic technological transitions, as represented by shifts in transport from horse-drawn carriages to automobiles (Geels 2005), shifts in water management (Van der Brugge et al. 2005), and shifts in sewage systems (Söderholm 2013). Although they have a shared understanding of the socio-technical and ways in which sociotechnical systems are (de)stabilized, studies focused on sustainable transformations depart from STS and the thinking of early transition scholars on one crucial point, namely, the focus on changes towards sustainability, which gives this line of research a specific directionality. While traditional STS theories are equally concerned within maintaining stability (e.g., through strong actor networks or technical systems), and while early transition research aimed to understand any technological transition, studies of sustainability transitions are specifically geared to understand the socio-technical prerequisites for sustainable changes. As such, studies of sustainability transitions also bear more normative connotations, related to the different pathways that societies might follow towards sustainability. In the following (Subchapter 3.2.2), I give brief accounts of how (the promotion of) socio-technical change is understood within the field of sustainability transitions.

3.2.2 Perspectives from sustainability transitions

In addition to their STS lineage, studies of sustainability transitions draw on a range of scholarly disciplines, providing a well of approaches to researching, analyzing, and understanding societal change. Studies of sustainability transition are typically considered to consist of four main frameworks, all of which provide perspectives on how socio-technical

change occurs or could be induced. Scholars following ideas of *strategic niche management* (SNM) assume that change occurs through the emergence, build-up, and breakthrough of new niche innovations that are better equipped to uphold societal functions than existing sociotechnical configurations. Therefore, SNM is dedicated to understanding how emerging niches could gain traction, for example through establishing protective spaces in which innovations are empowered, nurtured, and shielded from competition with more mature technologies (Smith & Raven 2012). Also, the ability to create visions and expectations, build resourceful actor-networks, and deep learning are essential for promoting niche innovations that propel change (e.g. Geels & Smit 2000, Markard & Truffer 2008, Naber et al. 2017).

The development and strength of emerging technologies is also key among scholars who study *technological innovation systems* (TIS), and who consider change to result from the strength of systems that support emergent technologies. In short, TIS scholars consider the prospects of technologies to derive from interactions between actors, networks, institutions, and technologies that impact innovation processes surrounding emergent technologies (e.g. Bergek et al. 2008).

Following understandings of *transition management*, socio-technical change can be governed. Transition management is typically referred to as experimental governance (Loorbach 2007), and prescribes strategic, tactic, operational, and reflexive activities that actors can engage in to promote, initiate, or accelerate change (Loorbach 2010, Loorbach & Rotmans 2010, Wittmayer & Loorbach 2016). Transition management suggests that economic, technological, and institutional barriers and lock-ins impede sustainable problem-solving, and that such lock-ins could be destabilized when front-runner networks with shared understandings and agendas engage in (transition) experiments to learn and adapt continuously (Loorbach & Shiroyama 2016).

The final framework within studies of sustainability transitions is the *multi-level perspective* (MLP), which scholars have sought to integrate with numerous theoretical perspectives and research traditions (e.g. Coenen et al. 2012, Lawhon & Murphy 2012, Vähäkari et al. 2020). Scholars have also pointed to convergences with LTS, SCOT and ANT (Geels 2010, Genus & Coles 2008). Understandings of multi-level change dynamics were first described by Rip and Kemp (1998), and were later conceptualized further through Frank Geels' development of the multi-level perspective. The MLP emphasizes three dimensions of change (Geels 2005:449): socio-technical systems, socio-technical regimes, and social groups. These concepts are at the core of discussions relating to the third research question in this thesis, about how particular forms of transition work emerge. Therefore, in the following (Subchapter 3.2.3) I provide more elaborate accounts of MLP understandings of socio-technical change.

3.2.3 Multi-level perspectives on socio-technical change

In Subchapter 3.1 I have shown that societal functions, such as those maintained by ports, are upheld by socio-technical systems comprising, for example, technologies, industries, infrastructures, regulation, and science. In line with the MLP, socio-technical change occurs when socio-technical systems are no longer able to uphold societal functions in their current form, and when systems are forced to adapt or replaced by new socio-technical systems. Thus, socio-technical change is the product of destabilization in socio-technical systems.

Furthermore, according to the MLP, the stability of such systems is provided by actors and socio-technical regime, which are intangible and underlying deep structures. Some of the central elements of socio-technical regime, as described in transitions literature, are listed in Table 4 (i.e., the list is not comprehensive). Geels (2011:27) describes the regime as a "semi-coherent set of rules that orient and coordinate the activities of the social groups that reproduce the various elements of socio-technical systems." More specifically, he describes socio-technical regimes as sets of normative, cognitive, and regulative rules that provide stability in the socio-technical system by guiding the perceptions and actions of actors. In turn, these rules are reproduced by the very same social groups that are abiding by them (Geels 2004).

In his much-cited paper on the nature and functioning of socio-technical systems, Geels (2004:905) suggests that socio-technical regimes are comprised of a number of subregimes (e.g., technological regimes, policy regimes, science regimes, markets regimes) that collectively and coordinately provide strength and support for elements in the socio-technical system. Therefore, the strength and durability of the socio-technical regime is a product of how strongly rules in different subregimes align; whereas strong socio-technical regimes are characterized by specific dominant rules, weak socio-technical regimes are characterized by competing rule sets that "threaten the overall structure of the system" (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2014:776).

Capabilities/competences	Legally binding	Regulation	Symbolic meanings
Cognitive capital	contracts	Regulatory rules	Technical standards
Cognitive routines	Lifestyles	Role perceptions	Technology
Cognitive rules	Normative rules	Rules of thumb	Techno-scientific
Engineering beliefs	Norms	Routines	knowledge
Guiding principles	Markets	Shared meanings	Understandings
Heuristics	Policy	Social expectations	User practices
Identities	Policy paradigms	Standardized ways of	Visions
Industry structure	Problem agendas	doing	Ways of life
Infrastructure	Promises	Subsidy rules	

Table 4. Elements of socio-technical regimes Sources: Geels (2002, 2004, 2005), Geels & Kemp (2007), Sorrell (2018)

In line with the MLP, transitions occur when regime rules no longer support and reproduce the socio-technical system, implying that socio-technical systems change when regime rules are altered (Geels 2011:26). Such alteration occurs when pressures from niche innovations and the socio-technical landscape causes cracks and instability in the rule sets of regimes, leading to reorientations in perceptions and behaviors (illustrated in Figure 5). From a niche perspective, transitions occur when "successful niche innovations (...) trigger a series of interrelated technical, economic, social and cultural changes that may eventually combine to create a new and different sociotechnical system based around a different set of core technologies" (Sorrell 2018:1270). New technologies and innovations that could cater to a societal function evolve and start diffusing outside the socio-technical system, in so-called niches. Niches could either represent a particular market segment with other demand criteria than markets in the socio-technical system, or they could represent specific technologies that are protected by subsidies, public policy, or strategic investments (Geels & Kemp 2007). The

niches protect emerging innovations from competition with established technologies (Geels 2004), allowing new innovations to increase their support from social networks, and to develop relationships and mutual expectations with actors. Arguably, such niches could be considered underdeveloped and unstable socio-technical systems themselves, with their own actors and tangible elements, albeit connected to less articulated and clear-cut rules (Geels 2004, Geels & Kemp 2007). They could also become so stable that they begin interacting with incumbent regimes, altering regime characteristics altogether.



Figure 5. Overview of transition dynamics in the multi-level perspective Source: Geels (2004:915).

As articulated by the MLP, transitions are also ushered in when landscape developments place pressure on the socio-technical regime. The concept of landscapes was originally introduced by Rip & Kemp (1998), who described them as deep structural gradients of force that make some actions easier than others. In the MLP, the concept has been used to define external heterogenous factors on the macrolevel that are harder to change than the regime elements, and that are beyond the direct influence of actors (Geels 2002, Geels & Kemp 2007). The landscape provides a structural context for the regime, niches, and actors, and could provide intentional pressures, as well as unintentional pressures (Morone et al. 2016). Typical examples of landscape pressures include oil prices, economic growth, demographic change, war, migration patterns, political coalitions and ideologies, cultural, societal, and normative values, social movements, emerging scientific paradigms, and environmental problems. Landscapes also include material and spatial arrangements and contexts, which tend to change more slowly than, for example, political landscapes (Geels & Kemp 2007).

Although the MLP has provided transition studies with a range of widely used tenets, it has also been subject to extensive criticism. Some criticism relates to its originally hierarchical approach, while other criticism concerns methodologies and applications. Critics have particularly pointed to unclear conceptual and empirical boundaries between the regime and the socio-technical system, and that the regime concept is difficult to specify and operationalize empirically (Berkhout et al. 2004, Genus & Coles 2008, Markard & Truffer 2008, Smith et al. 2005, Sorrell 2018). In response, Geels (2011) advocates the MLP as an open framework that guides our attention to "relevant questions and problems" and to the processes of transition. He labels the MLP a "global model," in contrast to rigorous and statistical models that are unable to capture the complexity of phenomena. As such, he argues, vague and imprecise methodologies pose less of a problem to the MLP, as understanding transition by necessity requires an element of creative interpretation.

Another set of criticisms relates to the MLP's take on change processes. The landscape level has been criticized for its inadequate nuance regarding different types of landscape pressures and for its dual relationship with the regime level, as landscapes can stabilize regimes while themselves also being destabilized by regime shifts. Critics have further argued that the MLP assumes socio-technical change to emerge bottom-up from the niche level, thus insufficiently recognizing the potential of changes in the regime and landscape to induce transition too. Hence, the MLP is criticized for disregarding that specific change agents are not necessarily fixed at one level, and that the timing of transitions dynamics is not necessarily linear (e.g. Raven et al. 2012, Skjølsvold & Ryghaug 2020). Geels and Schot (2007) counter such criticism by referring to a set of pathways that transitions might follow, and in which landscape pressures and the destabilization of regimes might precede the emergence and penetration of niche innovations.

One of the original criticisms of the MLP also concerned its lack of agency. Conceptualizing and understanding transition work, which is at the core of this thesis, calls for understanding the role of agency in socio-technical change. In my understanding of transition work, which is elaborated further in Subchapter 3.4, the ability of actors to induce socio-technical change is essential. Moreover, in the preceding subchapters 3.1 and 3.2 I have demonstrated that the roles of actors and agency in producing stability and change are already addressed by perspectives on sustainability transitions and STS alike. To conceptualize transition work and add to the theoretical foundations upon which transition work rests, I next account for how agency is currently understood in STS and transition studies.

3.3 Agency for systemic transformation

The STS heritage of studies of sustainability transitions is filled with agency, and could as such hint towards the contents of transition work. For instance, understandings of large technical systems (LTS) emphasize *system building*, in which actors seek to make and change LTS in ways that allow them to solve problems effectively, and thereby to progress LTS through different phases of development (Hughes 1987). In SCOT, agency is apparent in how *users* contribute to the development of technology through interpreting and attaching meaning to technology, and through establishing user practices that (re)shape user perceptions (Pinch & Bijker 1984). Also, ANT stresses agency quite significantly by highlighting the equal agency of humans and artifacts that engage in "relations of alliance and conflict" (Sovacool & Hess 2017:720) and seek to solidify the networks that they are associated through translation (Callon 1984, Callon 1986). As elaborated below, understandings of agency that are expressed in STS depart from understandings in sustainability transitions in several regards, which is also reflected the way

I conceptualize transition work in this thesis. In the following subchapter, I review more fully how agency is understood in studies of sustainability transitions, as well as what specific activities such studies raise as expressions of agency. In addition to guiding the operationalization of active agencies as transition work (RQ1), the review directly informs about the potential content of transition work (RQ2).

3.3.1 Agency and structure

In seeking to conceptualize agency in sustainability transitions, scholars have relied on different theoretical outsets. For example, Kern (2015) discusses the role of agency in understandings of technological innovation systems. Seyfang et al. (2010) rely on grassroots innovation theory, and new social movement theories to emphasize the potential agency of civil society in sustainability transitions. Others have discussed agency as expressed in intermediation (Bergek 2020, Kanda et al. 2020, Kivimaa et al. 2019a) and users (e.g. Hyysalo et al. 2017, Schot et al. 2016). Many scholars also discuss how agency relates to the contexts within which it is executed. For instance, Pesch (2015) relates agency in sustainability transitions to "discursive fields," which are bodies of meaning that actors rely on when engaging in social action. He argues that changes emerge when discursive fields are altered, thereby altering actor behavior altogether. Pesch further claims that agency problems in studies of sustainability transitions are a consequence of highly structuralist approaches to transitions: as structuralist approaches seek to understand social order and stability, they are less equipped to explain social change. This has produced an institutional turn in transition studies, which considers transitions to be processes of institutional change (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2016:298), in which "institutionalization is a process of increasing structuration" (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2014:775).

Thus, the originally sociological dichotomy of structure and agency seeps through the makings of transition theory as well. It is especially prominent in studies that discuss agency in light of institutional sociology, emphasizing how agency in sustainability transitions appears in the form of institutional work and institutional entrepreneurialism (Duygan et al. 2019, Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2016, Hassink et al. 2018). Institutional work refers to the actions taken by actors to construct, maintain, or disrupt institutions (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2016), which can be observed in the form of activities such as experimentation, building narratives, forming networks, lobbying, mimicry, valorizing, or demonizing (Duygan et al. 2019). Furthermore, institutional entrepreneurialism involves both institutional and entrepreneurial tasks directed at the institutionalization of new practices, such as developing business propositions, pulling resources, devising strategies, and networking (Hassink et al. 2018). Thus, ideas of institutional work provide obvious value to the conceptualization of transition work, as exemplified by Löhr et al. (2022), who extend dynamics of transition work to propose a similar understanding of transition work.

The structure and agency dichotomy is also prominent in ideas of "embedded agency" (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2016:299), which implies that agency takes place within highly institutionalized system structures. This could be considered a fundamental paradox in social science, as agency is shaped by institutions, while also changing and maintaining the institutions themselves. Giddens (1984) referred to this paradox as the "duality of structure."

In an attempt to break with the idea of structure and agency as inseparable entities, Svensson and Nikoleris (2018) introduced critical realism theory to discuss the role of agency and structure in the MLP. They argue that in order to study contextualized practices, which transition work could be one example of, there is a need to recognize that the actions of actors are enabled and disabled by the actor's position in the system and the influence of structure on each actor. As such, agency is performed under differentiated systemic conditions (ibid. p. 470.

Although agency is evident in how both scholars of sustainability transitions and STS scholars perceive of socio-technical change, they depart in their perspectives on the relationship between agency and structure. This contrast is particularly evident in ANT, which finds structural categories such as class and gender to be redundant. Understandings of distributive agency, which assume agency to flow between humans and non-humans (e.g., Michael 2017), point to how social and material network elements relate and interact. However, ANT maintains that these different elements do not exist in layered structures, thereby demonstrating the flat ontology of ANT. This ontology could reflect perceptions that collective arrangements are "so fluid that to think of social structure is obsolete" (Elder-Vass 2008:464), and that structural influences are understood better by investigating free associations between actors and actants. Hence, ANT does not consider agency to follow structure, but rather to be distributed and to manifest in relations between actors and actants.

This understanding of structuration contrasts with understandings in sustainability transitions. Transition scholars which have criticized STS for shattering so severely divisions between the social and the material, the human and the non-human, structure and agency, that STS approaches are merely left with empirical descriptions of complexity and local situatedness, disabling them from providing general lessons (Geels 2007a). In response to the so-called messiness of flat ontologies, the MLP describes a layered structure in which structuration dynamics occur on several levels, with different degrees of force. Socio-technical change occurs, it argues, "through the alignment of processes at different levels [of structuration]" (Geels 2007a).

I recognize the value of following actor relations in my quest to understand transition work, and the contribution of ANT is especially prominent in the foundational role of relational transition work, as described in Chapter 6. However, my discussions of transition work as agency applied will throughout this thesis orient by understandings of structuration inherent in sustainability transitions. This is elaborated further in Subchapter 3.5, in which I describe my understanding of transition work as embedded in socio-technical configurations.

3.3.2 Agency in actors

The discussion in the preceding subchapter shows that understandings of agency in transitions could rest on several theoretical backdrops, and that agency has come to be recognized as a potent force in sustainability transitions. Transition scholars have mainly studied agency by investigating the role and involvement of actors. Thus, agency could manifest in purposive actor behavior attempting to prevent or generate change (Fischer & Newig 2016). Sustainability transitions have been considered "multi-actor processes" in which a variety of actors and social groups, whether deliberately or not, apply their "resources, capabilities,

beliefs, strategies, interests [and] agencies" (Köhler et al. 2017:5) to promote or obstruct systemic change. Although studies of sustainability transitions have been criticized for ignoring the role and agency of actors (Fischer & Newig 2016), studies of actor involvement have greatly enhanced understandings of agency. Much research has attempted to define and categorize different types of actors (e.g. Avelino & Wittmayer 2016, Fischer & Newig 2016, Haan & Rotmans 2018), providing typologies that indicate to what degree and what kinds of agency different actors can apply. Transition literature has also sought to understand agency by investigating the plurality of roles that actors can take in sustainability transitions (Fischer & Newig 2016, Schot et al. 2016, Wittmayer et al. 2017).

To date, research on sustainability transitions has focused on the involvement of many different actor groups, all of which could hold different forms of agency. Some scholars have been particularly interested in intermediaries (e.g. Barnes 2019, Gliedt et al. 2018, Kivimaa et al. 2019a, Stewart & Hyysalo 2008), whose agency manifests in facilitating, conjuring, and brokering. Others have studied incumbents (e.g. Berggren et al. 2015, Kungl 2015, Lindberg et al. 2019, Penna & Geels 2015, Steen & Weaver 2017, Wells & Nieuwenhuis 2012), not only to learn about how they obstruct transformative change,³ but also to learn how they can accelerate transitions by applying their agency to "reorient their strategies and resources towards niche-innovations" (Geels 2018). Also, niche actors have been a prominent feature in studies of sustainability transitions, as they can "create a starting point for a systemic change" (Fischer & Newig 2016:6). Furthermore, agency can be expressed in attempts by civil society to shape governance, politics, and policymaking that ushers in transitions (Seyfang et al. 2010), either as social grassroots movements (e.g. Haukkala 2018, Hossain 2016), or as activists and pioneers (e.g. Gernert et al. 2018, Hamann et al. 2021), as users (Rohracher 2003e.g., Schot et al. 2016) or third sector organizations (e.g. Allan & Hadden 2017, van Welie & Romijn 2018).

Understandings of actors as driver of socio-technical change highlight the agency of human and non-human actors (actants) alike. The is especially evident in how ANT attributes agency to artifacts and technologies, but it is also reflected in material lock-ins that obstruct regime alterations at the core of MLP understandings. As becomes evident in coming chapters, the agency of the material is also less prominent in my discussion of transition work, although it clearly manifests in how transition work in ports is shaped by for example vessels and infrastructure. As such, although recognizing the potential for transition work to also encompass the work of actants, this thesis reflects the orientation of transition scholars towards studies of human actors.

Their many studies of actors, whether taking actor-centric or role-centric approaches, have demonstrated the specific activities that different types of actors engage in to deliberately impact transition processes. Such activities are the essence of agency in sustainability transitions (Fischer & Newig 2016), undertaken by a multitude of actors, and aimed at

³ Transformative change refers to how the development path of society is fundamentally changed through social, cultural, regulatory, and economic transitions that align with transitions to green technologies and artifacts. Such development paths also depend on fundamental alterations of actors and governance approaches, and the values toward which they are oriented (Burch et al. 2014). Whereas 'transformation' typically refers to large-scale changes in whole societies—whether local, national, or global—'transition' is mainly used to "analyse changes in societal sub-systems (e.g. energy, mobility, cities)" (Hölscher et al. 2018:2).

landscapes, regimes, or niches. Thus, it is an overly daunting endeavor to provide a full overview of activities that could impact transitions. However, in the following subchapter I discuss activities that have received particular attention from transition scholars, some of which are already mentioned in Subchapter 3.2.

3.3.3 Agency in activities

The range of activities that transition researchers have focused on when investigating change processes and agency is shown in Table 5. Central to sustainability transitions is the development of innovations and technologies, which includes not only the design and engineering of the solutions themselves, but also creating support and momentum around them. This is the particular dedication of strategic niche management (SNM), in which the building of social networks, learning, and the articulation of visions and expectations are considered key activities (Naber et al. 2017, Schot & Geels 2008). In creating protective spaces, it is necessary to build trust and legitimacy around emerging innovations, among other by presenting and framing issues and problems, and by marketing and diffusing information about innovations. To encourage use and ensure widescale adoption, niches also depend on successfully incorporating user preferences that embed innovations into new or existing practices, such as through experimentation and learning.

However, acceptance of emerging innovations depends not only on their appropriate design, function, and marketing, but also on their anchoring in wider society. Therefore, studies of sustainability transitions have emphasized the role of governance in ensuring the transitioning of socio-technical systems. Governance refers to "interactions in which public and private actors participate [to solve] societal problems or [create] societal opportunities (Kooiman 2003:4), and is expressed through transition management (TM). As shown in Subchapter 3.2.2, transition management prescribes strategic, tactic, operational, and reflexive activities that actors can engage in to promote, initiate, or accelerate transitions (Loorbach 2010, Loorbach & Rotmans 2010, Wittmayer & Loorbach 2016). Strategic activities aim at establishing a cultural basis for relevant social systems, and include vision development, strategizing, and defining goals and norms. Tactical activities aim at establishing structures and contexts within which actors operate. Such activities may include establishing rules and regulations, institutions, organizations, networks, infrastructure, and routines (Loorbach 2010). Operational activities are typically everyday decisions and actions related to innovation in societal, technological, institutional, and behavioral practices (Loorbach 2010, Loorbach & Rotmans 2010). Finally, reflexive activities serve to enhance knowledge and learning, for example through monitoring, assessing, and evaluating the status quo, which allows for structuring, (re)framing, and managing societal issues (Loorbach & Rotmans 2010).

Another line of research dedicated to the active steering of transition processes relates to intermediation (e.g. Barnes 2019, Gliedt et al. 2018, Kivimaa et al. 2019a, Stewart & Hyysalo 2008). Intermediaries contribute to promote transitions through facilitating, conjuring, and brokering transition processes, and many of the activities listed in Table 5 relate specifically to intermediation. Kivimaa et al. (2019a) refer to intermediaries as actors and platforms that link actors and activities by aligning visions and creating collaboration. Research has paid substantial attention to actors that engage in intermediation and different typologies of

intermediaries, such as innovation intermediaries (e.g. Gliedt et al. 2018, Stewart & Hyysalo 2008), niche intermediaries (e.g. Smith et al. 2016), and systemic intermediaries (e.g. Kanda et al. 2020, van Lente et al. 2020).

Kivimaa et al. (2019b) specifically discuss what activities intermediaries engage in during different phases of transition, which indicates that also transition work might change and evolve as transition processes mature. In the *pre-development and exploration* phase, activities include developing ideas and incorporating visions and expectations. At this stage, intermediaries also initiate and manage pilots, experiments, and projects to allow learning exchange and network formation. In Norway, DNV's Green Shipping Programme (GSP), a public-private partnership, may represent an example of intermediation that involves ports in the pre-development and exploration phase of transition. In the *acceleration and embedding* phase, activities typically advance. The articulation of visions becomes more specific, networking and experimentation become more targeted, and efforts to promote diffusion of new innovations intensify, for example through circulating knowledge, creating new standards and rules, and articulating needs and demand. As innovations gain momentum, intermediation further involves lobbying for resources and political attention. Also. translation—the harmonization of visions and interests between actors (Skjølsvold et al. 2018:253)—becomes a more prominent activity in this phase.

align	create market	foster acceptability	motivatenegotiate
advise	create narrative	frame issues	participate
adoption	create rules	gain permission	plan
advocate	create standards	governance	protest
articulate demand	create symbolic variety	imagine	provide information
articulate visions	develop policy	initiate	provide meaning
articulate user preferences	develop innovations	inspire	provide rationale
assess risk	develop knowledge	institutional work	push
broker	develop strategies	intermediate	raise awareness
build coalitions/alliances	develop technologies	invent	resist
build expectations	devise agendas	involve	search
build legitimacy	diffuse ideas/practices	learn	set goals
build networks	diffuse knowledge	lobby	set rules/regulations
build system	embed	manipulate	share experiences
build trust	empower	mediate	shield
coerce	encourage	mitigate uncertainty	structure problems
configure	endorse	mobilize claims	technological learning
consult	evaluate	mobilize resources	translate
cooperate	experiment	modify practices	
coordinate	facilitate	monitor	

Table 5. Agency as expressed in activities identified in studies of sustainability transitions.⁴

⁴ The activities are examples collected from, but not limited to, the following sources: Allan & Hadden (2017), Avelino & Rotmans (2009), Brown et al. (2013), Fischer & Newig (2016), Geels & Verhees (2011), Haan & Rotmans (2018), Haukkala (2018), Hess (2014), Hossain (2016), Jasanoff (2015), Kern et al. (2019), Kivimaa et al. (2019b), Kivimaa & Kern (2016), Lemos & Agrawal (2006), Lindberg et al. (2019), Loorbach (2007), Loorbach et al. (2015), Loorbach & Rotmans (2010), Markard & Truffer (2008), Markard et al. (2016), Naber et al. (2017), Partzsch (2017), Raven et al. (2016), Rogge & Reichardt (2016), Schot et al. (2016), Skjølsvold et al. (2018), Smith et al. (2016), Van der Brugge et al. (2005).

In the final phase of transitions, *stabilization*, activities related to niche promotion could be expected to fade as they are no longer necessary (Kivimaa et al. 2019b). However, activities related to the destabilization of incumbent regimes may still be in play.

Another central component in the governance of sustainability transitions is the design and enactment of policy. Many studies have aimed to understand the role of policy in sustainability transitions (see Kern et al. 2019 for useful overview), typically by distinguishing between different types of policies and their effects on transition processes (Kern & Howlett 2009, Kivimaa & Kern 2016, Rogge & Reichardt 2016). However, activities related to the *making* of policy are often addressed by research focused on the role of power and politics in sustainability transitions. Many scholars have aimed to elaborate and incorporate theoretical understandings of power and politics into transition research (Ahlborg 2017, Avelino 2017, Avelino et al. 2016, Avelino & Rotmans 2009, Geels 2014, Grin et al. 2011, Hoffman 2013, Kern & Rogge 2018, Lockwood et al. 2017). Others have provided insights into agencies and activities inherent in power and politics. For example, in studying struggles between political coalitions, Hess (2014) refers to discourses and framing, the design of policy propositions, and funding activities as crucial elements. Furthermore, Raven et al. (2016), in their study of the advocacy of selected technologies, address the role of shielding activities, the articulation of expectations, the securement of resources, and the construction of narratives.

In the preceding subchapters I have demonstrated the prominence and span of agency in studies of sustainability transitions. Collectively, the activities summarized in Table 5 inform about *what actors do* in (different phases of) transitions. As such, they are manifestations of agency, and to the degree to which they are intentionally executed to accelerate transitions, I consider them specific examples and expressions of transition work. In the following subchapter I argue for the need to conceptualize more explicitly such activities as transition work.

3.4 Beyond agency: towards a concept of transition work

At the core of this thesis lies the conceptualization of transition work, which is necessary to understand the content and framing of sustainability efforts in Norwegian ports. In Subchapter 3.3, I have demonstrated that agency is represented by several different, more or less abstract concepts and theoretical constructs, such as system building, technological framing, actants, institutional entrepreneurialism, actor roles and typologies, intermediation, and power. I have also demonstrated how transition processes can be shaped by a range of actor behaviors and activities, such as those related to institutional work (e.g., Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2014), the nurturing and protecting of niches (e.g., Schot & Geels 2008), governance (e.g., Wittmayer & Loorbach 2016), intermediation (e.g., Kivimaa et al. 2019a), policy development (e.g., Kern et al. 2019, Schmidt & Sewerin 2019), and the wielding of power and politics (e.g., Ahlborg 2017, Avelino 2017). Many of these concepts and studies describe active involvement and purposive intervention (e.g., niche or transition management), while others describe abilities or resources that *could* be applied to a specific end (e.g., technological framing, power, policymaking, user practices). Given these different facets of agency, I believe there is a need to distinguish more accurately between agency as a latent potential for action

and agency as dedicated actions aimed at specific objectives. In this subchapter, I account for my understanding and reconceptualization of the latter as *transition work*.

Based on above descriptions of agency I understand transition work as the purposeful execution of activities, explicitly conducted to push for sustainable transformation of sociotechnical systems. Just as agency could be understood and expressed by the many different actors described above (Subchapter 3.3.2), transition work could also be executed by the range of actors involved in sustainability transitions, including public and private incumbents, niche innovators, intermediaries, and civil society. More simply, I suggest the following understanding of transition work:

Transition work refers to all forms of deliberate and purposeful activities aiming to progress sustainability transitions.

This conceptualization rests on four arguments. First, such an understanding allows for distinguishing between latent and explicit expressions of agency. I understand transition work as agency applied, which supports a more active narrative around agency in transitions. Despite many discussions and presentations of agency in empirical cases, accounts of agency tend to follow a rather passive narrative style. This implies that agency could be presented as incidents or decisions that simply happen, less than as being promoted, encouraged, or executed. There is a need for reorienting towards more active narration of agency, explicitly engaging with the questions of "who did what, when, and why."

Second, I argue for the need to conceptualize agency that is specifically dedicated to the promotion of transitions, thus reflecting the directionality that distinguishes studies of sustainability transitions from conventional STS. If perceiving agency as latent potential to act, it could be applied to promote transformative change as well as obstruct it, as expressed in perspectives on systemic stability in transition studies and STS. However, taking into account how studies of sustainability transitions hold normative connotations about the need to foster change processes that lead in the direction of sustainability, I believe it is both useful and necessary to extract and identify agency that deliberately seeks to promote transition. This need to pinpoint such a directionality of agency is already discussed by transition scholars. For instance, they have referred to activities as deliberate attempts to impact transition processes. As transformative change agents (Haan & Rotmans 2018), actors engage in "a set of recognizable activities and attitudes used by an actor to address recurring situations" (Wittmayer et al. 2017:49). Similarly, Fischer and Newig (2016:21) understand agency as the behavior of actors in purposive attempts to prevent or generate change, whereas Pesch (2015) refers to the ability of actors to stimulate regimes, practices, and institutions deliberately.

My third argument for conceptualizing transition work is that there is need for a more epistemological understanding of agency in transitions. In subchapter 3.3 I have presented extracts from a substantial body of literature on agency and the roles and functions of actors in transition processes. However, this literature is typically theoretically oriented, tending to conceptualizations and ontological discussions regarding agency, in which empirical cases are often used to exemplify claims. Thus, there is a need for a more grounded approach, not only to understand theoretical concepts of agency, but also to study empirically how agency

materializes in the practical efforts associated with promoting and encouraging sustainability transitions. In fact, despite providing strong ontological discussions, the literature on sustainability transitions engages in few epistemological discussions. This point also relates to criticisms of insufficient methodological focus in transitions studies (Geels 2011, Genus & Coles 2008, Smith et al. 2010). Thus, there is need for epistemological awareness of agency, specifically how we can learn about agency in transitions. This requires applicable and easily operationalizable understandings and concepts that to a greater extent incorporate active understandings of agency.

My fourth and final argument for conceptualizing transition work is that there is need for a more explicit definition of transition work than provided by existing literature. Several scholars have referred to transition work without providing an explicit definition, for instance when describing activities undertaken by consulting engineers (Sørensen et al. 2018), households engaged in vision making, imagination, network building, or domestication (Skjølsvold et al. 2018), or connected to visions (Komatsu Cipriani et al. 2020), experiences and impacts (Poland et al. 2019). The overview of agencies presented earlier in this chapter further suggests that there are tacit or non-expressed perceptions of transition work in the research community specializing in sustainability transitions, which need to be taken out of their black box. In one study on sustainability efforts in Norwegian ports, transition work is considered to have both a processual dimension and an outcome dimension (Bjerkan et al. 2021c). As an outcome, the authors argue that transition work refers to "practical or specific sustainability results" (ibid. p. 298), which corresponds to the orientation of existing research on port sustainability towards technology implementation. In the same article, the processual dimension of transition work is exemplified by reference to processes inherent in, for example, TM and SNM. Similarly, in this thesis, my understanding of transition work takes a processual perspective, but more broadly builds on existing understandings of socio-technical change and agency, and therefore expands to a greater extent on the more simplistic understanding provided earlier by Bjerkan et al. (2021c).

Most recently, Löhr et al. (2022) have proposed a conceptualization of transition work that derives from understandings of institutional work, in which the same processes that comprise institutional work (creating, maintaining, disrupting) are extended to other transition dimensions as well, such as artifacts and technologies, actors and organizations, and policies. Löhr et al. (2022:255) refer to transition work as "activities that determine the shift to more sustainable modes of production and consumption." Like in this thesis, the concept of transition work presented by Löhr et al. thus refers to a multitude of activities that shape transitions. They further emphasize how different activities co-relate and build on each other, which is also discussed in Chapter 6 of this thesis.

However, the understanding of transition work provided by Löhr et al. departs from the conceptualization presented in this thesis on one crucial point. Whereas my conceptualization of transition work stresses how activities should be conducted deliberately and purposefully to progress sustainability transitions, such an emphasis is not put forth by Löhr et al. Although they highlight how some activities are "applied with the intent to advance the transition process", Löhr et al. also contend that other activities "are either usually more hindering in

their effect or they are applied alternatively to (..) hinder transition" (Löhr et al. 2022:262). Their understanding that activities could also be geared to preserve the status quo likely reflects their perception of transition work as a component of the negotiation over shifts that ultimately constitutes transition processes. Although I recognize the confrontational nature of sustainability transitions and the constatations between incumbencies and novelties that they entail, I believe there is need for a conceptualization of transition work that aligns with the directionality and normativity inherent in the research field of sustainability transitions.

Thus, building on the above arguments, Subchapters 3.1–3.3, and the empirical work conducted as part of this thesis, I propose an understanding of transition work that encompasses *applied*, *directed*, *and observable agency*, manifest in many different activities it may include. The work conducted in this thesis also shows that activities intended to progress sustainability emerge in response to their surroundings. Grin et al. (2011) have previously described agency as the product of ways in which actors understand and interact with opportunities and constraints in their immediate contexts. This is also likely the case for transition work, and leads to the third research question addressed in this thesis, concerning how particular forms of transition work emerge.

3.5 Shaping transition work through socio-technical configurations

In the preceding subchapters I have shown how transition work could be understood as applied, directed and observable agency, intentionally executed to progress or accelerate sustainability transitions. As agency applied, transition work is also embedded in the duality of structure (Giddens 1984), suggesting that different contexts might produce different types of transition work.

Many perspectives reviewed earlier in this chapter, such as LTS, SCOT, ANT, and different strands of sustainability transitions, orient quite heavily towards actors and agency, and therefore they may inform about the contents of transition work, specifically what kind of activities transition work constitutes. However, they could also provide input on the shaping of transition work. The aforementioned perspectives have been considered core in scholarly discussions on the social shaping of technology (SST), which were particularly prominent in the 1990s. The SST concept covers a collection of perspectives that challenge deterministic ideas that "technological change is beyond social influence" (Russell & Williams 2002:37) and is used to examine "what shapes technology" (Howcroft et al. 2004:330). More specifically, SST focuses on how organizational, political, economic, and cultural factors shape the design and implementation of technologies (Williams & Edge 1996). Hence, following the different facets of the SST concept, technologies and innovations are shaped by their socio-technical contexts, referred to as socio-technical systems, socio-technical constituencies, sociotechnical enablers, and actor-networks. In this thesis, a parallel to SST perspectives can be found in my discussions on how transition work is shaped by socio-technical contexts. In this thesis, socio-technical contexts are operationalized as socio-technical configurations. In the following paragraphs, I summarize core concepts and understandings that are incorporated in my application of socio-technical configurations throughout the remainder of this thesis.

As an analytical framework, socio-technical configurations build on understandings in the multi-level perspective (MLP) described in Subchapter 3.2.3. As a "global model," the MLP

"takes as its unit of analysis the overall trajectories, paths, phases, or stages in the development of an innovation" (Geels 2020:12). As the MLP has been criticized for insufficiently addressing agency in understandings of socio-technical change, and encouraged to introduce actor-oriented understandings from STS (Genus & Coles 2008), the MLP provides less input to the content of transition work. By contrast, its ideas of socio-technical systems, regimes, landscapes, and niches are useful for understanding the context within which transition work is conducted. Therefore, I refer to socio-technical configurations as the interrelations and interconnections between elements that represent transition dynamics inherent in the MLP, meaning the concepts of landscapes, niche innovations, socio-technical regimes, socio-technical systems, and actors. The many publications on the MLP have shown how these elements contribute to processes of socio-technical change. As elaborated in Subchapter 3.2.3, the MLP assumes that transitions occur when socio-technical regimes are replaced or transformed as the result of pressures from landscape developments and competing niche innovations. In describing the dynamics of socio-technical transitions, Geels (2004) explains how actors contribute to transition processes by carrying and reproducing the rules and institutions that constitute the socio-technical regime, while these rules in turn contribute to guide the perceptions and interactions of actors (Geels 2004). Following the MLP, actor behavior is shaped both by the socio-technical system and by the socio-technical regime, while also contributing to their maintenance and functioning.

A schematic overview of change dynamics as understood by the MLP, conceptualized in this thesis as socio-technical configurations, is given Figure 6. The concept of socio-technical configurations has been applied in earlier studies, with reference to socio-technical regimes (Smith et al. 2010) and socio-technical systems (Geels 2002, Schot & Kanger 2018) alike. Previous uses of the concept have highlighted the multitude of different but interconnected socio-technical elements that, when aligned, contribute to maintain and fulfil societal functions. In a recent study, my colleagues and I leaned on these understandings and a set of dictionary definitions to define socio-technical configurations as "the arrangement of sociotechnical elements that condition the maintaining of societal functions" (Bjerkan et al. 2021a:3). However, in the same study, we applied an understanding of socio-technical configurations that mainly encompassed socio-technical elements typically associated with socio-technical systems and socio-technical regimes. In understanding the shaping of transition work, I also include landscapes and available niche innovations to provide a fuller idea of the shaping of transition work. My take on this, as depicted in Figure 6, rests on the assumption that elements of socio-technical configurations interact and that these interactions support the working of societal functions. This implies that interactions between elements could also *change* conditions under which societal functions are upheld, for example in ways that uphold the societal function in a more sustainable manner.



Figure 6. Context for transition work: socio-technical configurations. Adapted from Geels (2004:903, 913)

Thus, in this thesis I use the concept of socio-technical configurations to exemplify and discuss the shaping of transition work. In Chapter 7, I demonstrate how each element of sociotechnical configurations could shape how ports do transition work, for example expressed in specificities of socio-technical systems, normative rules around port roles, and landscape pressures. My detailed operationalization and understanding of these concepts are elaborated further in each subchapter of Chapter 7.

3.6 Summarizing transition work

The purpose of this chapter has been to present the theoretical foundations of my understanding of transition work, as well as the theoretical framework that I rely on when discussing the shaping of transition work. As stated in Subchapter 3.4, I understand transition work as any deliberate and purposeful activity that contributes to progress sustainability transitions. I believe such a conceptualization contributes to produce active narratives around applied agency, induces directionality onto agency in studies of sustainability transitions, provides empirically applicable constructs, and leads to more explicit definitions of transition work than found in previous studies.

In this chapter, I have presented the basis for the above-mentioned conceptualization by pointing to transition work as a driver for socio-technical change, referencing understandings of change and stability inherent in studies of sustainability transitions and STS. The theoretical foundation for conceptualizing transition work is summarized in Table 6, which shows that my understanding of transition work resonates with existing notions of change and agency. The primary contribution of the theoretical backdrop is to demonstrate the role of agency in sociotechnical change and to provide examples of transition work.

Theory	Main idea of socio-technical change	Input to conceptualization	
LTS	Evolution and alignment of LTS components	System building	
SCOT	Closing controversy Shared perceptions	Problem perceptions Technology perceptions Systems of meaning Framing of technology	eliberate an
ANT	Actors/actants pursue stability Relations between actors/actants Translation	Follow the actors Empiricism Network relations	d purpose
Agency	Alteration of discursive fields Institutional changes Embedded agency/duality of structure	Applying bodies of meaning Institutional/entrepreneurial work	Transition v eful activities transition
SNM	Emerging niches can be nurtured and protected	Create visions and expectations Build networks Social learning	vork: that pr
тм	Transitions can be steered and managed	Experimental governance activities: strategic, tactical, operational, reflexive	ogress :
TIS	Change follows interaction between actors, networks, institutions, and technologies	Establish systems and align system elements with emerging technologies	sustainat
MLP	Change follows niche and landscape pressures on socio-technical regimes	Actors carry and reproduce regime rules Actors maintain/modify socio-technical systems	oility

Table 6. Summary of the theoretical foundations for conceptualization of transition work.

According to LTS, change requires technical and social issues to be solved, so that system components (e.g., technologies, artifacts, social organization, resources, science, legislation) can be assembled and aligned. Similarly, SCOT suggests that transition work should orient towards *perceived* problems and issues that technologies are expected to solve. Furthermore, perceptions and expectations should be surrounded by systems of meaning that are constructed to frame the fit between problems and technologies in a positive manner.

The framing of problems and technologies resembles the translation activities that are prominent in ANT, and that nurture shared understandings and strengthen relations between actors. According to ANT, researchers should take empirical approaches to observing the actions and relations of actors and understanding how changes have come about. As I show in the subsequent chapters, the actor orientation of ANT is reflected in my approaches to transition work in ports, implying that ANT also provides useful input to the practical operationalization of transition work.

However, as evident from above sub-chapters, my understanding of transition work has left behind the STS emphasis on the material and on non-human actors. Although material aspects of transition work are exemplified in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7, I have mainly studied transition work carried out by human actors. This corresponds with the main focus of existing research on sustainability transitions, which, as shown in Subchapter 3.3, provides numerous examples of agencies and activities executed by different actor groups that could be considered expressions of transition work. These activities comprise social processes that are studied by scholars of strategic niche management, governance activities that lie at the core of transition management, and the building of innovation systems studied by scholars who focus on technology innovation systems.

Furthermore, Subchapter 3.5 has shown how the transition dynamics presented by the multilevel perspective are useful for understanding how the agencies and activities of actors are embedded in socio-technical configurations, which in addition to actors comprise sociotechnical systems, regimes, landscapes, and niches. This shows how this thesis turns away from the flat ontologies of STS, particularly expressed in ANT, and rather discusses transition work as part of the duality of structure.

In sum, this chapter demonstrates that ideas of the content and shaping of transition work are already latent in the theoretical understandings and concepts that characterize sustainability transitions and its STS legacy. As such, conceptualizing transition work could be considered a specification and extraction of notions that already exist. In the next chapter, I account for how I have sought to capture transition work in my studies of sustainability efforts in Norwegian ports.

4 Methods

In the preceding chapter I have summarized the theoretical underpinnings of my new transition work concept. As such, the first research question of this thesis has been addressed with a conceptualization of transition work that allows empirical observations of activities intended to promote and accelerate transitions. Specifically, this conceptualization understands transition work as "all forms of deliberate and purposeful activities aiming to progress sustainability transitions."

In this chapter, I turn to my approach for increasing our understandings of what the purposeful activities involve and how they emerge in the port sector. Thus, this chapter accounts for the methods and data used to address the two empirical research questions of this thesis. In answering RQ2 and RQ3, which concern the contents and shaping of transition work, I rely on qualitative data collections from three Norwegian ports: the Port of Narvik, the Port of Kristiansand, and the Port of Oslo. These ports have all been partners in the research project TRAZEPO⁵, in which this thesis is also a deliverable.

This chapter begins with an introduction to the three ports and to the Norwegian port sector. I then elaborate on the qualitative methods I have relied on to address RQ2 and RQ3. The chapter concludes with reflections upon the scope and transferability of the research, as well as the naturalist character of the data collection.

4.1 The empirical domain: the Norwegian port sector

The maritime sector is a prominent feature of Norwegian society, with hundreds of ports and quays along the Norwegian coastline. Today, the main port network includes 32 ports, typically located in cities and large towns. They are governed by local authorities in the form of publicly owned enterprises, sometimes as cooperatives between authorities in neighboring municipalities. Although the Norwegian maritime sector also includes offshore petroleum, aquaculture, and shipping, the fishing industry is particularly prominent, with more than 600 fishing ports regulated by regional authorities. In addition, many private enterprises in the maritime sector and other industries operate their own port and quay facilities to serve their own production and distribution needs. Other ports serve the needs of local communities, leisure activities, and tourism.

In an international context, Norwegian ports are small, both in terms of tonnage throughput and in terms of organizational size. Figure 7 provides an overview of the number of port calls and total tonnage throughput in the period 2010–2020 decade. In 2020, a total of 514 million metric tons passed through the 32 main Norwegian ports. By comparison, the Port of Rotterdam, the largest port in Europe and the 10th largest port globally, reported a throughput of approximately 437 million metric tons in 2020 (Port of Rotterdam 2021).

⁵ TRAZEPO home page: <u>https://www.sintef.no/prosjekter/2018/trazepo/</u>



Figure 7. Port calls and throughput in Norwegian ports, 2010–2020. Source: Statistics Norway (2021a)

The three ports that have been investigated for this thesis share several characteristics. In addition to being owned by local authorities, all three ports have in common that they have outsourced terminal operations and goods handling to private enterprises, such as Greencarrier (Kristiansand) and Yilport (Oslo). All ports are also heavily vested in real estate management and development, which represents an important source of income. Although all three ports are located in urban areas, they are characterized by industrial production in the port area. In common with ports worldwide, the ports are also increasingly required to weigh the value and presence of their many port activities against the needs and desires of their surrounding urban environments. The development of port areas are prominent issues in all three ports, the expansions plans of which have faced opposition from neighboring communities. Therefore, the ports constantly seek (re)development projects to maintain legitimacy and support in their local communities.

However, the three ports differ on several accounts, among other related to traffic characteristics described in Figure 8. During my empirical investigations, the *Port of Narvik* appeared to be in the early phase of pondering transition work. The Port of Narvik is located in Northern Norway and its main activity is the handling of iron ore from mines across the Swedish border. A large mining company owns and operates its own private quay in the port's basin, and the publicly owned Port of Narvik has established a subsidiary company to handle mineral bulk from other iron ore suppliers in the port's own facilities. The extensive mining activities imply that the Port of Narvik has few port calls, but a lot of throughput, especially if the private facility is included. Given that the port is so heavily dominated by dry bulk traffic, and the ships are yet not equipped or suited for the provision of shore power at berth, the Port of Narvik is not among the many Norwegian ports that have installed shore power. However, it is working on providing high voltage shore power for cruise ships, as cruise traffic is increasing and has become a focal area of the port organization.

The port organization in Narvik has 15 employees, who are mainly involved with port operations and maritime affairs. In common with approximately 47% of Norwegian ports

(Bjerkan et al. 2021c), the Port of Narvik does not have port personnel explicitly responsible for issues relating to climate, environment, and emission reduction. It has yet to develop comprehensive plans for climate and environment, and the port organization adheres to the more traditional roles of port authorities related to regulation, port operations, and real estate management. However, they are increasingly orienting towards low-emission technologies such as shore power and work dedicatedly to strengthening the port's connection to global railway lines. The port also represents a good example of laissez-faire ownership strategies that have traditionally characterized the Norwegian public port sector, which leaves the port organization with significant autonomy and independence from political steering.



Figure 8. Port calls from main vessel segments in the case ports in 2020. Source: Statistics Norway (2021b)

The *Port of Kristiansand* is located on the southernmost coast of Norway, and thus closely and strategically placed near mainland Europe, as well as major road networks (E18, E39). The port especially serves the offshore industry and cruise lines, as well as passenger ferries, container ships, and bulk vessels. In contrast to many Norwegian ports, where the traffic mainly consists of imports, the Port of Kristiansand is characterized by a more equal balance between import and export. The port is aiming to increase container transport and activities linked to marine industries such as petroleum, wind power, and seafood.

The Port of Kristiansand has made significant efforts in the electrification of port operations, including extensive deployment of low and high voltage shore power, solar panels, the use of the Environmental Ship Index (ESI)⁶ to determine port fees, and reduced in-house energy consumption. Many of the port's efforts have been made in collaboration with research and development activities nationally and in the EU. The terminal operators have started to replace cranes and equipment with electric models. The port has also established an

⁶ About ESI, see <u>https://sustainableworldports.org/environmental-ship-index-esi/</u>.

agreement with LNG providers, but LNG facilities are not yet in place due to lack of demand from port users.

The port organization consists of approximately 30 employees, half of which are engaged in operative services. The port has recruited personnel with specific technological skills to remain technologically competent, as they consider that a move towards the port as an energy hub will require specific knowledge beyond maritime competence.

The Port's work with electrification of port activities was done in response to calls from the port owner, the City of Kristiansand, to initiate such efforts. The city has promoted strict international environmental requirements on ports, in anticipation that this will increase the competitiveness of the Port of Kristiansand. Although the port maintains continuous dialogue with its owner (as shown in Paper 2), ownership strategies in Kristiansand also lean towards the traditional laissez-faire approaches that characterize the Norwegian public port sector.

The *Port of Oslo* is located at the heart of the capital region and along main European roads (E6, E18). Most goods that arrive in the port are transported approximately 7 km north to the Alnabru terminal, from which the whole of Norway is served by road and/or rail transport. The Port of Oslo is characterized by mixed activities. International cruise ferries represent a core activity in the port, along with extensive container transport and bulk (petroleum) transport. Also, a substantial amount of production and processing-related activity takes place in the port area (cement, grain, coffee), as well as the reception and storage of goods.

The Port of Oslo is characterized by a proactive approach to sustainability. As in Kristiansand, electrification has been high on agenda in the port organization and among users in the port. This includes efforts to apply shore power, electric cranes and reach stackers, and electric port tractors. The port is also increasingly focusing on circularity and the full energy system of the port, which is represented by a long-term, masterplan approach to port development. In its sustainability efforts, the port has also emphasized the need to signal direction and provide predictability for its users.

In Norwegian terms, the port organization in the Port of Oslo is large, with more than 90 employees, who are divided between administration, traffic, real estate, and the technical department. To even greater extent than in Kristiansand, the port organization employs specialized personnel, including personnel dedicated to issues related to climate, environment, and sustainability. Having been ushered in by their environmental director, the port works dedicatedly to the development of plans and strategies for reducing its emissions. Much of this work includes the port's owner, the City of Oslo. The Port of Oslo is distinguished from most Norwegian public ports by very active ownership on part of the City of Oslo, increasing politicization of port business, and extensive involvement of users and stakeholders in the port area. The port is increasingly integrated into the very ambitious climate strategies for the city as a whole, and it is explicitly placed within the system boundaries of the city.

4.2 Methods and data

To gain a better understanding of the content and shaping of transition work in Norwegian ports, the research for this thesis studied the practices of the three case ports. The data collection is summarized in Table 7. The work commenced with a series of port visits, which

included workshops with port organizations and a selection of prominent port users. During those visits, I was introduced to several port actors who presented their own organizations and the activities they did in the port, including what sustainability issues they encountered and their responses to them. This gave me a idea of how actors in each port operated and the realities by which their transition work would have to navigate. The visits also allowed me to establish informal relations with actors in the ports, which was useful to ensure trust and prepare more structured and purposeful data collection. Throughout the work on this thesis, I also increased my general and basic understanding of the port sector through a series of workshops with partners in the TRAZEPO project and through spontaneous interviews held during conferences on ports and energy, with representatives from Ports of Norway, Port of Drammen, Port of Larvik, Port of Elsinore, and Port of Le Havre. However, the most prominent empirical work for this thesis consisted of extensive document studies and expert interviews related to the ports of Narvik, Kristiansand, and Oslo. Accordingly, in much of this chapter I describe and reflect on how the studies and interviews have aided my study of transition work in Norwegian ports.

	Port visits	Semi-structured interviews	Spontaneous interviews	
Port of Kristiansand	1	13		14
Port of Narvik	1	6		7
Port of Oslo	1	15		16
Other ports			4	4
Other stakeholders		5	1	6
	3	39	5	

Table	7.	Overview	of	the	data	collection.
rubic	<i>'</i> · ·	000000000	v,	unc	uutu	concetion.

4.2.1 Document studies

Document analysis is a systematic procedure for reviewing or evaluating documents, and consists of finding, selecting, interpreting, and synthesizing documents (Bowen 2009:27). Despite few scientific discussions on the methodological implications and preconditions of successful document analysis, document analysis has become a popular component of scientific scrutiny. One reason might be that it is an efficient and cost-effective way of collecting data, that the data are stable, and neither affected nor constituted by the research process (Bowen 2009). Document analysis can also be used for data collected from several different events, spanning large timescales, and numerous settings.

Document analysis can serve many functions, including triangulation, contextualization, and developing the researcher's knowledge base and/or research approach (Bowen 2009). In the research for this thesis, document analysis provided preliminary knowledge about the socio-technical contexts of which port actors were a part. It also provided formal official descriptions of transition work, as well as perceived needs and preconditions for transition work. Thus, in addition to allowing for an initial non-systematic mapping of transition work, the document analysis enabled *contextualization*. Contextualization implies providing context for the topic under study (in my case, transition work), as well as background information and insights into the topic's association with other issues (shaping of transition work) (Bowen 2009).

Several types of documents were useful for describing the socio-technical contexts of transition work in ports. Reviews of scientific publications on port sustainability and socio-technical transitions were a source of general knowledge about the port sector and transition work respectively, while statistics and reports by researchers, consultants, public agencies, and ports provided case-specific facts and information. However, the contextualizing document analysis mainly revolved around policies and regulations on local, regional, and international levels (the main documents listed in Table 8). This also included corporate strategies or corporate policies expressed by private actors in and around ports, for instance as found in sustainability reports and policies available from their web pages.

Table 8. Policies and regulations reviewed in the research relating to the thesis.

	City of Oslo (2016): Climate and energy strategy for Oslo
	City of Oslo (2010): Climate strategy for Oslo towards 2030
	City of Oslo (2018): The Fiord City Program
	Port of Kristiansand (2016): Action plan for shore nower
-	Port of Nisla (2012): Action plan for shore power
50	Port of Oslo (2012). Action plan for shore power
<u> </u>	Port of Osla (2013). Blue-green strategy 2013-2023
	Port of Osio (2017): Climate strategy for the port of Osio
	Port of Usio (2018): Zero Emission Action Plan
	Port of Oslo (2020): Southern port as zero-emission port
	Enova investment programs (<u>www.enova.no</u>)
	Ministry of Climate and Environment (1981): Pollution Control Act
	Ministry of Climate and Environment (2017): Climate Change Act
	Ministry of Climate and Environment (2020): Climate plan for 2021–2030
	Ministry of Fisheries and Coastal Affairs (2013): More goods on sea
	Ministry of Local Government and Regional Development (2008): Planning and Building Act
	Ministry of Trade Industry and Eisberies (2007): Ship Safety Act
	Ministry of Trade Industry and Eisperies (2019): Ports and Waters Act
	Ministry of Trade Industry and Eisperies (2021): Greener and smarter Tomorrow's maritime industry
na	Ministry of Transport (2015): National Port Strategy
tio	Ministry of Transport (2017): National Transport Plan 2018–2029
Na	Ministry of Transport (2011): National Transport Han 2022–2023
	Nonwegian Costal Administration: Support scheme for cooperation between ports (anded 2021)
	Norwegian Coastal Administration. 2020): Support for invistment in efficient and environmentally
	friendly ports
	Includy poils
	Norwegian Coastal Administration (2021). Support scheme for transferring gous from road to sea
	Official Nerverting Reset (2019). Action Plan for Green Sinpping
	The New Fund (2021), New Fund
	The NOX Fund (2021): NOX Fund
	EU (2014): EU Directive (2014/94/EU) on deployment of infrastructure for alternative fuels
-	European Union (2017b): EU regulation 2017/352 on port services and financial transparency
ona	European Commission (2016): Maritime Transport Strategy 2009-2018
atic	European Union (2017a): Priorities for maritime transport policy until 2020
ŭ	European Commission (2019b, 2021): European Green Deal and Fit for 55
nte	European Sea Port Organisation: Environmental reports 2019, 2020, 2021
-	IMO (2018): IMO Initial strategy for GHG emissions
	World Ports Climate Action Program (<u>https://sustainableworldports.org/wpcap/</u>)

Contextualizing a topic allows the researcher to discover and describe meaning, patterns, and processes (Altheide et al. 2008). This approach was vital in my document analysis, which was

also used to capture expressed motivations and explicit intents, values, and justifications for whatever transition work in which port actors were or were not engaged. Although document analysis provided useful background for all three cases, it was most prominent in the study reported in Paper 3, in which implementation of shore power in the Port of Oslo represented one example of transition work in that port. In studying the involvement of actors in that specific implementation process, documents were not only supplementary to expert interviews, but also represented a field in which phenomena could be studied. Document analysis allows phenomena that "exist" in documents to be studied "in situ" (Altheide et al. 2008). In studying the introduction of shore power, documents represented "a field of decision-making processes" where I was the spectator scouting for movements that signaled changes in perceptions, intentions, actions, and actor relations that drove or halted transition work.

For Paper 3, document analysis proved particularly useful due to the cover it provided in allowing me to study a range of different events spanning large timescales and numerous settings (Bowen 2009). As such, document analysis was an efficient way to gain a fundamental grasp of the different actors' approaches to shore power implementation. Understanding the implementation process also implied studying events dating back to 2008, which did not involve any of the actors currently engaged with shore power and who might have proved challenging to identify and contact. Furthermore, accounts of events more than one decade ago might have been blurred by the time passed or by reinterpretations by the actors. By contrast, the stability of the documents conveyed stories as told at the time, rather than as they would have been told ten years later.

As my document analysis relied on formal official documents, it did not capture informal personal exchanges and/or internal discussions concealed by the apparent consensus presented in such documents. The document analysis gave me a general understanding of the socio-technical contexts of ports and general familiarity with port actors. However, to ensure that my understanding was realistic and applied to the ports under study, I also needed to conduct qualitative interviews with actors in the specific ports. Thus, a further purpose of the document analysis was to supplement and corroborate (or contrast) information gained from qualitative interviews. Document analysis is commonly used as part of the method known as *triangulation*, in order to corroborate, contradict, or contrast findings in other qualitative approaches (Bowen 2009). In the work reported here, document analyses provided foundations for continuing with qualitative interviews, and as such served to establish a knowledge base that allowed for further development of research-related inquiries (ibid.).

4.2.2 Expert interviews

The document analysis described in the preceding subchapter was less geared towards studying informal, non-material aspects of transition work and socio-technical contexts, such as practices, knowledge, and culture. To capture these in a better way, interviews were conducted with representatives of port authorities, local authorities, regional authorities, the National Coast Administration, the Norwegian association for public ports (Ports of Norway), energy companies, transport providers, terminal operators, and a wide range of other port users. The interviews provided first-hand accounts of activities that constituted the transition

work of different actors, and they allowed for fuller descriptions of the socio-technical contexts within which those activities took place.

Given that port actors have particular technical knowledge (e.g., related to technologies, administrative procedures, mandates) and process related knowledge (e.g., related to port operations, concession policies, collaboration) that specifically impact transition work in ports, I considered the interviewed informants to be experts. Table 9 gives an overview of actors that were interviewed. As argued by Pfadenhauer (2009:84), "the expert interview (...) focuses on the exclusive knowledge assets of experts in the context of their (ultimate) responsibility for problem solutions." Definitions of experts and expertise have evolved over time, and Meuser and Nagel (2009) argue that the definition of experts must follow prevailing definitions of expert knowledge. New modes of knowledge production (e.g. Weingart 1997) have provided more comprehensive understandings of what constitutes expertise. Whereas experts were historically certified professionals trained in strong institutions, they have gradually come to encompass also those who acquire knowledge to solve a particular problem, those who acquire special knowledge through the activities they perform (e.g., in NGOs), and those who carry out functions that contribute to solve a problem (although the activities they participate in are not necessarily intended to solve the problem) (Meuser & Nagel 2009). In its widest sense, the concept of experts suggests that everyone is an expert, either in their own field or their own life (Bogner & Menz 2009). As such, expertise could be considered a relative and constructed concept. The constructivist concept of expertise focuses on the making of experts and how the roles of experts are ascribed. Bogner and Menz (2009) argue that experts can be constructed by the researcher who assumes the expert to have knowledge about a topic, regardless of their actual knowledge. Also, an expert could be constructed through societal processes, wherein societal reality deems a person as expert because of training, specialization, or because they belong to a functional elite.

Port authorities	Port of Narvik, Port of Kristiansand, Port of Oslo
Local authorities	City of Narvik, City of Kristiansand, City of Oslo
Regional authorities	Agder County, BaneNor
National authorities	Norwegian Coastal Administration
Terminal operators	Yilport, Greencarrier
Port users	Glencore, LKAB, Heidelberg, Skanska, GC Rieber Salt
Maritime transport providers	Samskip, DB Schenker, Norlines, DFDS, Color Line, Stena Line
Road transport providers	DB Schenker, Norlines, Bring, Agder kollektivtrafikk
Energy providers	Gasnor, Agder Energi, Naturgass Nord, Hafslund
Trade and interest organizations	Ports of Norway, Norwegian coastal shipowners, GCE NODE, Zero

Table 9. Actors included in the data collection

In this thesis, the experts were port actors with expertise in their own realities, and as such they fitted well with the notion of "everyone is an expert." However, their roles as experts were also constructed by me, the researcher, when I sought to access their specific knowledge of port activities and business. Their expert knowledge rested on their functions in the port, such as transporting or shifting goods and passengers, industrial production, or providing storage, towage or piloting services, energy provision and customs. In sum, their fulfilment of their functions gave a comprehensive picture of actors and activities that constitute the foundation for transitions in ports. The port actors provided me with expert knowledge because they had particular first-hand knowledge about their functions and their interactions. Thus, the participants were experts on port actors and activities by virtue of fulfilling port functions themselves.

Expert interviews place certain requirements on the researcher. Active interviewing presumes that the researcher recognizes the contexts, cultural assumptions, and linguistic practices inherent in the interview (Holstein & Gubrium 1995:3). Therefore, to be an active interviewer, the researcher should gain as much knowledge as possible about the special knowledge that the expert has (i.e., the interviewee's knowledge corpus) (Pfadenhauer 2009:90). Document analysis was one way for me to prepare for this. By improving my understanding of ports' socio-technical contexts, the document analysis was instrumental in developing the interview guide and raised my credibility when recruiting informants and when conducting the interviews. Successful expert interviews derive from a communication situation that feels familiar to the expert (i.e., a quasi-normal conversation) (Hooner 1994, in Pfadenhauer 2009:84). Such conversations should, as far as possible, resemble conversation situations among experts, which requires both parties of the conversation to be experts (ibid. p. 86).

Additionally, background knowledge and shared experience are important for the researcher to assist the participant in reflecting upon and exploring their perception of the issue in question (Holstein & Gubrium 1995:45). Hence, the researcher "must build up a knowledge base of the field that the experts are moving in," because naivety could be perceived as incompetence (Meuser & Nagel 2009:31-32). In that way, document analysis became a tool for me build trust and confidence, and helped me to "activate, stimulate and cultivate the informant's interpretive capabilities" (Holstein & Gubrium 1995:17). This suggests that researchers relying on expert interviews need be particularly wary about ascription. Bogner and Menz (2009:57) assume that "whatever is said in the interview is in essential respects guided by "the informant's perception of the interviewer's competence, professional background, normative orientation and attitudes, and possible influence within the relevant field of investigation." Whether the informant considers the researcher to hold similar expertise as the informant themself, or to hold a different type of expertise, or merely perceives the researcher as a lay person, could influence the attitude, translation efforts, and self-censorship of the informant. Furthermore, the informant's openness could reflect their perception of the researcher as either an authority, an accomplice, or a potential critic (ibid.), which prove a particular challenge for researchers when studying increasingly normative phenomena such as sustainability.

Given the heterogeneity of the interviewed actors, it is likely that I was subject to all of the above-mentioned ascriptions. For instance, the different types of specializations that characterized the port actors suggest that I was probably regarded as a lay person during parts of almost all interviews. Ascriptions could also have changed during the course of an interview. One example is when an ascription changed from co-expert to expert from another knowledge culture, as the informant realized that I did not have the same level of knowledge about the port domain as them. Although understanding the knowledge corpus of informants was vital to attribute credibility to me as a researcher (ref. Pfadenhauer 2009), I also experienced that

my lack of knowledge relating to specificities was an advantage. My lack of familiarity with the informants' realities, coupled with their explicit trust and enthusiasm in the interview setting, led to particularly fruitful and honest reflections on the basics of their operations. This finding corresponds with the assumption made by Bogner and Menz (2009), namely that in a trustful interview situation, naive questions can give productive and interesting answers and encourage the informant to reflect on what they take for granted.

Expert interviews in Paper 1 and Paper 2

The document analysis was essential for developing the interview guide and establishing credibility. Another critical preparation was port visits. The ports visits were the first empirical work in the port domain and allowed for observations of selected port operations. They also enabled me to become familiar with the port organization and meet personally with port actors who the port organization considered prominent in the port's transition work. The interview guide for Paper 1 and Paper 2 was developed to serve the TRAZEPO project as a whole, and therefore it was developed in collaboration with my colleagues. The interview guide allowed for a broad mapping of socio-technical realities of port actors, and their perspectives on emission reduction and transition work in general. The main categories and central issues covered by the guide are listed in Table 10 (see Appendix A for the full interview guide). Thus, the main purpose of the expert interviews upon which Papers 1 and 2 were based was to increase our understanding of (1) the daily operations of actors in and around the port, (2) factors that influenced their operations and business development, and (3) their perceptions of emission reduction and efforts to achieve them. Collectively, findings related to these issues shed light on the contents and shaping of transition work.

Informants were recruited through purposive sampling. In purposive sampling, the researcher relies on their "special knowledge or expertise about some groups to select subjects who represent this population" (Berg 2001:32). In the research for this thesis, the sampling began with port representatives and stakeholders in the TRAZEPO project, who were engaged in the project precisely because they were responsible for activities and strategies for transition work in ports. We relied on the initial interviews with these informants to identify and contact other prominent port actors with explicit responsibility for dealing with sustainability issues in the port. As such, informants that were identified through purposive sampling enabled further snowball sampling: the identification of other relevant informants with relevant attributes based on the information provided by the existing informants (Goodman 1961). One risk with sampling procedures that rely heavily on an initially small group of informants is biased sampling, which for this thesis could imply that the data only covered certain aspects of transition work or transition work that was more progressive. If the purpose of this thesis had been to increase our understanding of non-existent or lagging transition work, such biased sampling would have had obvious bearings on the relevance of the data. However, when the purpose is to describe the content and emergence of transition work, sampling that directs the data collection towards cases that are rich in terms of transition work allows for fuller stories about transition work.

Although the interview guide was structured to aid the researchers in form of cues and probes, the interviews were conducted in a semi-structured manner. Accordingly, the informants were encouraged to narrate freely around questions and to address other issues that they

considered central in the operations and strategies of their organization. Thus, the questions listed in the interview guide were used as reminders by the researchers, which ensured that each interview covered the many different aspects of the informant's socio-technical realities.

Interviews were conducted throughout 2018 and early 2019. All interviews were conducted by telephone and lasted between 30 and 60 minutes. The researchers took notes continuously during the interviews, and notes were collected and collated after each interview. Notes were uploaded using NVivo software for coding and analysis. The data were then subject to two rounds of content analysis. Hsieh and Shannon (2005:1278) define qualitative content analysis as "a research method for the subjective interpretation of the content of text data through the systematic classification process of coding and identifying themes or patterns." We first performed conventional content analysis to obtain an overview of the many issues covered in the interviews. Conventional content analyses aim to "describe a phenomenon [...] when existing theory or research literature on a phenomenon is limited" (Hsieh & Shannon 2005:1279). In the research for this thesis, conventional content analysis served to establish a knowledge base on transition work in and around ports, which had previously mainly been described in terms of what technologies and solutions could be applied to improve port sustainability (see Subchapter 2.2). In practice, this involved coding data according to the question categories listed in Table 10.

Question categories	Main issues
Actors	Actors in and around the port in position to impact activities in the port
Level, scale	Levels of decision-making that impact the port, administrative levels, decision- making, regulatory levels, market orientations
Networks	Formal and informal networks of which port actors are a part, actors on the different levels described above, financial and non-financial resources in networks
Goals, ambitions, perspectives	Formal and informal objectives and ambitions in organizations, perspectives on surroundings and own business
Responsibilities	Mandate and responsibilities for sustainability in own organization, perceived responsibilities in other organizations, basis of responsibility/non-responsibility
Resources	Material, infrastructural, economic, financial, cultural, social, and technological resources, knowledge, organizational competence
Instruments	Measures, instruments, incentives, and other solutions that aid the organization and others to achieve emission reduction targets
Regulatory rules	Explicit formal rules that guide behavior and interactions
Normative rules	Values, norms, role expectations, duties, rights, and responsibilities
Cognitive rules	Perception of reality, interpretation of reality and symbols, formation of meaning, understandings of concepts
Rewards and sanctions	Factors that structure and regulate social transactions

Table 10. General topics covered in interview guide for collecting data for Paper 1 and Paper 2.

As an exploratory approach, conventional content analysis builds on open-ended interview questions, followed by defining, revising, and organizing codes. As such, these types of analyses are not considered particularly suited for theoretical development. Although questions and topics were inspired by the existing corpus of theory and research on sustainability transitions, the interview guide was not defined to pursue specific theoretical insights or concepts. Rather, it was designed to maintain relevance for socio-technical studies and to keep a sufficiently open approach to allow for dives into the breadth of issues that it addressed. Table 11 exemplifies analysis of two such dives in Paper 1 and Paper 2.

D		D 2	
Paper 1 Producer	The informant talks about own or other organization's involvement in designing, modifying, testing innovations.	Paper 2 Networks	The informant talks about formal and informal networks that their organization is (not) part of and dialogue/cooperation they do/do not engage in concerning sustainability issues
Legitimator	The informant talks normatively about innovations and their support/non-support for particular solutions.		Sustaniability issues.
Intermediary	The informant talks about own or other organization's involvement in establishing structures and system, infrastructure, regulations to support a given innovation. The informant also talks about own organization engaging other organizations to make use of these support structures and work to ensure common perspectives and approaches to innovations.	Expectations	The informant describes their imagined future. The informant talks about their organization's expectations and visions for the future, and how and to what degree they expect having to change. The informant talks about innovations expected to emerge.
Consumer	The informant talks about own or other organization's incorporation of innovations in their daily operations and practices.		The informant talks about their knowledge of innovations and external aspects that do or do not foster diffusion of innovations (first- order learning). The informant talks
Citizen	The informant talks about own or other organization's involvement in active open promotion of particular innovations.	Learning	turther about the assumptions that underlie his/her organization's motivations, priorities, and decision-making (second-order learning). The informant talks about his/her perception of what the port is and should be (second-order learning).

Table 11. Codes used for analyzing the interview data for Paper 1 and Paper 2

When conducting the studies reported in the Paper 1 and Paper 2, the initial content analysis provided an open reading of the full data material, which allowed for identification of traits and tendencies in the data that could be investigated further. The broad data collection and conventional content analyses also allowed in-depth consideration of issues that were not

necessarily on the agenda when designing the interview guide. As such, conventional content analysis inspired direct content analysis, which was geared more to increasing our understanding of theoretical constructs. While the study reported in Paper 1 relied on the role typology suggested by Schot et al. (2016) to investigate what roles port actors took in pursuit of sustainability, Paper 2 discusses ways in which social processes around expectations, network-building and learning constituted transition work. Thus, coding and analysis in the two studies were defined explicitly on the basis of existing theoretical work in the transition literature, primarily that of Schot et al. (2016). Codes were specifically defined to investigate the research objectives of the studies, and are presented in Table 11. In both studies, text data for each interview was thoroughly reviewed and text extracts corresponding to the different codes were extracted and collocated for further review.

Expert interviews in Paper 3

In contrast to the studies reported in Paper 1 and Paper 2, in which scope and objectives evolved from conventional content exploration of rich data on the socio-technical contexts of port actors, the data collection behind Paper 3 explicitly targeted a specific issue: the implementation of shore power in the Port of Oslo. This issue emerged when analyzing the broad interview data described above, and when reviewing scientific studies of technologies that promote sustainability in ports. While previous interview data suggested that the scope and premises for transition work in the Port of Oslo was distinguished from other ports, reviewing state-of-the-art research on sustainability efforts in ports (documented in Bjerkan & Seter 2019) revealed a clear lack of empirical data on implementation processes. Thus, the study reported in Paper 3 aimed to provide empirical data and actual experiences of implementing shore power. To do so, there was a need for targeted data collection and specific data analysis.

As described in Paper 3, the study relied not only on substantial document studies to identify events in the implementation of shore power, but also on interviews with actors in and around the Port of Oslo that could shed light on the implementation process and provide perspectives on shore power as a solution to sustainability challenges. The interviews were organized around preliminary timelines for each actor, which described the actor's involvement with decision-making and implementation of shore power. Preliminary timelines were identified through data collection related to Papers 1 and 2, and document studies, which mainly included policy documents, as well as media coverage and opinion pieces. The timelines served as starting points for each interview, in which the informant was encouraged to narrate freely around the events we had already identified. An important aspect of the interviews was probing the informant for information about additional events or information that could corroborate (or contradict) our interpretations of events as described in the preliminary timelines. Thus, each interview was tailored to capture the involvement and events specifically relevant to the organization or informant in the interview. Accordingly, individual interview guides were developed for each interview, based on the preliminary timelines. A stylistic example of one such interview guide, based on a hypothetical, preliminary timeline, is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Hypothetical preliminary timeline used to guide interviews.

The study reported in Paper 3 also relied on purposive sampling and snowball sampling. The population of interest was persons directly involved in decision-making around the implementation of shore power for cruise ferries in the Port of Oslo. To a certain degree, these had already been identified through the data collection for studies presented in Paper 1 and Paper 2, but they were also identified by informants when explicitly discussing the shore power case. For Paper 3, it was crucial to identify informants who were personally involved in decision-making prior to the implementation of shore power, and therefore had first-hand experience of the implementation process. Given that shore power was also a prominent feature of the qualitative data underlying Paper 1 and Paper 2, data on shore power from these informants were also used to provide further background and context to the specific implementation process. Although we considered the informants in the final sample to be highly relevant participants in that process, and despite those representatives providing fairly consistent narratives, we cannot rule out the possibility that representatives in the organizations that were not interviewed might have provided other or contradictory stories.

The interviews were held throughout 2019. All interviews were conducted by telephone and lasted approximately one hour. The interviews were conducted by one colleague and me, and were recorded in full. Thereafter, each interview was transcribed, and all texts uploaded using the NVivo software for analysis. Whereas analysis in Paper 1 and Paper 2 followed predefined codes based on theoretical assumptions regarding the research objectives under study, text data in Paper 3 were analyzed along two lines. First, data were organized according to the

information they contained about events leading to the implementation of shore power, simply to obtain an overview of the full implementation process and the steps involved. This provided us with a chronological timeline of the implementation and full descriptions of the events included. Second, data were analyzed with regard to the theoretical underpinnings reported in Paper 3, namely the role of problems, policy, and politics in decision-making processes. The chronological timeline was reviewed to identify events and circumstances related to the problem stream of shore power, the policy stream, and the politics stream (see Table 12). Accordingly, event descriptions were revisited and coded according to Kingdon's understandings of these streams (1984), which represented the theoretical underpinnings of Paper3.

Problem stream	Perceived problems that need to be solved
Policy stream	Solutions available to solve the perceived problem
Politics stream	Political factors that lead policymakers towards particular problems and solutions to them

4.3 Scope and transferability issues

To increase our understanding of the content and shaping of transition work, this thesis draws on data relating to transition work in the ports of Narvik, Kristiansand, and Oslo. Although the TRAZEPO project (of which the research for this thesis is part) also reports on transition work in Norwegian ports more generally (Bjerkan et al. 2021b, Bjerkan et al. 2021c), this thesis does not delve into the greater variation in the transition work if ports. Therefore, sharing stories from representatives of the ports investigated here is not an attempt to make claims about the port sector in general. By contrast, and as highlighted in Chapter 7, the immense heterogeneity of the port sector suggests that transition work is likely to vary substantially from one port to another. Thus, although ports around the globe are facing similar challenges, transition work will not necessarily emerge in the same way in all ports.

As evident from subsequent chapters, this thesis mainly revolves around transition work in and around the Port of Oslo. Consequently, the three ports under study do not receive equal attention in the analysis. This particularly applies to the Port of Narvik, which at the point of data collection had yet to initiate substantial transition work. However, documents and interviews held in and around the Port of Narvik provided a richer context for understanding the premises for transition work in the port sector and provided a useful contrast when analyzing transition work in the other two ports. This also applies to interviews with representatives of the other national and European ports listed in Table 7, which provided me with a deeper and instinctive perception of the public port sector and its many facets.

It is also evident in subsequent chapters that the stories of transition work were mainly oriented around the activities of port organizations. Ports could also be considered as physical areas that comprise different port activities, as nodes in transport and industry networks, or as heterogeneous actor constellations (Damman & Steen 2021). Given that many ports are located close to urban areas, many of them need to incorporate neighboring communities into their system boundaries, suggesting that the transition work of ports could also comprise civil

society. Thus, although discussions on the content and shaping of transition work mainly focus on the transition work of port organizations, they also refer to the involvement of and shaping provided by other actors (e.g., in the role of the public, markets, business strategies, and environmental organizations in shaping transition work). Thus, I recognize transition work as the collective product of sustainability efforts of the many different corporate actors that comprise or engage directly in port areas. I further recognize that future stories of transition work should also contain more explicit reference to agencies of non-human actors, as exemplified by legislation, infrastructures, and artifacts in this thesis.

4.4 Naturalist approach to qualitative data

This thesis is positioned within the scholarly culture around socio-technical sustainability transitions. As seen in its lineage with STS, this culture orients quite prominently towards constitutive processes, ontologically as well as epistemologically. Although this thesis is clearly anchored in the research field of sustainability transitions, the collected data contain more naturalist and less constitutive elements than might be typical of studies associated with STS. For this reason, I share some reflections on the naturalist nature of the methods and data described earlier in this chapter.

Although content analysis can encompass manifest content as well as latent content (Berg 2001), it is often considered to originate in a naturalist paradigm (Hsieh & Shannon 2005), or a naturalist idiom. As thoroughly accounted for by Gubrium and Holstein (1997), qualitative methods can be considered to represent different ways of knowing (i.e., how knowledge is produced). They distinguish between different idioms, specifically different sets of language or methods talk that "shape knowledge of social reality" (Gubrium & Holstein 1997:5) and that relate to the researcher's approach to the phenomenon under study. The *naturalist* idiom describes actors in their natural world and assumes that there is a natural world ready to be discovered and described. Naturalism "seeks rich descriptions of people and interactions as they exist and unfold in their natural habitats" (Gubrium & Holstein 1997:6). Within this idiom, informants are the medium through which the researcher taps into that world and that enable the researcher to capture reality as it "really is." This requires the researcher to be present in that world and take on a *tabula resa*—to meet the world without prejudice and adopt the reality presented by the informant.

Practically every aspect of my document analysis had naturalist connotations. When working with documents to understand the socio-technical systems of ports, I treated the documents quite straightforwardly as mere conveyors of words and images. As such, I bluntly accepted the documents I studied as representations of the natural socio-technical world of ports, and the documents mainly served as sources of information. The approach was opposite to the reflexive turn in document analysis (Altheide et al. 2008), which suggests that documents can also be considered symbolic representations, which require the analyst to be reflexive with regard to sources, meanings, and relationships. In this sense, document analysis includes reflections upon the unspoken contents of documents: what they neglect to address, what their purpose is, and what audiences they target (Bowen 2009). A more naturalist approach to document analysis implies that the researcher ignores the multiple realities that could be inherent in documents, which in turn could lead to bias and misrepresentation.

A potential challenge in my document analysis was *selection bias*. This related to the selection of documents to be included in the document analysis, which could occur through iterative search and selection processes and the criteria applied in them. For this thesis, the selected documents included in analysis were mainly formal official documents. Public documents are often considered to have high credibility (Ryghaug 2002), but one should also remember that they are intended to bear the scrutiny of the public eye. Including informal documents, such as correspondence, internal memos, and meeting minutes, could provide alternative or nuanced realities, hidden by the apparent consensus presented by official document. Although other types of documents may also represent the same voices and perspectives as those represented official documents, chances are that the variety of voices concerned with port issues, or any other issue, would not be represented when only analyzing formal public documents.

Another challenge with formal official documents is not only knowing how they were produced, but also why they communicate what they do. My document analysis did not delve into the construction of reality as presented by the studied documents, that is, whose realities and perceptions they were based on and whose sensemaking lay behind the documents. There is inherent power in choosing whether or not to make documents available, and in choosing what to present and not to present (Altheide et al. 2008). Insecurities, discussions, controversies, and conflicts are all masked by formal documents, which suggests that formal documents typically present the reality the authors want to be real. Therefore, Bowen (2009) argues that reflecting on the balance of documents is essential when the researcher evaluates them. For example, when reviewing the sustainability reports of shipowners, one could expect less successful (or lack of) endeavors to be less prominent or even absent from documents. Furthermore, the absence or sparseness of documents altogether could suggest little attention to an issue (Bowen 2009). Absence of formal documents could also suggest that an actor does not want attention to a particular issue. In conclusion, pondering the non-existence of documents or issues could be equally important when analyzing documents as evaluating their contents.

During the research for this thesis, naturalist aspects were also found in the expert interviews. In seeking to explore and map the socio-technical contexts of ports, my interviews relied on treating the informants as vessels of answers (Holstein & Gubrium 1995), since the interviews were mainly fact-finding missions (i.e., what the port actors had done, what they were doing, and what they were planning to do). As such, I did not pay specific attention to how the realities presented to me were constructed. On the contrary, it was important to me to tap into the informant's world as they described and perceived it, and to document their perspective. Hence, understanding the premises for transitioning socio-technical contexts around ports relied on switching between the different worlds that different port actors occupied.
Part B: Papers

5 Papers

The following pages present the papers that are published as part of this thesis. All three papers provide responses to RQ2, about the content of transition work in ports, and to RQ3, about the shaping of transition work. However, considering how transition work is not an explicit focus in all papers, the papers are followed by a summary of ways in which they describe the content and shaping of transition work.

- Paper 1: Bjerkan, K. Y., M. Ryghaug & T. M. Skjølsvold (2021): Actors in energy transitions: Transformative potentials at the intersection between Norwegian port and transport systems, *Energy Research & Social Science*, 72, 101868 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101868
- Paper 2: Bjerkan, K. Y. & M. Ryghaug (2021): Diverging pathways to port sustainability: How social processes shape and direct transition work, *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 166, 120595 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120595
- Paper 3: Bjerkan, K. Y. & H. Seter (2021): Policy and politics in energy transitions. A case study on shore power in Oslo, *Energy Policy*, 153, 112259 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112259</u>

Paper I

Energy Research & Social Science 72 (2021) 101868

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Energy Research & Social Science

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/erss

ENERGY RESEARCH SCIENCE

Actors in energy transitions. Transformative potentials at the intersection between Norwegian port and transport systems



Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan^{a,b,*}, Marianne Ryghaug^b, Tomas Moe Skjølsvold^b

^a SINTEF, Postboks 4760 Torgarden, 4765 Trondheim, Norway

^b Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Department of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture, 7491 Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Keywords: Although actors are of central importance in the progress of energy transitions, their roles and contributions have Actors received limited attention by transition scholars. This article aims to fill this gap by taking a role-centric Energy approach to actors and by expanding existing user role typologies to include the variety of actors involved in such Port transitions. This allows for a more comprehensive grasp of the potential role of actors in accelerating energy Roles transitions. To explore how particular constellations of actor roles can shape energy transitions, we turn to an Sustainability under-addressed transition site, namely ports. As nodes in transport systems, ports may shape and potentially Transition transform the energy use and practices in the three domains that intersect in ports: the port domain, the sea transport domain, and the hinterland transport domain. We find that port actors fulfilment of their roles differs between the three domains, which differ according to whether actors are united by an uncontroversial innovation, and whether there is a strong intermediary role. We also find that port actors are collectively more able to

vation, and whether there is a strong internediary role. We also find that port actors are collectively more able to shape energy transitions in ports than in related transport systems. We conclude that studying the complex and context-laden realities of ports is a useful exercise for exploring the variety of role constellations that could shape energy transitions.

1. Introduction

With alarming reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) [1] and the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES) [2], society-wide sectors, systems and actors have been urged to become more sustainable. Scholars have noted that what they call 'deep transitions' require fundamental shifts in directionality and logic across sectors, with sustainability as a guiding principle [3]. However, energy transition studies have been criticized for focusing too strongly on systems of production and distribution, and energy transition researchers have been challenged to study such transitions in new and more diverse ways [e.g. 4]. Among other, scholars have responded by, for example, studying and acknowledging the multiple roles of actors in energy systems and [5–7] and exploring the many roles and strategies that actors can mobilize to advance transition [e.g. 8–10].

To date, energy transition research has taken a broad approach to actors, encompassing organizations, industries, citizens, consumers and other representatives of civil society, culture and social movements, and as agents holding and representing different geographies, power, agency and resources [11]. A growing number of studies have sought to understand and conceptualize actor involvement in transition [e.g. see 8], and have mainly attempted to categorize different types of actors that shape transition processes. To provide a more united perspective on actor *roles*, Schot, Kanger and Verbong [12] present a categorization of users in different phases of transition, which has been lacking in transition studies [13]. In our study, we extend Schot et al.'s description of roles [12] to the variety of actors involved in energy transitions, and not just end-users of technologies. Accordingly, we emphasize the *functions* inherent in the roles described by Schot et al. rather than focusing on the actors who carry those functions. As such, we engage with a relatively new focus in transition studies – one that stresses the multiple roles of social actors in energy systems [14]. We address the following question: *How can actor roles and the constellations they constitute shape energy transitions*?

To extend the typology presented by Schot et al., we draw on a transition case characterized by large actor complexity, and where actors can shape transition in different domains. Ports represent hubs in transport systems in which sea and land transport intersect with port operations. This intersection encompasses a broad range of actors,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101868

Received 24 April 2020; Received in revised form 17 November 2020; Accepted 19 November 2020

Available online 30 November 2020

^{*} Corresponding author at: SINTEF, Postboks 4760 Torgarden, 7465 Trondheim, Norway.

E-mail addresses: kristin.ystmark.bjerkan@sintef.no (K.Y. Bjerkan), marianne.ryghaug@ntnu.no (M. Ryghaug), tomas.skjolsvold@ntnu.no (T.M. Skjølsvold).

^{2214-6296/© 2020} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

including port authorities, terminal operators, wholesalers, forwarders, carriers, shipping companies, rail and barge operators, industrial businesses, port service providers and many more. This heterogeneous mass of actors suggests that ports serve as particularly useful cases in research when taking a role-centric approach to demonstrate how actors can shape energy transitions. To demonstrate how role constellations can shape such transitions, we studied the roles of actors in the Port of Oslo and how that particular role constellation shaped energy transitions in domains that intersected in the port.

Through interviews with port actors in Oslo we examined the port actors' activities and perceptions regarding transition work, and reviewed them in light of the roles suggested by Schot et al. [12]. As all of the roles introduced by Schot et al. could be considered essential for successful energy transitions, one could assume that the potential for such transition is higher in cases where all roles exist and are strong. From our investigation of the role constellation in the Port of Oslo we have been able to indicate whether the potential for successful transition in the studies case was high or low. In turn, this finding may enhance our understanding of the roles that different actors take in energy transitions, as well as ports as transition sites.

This article contributed to the field of transition research in two ways. First, and unlike most studies on energy transitions, we do not examine in depth a particular transition, niche or innovation. As the central position of ports in transport systems allow port actors to shape transitions in several domains, we wished to focus on their potential reach and not limit our study to single innovations. Second, we believe that functions inherent in the roles described by Schot et al. are important in transition processes regardless of what actors attend to them. Therefore, we extend Schot et al.s typology of roles to the variety of port actors, independent of whether they are end-users of a specific innovation.

2. Actor roles in energy transitions

Actors play pivotal roles in sustainability transitions, which have been considered 'multi-actor processes' whereby a variety of actors and social groups, whether deliberately or not, apply their 'resources, capabilities, beliefs, strategies, interests [and] agencies' [15:5] to promote or obstruct systemic change. However, transitions studies have for long been criticized for ignoring the role and agency of actors in transition processes [16], and for conceptual ambiguity in references to actors [17]. Consequently, scholars have responded to the call for greater representation and conceptualization of actors within sustainable transition studies.

Many authors take an 'actor-centric' approach by focusing on the actions and approaches of specific actors, such as incumbent actors [e.g. 18–20], niche actors [e.g. 21,22], and actors in social movements [e.g. 23,24]. Others take 'role-centric' approaches in their efforts to understand actors. For example, in a review of transition studies' perspectives on actors, Fischer and Newig [16] distinguish between four actor types (systemic, institutional, governance and intermediary), but stress the ability of actors belonging to different types to have similar functions (i. e. roles). Further, Haan and Rootmans [25] suggest a typology of what roles actors take as transformative change agents, namely frontrunners, connectors, topplers, and supporters.

By contrast, however, Wittmayer et al. [26] aim to provide transition scholars with a vocabulary for understanding actors in transition processes, by highlighting the transition roles' of such actors. They argue that hitherto transition scholars have not presented an analytical framework for understanding roles in transition, which they describe as 'as a set of recognizable activities and attitudes used by an actor to address recurring situations' [26:49]. Wittmayer et al. further argue that examining actor roles in depth allows for systematic descriptions of how actors engage and relate to each other, and that understanding actor roles in transition requires an understanding of all individual roles as well as constellations of roles, which they refer to as a 'web of roles which interact, interrelate and co-evolve' [26:50].

2.1. A typology of actor roles

By applying the role typology suggested by Schot et al. [12] in our study of actors in the Port of Oslo, we aspired to follow Wittmayer et al.s perspective on actor roles in transition [26]. Although Schot et al.s discussion of end users could be considered as taking an actor-centric approach, unlike many scholars, they also take a role-centric approach by defining what roles end-users play in key transition processes. Extending Schot et al.'s typology beyond end-users allowed us to place greater emphasis on the roles and functions that could be enacted in energy transitions. Thus, by targeting actor *roles* instead of actor *types* we recognized the agency the former might hold in actively (re)shaping and/or reshaping and replacing regimes [27], and thus aimed to contribute to an understanding of how energy transitions at the intersection between ports and transport systems may be stimulated.

Schot et al.'s typology of actor roles distinguishes between five roles: producers, legitimators, intermediaries, citizens and consumers [12]. *Producers* contribute to innovation and evolvement of emerging niches. Given the array of innovations available to port users, producers can have a prominent role in ports. User-producers design, modify and test transformative technologies, present solutions that atone to user preferences and that foster new practices [12]. This resembles von Hippel's term 'lead users' [28], which refers to those who seek innovations that cover needs not already met by the market.

Legitimators install meaning in niche activities, ensure values and interpretations that support niches and promote their spread and legitimacy [12]. Perception and meaning are crucial for continued diffusion of innovations and must be continuously maintained [29]. Thus, legitimators are central in enrolling actors to networks around niches, which in the case of ports may be an important but challenging role, given the heterogeneous group of actors whose connections to different economies and realities might call for different types of innovations.

Conceptualizations of *intermediaries* are continuously evolving [e.g. 30–32], but the literature has traditionally emphasized their efforts to broker between actors [e.g. 33] and instigate change among others. Schot et al. [12] describe 'user-intermediaries' as those who create and strengthen support structures in order to transform socio-technical systems, such as infrastructures and regulations. Intermediaries work to establish and shape the system within which niches are to gain ground and they engage actors to align technologies, regulations, expectations, and use. Intermediaries can have a crucial role in ports because they are complex structures populated with a range of actors with different priorities.

According to Schot et al. [12], intermediaries are considered to be involved in transitions through three key processes - facilitating, configuring and brokering - that are contextually, spatially and temporally dependent [34]. The many references to these processes have led scholars to criticize transitions studies for not fully acknowledging the independent agendas and wills of intermediaries. Parag and Janda [35,36] argue for a broader conceptualization of so-called 'middle actors' that recognizes their capacity and agency to a greater extent. Janda and Parags middle actors are granted endogenous existence and raisonde-vivre beyond their brokering role. This could be, for example, the case for port authorities that need to balance their (social) role as community managers with their roles as regulators or operators [e.g. 37]. Similarly, Haan and Rotmans [25] describe actors in transition processes as 'transformative change agents' whose intentional acts derive from specific value sets. The question of whether intermediaries in ports are primarily preoccupied with brokering, facilitating, or configuring, or whether they act as transformative change agents with the intention to drive energy transitions, is explored further in this article.

Through a range of activities, spanning from lobbyism to social movements, *citizens* actively progress niches at the expense of the prevailing regime or competing niches [12]. In ports, citizens in the sense of

private individuals are not expected to be a prominent feature. Hence it will be interesting to see whether any of the actors discussed in this article attend to functions typically carried by user-citizens.

Finally, *consumers* incorporate niches and innovations in their daily lives, thereby creating or modifying established practices. They shape transitions through their consumption power [13], but also attach symbolic meaning to niches that confirm their values and identities [6,12]. Given the heterogeneity of port users and the vast number of innovations available to them, one could expect to identify consumers that are in a position to influence port transitions, for instance through purchasing transport services or investing in low-emission machinery. In contrast to previous research, our understanding of user-consumers in the context of ports implies the need to study organizations that either implement or could implement innovations rather than studying individual household consumers.

2.2. Existing research on user roles in energy transitions

Schot et al.'s typology of actor roles [12] is a valuable conceptualization in presenting users as more than passive adopters of new technologies, in that they can actively encourage (or discourage) the diffusion of such technologies. This approach is in contrast to most research on energy transitions, which has mainly focused on users as technology adopters, often related to energy practices in households [38-42] or as adopters of electric vehicles [e.g. 6,43-46] and bio-energy [27].

Few studies have thus far applied Schot et al.'s categories to empirical cases. Some exceptions are studies that have used them to study transitions in mobility [43,47] or to describe the involvement of users in grid connected solar PV [7]. These studies have predominantly supported the usefulness and validity of the categories, although more research is needed to show their transferability to other domains and to advance our understanding of user roles in energy transitions. This study constitutes a contribution in this direction because we applied Schot et al.'s typology to a new empirical field, namely ports. Further, the study contributes to energy transitions research by emphasizing the functions inherent in the roles described by Schot et al. We argue that these functions are cardinal to transition processes and that they could be fulfilled by others than end-users. Accordingly, in this article we stress the way the categories could be translated into functions that actors fulfill in energy transitions. As an example, for an innovation to materialize, someone must take responsibility for testing and conducting a pilot study of the innovation to allow for learning and modification, and thereby function as a producer. As a further example, there is a need to coordinate and align actors and interests in order to promote the innovation - a task typically carried out by intermediaries. Moreover, for transitions to happen, there is need for someone to create positive narratives and legitimize framings of new innovations and directions, and thereby function as a legitimator. As a last example, for a transition to materialize and spread someone must take the innovation into use (i. e. act as a consumer) and the innovation must have broad, general support (i.e. by citizens).

In this article, we use Schot et al.'s typology [12] to define roles that are considered essential for progressing energy transitions. We then identify port actors who take on these roles in the three domains that intersect in ports: sea transport, hinterland transport, and port operations. The actors' fulfillment or lack of fulfillment of these roles is used to indicate in what domain the potential for transition is greater and what role functions should be complemented to progress transition.

We argue that functions that must be fulfilled for transitions to take place can be revealed by taking a 'role-centric' perspective. In this article we demonstrate how these functions can be taken on by a variety of port actors. By focusing on the constellation of roles and the functions that these roles may serve in the port and related sectors we can identify where the port stands in terms of transition progress and what niches prospective transitions could be expected to center on.

3. The complexity of ports as potential transition sites

This article draws on the Port of Oslo to explore how role constellations can shape energy transitions. Apart from a few studies on the port of Rotterdam [48–50], transition research has largely overlooked the sustainability potential of ports. Exploring the potential of ports to accelerate energy transitions relies on an understanding of their complexity as expressed through the intersecting of the many different actors, activities, and sustainability issues in ports. These are found in the port area as well as at the port-sea interface and at the port-land interface [51], implying that ports are in a strong position to influence energy transitions in all three domains that connect in the port node (i.e. port operations, sea transport and hinterland transport).

The three domains are characterized by different *activities*. In the sea transport domain, activities typically relate to the handling of vessels, either at port or as they are approaching or leaving port. The activities include the provision of fuel and services that allow safe passage for vessels. By contrast, a core activity in the port domain is the shifting of cargo and passengers between, for example, vessels, trains, trucks, public transport. However, port operations also include administrative activities relating to the collection of fees, as well as customs and clearances. Furthermore, industrial production and shipyards are prominent in many ports. In the hinterland transport domain, activities mainly relate to logistics operations for intermodal connections with rail, barge, or truck transports, as well as fuel provision for them.

All of the above-mentioned activities are subject to framework conditions and operational prerequisites provided by policy and regulation, trade and business interests, infrastructure, research, and social interests and communities. Furthermore, the different activities are carried out by different actors, which interact across the three domains. Whereas the port authority and terminal operators are prominent in the port area, along with actors conducting their business and engaging in production in the port, the actors in the transport domains typically enable transport services, as goods owners, vessel and/or vehicle owners, transport agents and forwarders, or as fuel providers. All such actors have increasingly become oriented towards reducing emissions from their respective activities, be they emissions from vessels or vehicles, cranes, trucks, and excavators during their respective activities. Further, noise pollution and visual pollution associated with ports are high on the actors' agenda for ensuring peaceful co-existence with neighboring communities.

Moreover, various tools and technologies are available to reduce emissions associated with activities in ports [for an overview see 52]. In all three domains that connect in the port node, promoting alternative fuels and establishing a more sustainable energy system for the port area could enhance sustainability. Furthermore, emissions could be reduced by increasing efficiency in operations in all domains, such as vessel handling, goods handling, and truck loading, and replacing the fossil fuel technologies used to conduct these operations.

An overview of the three domains, energy issues, and innovations and technologies, is presented in Table 1, which shows the realities that port actors are part of, and which shape their transition endeavors. The complexity of ports as potential transition sites, which comprises many different actors, activities and markets, dealing with different types of energy issues and oriented towards a variety of innovations, suggests that a range of different energy transitions can occur in the different domains, and that actors have different opportunities for, or interest in, progressing transition in the three domains. Therefore, when studying how actor roles shape transition it is therefore important to keep in mind that the potential reach and influence of actors could be limited to certain domains. Accordingly, in the remaining part of this article we distinguish between the three domains when analyzing and discussing the prominence and contribution of role constellations.

K.Y. Bjerkan et al.

Table 1

Overview	of port	dimonsions	onorau	icculor (hnd	innovations	and	tochnologios	Authors'	compilation
Overview	or port	dimensions,	energy	issues a	ana	innovations	and	technologies.	Aumors	compliation

	Sea transport domain	Port domain	Hinterland transport domain
Activities	Vessel arrival/departure	Container lifts	Vehicle/train arrival/departure
	Vessel loading/unloading	Stacking/shifting containers	Container pick-up/delivery
	Fuel bunkering	Fee collection	Fueling
	Piloting	Waste reception	
	Tugboat operations	Customs	
		Security clearances	
		Vessel repair	
		Industrial production	
Actors	Shipping agents	Port authority	Transport companies
	Ship owners	Terminal operators	Forwarding agentsVehicles/train
	Shipping companies	Goods owners	owners
	Fuel providers	Industrial companies	Infrastructure owners
	-	Service and maintenance providers	Fuel providers
	Local, regional and national authorities		
	National and international port associations		
	Trade and industry associations		
	International Maritime Organization		
	Environmental organizations		
	Energy suppliers		
	Research, development and innovation		
	Consultants		
	Local communities		
Sustainability issues	Emissions from vessel on arrival/departure and at berth (SO _X ,	Emissions from cranes, trucks, tractors,	Emissions from vehicles
	$NO_X, CO_2, CH_4)$	excavators etc.	Congestion
		Noise	Noise
		Visual pollution	
Innovations and	Shore power	Electrification of terminal operations	Efficient loading/unloading
technologies	Speed reduction	Efficient goods handling	Modal shift
	Efficient vessel handling	Automation	Technological shift in trucks and
		Clean industrial production	drayage
		Port management	
	Alternative fuels (LNG, biofuels, methanol, hydrogen, ammonia	, low-sulfur fuel)	
	Alternative power sources (wind, solar, wave, tidal, geothermal)	

4. Methods

4.1. The port of Oslo

The Port of Oslo is Norway's busiest port and a hub in the national transport system. Port traffic is dominated by bulk and container transport, as well as local and international passenger transport. The port has a variety of users with permanent operations in the port area, including the terminal operator, users in warehousing and storage, vehicle import, construction and building materials (sand, gravel, and cement), other dry bulk (salt and grain), material processing (coffee and cement), iron and metals scrapping, and wet bulk storage (petroleum).

In a Norwegian context, the Port of Oslo has a large and specialized port organization, which has been working increasingly more closely with its owner, the City of Oslo. The city aims to cut 95% of citywide CO_2 emissions by 2030 [53] and this has compelled the port to set its own ambitious reduction objectives. To facilitate an emission free port, the port and the city have jointly launched an action plan with 17 measures that are estimated to reduce CO_2 emissions by 85% [54], including shore power, environmental differentiation of port fees, goods transfer from road to sea, and electrification of local passenger services.

The Port of Oslo is a useful case for exploring how role constellations can shape energy transitions, for mainly two reasons. First, as one of the largest ports in Norway it demonstrates the complex web of actors and activities that characterize ports. Second, the Port's ambitious emission reduction goals and its strategic and encompassing approaches to transition make it a forerunner in port sustainability both nationally and internationally. For this reason, it is more likely that complete role constellations can be identified in the Port of Oslo than in ports that are less dedicated to sustainability.

4.2. Interviews

Our case study on the Port of Oslo enabled us to investigate how actor roles and the role constellations they constitute can shape energy transitions. To do so, we relied on interviews with actors in and around the port. Before the interviews, we reviewed regulation and policy documents, as well as public and corporate strategies in order to familiarize ourselves with the interviewees and their current work with energy issues. We also visited the port and some of the actors to learn about their operations and the realities they operated under. Document reviews and port visits represented important backdrops when developing the interview guide. The interviews served to provide greater detail and nuance regarding the transition efforts already identified in the document reviews and port visits. As such, the interviews served to systematize knowledge about the actions, experiences and practices of the port actors, and allowed us to obtain systematic and complete information [55].

The interviews were based on a semi-structured interview guide that addressed the following topics: the interviewee's organization and its surroundings, goals and ambitions regarding business, climate and

Table 2	
Interview	sample

-		
Organizations (N)	Actors	Interviews (N)
1	Port of Oslo	3
1	City of Oslo	1
1	The Norwegian Ports Association	1
1	The Norwegian Coastal Administration	1
1	Terminal operator	1
2	Energy companies	3
3	Goods owners/transport buyers	3
7	Transport providers	6
17	Total	20

environment, relation to ports and involvement in zero emission activities at the port, as well as preconditions, challenges and barriers in transitions. Prior to the interviews each interviewee was informed about the research project, privacy issues, and procedures for collecting and safeguarding of the interview data.

We conducted interviews with representatives from 17 port actors between October 2018 and March 2019. The interviewees were recruited through purposive sampling [56,57], whereby we explicitly targeted actors that we expected to play important roles in energy transitions in and around the port. These were identified by the researchers and in collaboration with contacts in the port. In addition, a few interviewees were identified through 'snowball sampling' [58], whereby interviewees suggested other relevant interviewees. We contacted all interviewes by e-mail or telephone, and all of them agreed to participate. The interviews lasted 30–60 min.

The interviewees represented authorities and users in the Port of Oslo. Each organization represented in the sample might have held several roles and functions in the port and the transport systems connected to the port. For instance, one organization could for instance be a transport company, a forwarding agent, and a terminal operator. The Port of Oslo comprises more than 30 users, whose activities and dedication towards transition vary greatly. In our sample, public actors (the top four categories in Table 2) included those who could directly shape activities in and around the port area and who engaged directly with the port and its users. The private and semi-private actors (bottom four categories in Table 2) were all large actors that had a prominent presence in the port area and whose organizations were reflexive with regard to energy and sustainability issues. They also had an active and productive dialogue with the port authorities.

Thus, our study included representatives of the *main types* of users in the port (i.e. terminal operators, goods owners, transport providers) and from actors more *committed* to energy and sustainability endeavors. Thus, it was not likely that the inclusion of more or other actors would have increased the strength and prominence of any actor roles in the port. Further, by focusing our data collection on port actors that had already started to join forces in their transition work, we were more able to capture the dynamics and synergies between the actors' roles.

4.3. Data analysis

After the data collection, transcripts were uploaded for coding and analysis using the qualitative data analysis computer software package NVivo for coding and analysis. The data were analyzed with reference to user categories developed by Schot et al. [12]. When reviewing interview transcripts, relevant text sections were coded through conventional content analysis [59], using the codes listed in Table 3. When all transcripts had been reviewed, all texts assigned to each code (i.e. role) were thoroughly examined to identify and summarize accounts of activities and reflections that corresponded to the role represented by the code.

Table 3

Codes	used	in	data	ana	lysis
-------	------	----	------	-----	-------

Code	Code descriptions
Producer	The interviewee talks about own or other organization's
	involvement in designing, modifying, testing innovations.
Legitimator	The interviewee talks normatively about innovations and their
	support/non-support for particular solutions.
Intermediary	The interviewee talks about own or other organization's
	involvement in establishing structures and system, infrastructure,
	regulations to support a given innovation. The interviewee also talks
	about own organization engaging other organizations to make use of
	these support structures and work to ensure common perspectives
	and approaches to innovations.
Consumer	The interviewee talks about own or other organization's
	incorporation of innovations in their daily operations and practices.
Citizen	The interviewee talks about own or other organization's
	involvement in active, open promotion of particular innovations.

Then, we separated accounts relating to the hinterland transport domain, the sea transport domain, and the port domain. This provided us with a matrix of text data describing all roles in all three domains.

After reviewing the interview data, the categories were modified to capture the operational and practical nature of the Port of Oslo and its transport systems. Whereas much of the literature focuses on households and individuals, in our study the term 'user-consumers' referred to port users who had implemented and used a specific innovation or had the potential to do so. Further, we ascribed Schot et al.'s roles to any actor who carried out the functions of a given role, regardless of whether that actor was an end-user or not.

5. Actor roles in intersecting domains

With reference to the Port of Oslo, in this section we analyze and discuss how actor roles and the constellations they constitute might shape the potential for energy transitions in three domains that intersect in ports(i.e. port domain, sea transport and hinterland transport). As elaborated in the following, we found that the three domains differed along two dimensions: (1) the presence of a recognized, uncontroversial innovation, and (2) the prevalence and strength of intermediaries.

5.1. Actor roles and energy transitions in the port domain

As seen in Table 4, the most influential role in the port domain was the intermediary. Through their intermediary role, actors seek to progress an innovation by enabling others to implement and take it into use. Prominent intermediaries have substantial potential to steer, coordinate and drive sustainability in the port domain. As port owners, local authorities hold potentially large sway over port development through active ownership. Furthermore, recent regulation has allowed local authorities to engage directly in port matters. However, historically, local authorities have not considered it their role to steer port developments actively and have not taken on either the brokering role of intermediaries or the agency associated with middle actors. Norwegian ports have a strong autonomy and local authorities have been reluctant to interfere with what they consider the ports' jurisdiction. Therefore, most Norwegian ports have not been subject to active management by their owners.

However, in the comparatively large coastal cities in Norway, challenges with local pollution have compelled local authorities to incorporate the port in the cities' strategies. To fulfil its ambitious emissionreduction objectives, the City of Oslo actively engaged The Port of Oslo to progress energy transitions in the port and to align them with the city's ambitions in other sectors. The local authorities did not take on the role as mediator between port users, but rather used their capacity as port owner to coordinate and align the port's and the city's zero emission strategies.

[The City] can dictate what the Port should do and how to spend their money. We have an exciting role (.) in suggesting good measures for climate and environment that the port should work with and go for. (City of Oslo)

"It has been a good experience [to work] shoulder by shoulder with the bureaucrats (.) They have lifted issues politically (.) and [to set low] ambitions would not have been accepted. So, we need to define demanding measures" Port of Oslo

As such, the City of Oslo's active port ownership compelled the Port of Oslo to take an intermediary role in its sustainability work by enabling its users to reduce their emissions and energy consumption. Both the City's and the Port's jurisdiction over the port area provided mandate and an opportunity to actively determine actively the path forward and to align port users.

The port users also emphasized the port's role as a facilitator that structured initiatives among port users. They regarded the Port of Oslo

Table 4

w of volos in nort domain	with actors	actions and	toohnologiog	accordented w	ith anah mala	

orentien of foles in port	uomann, man ac	torb, actions and	a teennologies associated wit	in each role.	
	Producer	Legitimator	Intermediary	Consumer	Citizen
Actors	Port authority	All	National energy agency	Vessel owners	Neighboring communities
	Vessel owners		Local authority	Terminal operator	
			Port authority	Port authority	
				Vehicle owners	
Actions and technologies	Shore power	Electrification	Electrification	Shore power	Reduce port visibility and audibility
	Electrification		Zero emission energy system	Automated cranes	
				Electric machines, vehicles and equipment	

as the epicenter of dialogue between markets and users, which allowed it to coordinate port users' development and implementation of low- and zero emission technologies. On one hand, the port's effort to shape energy transitions related to configuring aspects of the intermediary role, as the port authority engaged port users to develop common visions for the port's future zero emission energy system. On the other hand, the port authority demonstrated agency and an endogenous agenda in spurring sustainability initiatives through project-based cooperation with individual users and through a financial support scheme that funded port users' implementation of sustainable innovations. The port authority itself underlined that its agency depended on dialogue with port users and knowledge about their transition potential. Thus, the port authorities hinted at an interrelation between the agency and capacity as emphasized by Parag and Janda [36] and the faciliatory role stressed in traditional concepts of intermediaries [12]. Through brokering and orchestrating port users the port authority also built capacity to act out its own agency.

"[The Port] tries to create interaction [and is] an epicenter for dialogue and someone port users can collaborate with to create something positive across markets" Port user A

Furthermore, the strong intermediary role taken by the Port of Oslo enabled other roles in the port domain. Both the Port and the City provided predictability and direction for port users that translated ambition into actions. This relates to the second dimension that distinguishes the port domain from the other domains: in the port domain, electrification was an obvious and undebated path forward for reducing emissions in port operations. Strong electrification policies at both local and national levels, coupled with the commitment of both the City and the Port to execute these policies, resulted in positive orientations towards electrification among port users and enabled them to act as legitimators, actively championing innovations and promoting their use and diffusion outside own their organizations.

"[Our Oslo offices] are the ones aiming for zero emission, [among other because of] the strong political focus in Oslo. If you're to be taken seriously in today's [political] climate, you need to follow the environmental trend. [So we have] placed some pressure on our suppliers [of terminal equipment]" Port user B

Shore power¹ and electrification in general appeared to be a universally accepted approach to promote energy transitions. Port actors promoted electrification of port operations because they assumed it to be a desired pathway, which hints at the essential role of expectations in transition [60–62]. Such expectations could reflect the strong position of electricity in discussions on global energy transitions [63], but could also be a spill-over from widescale incentives for electrification of transport in Norway [64–66]. Along with the millions of grants to shore power, electrification seemed to be the only pathway perceived, with certainty, as legitimate. The certainty was closely linked to the heavy reliance on Norwegian hydropower, which makes electrification

sustainable transition.

Additionally, the direction and predictability provided by strong intermediaries and uncontroversial technologies fostered consumer and producer roles in the port domain by reducing risk perceptions. Consumers implemented innovations and technologies, and they created or modified practices in daily operations accordingly. Above all, port actors in Oslo had started to use and implement shore power. To improve efficiency, improve working conditions and reduce noise, the terminal operator had prepared for automated solutions and had begun the electrification of cranes, small trucks, and tractors. Other port actors had started to replace machinery and equipment with electrical alternatives to the extent possible and applied an incremental approach where existing solutions were replaced as new technologies matured and leasing contracts were renewed or expired. As such, consumer functions were filled by a range of actors.

A strong intermediary role also seemed to foster more prominent producers in the port domain, as the capacity demonstrated in the intermediary role lowered the bar for testing, piloting, and designing solutions with low market maturity. Given the many tools and technologies that can progress port and transport sustainability there is large potential for port actors to actively shape and pilot innovations. In the port domain, the actors' active engagement in in testing and developing shore power and electrification of vessels, vehicles and equipment was prominent.

On one hand, this spread was driven by the Port of Oslo itself, which actively engaged its users and technology providers to design a feasible solution for shore power. On the other hand, shore power was introduced by vessel owners, several of which had established shore power on multiple production and/or shipment locations. For instance, in 2011, on its own initiative and expense, and in collaboration with technology providers and R&D, one vessel owner developed a technological solution for shore power in Oslo which arguably became industrial standard. As such, the vessel owner acted as a typical producer, in actively designing solutions that were not already available in the market.

"We did something long before society did. We showed it was possible and completed at industrial standards even before they existed". Port user C

The port domain is the only domain in which we found traces of the citizen role (i.e. citizens who encouraged or discouraged particular developments in or of the port). Although none of the interviewees represented citizens directly, several referred to the role and influence of citizens. The interviewees described the periodic engagement of citizens as fierce and persistent, thus making them a visible actor that could shape sustainable developments in ports. Citizens mainly engaged with the port as neighboring communities, whose main interest was the preservation of community qualities, related to residential environments, recreational spaces, noise levels, and aesthetics.

"We need to operate 24/7, so we primarily choose shore power because of noise. Today we need to reduce unloading activities because neighbors call and complain" Port user A

¹ Shore power allows vessels to shut down auxiliary engines and rely on electricity from the shoreside at berth.

K.Y. Bjerkan et al.

"We installed shore power (.) to improve our environmental profile; we needed to do something that people can see, since we are so visible and close to the city". Port user C

Citizens were perceived to contest the presence of port activities and to pressure port owners (local authorities), port authorities and port users to limit their presence. Hence, citizens could be expected to support innovations that would reduce the visibility and audibility of the port, for example through silent electric equipment, shore power that would reduce local pollution, waste management that would improve water quality, the use of camouflaging colors, and soft flaps on ferries. All of the aforementioned innovations relate to challenges in the port domain, and citizens become engaged when these challenges threaten their interests. The short physical distance between citizens and the port in Oslo increases the visibility of the port's activities. When addressing activities in the port domain, citizens further connect with familiar ecocultural perspectives and could therefore be expected to master social and cultural capital in similar way to port actors. This would enable citizens to exert pressure on other roles to develop port operations in order to take their needs into consideration.

5.2. Actor roles and energy transitions in the sea transport domain

In contrast to the port domain, there was no obvious and uncontroversial innovation that united port actors in the sea transport domain (see Table 5). Consequently, it was difficult to identify a single role in this domain that was more prominent than others. Rather, we argue that the lack of a prominent intermediary role in the sea transport domain disables and weakens other roles. The challenge with progressing transition is that the sea transport domain relates to port actors' ability or inability to take on roles that effectively shape the domain. The global character of shipping suggests that effective intermediaries in the sea transport domain are not necessarily found in Norwegian ports, as jurisdiction and power are located at higher authoritative levels. Given the need for global policy to promote transition in sea transport, port actors have less opportunity to take on intermediary roles. For example, environmental weights in port fees do not apply for vessels under international regulation. Further, port authorities could promote slow steaming on approach to port or virtual arrival systems for ships, although such initiatives would have little effect if they did not account for entire maritime value and supply chains [37]. Furthermore, research suggests that lack of international governance in the maritime sector relate to power divisions between national and international decisionmakers [67,68].

Thus, actors could be more successful in taking intermediary roles related to *domestic* sea transport. ENOVA, a Norwegian government enterprise, provides substantial support schemes for low and zero emission technologies in maritime transport. Furthermore, port authorities have included environmental performance in port fees for most vessel categories, while national authorities have imposed strict regulations on sea transport fjords designated as world heritage sites by UNESCO. In addition, there is widespread public procurement of passenger services at sea that sets requirements for low- and zero emission operation of vessels.

Port actors in Oslo were also more likely to shape transitions in domestic sea traffic than international sea traffic, although roles in the sea transport domain were fewer and less pronounced than in the port domain. The most prominent intermediary in the former domain was the Green Shipping Program. The Green Shipping Program has joined port authorities, regional and local authorities, goods owners, ship owners, technology providers, R&D, and port and industry organizations to pilot and realize solutions for green and efficient shipping. Our interviewees referred to this program as a nexus for dialogue across domains, which has enabled members to pilot innovations and conduct experiments (e.g. on autonomous transport, shifting cargo from road to sea, environmental port index, alternative fuels). The intermediary position of the Green Shipping Program has therefore enabled more active producer roles among its members.

"Through the Green Shipping Program we meet, discuss and get a shared understanding of the challenges. There is a model for running pilots quickly and efficiently, which is a good approach. If you wonder about anything, you know who to ask". Port of Oslo

Port actors also suggested two other ways for them to take an intermediary role in the sea transport domain. Firstly, transport service agents could seek to shift transport from road to sea through negotiating with transport providers and transport buyers to find solutions for non-road transport that would be acceptable to both parties. Such brokering would also serve to legitimize sea transport over road transport. Secondly, transport buyers engaged in informal forums, which one port actors suggested could be used to place joint sustainability requirements on transport providers. On the one hand, transport contracts could have an intermediary role in establishing structures (i.e. joint requirements) that would enable others to demand and provide sustainability norms across the markets that transport buyers belonged to, and thereby contribute to legitimize low-emission solutions.

"The customers of the transport industry can move it in a positive direction. [Many large] goods owners buy transport services from the same shipping companies, and have large potential for influencing these". Port user A

Both suggestions demonstrate a potential link between the intermediary role and the legitimator role; in taking on an active, brokering and negotiating role, intermediaries would be in a position to suggest structures or directions that would favor specific technologies or innovations.

As mentioned, the sea transport domain differed from the port domain in that the actors did not recognize a single, uncontroversial innovation, as was the case with electrification. Thus, it was less evident to port actors what innovations to implement or champion in the sea transport domain. In fear of investing in and promoting' the wrong technologý, they found it safer to remain on the sideline. This was exemplified by one shipowner, who discredited other shipowners who had lost their LNG investments when the LNG market did not take off in the way that had been expected. The absence of innovation-specific legitimators in the port seemed to relate to the lack of specific expectations of what innovations would be successful, as well as their availability, costs, and climatic impact.

"Those who installed LNG were considered favorable, but then it wasn't at all. I am very glad we did not choose LNG. And now hydrogen is on the agenda, although it is not mature enough". Port user C

Table 5

Overview of roles in sea transport domain, with actors, actions and technologies associated with each role.

	Producer	Legitimator	Intermediary	Consumer	Citizen
Actors	Green Shipping Program	All	Green Shipping Program Transport buyers	-	-
Actions and technologies	Technology pilots	Technology unspecific Shift from road to sea	National energy agency Alternative fuels Emission restriction(shore power)	-	-

K.Y. Bjerkan et al.

In the absence of an obvious undebated innovation, a prominent trait of the sea transport domain was the port actors' dedication to legitimate maritime transport as a green transport mode vis-à- vis road transport. Thus, many took on the role as legitimators to shift transport from road to sea, which was expected to reduce emissions greatly. There was a shared perception that the competitiveness of sea transport should be enhanced. For instance, transport service agents encouraged their customers to choose sea transport over road transport in the expectation that it would increase forwarding time but reduce emissions. Also, one forwarding company used centrally managed contracts to ensure that they purchased transport services from companies that performed at an environmentally satisfactory level.

"We want to keep as much [good] as possible on the seaside". Port user D

"We have hired a guy who works with sea transport and places requirements on vessels, what fuels they use etc.". Port user E

Whereas the predictability and low risks associated with shore power and electrification allowed port actors to take on roles as consumers in the port domain, the consumer role was less prominent in the sea transport domain. One reason is that few port actors owned the vessels used to transport their goods, which in general gave them little opportunity to act as legitimators, consumers, or producers of specific innovations. As mentioned, transport buyers could place environmental requirements on ship owners or transport agents but given the global character and increasing consolidation of the shipping market (fewer and larger shipping companies) they would primarily impact domestic transports.

Whereas citizens are neighbors to actors, activities and sustainability issues in the port domain, there is a greater physical distance between citizens and the actors and activites in the sea transport domain. First, this implies lower visibility of sustainability issues and hence no (necessary) problem perception among citizens, which is also reflected in little attention paid to sustainable sea transport in politics, media, and public debate in Norway. Second, it implies that citizens may be less able to influence developments in the sea transport domain. In addition to physical distance and unfamiliarity with decision-makers in the sea transport domain, the global character of shipping industry and politics suggests that citizens do not necessarily master the capital (economic, social, cultural) required to have an impact.

5.3. Actor roles and energy transitions in the hinterland domain

Transport in the hinterland is diverse, and ports can implement numerous measures to improve its sustainability (e.g. port dues, concession contracts, modal shift, technology shift) [see also 69]. However, it was difficult to identify actors who were taking on roles to progress transition in the hinterland transport domain, as is evident from Table 6. The most prominent efforts in this domain were strategies aiming to shift goods from road to sea, in effect legitimating and strengthening the position of maritime transport. This could reflect that the hinterland transport domain is often neglected by the port sector, which is oriented strongly towards maritime transport, as was also the case for many port actors in our study.

However, despite the apparent lack of interest in the hinterland transport domain, the potential for taking on intermediary roles was larger in the hinterland transport domain than the international sea domain, as the hinterland transport domain was largely under the influence of national, regional and local authorities. Norwegian policy makers at all levels have for a long time emphasized the need for instruments to accelerate the electrification of personal transport [70,71]. Furthermore, there are numerous examples of prominent Norwegian businesses taking on roles as producers, legitimators, and consumers in commercial land transport. However, their efforts typically relate to distribution activities, which imply shorter distances and more mature and available innovations. As such, these operations do not necessarily connect with the port.

Although there was no marked interest in the hinterland transport domain in the study sample, the Port of Oslo and a few of its users recognized their own responsibility for reducing emissions from transport to and from the port. In developing a concept for the future zero emission port, the Port of Oslo has taken a holistic perspective on the port's energy system, which includes also non-maritime activities. Therefore, the hinterland transport domain could receive increasing attention in the future, in terms of both technology implementation and intermediary work.

5.4. Summarized domain comparison

In Sections 5.1 to 5.3 we have demonstrated the dissimilarities between the three domains in terms of how strong and prominent the different actor roles were. The roles in the port domain quite clearly circled around the strong position of electrification in efforts to decarbonize port operations, for instance through providing shore power for vessels at berth or replacing cranes and machinery with electric models. The presence of an available and uncontroversial innovation – supported by strong and acknowledged policies – allowed intermediaries in the port domain to easily identify a pathway for promoting the innovation and reduced risk perceptions among actors, to the degree that the actors took on roles as producers, legitimators and consumers of the innovation (i.e. electrification).

By contrast, port actors were vague about possible pathways in the sea transport domain. Although they participated in R&D through the Green Shipping Program and were open to the use of alternative fuels, insecurities, unpredictability and risk perceptions relating to alternative fuels lead them to emphasize the shifting of goods from road to sea. Also, considering how port actors had less opportunity to shape the globally bound sea transport domain, the port actors were less able to take on intermediary roles and thereby abate insecurities and directionality failure associated with the international shipping regime.

Similarly, encouraging shifts from road to sea also appeared to be the port actors' main strategy for progressing transition in the hinterland transport domain. Although the less global character of the domain suggested port actors could take stronger intermediary roles and thereby facilitate port actors to take other roles - we believe that the strong orientation of port actors towards the maritime sector led most to fail to fully recognize their potential impact also on the hinterland transport domain.

In sum, our findings show that the three domains differ as to whether the actors could identify a particular pathway towards transition (e.g. electrification) and whether they were in position to produce intermediary capacity.

6. Discussion

Thus far in this article we have drawn on a case study on the Port of Oslo to explore how actor roles and the role constellations they constitute can shape energy transitions. More specifically, we have

Table 6

Overview of roles in hinterland transport domain, with actors, actions and technologies associated with each role.

	Producer	Legitimator	Intermediary	Consumer	Citizen
Actors	-	all	Port authority	-	-
Actions and technologies	-	Shift from road to sea	Include non-maritime activity in energy system	-	-

investigated different role constellations in the three domains that intersect in ports: port operations, sea transport and hinterland transport. In the preceding section we have demonstrated how role constellations in the three domains hinged upon two issues in the Port of Oslo. The first was whether actors were united by a recognized, uncontroversial innovation. As demonstrated above, the port domain was distinguished by strong orientation towards electrification, for instance represented by the introduction of shore power, electric cranes and excavators. This aligns with overall strong electrification policies in Norway, which due to the abundance of hydropower have remained uncontroversial. The electrification of port operations have thus extended electrification in road transport [72] and domestic maritime passenger transport, rendering electrification an obvious pathway for any operation that can be electrified. However, this was, less the case in the two transport domains, where battery technologies were not suited for the weight and distance of electrified forms of transport, and where instead alternative fuels were expected to replace fossil fuels, possible in combination with batteries. However, insecurities and disagreement on the maturity of alternative fuels made it difficult to identify an obvious pathway in the two domains, which induced actors to emphasize modal shift to demonstrate sustainability commitments.

Thus, the differences between the sea transport and hinterland transport domains could reflect how close each domain is to identifying a transition pathway. Transition studies typically study transition pathways related to particular niches, emphasizing how sociotechnical, "multiple and interlocking causal processes" [73] shape the evolution of sociotechnical systems [74]. In the case of ports, transition pathways are likely to encompass several niches and can only gain momentum if they are recognized and supported by the heterogeneous actor assemblages to the extent that they take on necessary roles. It could prove a daunting task to align the variety of actors, as well as the potentially contradictory realities and perceptions under which they operate, in support of shared pathways. The task, however, would relate to the internalization of potential pathways in prominent actors, and hence the second issue that distinguishes role constellations in the three domains, namely whether there is a strong intermediary that facilitates and nurtures other roles.

We found that port authorities were decisive in progressing transitions and that initiatives succeeded when port owners and authorities applied agency and capacity to their intermediary roles. Therefore, we emphasize the necessity of intermediaries to master both the brokering function and the agency function. Our findings suggest that successful intermediaries are not only explicitly pushed by their surroundings to take on a neutral brokering role, but also take on the intermediary role to promote own agendas and achieve own objectives. Therefore, the strength of the intermediary role relies on aligning the ends of the transition and the ends of the intermediary. This relates to Kivimaa et al.'s [30] discussion on the 'emergence of transition intermediaries', suggesting that the intermediary role can evolve during a transition and that the fulfilment of this role is determined by an intermediary's normative position vis-à-vis the innovation or technology.

We could also ask whether the intermediary role in our study blended with the legitimator role. In the port domain, the intermediary (i.e. port and port owner) took an explicit, normative position concerning a specific technology (i.e. electrification) which also resonated in their efforts to orchestrate transition work among port users. For instance, when introducing shore power, the intermediary role taken by the port could have been motivated by its own and its owner's desire to legitimate this particular solution. Hence, the intermediary's inherent motivation and self-interest in progressing a particular innovation or transition altogether, also enhanced its ability and inclination to facilitate other roles. In this case, intermediaries in the port domain took on this role because of the expectations and role perceptions inherent in local policy. Conversely, the intermediary role in the sea transport domain was less prominent because global policies are more fragmented and less ambitious, leaving little steering direction for potential intermediaries. Thus, a success factor for fostering intermediaries and thereby other roles

seems to be explicit and ambitious policy for port sustainability.

Norwegian policy has been successful in promoting low-carbon technologies that reduce emissions in a wide range of industries, and has been central in progressing the shift to electrified forms of road transport [6] and low-emission ferry services [66]. However, despite a range of strategies, plans and regulations [75-78] targeting ports, Norwegian port policy has been evasive with regard to introducing specific innovations and has not provided coherent ambitions and directions for sustainability endeavors in ports. Therefore, port actors have called for greater involvement, more attention and specific guidance at the national level. High-level decision makers were generally perceived by our interviewees as uninterested in port issues and as pursuing a laissez-faire approach which discouraged ports from developing specific strategies and objectives. Active national engagement to coordinate energy and sustainability issues in ports and maritime transport was considered cardinal for increasing willingness to invest and take risks, reduce longterm insecurity and avoid distortion of competition.

To capitalize on the potential of ports and port actors to shape transitions in connected domains, policies should recognize and nurture the hub position of ports. This in turn would depend on the ability of international maritime policy to deliver joint and ambitious policies that explicitly define the roles of ports in transitioning international shipping. Explicit port policies have also been instrumental in transition work in the Port of Oslo [79], and our findings indicate that progressing transitions in the port sector relies on explicit port ownership strategies as represented by these policies.

This article is one of a few in which Schot et al.'s [12] categories have been applied to an empirical case, and as such it displays the heterogeneity and complexity of active actor-constellations in energy transitions. As stated in the Introduction, we have *extended Schot et al.*'s *contribution* to a general application suited to describe roles that actors can take to progress transitions. We suggest that not only end-users, but also different types of actors can take on these roles and that the constellation of roles in a particular transition site can inform about transition potential and be used to pinpoint obstructions to transition. We find such an application to be valuable for empirically assessing transition status and defining strategies for acceleration. It enables researchers to ask what functions that are not filled by the actors and how this impacts the transition process, as well as how to deal with deficiencies. Therefore, the approach is useful for exploring how well (or poorly) prepared actors are to progress transition.

As demonstrated by the roles taken by actors in the Port of Oslo, progressing transition also appears to rely on the dynamic character of the roles described by Schot et al. (2016). First, the roles are dynamic in that one actor can move between different roles and carry them out in different ways. Second, the roles are dynamic because they comprise evolving role constellations in which changes in one role could produce consequent change in others. In our study, intermediaries appeared to play a triggering role that impacted the presence and prominence of other roles. These inter-role dynamics should be investigated further, and such investigations would add nuance and dynamism to the typology and functions presented by Schot et al. [12]. Although Schot et al. provide valuable discussions of the role of users in different phases of transition, they do not explicitly suggest whether and how roles can provide support and momentum for other roles, and what synergies might be produced by constellations of roles that differ in their prominence. This might be an empirical question to which answers would vary from one case to another but could also contribute to a more comprehensive theoretical approach to the roles of actors (and users) in transitions

In this study we have relied on the Port of Oslo to enhance our understanding of role constellations. However, given the strong political ownership of the port [79], and its relatively small size, our results are not necessarily transferrable to other cases. Actors in larger ports can be expected to have larger, more professional organizations that could enable more productive exchange between actors and produce a larger

K.Y. Bjerkan et al.

variety of roles. Bigger actors could also have larger impacts on sea and hinterland transport domains. Although actor roles might be more and less prominent in ports of different sizes, we expect their functions, their relations, and interactions to be the most central aspect for transitions in ports. Hence, we expect *port context* to determine sustainability efforts in ports more than port size. Our study should therefore be complemented with studies of the perspectives of a greater variety of ports, domestically and internationally. Understanding roles in the sea transport domain especially should include the perceptions and activities of international actors in order to give a fuller understanding of actors in the sea transport domain that have greater capacity to take on an intermediary role.

We also recognize that the port industry's orientation towards the maritime sector is reflected in the composition of our study sample. We only interviewed 17 actors around the Port of Oslo and paying greater attention to the hinterland transport domain in particular could increase the reliability of our results. Hence, to capture the sustainability potential of ports as *nodes*, future research should focus more dedicatedly on private and public stakeholders in the hinterland transport domain. Such research should explicitly target the connectedness and mutual influence between port, sea transport and hinterland transport domains to truly identify ports' potential for initiating and accelerating energy transitions.

Furthermore, we have focused on actors who are considered more progressive in their sustainability efforts in the port, which suggests that our results might exaggerate the transition work of the ports' actors as a whole, as we have not accounted for the activities and inactivities of all actors. However, as the purpose of our study was to explore what work and roles actors are *currently* engaging in, it made sense to target actors that could actually demonstrate their own endeavors.

7. Conclusion

The purpose of this article has been to explore how role constellation can shape energy transitions, by drawing on a case study of actors in and around the Port of Oslo. We find that the port actors took on all the roles conceptualized by Schot et al. [12], but that the degree to which they fulfilled the roles varied between the port domain, the sea transport domain and the hinterland transport domain. The differences were largely the result of the prevalence or non-prevalence of an uncontroversial innovation, as well as different forms of agency and capacity in the intermediary role, which appeared to be decisive to provide direction and reduce risk, thereby promoting the prevalence of other actor roles.

We also found that there was potential for initiating and/or accelerating transitions in all three domains. In the port domain, port actors have already been ushered forward by electrification policies and the Port of Oslo's strong intermediary role. In developing its future energy system, the Port is also increasingly orienting itself towards a similar role that also targets hinterland and sea transport. However, the sea transport domain is challenging, as port actors cannot independently progress transitions that extend outside national waters. Therefore, port users should continue their endeavors to promote sustainability issues through international political bodies, interest organizations and forums that provide direction and predictability for the entire maritime sector.

Related to this is the technological indecisiveness and insecurity that troubles decision-makers. The battle of fuels and technologies is still undecided, and decision-makers have hesitated to provide direction. Thus, thee widescale electrification in Norwegian ports and transport is therefore a remarkable exception, which among other factors has been enabled by a robust power supply and access to hydropower.

We consider the approach we have taken in this article to provide some useful general lessons that could inform future transition research. The central position of the intermediary role found in our study suggests that future research should explore, theoretically and empirically, the relationship between the different roles and how the functioning of one role impacts the functioning of another. Given the complexity and context-specificity of ports, they different roles could provide a useful arena for examining the vast variety of role constellations that could shape energy transitions.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thankfully acknowledge the funding for this research from The Research Council of Norway, grant number 281002. They also thank interviewees for participating in the study. Finally, the authors wish to wish to thank colleagues and partners in the TRAZEPO project, as well as referees, for valuable comments to the study and earlier versions of this paper.

References

- IPCC, Global warming of 1.5 C, The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018.
- [2] IPBES, Global Assessment on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, The Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. 2019.
- [3] J. Schot, L. Kanger, Deep transitions: Emergence, acceleration, stabilization and directionality, Res. Policy 47 (2018), 0048–7333.
- [4] E. Shove, G. Walker, Caution! Transitions Ahead: Politics, Practice, and Sustainable Transition Management, Environ. Planning A: Economy Space 39 (2007).
 [5] L. Noel, G. Zarazua de Rubens, J. Kester, B.K. Sovacool, Consumers, Society and
- [5] L. Noel, G. Zarazua de Rubens, J. Kester, B.K. Sovacool, Consumers, Society and V2G. Vehicle-to-Grid: A Sociotechnical Transition Beyond Electric Mobility, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2019, 978-3-030-04864-8.
- [6] M. Ryghaug, T.M. Skjølsvold, Nurturing a Regime Shift Towards Electro-mobility in Norway, in: M. Finger, M. Audouin (Eds.), The Governance of Smart Transportation Systems, Springer International Publishing, 2019.
- [7] B. Verhees, G. Verbong, User innovation in sustainability transitions. Current and future opportunities and barriers, Sustainable Lifestyles 2.0: End user integration, Innovatio Entrepreneurship (2016).
- [8] J. Farla, J. Markard, R. Raven, L. Coenen, Sustainability transitions in the making: A closer look at actors, strategies and resources, Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 79 (2012), 0040–1625.
- [9] R. Naber, R. Raven, M. Kouw, T. Dassen, Scaling up sustainable energy innovations? Smart grids in the Netherlands, Energy Policy 110 (2017).
- [10] K.H. Sørensen, V.A. Lagesen, T.S.M. Hojem, Articulations of mundane transition work among consulting engineers, Environ. Innovation Societal Trans. 28 (2018), 2210–4224.
- [11] J. Köhler, F.W. Geels, F. Kern, J. Markard, A. Wieczorek, F. Alkemade, F. Avelino, A. Bergek, F. Boons, L. Fünfschilling, D. Hess, G. Holtz, S. Hyysalo, K. Jenkins, P. Kivimaa, M. Martiskainen, A. McMeekin, M.S. Mühlemeier, B. Nykvist, B. Elsie Onsongo, R. Pel, H. Raven, B.S. Rohracher, B. Johan Schot, B. Sovacool, D. W. Turnheim, P. Wells, A research agenda for sustainability transitions research: state of the art and future directions, Sustainability Trans. Res. Network (2019).
- [12] J. Schot, L. Kanger, G. Verbong, The roles of users in shaping transitions to new energy systems, Nature Energy 1 (2016).
- [13] B. Verhees, G. Verbong, Users, consumers, citizens, Technische Universitet Eindhoven, Eindhoven, 2015.
- [14] P.C. Stern, B.K. Sovacool, T. Dietz, Towards a science of climate and energy choices, Nature Climate Change 6 (2016).
- [15] J. Köhler, F. Geels, F. Kern, E. Onsongo, A. Wieczorek, F. Alkemaade, F. Avelino, A. Bergek, F. Boons, H. Bulkeley, L. Fuenfschilling, D. Hess, G. Holtz, S. Hyysalo, K. Jenkins, P. Kivimaa, J. Markard, M. Martiskainen, A. McMeekin, M. S. Mühlemeier, B. Nykvist, B. Pel, R. Raven, H. Rohracher, B. Sandén, J. Schot, B. Sovacool, B. Turnheim, J.V.D. Bergh, D. Welch, P. Wells, A research agenda for the Sustainability Transitions Research Network, Sustainability Trans. Res. Network (2017).
- [16] L.B. Fischer, J. Newig, Importance of Actors and Agency in Sustainability Transitions: A Systematic Exploration of the Literature, Sustainability 8 (2016), 2071–1050.
- [17] F. Avelino, J.M. Wittmayer, Shifting Power Relations in Sustainability Transitions: A Multi-actor Perspective, J. Environ. Plann. Policy Manage. 18 (2016), 1523–908X.
- [18] M. Steen, T. Weaver, Incumbents' diversification and cross-sectorial energy industry dynamics, Res. Policy 46 (2017), 0048–7333.
- [19] C. Berggren, T. Magnusson, D. Sushandoyo, Transition pathways revisited: Established firms as multi-level actors in the heavy vehicle industry, Res. Policy 44 (2015), 0048–7333.

K.Y. Bjerkan et al.

- [20] S. Mühlemeier, Dinosaurs in transition? A conceptual exploration of local incumbents in the swiss and German energy transition, Environ. Innovation Societal Transitions 31 (2019), 2210–4224.
- [21] R. Raven, F. Kern, B. Verhees, A. Smith, Niche construction and empowerment through socio-political work. A meta-analysis of six low-carbon technology cases, Environ. Innovation Societal Transitions 18 (2016).
- [22] S. Fudge, M. Peters, B. Woodman, Local authorities as niche actors: the case of energy governance in the UK, Environ. Innovation Societal Trans. 18 (2016), 2210–4224.
- [23] T. Blanchet, Struggle over energy transition in Berlin: How do grassroots initiatives affect local energy policy-making? Energy Policy 78 (2015), 0301–4215.
- [24] D.J. Hess, Energy democracy and social movements: A multi-coalition perspective on the politics of sustainability transitions, Energy Res. Social Sci. 40 (2018), 2214–6296.
- [25] F.J.D. Haan, J. Rotmans, A proposed theoretical framework for actors in transformative change, Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 128 (2018), 0040–1625.
- [26] J.M. Wittmayer, F. Avelino, F. van Steenbergen, D. Loorbach, Actor roles in transition: Insights from sociological perspectives, Environ. Innovation Societal Trans. 24 (2017), 2210–4224.
- [27] J. Mossberg, P. Söderholm, H. Hellsmark, S. Nordqvist, Crossing the biorefinery valley of death? Actor roles and networks in overcoming barriers to a sustainability transition, Environ. Innovation Societal Trans. 27 (2018), 2210–4224.
- [28] E. Von Hippel, Lead users: a source of novel product concepts, Manage. Sci. 32 (1986).
- [29] F.W. Geels, B. Verhees, Cultural legitimacy and framing struggles in innovation journeys: A cultural-performative perspective and a case study of Dutch nuclear energy (1945–1986), Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 78 (2011).
- [30] P. Kivimaa, W. Boon, S. Hyysalo, L. Klerkx, Towards a typology of intermediaries in sustainability transitions: A systematic review and a research agenda, Res. Policy 48 (2019), 0048–7333.
- [31] T. Gliedt, C.E. Hoicka, N. Jackson, Innovation intermediaries accelerating
- environmental sustainability transitions, J. Cleaner Prod. 174 (2018), 0959–6526.
 J.K. Stewart, S. Hyysalo, Intermediaries, users and social learning in technological innovation, Int. J. Innovation Manage. 12 (2008).
- [33] H. Van Lente, M. Hekkert, R. Smits, B.V. Waveren, Roles of Systemic Intermediaries in Transition Processes, Int. J. Innovation Manage. 7 (2003).
- [34] J. Barnes, The local embedding of low carbon technologies and the agency of userside intermediaries, J. Cleaner Prod. 209 (2019), 0959–6526.
- [35] K.B. Janda, Y. Parag, A middle-out approach for improving energy performance in buildings, Building Res. Inform. 41 (2013), 0961–3218.
- [36] Y. Parag, K.B. Janda, More than filler: Middle actors and socio-technical change in the energy system from the "middle-out", Energy Res. Social Sci. 3 (2014), 2214–6296.
- [37] R.T. Poulsen, S. Ponte, H. Sornn-Friese, Environmental upgrading in global value chains: The potential and limitations of ports in the greening of maritime transport, Geoforum 89 (2018), 0016–7185.
- [38] S. Hyysalo, M. Johnson, J.K. Juntunen, The diffusion of consumer innovation in sustainable energy technologies, J. Cleaner Prod. 162 (2017), 0959–6526.
- [39] J. Thøgersen, Housing-related lifestyle and energy saving: A multi-level approach, Energy Policy 102 (2017), 0301–4215.
- [40] Y. Zhang, X. Bai, F.P. Mills, J.C.V. Pezzey, Rethinking the role of occupant behavior in building energy performance: A review, Energy Build. 172 (2018), 0378–7788.
- [41] G.P.J. Verbong, S. Beemsterboer, F. Sengers, Smart grids or smart users? Involving users in developing a low carbon electricity economy, Energy Policy 52 (2013), 0301–4215.
- [42] T.M. Skjølsvold, W. Throndsen, M. Ryghaug, I.F. Fjellså, G.H. Koksvik, Orchestrating households as collectives of participation in the distributed energy transition: New empirical and conceptual insights, Energy Res. Social Sci. 46 (2018), 2214–6296.
- [43] L. Sopjani, J.J. Stier, S. Ritzén, M. Hesselgren, P. Georén, Involving users and user roles in the transition to sustainable mobility systems: The case of light electric vehicle sharing in Sweden, Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. 71 (2019), 1361–9209.
- [44] M. Ryghaug, M. Toftaker, Creating transitions to electric road transport in Norway: The role of user imaginaries, Energy Res. Social Sci. 17 (2016), 2214–6296. [45] J. Arsen, B.K. Sovacool, The roles of users in electric, shared and automated
- [45] J. Axsei, D.K. Sovacooi, interiore on Users in Fecture, standard and automated mobility transitions, Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. 71 (2019), 1361–9209.
 [46] M. Anfinsen, V.A. Lagesen, M. Ryghaug, Green and gendered? Cultural
- [F0] M. Animsen, V.A. Lagesen, W. Aygnaug, oreen and generetry cultural perspectives on the road towards electric vehicles in Norway, Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. 71 (2019), 1361–9209.
- [47] L. Kanger, J. Schot, User-Made Immobilities: A Transitions Perspective, Mobilities 11 (2016).
- [48] R. Bosman, D. Loorbach, J. Rotmans, R.V. Raak, Carbon Lock-Out: Leading the Fossil Port of Rotterdam into Transition, Sustainability 10 (2018).

- Energy Research & Social Science 72 (2021) 101868
- [49] L. Baas, Industrial symbiosis in the Rotterdam Harbour and Industry Complex: reflections on the interconnection of the techno-sphere with the social system, Business Strategy Environ. 17 (2008), 0964–4733.
- [50] N. Frantzeskaki, J. Wittmayer, D. Loorbach, The role of partnerships in 'realising' urban sustainability in Rotterdam's City Ports Area, The Netherlands, J. Cleaner Prod. 65 (2014), 0959–6526.
- [51] Pallis, T. and G. Vangelas, Port user percpetions measurement and indicators (typology), PORTOPIA 2014.
- [52] K.Y. Bjerkan, H. Seter, Reviewing tools and technologies for sustainable ports: does research enable decision making in ports? Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. 17 (2019).
- [53] City of Oslo, Climate and Energy Strategy for Oslo, Oslo, The City of Oslo, 2016.[54] Port of Oslo, http://www.ohv.oslo.no/filestore/Milj/2018ActionPlan-
- PortofOsloasazeroemissionport-inenglish.pdf, accessed on January 10 2020r. [55] A. Bogner, W. Menz, The theory-generating expert interview: Epistemologica
- interest, forms of knowledge, interaction, in: A. Bogne, B. Littig, W. Menz (Eds.), Interviewing experts, Houndsmill, Palgrave Macmillan, 2009.
- [56] B.L. Berg, Qualitative research methods for the social sciences, Allyn and Bacon, Boston, 2001.
- [57] D.C. Tongco, Purposive Sampling as a Tool for Informant Selection, Ethnobotany Res. Appl. 5 (2007).
- [58] L.A. Goodman, Snowball Sampling, Ann. Math. Stat. 32 (1961), 00034851.
- [59] H.-F. Hsieh, S.E. Shannon, Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis 15 (2005).
- [60] M. Borup, N. Brown, K. Konrad, H. Van Lente, The sociology of expectations in science and technology, Technol. Anal. Strategic Manage. 18 (2006), 0953–7325, [61] B. Budde, F. Alkemade, K.M. Weber, Expectations as a key to understanding actor
- strategies in the field of fuel cell and hydrogen vehicles, Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 79 (2012), 0040–1625.
- [62] J. Schot, F.W. Geels, Strategic niche management and sustainable innovation journeys: theory, findings, research agenda, and policy, Technol. Anal. Strategic Manage. 20 (2008), 0953–7325.
- [63] A. Mutter, Mobilizing sociotechnical imaginaries of fossil-free futures Electricity and biogas in public transport in Linköping, Sweden, Energy Res. Social Sci. 49 (2019), 2214–6296.
- [64] L. Ingeborgrud, M. Ryghaug, The role of practical, cognitive and symbolic factors in the successful implementation of battery electric vehicles in Norway, Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. A130 (2019).
- [65] E. Figenbaum, T. Assum, M. Kolbenstvedt, Electromobility in Norway: Experiences and Opportunities, Res. Transp. Econ. 50 (2015), 0739–8859.
- [66] K.Y. Bjerkan, H. Karlsson, R.S. Sondell, S. Damman, S. Meland, Governance in transitioning maritime passenger transport towards sustainability, World Electric Veh. J. 10 (2019).
- [67] M. Roe, Maritime Governance and Policy-making: The Need for Process Rather than form, Asian J. Shipping Logistics 29 (2013), 2092–5212.
- [68] J. Lister, R.T. Poulsen, S. Ponte, Orchestrating transnational environmental governance in maritime shipping, Global Environ. Change 34 (2015), 0959–3780.
 [69] M. Gonzales-Aregall, R. Bergqvist, J. Monios, Port-driven measures for
- [197] M. GOIZAGS-ARCSAII, A. BERGQUISI, J. MOHOS, FORCHAREL INESSIES IO incentivizing sustainable hinterland transport, in: R. Bergquist, J. Monios (Eds.), Green Ports. Inland and seaside sustainable transportation strategies, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Oxford UK and Cambridge Massachussetts, 2019.
- [70] N. Fearnley, P. Pfaffenbichler, E. Figenbaum, R. Jellinek, E-vehicle policies and incentives - assessment and recommendations, Institute of, Transp. Econ. (2015).
- [71] K.Y. Bjerkan, T.E. Nørbech, M.E. Nordsømme, Incentives for promoting Battery Electric Vehicle (BEV) adoption in Norway, Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. 43 (2016), 1361–9209.
- [72] E. Figenbaum, Perspectives on Norway's supercharged electric vehicle policy, Environ. Innovation Societal Transitions 25 (2017), 2210–4224.
- [73] D. Rosenbloom, Pathways: An emerging concept for the theory and governance of low-carbon transitions, Global Environ. Change 43 (2017), 0959–3780.
- [74] B. Turnheim, F. Berkhout, F. Geels, A. Hof, A. McMeekin, B. Nykvist, D. van Vuuren, Evaluating sustainability transitions pathways: Bridging analytical approaches to address governance challenges, Global Environ. Change 0959–3780 (2015) 35.
- [75] Ministry of Finance, National Budget 2019, Ministry of Finance, 2018.
- [76] Ministry of Transport, National Port Strategy (Nasjonal havnestrategi), Ministry of Transport, 2015.
- [77] Ministry of Transport and Communications, National Transport Plan 2018-2029. Oslo, Ministry of Transport and Communications, 2017.
- [78] Official Norwegian Report, Sjøveien videre, Oslo, 2018.
- [79] K.Y. Bjerkan, H. Seter, Policy and politics in energy transitions. A case study on shore power in Oslo, Energy Policy, Under review.

Paper II

Technological Forecasting & Social Change 166 (2021) 120595

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Technological Forecasting & Social Change

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/techfore

Diverging pathways to port sustainability: How social processes shape and direct transition work

expectations in specific value chains.



Technological Forecasting

Social Change

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan^{a, b,*}, Marianne Ryghaug^b

^a SINTEF, Dept. of Mobility and Economics, Postboks 4760 Torgarden, 7465 Trondheim, Norway
^b Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Dept. of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture, 7491 Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Keywords: To counter climate change, societies are under pressure to transform energy and transport sectors. Considering Expectations the crucial node position of ports in the intersection between energy and transport systems and their connecting Learning of numerous sectors, markets, and values chains, they have hitherto received surprisingly little attention as Networks potential sites for whole system thinking and deep transition. Their heterogeneity suggests that ports are likely to Port follow different transition pathways. This study explores two Norwegian frontrunner ports to demonstrate how Sustainability transition social processes are part of the fabric that constitutes transition pathways in ports. The transition pathways in the two ports diverge according to how they are shaped by deep learning, resource capacity and the collective action of their wider networks, as well as the specificity of expectations. The study complements existing research on transition pathways by focusing on social processes beyond the niche level and by suggesting inter-process and inter-level dynamics to be decisive for the direction of transition work. Contrary to earlier findings, the paper

1. Introduction

Societies, sectors, and systems are under pressure to reduce climate emissions and build more sustainable communities. A well of research has delved into the premises for making such a transition (see Köhler et al., 2019; Sovacool et al., 2020 for recent overviews), focusing on how sociotechnical systems could be nudged, lured or forced onto more or less disruptive pathways towards sustainability. Research on socio-technical transition pathways has also been sparked by the recognition that transitions are context dependent and unfold differently under highly different circumstances (Lindberg et al., 2019).

This study focuses on a transition site where a variety of contexts and circumstances clearly shape presumably similar transition cases in different directions, namely ports. Ports are important nodes in the intersection between energy and transport systems, ensuring the shifting of goods and passengers between sea and land transport. In connecting a number of sectors, markets and value chains, ports can promote whole system thinking (McMeekin et al., 2019) to ensure deep transitions (Geels et al., 2017). However, the complexity represented by the con-glomerates of actors and activities in ports, also suggests that each port

represents a unique transition context. Among other, transition potentials in ports depend on geographical contexts, port characteristics and capacity, ownership strategies, local history and culture (Damman & Steen 2021). Previous research has studied the port of Rotterdam, focusing on the symbioses between the port and industrial activities in the region (Baas, 2008); the role of partnerships in moving the urban port towards sustainable co-existence with the city (Frantzeskaki et al., 2014); and how transition management may be employed to destabilize the fossil fuel regime of the port (Bosman et al., 2018).

demonstrates how broad and diversified networks may also represent a challenge to the directionality of transitions work. Ports can, however, promote transition work by aligning expectations to port sustainability with

> Overall, however, the scientific literature on sustainability transitions has largely overlooked ports as transition sites and thereby also the multitude of transition pathways that could emerge (and diverge) in ports. This paper will contribute to fill that gap by exploring emerging transition work in two Norwegian ports. These two ports are placed in seemingly similar transition contexts, but are nonetheless on diverging transition pathways. Thus, by studying these two cases we can know more about how pathway creation occurs in this domain. More specifically, we seek to demonstrate how emergent transition pathways in these two ports appear to diverge by studying social transition processes that the port actors engage in. This shows not only how these processes

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120595

Received 30 March 2020; Received in revised form 11 November 2020; Accepted 8 January 2021

Available online 26 January 2021

^{*} Corresponding author at: SINTEF, Dept. of Mobility and Economics, Postboks 4760, 7465 Trondheim, Norway. E-mail addresses: Kristin.ystmark.bjerkan@sintef.no (K.Y. Bjerkan), Marianne.ryghaug@ntnu.no (M. Ryghaug).

^{0040-1625/© 2021} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

K.Y. Bjerkan and M. Ryghaug

enable transition work altogether, but also how port actors operating in these two ports shape the direction of transition work. The purpose of this study is therefore to demonstrate how social processes are part of the fabric that constitutes transition pathways. More specifically, we ask, how can social transition processes shape transition pathways through enabling and directing transition work?

Answering this question allows us to understand how social processes build transition work and thereby promote (or impede) transition. By emphasizing processual characteristics, we also go beyond most scholars, who stress technological components of transition pathways. Social processes are considered essential in driving transitions forward (e.g. Schot et al., 2016; Naber et al., 2017; Schot and Geels 2008; Söderholm et al., 2019; Borup et al., 2006), and are in literature on sustainability transitions often thought to revolve around networks, expectations and learning. The production of expectations contributes to align perceptions and produce shared realities which build legitimacy and protective spaces for emerging niches. Building social networks that support emerging niches and collaborations can destabilize incumbent regimes, especially when networks draw on diverse stakeholders that commit resources. Learning has proven important for modification and improvement of niches, as well as modification of assumptions and interpretations upon which the stability of incumbent regimes is built.

By exploring emerging transition work in two ports, this study addresses *uncomplete transitions*. Such an approach is crucial to identify factors that might tilt a potential transition in one direction or the other. Studying emergent transitions calls for targeting cases that are at an early phase of transition, or cases that might eventually evolve into transition. Should research on sustainability transitions be able to contribute to accelerate transitions, understanding failures, struggles and factors that hamper emerging transitions is just as important as studying successful transitions. As such, this study could also increase understandings of acceleration, a phase of transitions which is relatively under-explored (e.g. Valkering et al., 2017), but which depends on the enrolment of new actors like, for instance port actors, into transition processes.

Studies of sustainability transitions need to look beyond niche developments and focus more on institutional and organizational contexts (Truffer et al., 2017). Unlike most studies of social processes within sustainability transitions research that typically relate to a particular niche (e.g. Pedersen and Nygaard, 2018; Falcone and Sica, 2015), this study therefore explores the orientation of port actors within the place specific and spatial contexts they are situated. This is an important endeavor, as understanding how networks, expectations and learning constitute such contexts also shed light on geographies of transition (Hansen and Coenen, 2015; Binz et al., 2020) which overcut regimes that the heterogeneous mass of port actors is part of. This means that our study does not explicitly aim to explore constitutive aspects of social processes, i.e. how these processes are maintained and (re)produced, but rather aims to understand the current *functions* of the social processes in shaping transition work.

The remainder of this article is structured as follows. The next section gives an overview of existing literature on transition pathways and how they could be shaped by networks, expectations, and learning. Section 3 presents methods and data used to understand the role of social transition processes in the two case ports. The next four sections present the case ports, and ways in which their transition pathways are shaped by social transition processes. Finally, Sections 8 and 9 provide discussions and summaries of the study.

2. Theorizing transition pathways and social processes

A central issue in transition studies is the prospects of socio-technical systems and how they over time evolve onto different pathways. Socio-technical transition pathways "(..) are concerned with the multiple and interlocking causal processes involved in transitions" (Rosenbloom, 2017). Part of the transition literature is thus dedicated to understanding

how transitions evolve and by what types of processes systemic renewal occurs. In their early work, Geels and Schot (2007) suggested a typology of four transition pathways, based on whether pressure from niche and landscape levels were disruptive or reinforcive, and whether innovations were sufficiently mature. Others have suggested other typologies, emphasizing pressures and resources (Smith et al., 2005), coordination and resources (Berkhout et al., 2004), or degrees of sustainability and disruption (Lindberg et al., 2019).

Geels and Schot's (2007) systemic approach to transition pathways has received criticism for under-acknowledging the role of agency. As a response, nuance was added to their typology (Geels et al., 2016:901), arguing that transitions do not just emerge as a result of struggle and pressure on the regime level, but that transitions can also be non-linear and enacted, stressing that "(...) shifts between transition pathways are influenced by a range of developments: changing composition and strength of actor coalitions; learning processes and on-the-ground experiences (...) [and]; landscape developments (...)". In line with this, sustainability transitions scholars have highlighted the roles of agency and actors in shaping transition pathways, for instance, stressing that system-level change, by definition, is "enacted through the coordination and steering of many actors and resources, whether these are intended or emergent features of transformation processes" (Smith et al., 2005:1492). Others have claimed that understanding transition pathways calls for an analytical approach that goes beyond the regime-niche dichotomy (Berggren et al., 2015). Building on these insights, this study emphasizes the need to understand actors and agency beyond the niche-regime dichotomy should we be able to identify emergent features of transformation processes and pathways.

The discussion above also points to the tendency of transition research to study transitions either from a systemic (regime) perspective (e.g. Köhler et al., 2020) or a niche perspective (e.g. McDowall, 2014; Mirzania et al., 2020). Granted, studies focusing on the niche level have been more attentive to the role of actors and agency. In studying low-carbon electricity in the UK, for instance, Foxon et al. (2010) and Fox (2013) describes different sets of actor logics that can produce different transition outcomes. Yang et al. (2020) describe institutional activities in niche and regime actors to demonstrate divergencies between pathways in solar PV. Many studies also discuss how expectations, networks and learning shape how transitions evolve, for instance, talking about how actors build networks to reinforce their 'logic' (Foxon et al., 2013) and suggesting that visions and expectations hold several functions for shaping transitions, such as mapping possibility spaces and providing narratives for mobilizing resources (Smith et al., 2005). There are also studies of transition pathways targeting social transition processes specifically, presenting the theoretical underpinnings for understanding these processes that remain at the core of this study.

2.1. Social networks

There is an abundance of research on the role of social networks in sustainability transitions. As we focus on the functions of networks in shaping transition work, we find it useful to draw on the resource based perspective on networks as presented by Musiolik et al. (2012). We consider the functions carried by social networks in shaping transition work to be inherently tied to the capacity of network actors to establish and apply the resources available in these social networks. Musiolik et al. (2012:1033) refer to resources as shaped by the "broader resource space" of networks, arguing that cyclically pooling available resources between networks of actors provides direction and a sense of control. They define resources as "assets which are strategically developed, used and transformed by actors (...)" (Musiolik et al., 2012:1034). Thus, developing transition pathways not only depends on resources such as financial assets and economic or human capital, but also resources embedded in culture, trust, goals, and reputations. Building on this, networks can successfully progress transition if able to draw on the variety of resources available to them.

Transition scholars have suggested several ways for actors to promote transition through building on their resource spaces. For instance, producing and exchanging resources such as knowledge and experience within niches can increase the ability of networks to or modify innovations, demands and preferences (Schot et al., 2016), and thereby impacting the diffusion of innovations. Further, resources are crucial for enabling actors to take *collective action*, that is collectively engaging each other with regard to promoting new technologies and to accelerate their production, use and diffusion (Markard and Truffer, 2008). Collective action is particularly effective when supported by formal networks (Musiolik et al., 2012), in which actors are bound to draw on complementary resources to coordinate strategies and objectives.

Drawing on resources in vast networks may also allow actors to create protective spaces for emerging niches (Naber et al., 2017; Smith and Raven, 2012). In particular, wide networks with a wide set of complementary resources (i.e. broad networks) and networks in which actors are committed to pool their resources (i.e. deep networks) are likely to support and promote the successful breakthrough of niche innovations (Schot et al., 2016). Thus, networks that efficiently promote transitions tend to be broad and deep, i.e. include different groups of stakeholders that express multiple perspectives and that mobilize resources and commitment (Schot et al., 2016; Schot and Geels, 2008). This could be translated into network performance (Newell et al., 2017; Provan and Kenis 2007; Klijn, 2005), which in the literature is considered the product of high actor diversity, high level of integration and high degree of stability in the network (Söderholm et al., 2019). In contrast, underperforming networks might impede transitions, particularly by imperiling niche development, and previous research has seen several examples of emerging transitions being obstructed by weak social networks (Giurca and Metz, 2018) or unproductive network composition (Falcone and Sica, 2015: Normann, 2017).

The network compositions in ports are likely to vary from one port to another and to consist of heterogeneous sets of actors, activities, technologies, and institutions. As transition work at ports involves wide networks that cut across sectors and value chains, ports are in position to encourage deep transitions, which requires fundamental shifts in directionality and logic across sectors (Schot and Kanger, 2018). This renders ports interesting sites for studying how differences in network complexity, integration and stability contributes to shaping coherent or diverging transition pathways.

2.2. Expectations

Transitions could also be shaped by expectations, which are real time representations of future situations (Borup et al., 2006; Budde et al., 2012). The evolution and diffusion of innovations rely on widely shared perceptions of future prospects (Schot et al., 2016), particularly in early phases of transitions (Hoogma et al., 2002; Skjølsvold, 2014). Expectations could also provide direct and indirect guidance in innovation searches (Budde et al., 2012; Bakker, 2014) and encourage investments to realize societal and collective goals (Schot and Geels, 2008; Borup et al., 2006).

Several studies discuss the definition and role of expectations in transitions (e.g. Berkhout, 2006; Geels and Smit, 2000; Konrad, 2006; Van der Voorn and Quist, 2018; Hansen and Bjørkhaug, 2017). Summarizing this research, Alkemade and Suurs (2012) provide a useful distinction between four functions of expectations. Firstly, expectations can serve to *coordinate and align* actors and activities, so that expectations shape decision making (Van Lente and Rip, 1998) and cognitive frames (Schot and Geels, 2008). This is particularly salient when expectations are shared by many actors (e.g. Naber et al., 2017). Second, expectations can *build legitimacy* around emerging technologies and create *protective spaces* that allow technologies to mature in peace (Schot et al., 2016). The agency of actors is therefore essential to diffuse visions and innovations (Van der Voorn and Quist, 2018). Third, expectations can motivate actors to *mobilize and dedicate resources* to new

technologies (Alkemade and Suurs, 2012) through mutual commitment (Borup et al., 2006), especially when they suggest urgency and imminent change (Schot et al., 2016). The mobilizing effect is particularly fierce when expectations are tested and confirmed by empirical observation (Schot and Geels, 2008; Bakker, 2014). Finally, expectations can contribute to *reduce perceived risks* and uncertainty (Borup et al., 2006; Alkemade and Suurs, 2012), especially in early phases of transition when innovations are immature and uncertainties are high (Budde et al., 2012).

The potential of expectations to shape transition pathways lies particularly in their ability to balance stability and flexibility. Stable perceptions can more easily be placed within larger sociotechnical narratives (Schot et al., 2016) and thereby linked to other expectations (Budde and Konrad, 2019) which may reinforce their legitimacy and validity. A challenge, however, is balancing stability with the need to adjust according to experiences that may dismiss or modify expectations (Schot and Geels, 2008). Expectations are therefore contingent on a temporal dynamic, often characterized by hype-disappointment cycles (e.g. Borup et al., 2006; van Lente et al., 2013; Verbong et al., 2008; Dedehayir and Steinert, 2016). Thus, expectations can also slow transitions down, and lack of shared visions (or directionality) is known to be a potential transformation failure (Weber and Rohracher, 2012). Lack of expectations to an emerging niche could for instance obstruct actors from engaging in that niche (Budde et al., 2012; Budde and Konrad, 2019) or actors might withdraw their support if developments are expected to change (Bakker, 2014). Transitions could also halt if expectations are inconsistent and not shared between actors within a niche (Hansen and Bjørkhaug, 2017; Alkemade and Suurs, 2012) or between different governmental levels (Mutter, 2019; Tidwell et al., 2018).

Given the complexity and context laden nature of ports, it is likely to assume that the multitude of actors and markets interacting in ports are also reflected in a multitude of expectations. This could pose a challenge in uniting actors around common visions, but could also represent an opportunity for enhancing our understanding of how expectations and co-production of visions shape transition pathways.

2.3. Social learning

From the transitions literature on actors, agency and local specificity, we know that social learning is essential to realize sustainable development (Van Poeck et al., 2018). The main function of learning in progressing transition is to allow *modification of innovations, expectations and sociocultural perceptions* (Naber et al., 2017). This includes learning about innovations and their exogenous aspects (Schot et al., 2016), as well as fundamental assumptions that may guide interpretations and behaviors (Argyris, 1976; Argyris and Schon, 1974). It is therefore useful to distinguish between different types of learning in transition work.

Broad learning (first order learning) implies learning about the technology at hand, but also external aspects such as regulations, societal, cultural and environmental impacts, market potential and user preferences (Schot et al., 2016). The diffusion of such knowledge could be instrumental in producing radical transition pathways, as it has been argued that one area of expertise alone does not have sufficient "problem-solving capacity" (Van Poeck et al., 2018). However, broad learning can mostly produce incremental changes (Pahl-Wostl et al., 2013). In contrast, deep learning, or second order learning, implies fundamental changes to assumptions that guide interpretations and behaviors. Deep learning therefore often allows for more radical changes (Argyris, 1976; Argyris and Schon, 1974). It may resembles "triple loop learning" (Pahl-Wostl et al., 2013), where revisiting, scrutinizing and potentially altering, underlying values, beliefs and world views are considered necessary for structural transformation. Questioning what is taken for granted and institutionalized (i.e. "unlearning", Baas, 2008) has proven to allow for creatively producing new perspectives, skills and practices (Van Poeck et al., 2018). Furthermore, deep learning can occur both at the individual and group level (Sengers et al., 2019), and can be

Table 1

Summary of functions and reinforcive characteristics of social processes in transitions. Authors' composition.

	Social networks	Expectations	Learning
Dimensions	Create collective action Build protective spaces Diffuse knowledge and technology	Coordinate/align Build legitimacy/ protective space Mobilize resources Reduce risk perception	Modify innovation Modify expectations Modify sociocultural perceptions
Reinforcive	Diversity	Shared	Broad
characteristics	Stability	Confirmed	Deep

achieved through actual use of innovations when users reflect around assumptions they take for granted (Schot et al., 2016). Experiments that confirm or contradict expectations are therefore essential in this kind of learning processes (e.g. Brown et al., 2003; Rosenbloom et al., 2018; Berkhout et al., 2010).

Considering the many technologies and innovations that are relevant in transitioning ports towards sustainability (Bjerkan and Seter, 2019), substantial broad learning is likely to be crucial for the ability of port actors to identify and select technological components of their transition work. The strong incumbency of many of these actors could also indicate that deep learning (or even unlearning) could be cardinal for transitions to evolve in ports.

2.4. Summing up dimensions of social processes that shape transition work

Table 1 summarizes dimensions of social processes that can enable and shape transition work, as presented by the literature referenced above. The table distinguishes between i) different dimensions of social processes and ii) characteristics that might provide momentum in the transition work. The latter refers to aspects of social processes that may impact the forcefulness of transitions. For instance, expectations that are shared, specific and confirmed, and heterogeneous, tight networks, are considered to effectively drive transitions forward.

The dimensions and characteristics displayed in the table will be used throughout the following analysis to demonstrate how social processes shape transition pathways in the two ports. However, before demonstrating how social processes can produce diverging transition pathways in ports, we will first elaborate on how data was collected and how the analysis was carried out .

3. Methods

3.1. Data collection and sample

The paper is based on data from interviews with 25 actor representatives in the Norwegian ports of Oslo and Kristiansand between October 2018 and February 2019. The representatives were identified through purposive sampling (Berg, 2001; Tongco, 2007) in collaboration with key port contacts. Actors considered to play active roles in sustainability efforts in and around ports were explicitly targeted. Some informants were also suggested by other informants (i.e. snowballing, Goodman, 1961).

The port literature provides several categorizations of port actors (e. g. Rodrigue et al., 2010; Lam et al., 2013; Hall et al., 2013), which typically encompass actors in the port area (terminal operators, goods owners, warehousing, piloting and towage, waste collection etc.), actors in the transport domain (transport users, providers, agents and operators), and community actors (authorities, NGOs and interest organizations, port authority, residents etc.). This study applied a similarly broad approach, thereby encompassing the variety of actors that might engage

Technological Forecasting & Social Change 166 (2021) 120595

Table 2

Port and transport roles covered by a	ctors interviewed.
---------------------------------------	--------------------

Interviews in Port of Oslo (n=10)	Interviews in Port of Kristiansand (n=10)	
Local authority*	Local authority	
Port authority	Port authority	
Terminal operator	Regional authority	
Energy supplier	Terminal operators	
Goods owners	Energy suppliers	
Vessel/vehicle owners	Goods owners	
Transport service providers	Vessel/vehicle owners	
Transport buyer	Transport service providers	
	Transport buyers	
	National Rail Authority, regional division	
Interviews related to both ports (n=5)		
Norwegian Coastal Administration		
Norwegian Port Association		
Vessel/vehicle owners		
Transport providers		

*The City of Oslo is both local and regional authority.

in and shape transition work in the two ports.

Interviews were based on a semi-structured interview guide which allowed the informant to narrate freely around each question and address issues that were not defined in advance. Table 2 gives an overview of interviews with port actors. The sample included representatives from transport companies, forwarding agents, terminal operators, industrial companies, local, regional, and national authorities, port authorities, port association, and energy suppliers. Energy suppliers provided hydropower electricity, LNG, biogas and hydrogen. The sample also included organizations that conducted several types of business and have several roles in the port and the transport system. The same organization may for instance be a transport provider, a forwarding agent, and a terminal operator. All industrial companies in the ports were further goods owners. Thus, the sample comprised non-exclusive categories of informants with several roles in ports and transport systems.

The interviews were conducted on telephone and lasted between 30 and 60 minutes. The researchers took notes continuously throughout the interviews. Upon completion of the data collection, all notes were loaded into text processing software for coding and analysis.

3.2. Data analysis

Data was explored through conventional content analysis (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005) based on codes in Table 3. These were defined with reference to theory and previous research on social processes within the sustainability transitions literature described in Section 2. The data gave an overview of the actors' main network connections and the character of these connections. The accounts of the informants also described relations to actors that were not interviewed in this study (e.g. universities, environmental organizations). Such relations were also included in the analysis. The network relations were further analyzed with regard to actor diversity (i.e. number of different actors and sectors in network) and integration (i.e. degree of formalized relations). The analysis also identified how actors engaged in and/or pursued collective action, how they worked individually or collectively to build protective spaces around niches, and whether specific niches and technologies were adopted by the actors in the network.

The analysis of expectations included mapping the informants' expectations about the future and assessing whether these expectations were shared between port actors, specific and confirmed. This included expectations about the organization itself and its surroundings, possible future market developments, regulation and incentives, innovations, and technologies. The mapping allowed us to assess whether expectations served to coordinate/align actors and activities, build legitimacy and niches, mobilize actors and resources, and reduce risk perceptions.

The analysis of learning processes included identifying the attempts

Table 3

Description of codes applied in data analysis. Authors' definition.

Code	Summarized description
Networks	The informant talks about formal and informal networks their organization is (not) part of and dialogue/cooperation they do/do not engage concerning sustainability issues.
Expectations	The informant describes their imagined future. The informant talks about their organization's expectations and visions for the future, how and to what degree they expect having to change. The informant talks about innovations expected to emerge.
Learning	The informant talks about his/her knowledge about innovations and external aspects which do or do not foster diffusion of innovations (first-order learning). The informant further talks about the assumptions that underlie his/her organization's motivations, priorities and decision-making (second-order learning). The informant talks about his/her perception of what the port is and should be (second-order learning).

of the actors to gain knowledge about innovations and preconditions for use. It also included identifying changing assumptions about innovations, expectations and sociocultural perceptions.

4. Two case ports in emerging transitions

This study addresses social transition processes in two Norwegian frontrunner ports to demonstrate how such processes are part of the fabric that constitutes transition pathways. The Port of Oslo is located in the heart of the Norwegian capital and is a hub in the national transport system. The Port of Kristiansand is located at the southern tip of Norway, closely located to continental Europe. The ports are similar in many respects. Their goods traffic is dominated by container transport, tanker, and bulk transport, although with higher volumes in Oslo than in Kristiansand (Fig. 1). Both ports are served by cruise ships and ferries. During the first nine months of 2019, 1,8 million international (cruise) ferry passengers passed through the Port of Oslo, and 1 million through the Port of Kristiansand (Statistics Norway, 2019a). A lot of the goods transported to the port in Oslo is connected to the industrial activity in the port area, whereas the offshore and supply sector is a prominent port user in Kristiansand.

Despite belonging to a group of progressive Norwegian ports in terms

Technological Forecasting & Social Change 166 (2021) 120595

of sustainability and technology implementation, the two ports differ in ways that make them interesting contrasting cases for studying emerging transition pathways. The Port of Oslo is a Norwegian frontrunner port when it comes to sustainability ambitions and endeavors, with explicit and ambitious sustainability goals. The port is owned by the City of Oslo, which aims to reduce the city's greenhouse gas emission by 95% within 2030 (City of Oslo, 2016). This implies substantial reductions in the port area as well. The port is therefore explicitly included in the city's ambitious climate policy, with an ambition to reduce 85% of CO2 emissions from the port within 2050. The port has also appointed a Director of Environment, and the large port organization (at least in a Norwegian context) has employees with specific competences on technology, business development, policy, and governance. The port provides high voltage shore power to international ferry lines, and its terminal operator is moving towards automation and full electrification. This is in line with the port's zero emission action plan, which also emphasizes charging facilities and biofuel infrastructure for local passenger ferries. The Port of Kristiansand is one of several Norwegian ports who ambitiously implement technologies and innovations to improve own sustainability. It could be considered a frontrunner because of its position as an early mover in implementing high and low voltage shore power and installing solar power on rooftops. It also aims to become an environmentally friendly transport hub in the region. The port organization in Kristiansand is less specialized than the one in Oslo, and the 30 employees form a lean organization that hires needed competence from the outside.

Thus, the two ports share certain similar transition contexts. They belong to the same geopolitical and macroeconomic realities; they are publicly owned and located in the city centers; they have similar traffic; are progressive in making use of new technologies and innovations; and are engaged in research and development to strengthen own sustainability efforts. Exploring these similar cases is useful to identify factors that promote progress in one case or impede it in another. The port organization could for instance draw actively on its social network in one case but not engage in network building in the other, or expectations could be aligned in the latter but divergent in the former. Hence, this study investigates the two cases' emergent transition pathways by exploring how social processes shape their transition work. These explorations are analyzed in the following.



Fig. 1. Goods throughput in the two ports Q1-Q3 2019, in thousand tons. Source: Statistics Norway (2019b).

5. Producing visions and sharing expectations

Expectations and visions can drive transitions along several dimensions. As described more in detail in the theory section, they serve to coordinate and align actors and activities; they can build legitimacy around and protect innovations; they may mobilize and dedicate resources and reduce perceived risks among actors. The following passages demonstrate how expectations enabled and shaped transition work in the ports of Oslo and Kristiansand.

The largest difference between the two ports related to their agency and scope in facilitating visions. Unlike the Port of Kristiansand, the transition work in the Port of Oslo rested on visions that included the width of port activities and actors, as represented by the Port's 17-point zero emission action plan. The Port envisioned a wide approach to transitioning the port, encompassing a multitude of innovations and stakeholders. The Port further sought to *produce* shared imaginaries among its users and other stakeholders. For instance, the port invited the city and a range of its users to develop a concept for the future zero emission port in Oslo. Not only did this serve to co-create long-term visions, but it also expanded their scope in providing visions for a range of technologies, such as energy production and storage, autonomous vessels, biogas and waste heat, hydrogen and alternative fuels.

In contrast, the Port of Kristiansand did not actively seek to (co) produce visions among its users and stakeholders. Rather, the port's transition work mainly centered around stepwise electrification of port activities, and projects and dialogues with individual users. As such, visions in the Port of Kristiansand were less produced and less encompassing both in terms of scope (technologies) and time perspectives.

Nonetheless, expectations in the two ports also aligned in several ways. Transition work in both ports was supported by the actors' expectations that they must prepare for a green future by reducing emissions and improving energy efficiency. Port actors were as such aligned in working towards more sustainable production, operations, and value chains, and their expectations about a green future drove them to explore sustainable solutions. This motivation seemed to be grounded in an almost promotional strategy. The belief that pressures to transform in a more sustainable direction would increase, raised the legitimacy of nearly any technology or innovation that was expected to improve sustainability issues. This pressure, however, was not perceived to be urgent and port actors did not expect to be penalized by their markets if they did not adjust accordingly. As such, non-change was not associated with high risk. The lack of urgency also related to how the port actors perceived the competitiveness within their sectors. There was a general assumption that no one would pursue sustainability if it implied economic loss, but actors disagreed on whether one could expect to profit from becoming greener or not. Port and local authorities considered sustainability transitions at ports as a viable business opportunity that enhanced their competitive edge, and thus expected green ports to win market shares over less green ones. They therefore mobilized for stricter regulation and greener policies to strengthen the positions of their ports. Conversely, actors enmeshed in port operations questioned the value of green profiling compared to time and cost-effective production.

Further, transition work in both ports was strongly tied to expectations regarding electrification. These were largely the result of clear policies and generous public funding schemes which reduced the actors' risk perceptions and enabled mobilization of resources. Although port actors were unsure of the urgency and profitability of sustainability efforts, many port actors invested in electrification technologies, which reflected their high expectations around electrification. Electrification has been prominent in Norwegian energy policies, as also reflected in the policies of the two ports. Action plans and shore power strategies have built legitimacy to and continued protection of electrification as a viable pathway. Expectations and visions regarding operations that could be electrified were therefore strong, stable, and shared, and continuously confirmed by collaboration projects and practical experience.

Nonetheless, we seem to be witnessing two cases of directionality failure in this study. Previous studies point to collective priorities and technology-specific policies (Weber and Rohracher, 2012) and the alignment of regulation and policy with social discourse as means to avoiding such failure (Yap and Truffer, 2019). In the two ports examined here, transition work and pathways not related to electrification were modest and vague. Technology and innovation expectations were highly unspecific, and few expectations served to legitimate specific innovations or fuels. The difficulty in co-producing expectations beyond electrification might relate to the lack of directionality signaled by authorities and that 'the battle of fuels' was still considered undecided. One actor particularly highlighted the previous confusion related to liquified natural gas (LNG): after being perceived as a viable solution in the early 2000s, new knowledge about the climatic footprint of LNG caused great skepticism and uncertainty (e.g. Gilbert and Sovacool, 2017), not unlike typical hype-disappointment cycles (Dedehayir and Steinert, 2016). Given the lack of political direction and interest, shared and specific expectations beyond electrification failed to mobilize actors, as risks felt prominent, leaving the ports to solve their challenges uncoordinatedly and by themselves.

We found that directionality appeared to be strongly connected to sector-specific expectations. Identifying a clear transition pathway for the entire port can be challenging when expectations are not aligned and coordinated across value chains. The analysis, however, revealed, that expectations of various port actors were very closely related to the specific markets or industries they engaged with. Their actions were first and foremost connected to transformations in their own value chains. Among industrial port actors, for instance, environmental upgrading in value chains was closely connected to expectations regarding their future production. An industrial port actor in the mineral market expected little change in future production and therefore saw no need to change own operations, whereas an industrial port actor in the cement market expected increased production due to new methods for obtaining raw materials and therefore prepared to use larger vessels more suited for emerging technologies. Thus, different actors could favor different transition pathways depending on what value chain they were part of. Given the heterogeneity of actors and corresponding value chains in ports, this could produce a variety of imaginaries that are not necessarily mutually supportive. In turn, this leaves transition work a challenging task for ports, which will have to align and navigate the complex and heterogeneous web of value chains that port actors constitute.

6. Mobilizing social networks

Social networks can drive transition along several dimensions. According to the literature, networks can engage actors to collectively act towards a specific end; they can deliberately shield or support innovations; they can contribute to diffuse innovations, knowledge, legitimacy and resources. The following section analyzes and discusses how the mobilization of social networks contributed to initiate transition work in the ports of Oslo and Kristiansand, and how different characteristics of the social networks found in each port contributed to shape the direction of their respective emerging transition pathways.

Actors in both ports were part of extensive, informal networks with relations between public policy (port, local and regional authorities, national transport authorities, national energy transition agency), expertise (consultants, R&D, technology and energy suppliers), interest and support organizations (port associations, environmental and business organizations), and operational port users (goods and vehicle/ vessel owners, terminal operators, transport buyers, providers and agents). The two cases differed, however, with regard to i) whether informal networks were converted into formal, collective action, ii) whether they engaged in strategic or ad-hoc use of network relations, and ii) the degree of integration in the port-city relation.

The Port of Oslo demonstrated strategic use of network relations in actively and deliberately drawing on its wide network resources to define and create support around its own transition work. The Oslo case was therefore characterized by successful collective action between the port and its users, its owner, and environmental organizations. The port engaged all its users in a variety of interactions, spanning from day-today discussions to collaboration agreements, and actively facilitated dialogue between port users and the port. The port also strategically involved its network resources to shield and nurture specific technologies, such as shore power, automated solutions, and electric cranes.

For instance, the port authority established a financial support scheme which allowed operational port actors to apply for funds to cover investments in more sustainable solutions. The port also orchestrated its wide range of users (terminal operator, equipment provider, mineral company, import company) and other actors (consultants, energy company, city administration) to develop a joint zero-emission concept for the future port which entailed conceptualizing an innovative energy system for the entire port area. We further saw how the port authority drew on this large and coordinated network when preparing to introduce shore power. In planning the shore power connection for international cruise ferries, the port invited shipowners and a range of technology providers to a dialogue conference to ensure that the shore power solution would be usable and acceptable. The introduction of shore power was further enabled by mobilization across the social network; shipowners modified their vessels, environmental organizations pushed for ambitious policies; the city set ambitious emission targets; the port authority funded and coordinated activities; and the energy supplier and consultants provided technological knowledge.

To increase support and legitimacy around transition work in Oslo, the port and the city further sought collective action and teamed up with environmental organizations, who pushed for stricter regulations and more ambitious environmental policies. Environmental organizations had fiercely promoted sustainability measures in the City of Oslo, and their active lobbying eventually also compelled the port to enter into collaboration agreements to increase mutual understanding and ensure exchange of knowledge and perspectives. In continuing its efforts towards electrification, the Port of Oslo further entered into an intentional agreement with the local energy company to establish a joint enterprise dedicated to construct, operate, and maintain shore power facilities. Thus, we see that specific social networks were formalized, and that collective action was fostered to ensure directionality of the transition pathway in the port.

In contrast to the Oslo case, extensive, informal dialogue in the Port of Kristiansand was to a limited degree converted into collective action. The port authority appeared more focused on providing sustainable services to its users (e.g. low voltage power supply) and less focused on developing joint port strategies together with its users. Collaboration between actors was often sporadic and project based. One example was the introduction of shore power, where the Port of Kristiansand was among the very early adopters in Norway. Unlike the meticulous process proceeding the shift to shore power in Oslo that involved diverse actors and that had gone on for several years, the introduction of shore power in Kristiansand was a more bilateral response to requests from particular port users and R&D actors. Both passenger ferries and offshore vessels requested it and the port authority was invited into an ongoing research project looking for a port willing to demonstrate their technology. As such, the nurturing of shore power did not result from collective action among actors mobilized in a broad network, but rather resulted from adhoc responses to specific requests in the network. Like in Oslo, the strategy was supported by the diffusion of competence and resources in the network, as the port authority relied heavily on competence from research and development, the regional energy company and consultants involved in solving practical challenges.

The two cases also diverged on the level of integration between the ports and their owners: the cities of Oslo and Kristiansand. The direction of the transition work in Oslo was strongly shaped by the close relation between the port and the City of Oslo. The City of Oslo was instrumental in setting ambitious targets for port sustainability (Bjerkan and Seter, 2021) and increasingly wielded its port ownership to steer and accelerate transition work in the port. Hence, the city administration and the port in Oslo kept an extensive, continuous dialogue and collaborated to define shared policies and to jointly implement measures for reducing port emissions.

In Kristiansand there were few examples of deliberate city-port collaboration. Local authorities supported the sustainability efforts of the port, but not very actively. This corresponds with the common approach among Norwegian public port owners (i.e. local authorities), who have tended to take a more laissez-faire approach, not emphasizing their role as port owners and accentuating the port's autonomy as a legal entity (Bjerkan et al., 2021). Thus, in line with most Norwegian ports, the port authorities in Kristiansand, to some extent seemed to neglect opportunities to foster fruitful collective action towards sustainability transitions in the port.

Thus, we clearly see how the transition work in the Port of Oslo was shaped by the mobilization and creation of collective action through building strong and stable networks with interest organizations, experts and port users. Transition work was also shaped by the network building protective spaces around certain technological solutions, such as shorepower, which rested on and contributed to knowledge and resource diffusion within the larger network. Consultants and R&D provided a basis for policy making and enabled public decision makers to understand their surroundings, technologies, and markets. In this way, port authorities gained access to knowledge resources they did not have themselves. This also made it easier for public policy actors such as port authorities to protect and legitimize these technologies. It also helped actors in port operations to select more sustainable technologies (e.g. vehicles or equipment). Thus, we see how the large and diverse social networks that were mobilized in Oslo enabled broad learning among port actors and the way relations in the network also served to diffuse knowledge about each other's operations, perspectives and sustainability efforts, which again made it easier to enter into more formalized and specific collaborations related to sustainability transitions in ports. Already, we therefore see an indication of the important relationship between social networks and social learning, which is further elaborated on in the following section.

7. Social learning

As pointed out in Section 2, social learning can drive transitions through modifying innovations, expectations, and sociocultural perceptions. This section discusses how social learning enabled transition work and shaped emerging transition pathways in the two ports. Common for both ports, was the prominence of broad learning (i.e. learning about technologies and innovations). Increased knowledge of and firsthand experience with technologies and innovations enabled port actors to identify and select measures for improving sustainability in own operations and value chains. Given the low maturity of many technologies, these experiences can contribute to modify innovations, and enable port actors to navigate among a range of emerging (and often competing) niches to make more qualified decisions regarding use and non-use.

In the Port of Kristiansand, the port practiced learning by doing through incremental trial and error with specific technologies. The introduction of shore power, for instance, progressed in close collaboration with the regional energy utility and R&D actors. This strategy allowed the port to steadily increase own technology competence, as well as awareness around lacking or needed competences in the port organization and competences it could seek from others.

In Oslo, broad learning increased the port's ability to identify potential paths forward. Broad learning particularly related to the Green Shipping Program as an arena for learning about technologies and solutions for sustainable maritime transport. The program was administered by a renowned consultant company and built around an evolving set of pilots (e.g. autonomous transport, shift cargo from road to sea, environmental port index, alternative fuels) that joined port authorities, regional and local authorities, goods owners, ship owners, technology providers, R&D, and port and industry organizations. The port actors described the program as a nexus for dialogue and experimentation which allowed them to realize and learn from solutions for green and efficient shipping. The program could also propel transitions as a network of complementary actors that shared resources, and that developed joint expectations and visions. Port actors therefore relied on knowledge from outside the port (e.g. experts and consultants) in broad learning, but also learned about innovations through dialogue between port actors, practical projects, and strategic planning. The previously mentioned dialogue conference on shore power in 2017 for instance educated the port on technical solutions for shore power.

The transition work in the two ports diverged, however, in how port actors engaged in deep learning. Whereas changing role perceptions and perceptions about power distribution characterized the Oslo case, similar processes seemed absent in the Port of Kristiansand. In Oslo, the port's explicit and ambitious transition work was among other the product of deep learning regarding the roles of port and city authorities. Port actors, the port, and the city all questioned the purely commercial orientation of ports and the laissez-faire ownership of cities. The increasing pressure on the city to act on climate change and local pollution, coupled with a green shift in Political leadership, appeared to induce more active port ownership in Oslo. This coincided with overall urbanization of port areas and port regulation which strengthened the owners' hold over public ports.

The Port of Oslo was therefore increasingly considered a problem owner when it came to emissions. The port became embedded in local environmental policy and was expected to follow up on the city's ambitions. As such, the port authority experienced new, emerging expectations to become a more active community manager, i.e. joining actors to facilitate collaboration and improve performance. The actors in Oslo considered the port to be a facilitator and uniformly pointed to the port authority as key in progressing port sustainability. Strengthening the port's role as community manager added to the list of competences the port needed and required it to cooperate with external expertise and consultancy to adequately fulfill its commitments. These commitments derived from the perceptions of a new, green reality for ports, suggesting that they should proactively deal with climate and environment to remain relevant and maintain autonomy.

Further, the wide and coordinated transition work in the Port of Oslo derived from changing perceptions about distribution of power among port actors. On one hand, this related to the port's potential reach into energy and transport systems. Historically, ports have been perceived as maritime, but informants stressed that ports needed to orient equally towards landside activities (i.e. port operations and hinterland transport) should they facilitate sustainability transitions. This implied appreciation of the port as a node in entire transport systems and that the Port of Oslo might influence transitions on the landside more than it currently did.

On the other hand, deep learning seemed to modify perceptions about the distribution of power among operational port actors in Oslo. Transport buyers were considered to have more leverage than what is usually recognized in policy making, and port actors argued that the potential of non-maritime actors to induce transitions was underacknowledged. Transport buyers explicitly reflected around own potential to influence the maritime sector, for instance through transport service procurement, which could pressure ship owners and agents in placing requirements to vehicles, vessels, and fuels.

8. Discussion

The purpose of this study has been to demonstrate how social processes are part of the fabric that constitutes transition pathways (see Table 4 for an overview). As such, we look beyond technological components of transition pathways, and rather emphasize their social characteristics. The social processes that characterized the Port of Oslo Technological Forecasting & Social Change 166 (2021) 120595

Table 4

Summary of social processes reflected in the two ports' diverging transition pathways.

	Port of Oslo Strategic, scalable, and coordinated transition pathway	Port of Kristiansand Incremental and niche-oriented transition pathway
Expectations	Co-production of visions Prepare for green future Electrification pathway Lack of expectations beyond electrification Sector-specific expectations	Prepare for green future Electrification pathway Lack of expectations beyond electrification Sector-specific expectations
Networks	Collective action with users, owner and environmental organizations Shield/nurture innovations through strategic involvement of network Knowledge and resource diffusion in wide network Collective action in value	Informal, bilateral collaboration Less collective action with owner Knowledge diffusion from R&D and energy sector
Learning	First order leaning in extensive network Second order leaning: role perceptions Second order learning: perceptions of influence	First order learning by doing Second order learning not prominent

suggested that the port is moving towards a whole-system transition, where port actors transform their understandings of own roles, which might lead to more radical innovations and system wide acceleration. The current social processes in the Port of Oslo suggested that its emerging transition pathway could be labeled strategic, coordinated and scalable. It was strategic and coordinated because the Port of Oslo worked strategically with a long-term perspective on sustainable transitions. This reflects one main difference between the two ports' emerging pathways; namely the ways in which they included network resources to progress and define the scope for transition work. The Port of Oslo united its wide network in close and formal collaboration, which allowed co-production of strategies and visions and enabled the port to coordinate joint projects with the city, environmental organizations, the local energy company and a range of its users. The transition pathway can also be considered scalable, because the Port of Oslo took a wide approach in its sustainability endeavors, encompassing a multitude of innovations and stakeholders. This was particularly represented by the Port's active involvement of the city and port users in developing the future zero emission port, which included reconceptualizing the entire energy system of the port area.

Conversely, the emerging transition pathway in the Port of Kristiansand could be characterized as *incremental and niche-oriented*. Here, the lack of formalized relations and a less integrated network implied that the port remained more loosely connected to other actors and mostly engaged in bilateral, ad-hoc projects with its users. Followingly, the port did not deliberately draw on resources available in its network to the same degree as in Oslo. Further, port development did not rest, as in the Oslo case, on visions co-produced between the variety of port users. In Kristiansand, the lack of committing collaboration corresponded with lack of joint vision-making which in turn discouraged coordinated, scalable sustainability endeavors. As in Oslo, the City of Kristiansand focused on emission reduction but did not engage in a similarly strategic collaboration with the port and did not challenge the port's role perceptions. Further, the port's transition work mainly centered around stepwise electrification of port activities.

The above demonstrates the importance of moving beyond studying pathways for specific niches or innovations. In this article we have studied emerging transition pathways of a whole domain, namely *ports*, which comprise many potential niches and innovations which themselves could be tied to specific pathways. The study – and the Oslo case in particular – reflects how transition pathways can transcend the regime-niche dichotomy (Berggren et al., 2015). In the Oslo case there were no obvious niche actors and transition work was mainly conducted by incumbent actors. There were also examples suggesting that transition work was not exclusively found at the niche level: networks that mobilized efforts and resources were closely tied to the regime level; and expectations that shaped transition work were located on the landscape level (e.g. urban restructuring), on the regime level (e.g. developments in value chains) and at the niche level (e.g. the battle of fuels). Further, deep learning among some actors (e.g. port authority, local authority) seemed futile if not followed up by or aligned with similar developments in other actors (e.g. national policymakers).

This study also provides examples suggesting that transition pathways can be shaped by interaction between different social processes. Networks were for instance crucial for broad learning, which was enabled by the mobilization of competence and knowledge of actors in diverse networks and facilitated by the experiments these set up (e.g. though the Green Shipping Program). Networks were further instrumental in co-producing visions and shared imaginaries, like when the Port of Oslo entered into formal collaboration precisely to encourage shared realities and expectations. This study also showed how expectations were shaped by the networks port actors belonged to, particularly those represented by value chains. Sustainability initiatives were often closely related to the value chains port actors were part of, and different expectations existing in different value chains could discourage actors from aligning their endeavors and engaging in collective action. This brings nuance to current research on the role of networks in sustainability transitions, which would assume the diverse and integrated network of the Port of Oslo to represent an advantage in progressing transition work. Based on the above, however, this study suggested that network (e.g. value chain) diversity could also represent a challenge in aligning the direction of the different actors' transition work, and thereby also in aligning transition pathways.

Although this challenges the ability of the port to align transition work across the myriad of value chains in the port, it also indicates that ports could be successful in facilitating and shaping transition pathways within value chains. The permeability of value chains suggests that they are suited for scaling up or accelerating transition efforts. Targeting transitions in entire value chains could therefore enable systemic approaches to coordinate actors and activities. Similarly, van Welie et al. (2019) have in a recent study argued that studying value chains is useful to understand systemic preconditions for transition work. However, the fluidity of value chains challenges transition work as each value chain consists of heterogeneous actors situated in own contexts, which are part of potentially distinct regimes and located at different places. This has also been pointed out by others; transition processes in value chains are distributed across different spaces (Hansen and Coenen, 2015). Thus, the place-specificity of ports could thus challenge ports' ability to induce transitions in value chains. Hence, ports can primarily be expected to shape transition work in value chains by facilitating co-production of general expectations to port sustainability, which port actors in turn can translate and integrate with (more or less) aligning expectations in own value chains

This study also hinted at a hierarchy among social transition processes. It has demonstrated that deep learning (e.g. role perceptions) in the Port of Oslo produced new expectations about what the port should and could do (for the city), and what responsibilities the port should take. This created new knowledge needs in the port, which in turn led it to make active use of the resources and knowledge available in its network. As deep learning produced new expectations which further required more formal and dedicated network relations, one could argue that the divergent transition pathways in the two ports above all derived from deep learning (which characterized the Oslo case but not the Kristiansand case). It could therefore be useful to construct a hierarchy of social processes. In the Oslo case, deep learning appeared to precede modification of expectations and spur collective action. Defining the Port of Oslo as a problem owner and emphasizing the port authority's faciliatory role produced expectations to the port authority which compelled it to engage more actively and formally with its existing network and to draw on the network's competence to (re)develop ambitions and strategies for port sustainability. These strategies in turn provided directionality through specific expectations, thereby reducing perceived risk among port actors. As new perceptions were also tied to greener and more active port ownership on the side of the city, they further disallowed the port authority from opting out of the faciliatory role and continuing their focus on commercial operations.

In contrast, the Port of Kristiansand did not experience similar deep learning because of the laissez-faire approach of the port owner, which in turn placed fewer expectations on the port's role. Hence, the incremental, ad-hoc transition work continued because there was neither internal motivation nor external pressure on the port to engage in formal, more binding collaborations. This kept the port from absorbing resources and knowledge available in its network to develop long-term, strategic and encompassing plans for their transition work.

9. Conclusion

This study has set out to demonstrate how social processes are part of the fabric that constitutes transition pathways. To do so, we studied how such processes in different ways shaped transition work in two Norwegian ports. The Port of Oslo is becoming a frontrunner on an international scale. It shares certain characteristics with other international frontrunners (e.g. in Los Angeles/San Pedro, Vancouver, Rotterdam, Hamburg) in being publicly owned and located close to urban citizens, however smaller in terms of transport volumes. Future research should therefore explore if social processes facilitate sustainability transitions in other frontrunner ports in a similar manner. However, as a temperature check on transition work in general, investigating social processes could prove valuable to specify transition strategies also beyond frontrunner ports.

When investigating social transition processes in the Port of Oslo and the Port of Kristiansand, we found that these processes were reflected in their transition pathways. We found that actors in both ports had clear and stable expectations associated with electrification and a green future. Still, the actors struggled with specifying what the green future would look like, which lead them to orient by expectations they had for the markets and value chains they were part of. The two ports diverged, however, in their approach to involving wide networks, and in the degree of deep learning, particularly related to role perceptions.

This study has stressed that the interplay and hierarchy of social processes provide important understandings of how transition pathways could be developed. Future research should seek to elaborate further how such process dynamics might influence transition pathways in other contexts. Given the complexity of ports, as they comprise a number of regimes (port, maritime transport, land transport) and a number of potentially emerging niches (see f.ex. Bjerkan and Seter, 2019), identifying or anticipating one single transition pathway is very unlikely. However, this complexity of ports (including the heterogeneity of port actors) also represents a tremendous potential for aligning compatible sets of transition pathways that could lead to deep and sector-wide transitions. Thus, better understanding how social processes and the dynamics between them induce and hamper transition work and transition pathways is important. Piggybacking on the multifaceted and sustainable future of ports can therefore enhance our understanding of and the drivers for transition efforts in other domains.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan: Conceptualization, Methodology,

K.Y. Bjerkan and M. Ryghaug

Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Marianne Ryghaug:** Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing, Supervision.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thankfully acknowledge the financial support for this research from the Research Council of Norway, grant number 281002. We also wish to thank all the informants who have contributed with their perspectives and experiences, and to colleagues Sigrid Damman, Markus Steen and Assiya Kenzhegaliyeva for cooperating with the interviews . Further, we extend our gratitude to Tomas Moe Skjølsvold and the referees for valuable feedback on earlier versions of this paper.

References

- Köhler, J., Geels, F.W., Kern, F., Markard, J., Wieczorek, A., Alkemade, F., Avelino, F., Bergek, A., Boons, F., Fünfschilling, L., Hess, D., Holtz, G., Hyysalo, S., Jenkins, K., Kivimaa, P., Martiskainen, M., McMeekin, A., Mühlemeier, M.S., Nykvist, B., Onsongo, Elsie, Pel, B., Raven, R., Rohracher, H., Sandén, B., Schot, Johan, Sovacool, B., Turnheim, B., Welch, D., Wells, P., 2019. A Research Agenda for Sustainability Transitions Research: State of the Art and Future Directions. Institution
- Sovacool, B.K., Hess, D.J., Amir, S., Geels, F.W., Hirsh, R., Rodriguez Medina, L., Miller, C., Alvial Palavicino, C., Phadke, R., Ryghaug, M., Schot, J., Silvast, A., Stephens, J., Sitriling, A., Turnheim, B., van der Vleuten, E., van Lente, H., Yearley, S., 2020. Sociotechnical agendas: reviewing future directions for energy and climate research. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 70 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. erss.2020.101617. 101617.
- Lindberg, M.B., Markard, J., Andersen, A.D., 2019. Policies, actors and sustainability transition pathways: a study of the EU's energy policy mix. Res. Policy 48 (10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.09.003, 103668.
- McMeekin, A., Geels, F.W., Hodson, M., 2019. Mapping the winds of whole system reconfiguration: analysing low-carbon transformations across production, distribution and consumption in the UK electricity system (1990–2016). Res. Policy 48 (5), 1216–1231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.12.007.
- Geels, F.W., Sovacool, B.K., Schwanen, T., Sorrell, S., 2017. Sociotechnical transitions for deep decarbonization. Science 357 (6357), 1242–1244. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aao3760.
- Damman, S, Steen, M., 2021. A socio-technical perspective on the scope for ports to enable energy transition. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment 91, 102691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102691.
- Baas, L., 2008. Industrial symbiosis in the Rotterdam Harbour and Industry Complex: reflections on the interconnection of the techno-sphere with the social system. Bus. Strat. Environ. 17 (5), 330–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsc.624.
- Frantzeskaki, N., Wittmayer, J., Loorbach, D., 2014. The role of partnerships in 'realising' urban sustainability in Rotterdam's City Ports Area, The Netherlands. J. Clean. Prod. 65, 406–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.09.023.
- Bosman, R., Loorbach, D., Rotmans, J., Raak, R.v., 2018. Carbon lock-out: leading the fossil port of Rotterdam into transition. Sustainability 10 (2558).
- Schot, J., Kanger, L., Verbong, G., 2016. The roles of users in shaping transitions to new energy systems. Nat. Energy 1, 16054. https://doi.org/10.1038/nenergy.2016.54.
- Naber, R., Raven, R., Kouw, M., Dassen, T., 2017. Scaling up sustainable energy innovations? Smart grids in the Netherlands. Energy Policy 110, 342–354. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.enep.l.2017.07.056.
- Schot, J., Geels, F.W., 2008. Strategic niche management and sustainable innovation journeys: theory, findings, research agenda, and policy. Technol. Anal. Strat. Manag. 20 (5), 537–554. https://doi.org/10.1080/0953720802292651.
- Söderholm, P., Hellsmark, H., Frishammar, J., Hansson, J., Mossberg, J., Sandström, A., 2019. Technological development for sustainability: the role of network management in the innovation policy mix. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 138, 309–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.10.010.
- Borup, M., Brown, N., Konrad, K., Van Lente, H., 2006. The sociology of expectations in science and technology. Technol. Anal. Strat. Manag. 18 (3-4), 285–298. https://doi. org/10.1080/09537320600777002.
- Valkering, P., Yücel, G., Gebetsroither-Geringer, E., Markvica, K., Meynaerts, E., Frantzeskaki, N., 2017. Accelerating transition dynamics in city regions: a qualitative modeling perspective. Sustainability 9 (7), 1254.
- Truffer, B., Schippl, J., Fleischer, T., 2017. Decentering technology in technology assessment: prospects for socio-technical transitions in electric mobility in Germany. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 122, 34–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. techfore.2017.04.020.
- Pedersen, M.B., Nygaard, I., 2018. System building in the Kenyan electrification regime: the case of private solar mini-grid development. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 42, 211–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.03.010.

Technological Forecasting & Social Change 166 (2021) 120595

Falcone, P.M., Sica, E., 2015. Explaining biomass niche readiness through network analysis: the Lithuanian case. WIT Trans. Ecol. Environ. 199, 1743–3541.

- Hansen, T., Coenen, L., 2015. The geography of sustainability transitions: review, synthesis and reflections on an emergent research field. Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit. 17, 92–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2014.11.001.
- Binz, C., Coenen, L., Murphy, J.T., Truffer, B., 2020. Geographies of transition—from topical concerns to theoretical engagement: a comment on the transitions research agenda. Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit. 34, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eist.2019.11.002.
- Rosenbloom, D., 2017. Pathways: an emerging concept for the theory and governance of low-carbon transitions. Glob. Environ. Change 43, 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.gloenvcha.2016.12.011.
- Geels, F.W., Schot, J., 2007. Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways. Res. Policy 36 (3), 399–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.003.
- Smith, A., Stirling, A., Berkhout, F., 2005. The governance of sustainable socio-technical transitions. Res. Policy 34 (10), 1491–1510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2005.07.005.
- Berkhout, F.G.H., Smith, A., Stirlingh, A., 2004. Socio-technological regimes and transition contexts. In: Elzen, B., Geels, F.W., Green, K. (Eds.), System Innovation and the Transition to Sustainability. Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd, Cheltenham.
- Geels, F.W., Kern, F., Fuchs, G., Hinderer, N., Kungl, G., Mylan, J., Neukirch, M., Wassermann, S., 2016. The enactment of socio-technical transition pathways: a reformulated typology and a comparative multi-level analysis of the German and UK low-carbon electricity transitions (1990–2014). Res. Policy 45 (4), 896–913. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.01.015.
- Berggren, C., Magnusson, T., Sushandoyo, D., 2015. Transition pathways revisited: established firms as multi-level actors in the heavy vehicle industry. Res. Policy 44 (5), 1017–1028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.11.009.
- Köhler, J., Turnheim, B., Hodson, M., 2020. Low carbon transitions pathways in mobility: applying the MLP in a combined case study and simulation bridging analysis of passenger transport in the Netherlands. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 151, 119314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iechfore.2018.06.003.
- McDowall, W., 2014. Exploring possible transition pathways for hydrogen energy: a hybrid approach using socio-technical scenarios and energy system modelling. Futures 63, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2014.07.004.
- Mirzania, P., Balta-Ozkan, N., Marais, L., 2020. One technology, two pathways? Strategic Niche Management and the diverging diffusion of concentrated solar power in South Africa and the United States. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 69, 101729 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.erss.2020.101729.

Foxon, T.J., Hammon, G.P., Pearson, P.J.G., 2010. Developing transition pathways for a carbon electricity system in the UK. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 77, 1203–1213.

- Foxon, T.J., 2013. Transition pathways for a UK low carbon electricity future. Energy Policy 52, 10–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.04.001.
- Yang, J., Schot, J., Truffer, B., 2020. Shaping the Directionality of Sustainability Transitions: The Diverging Development Patterns of Solar PV in two Chinese Provinces. Institution. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3667900.
- Foxon, T.J., Pearson, P.J.G., Arapostathis, S., Carlsson-Hyslop, A., Thornton, J., 2013. Branching points for transition pathways: assessing responses of actors to challenges on pathways to a low carbon future. Energy Policy 52, 146–158. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.enpol.2012.04.030.
- Musiolik, J., Markard, J., Hekkert, M., 2012. Networks and network resources in technological innovation systems: towards a conceptual framework for system building. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 79 (6), 1032–1048. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.techfore.2012.01.003.
- J. Markard and B. Truffer, Actor-oriented analysis of innovation systems: exploring micro-meso level linkages in the case of stationary fuel cells Technol. Anal. Strat. Manag., 20 (4), (2008) 443-464 10.1080/09537320802141429.
- Smith, A., Raven, R., 2012. What is protective space? Reconsidering niches in transitions to sustainability. Res. Policy 41 (6), 1025–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2011.12.012.
- Newell, D., Sandström, A., Söderholm, P., 2017. Network management and renewable energy development: an analytical framework with empirical illustrations. Energy Res. & Social Science 23, 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.09.005.Provan, K.G., Kenis, P., 2007. Modes of network governance: structure, management,
- Provan, K.G., Kenis, P., 2007. Modes of network governance: structure, management and effectiveness. J. Publ. Adm. Res. Theory 18 (2), 229–252. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jopart/mum015.
- Klijn, E.-H., 2005. Designing and managing networks: possibilities and limitations for network management. Eur. Polit. Sci. 4 (3), 328–339. https://doi.org/10.1057/ palgrave.eps.2210035.
- A. Giurca and T. Metz, A social network analysis of Germany's wood-based bioeconomy: social capital and shared beliefs, Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit., 26, (2018) 1-14 10.1016/j.eist.2017.09.001.
- Normann, H.E., 2017. Policy networks in energy transitions: the cases of carbon capture and storage and offshore wind in Norway. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 118, 80–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.02.004.
- Schot, J., Kanger, L., 2018. Deep transitions: emergence, acceleration, stabilization and directionality. Res. Policy 47 (6), 1045-1059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2018.03.009.
- Budde, B., Alkemade, F., Weber, K.M., 2012. Expectations as a key to understanding actor strategies in the field of fuel cell and hydrogen vehicles. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 79 (6), 1072–1083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2011.12.012. Hoogma, R., Kemp, R., Schot, J., Truffer, B., 2002. Experimenting for Sustainable Transport. The Approach of Strategic Niche Management. Routledge, London.
- Transport, The Approach of Strategic Niche Management, Routledge, London, Skjølsvold, T.M., 2014. Back to the futures: retrospecting the prospects of smart grid technology. Futures 63, 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2014.08.001.

K.Y. Bjerkan and M. Ryghaug

Bakker, S., 2014. Actor rationales in sustainability transitions – Interests and expectations regarding electric vehicle recharging. Environm. Innov. Soc. Transit. 13, 60–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2014.08.002.

Berkhout, F., 2006. Normative expectations in systems innovation. Technol. Anal. Strat. Manag. 18 (3-4), 299–311. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537320600777010.

Geels, F.W., Smit, W.A., 2000. Failed technology futures: pitfalls and lessons from a historical survey. Futures 867–885.
Konrad, K., 2006. The social dynamics of expectations: The interaction of collective and

Konrad, K., 2006. The social dynamics of expectations: The interaction of collective and actor-specific expectations on electronic commerce and interactive television. Technol. Anal. Strat. Manag. 18 (3-4), 429–444. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09537320660777192.

Van der Voorn, T., Quist, J., 2018. Analysing the role of visions, agency, and niches in historical transitions in watershed management in the lower Mississippi river. Water 10 (12), 1845.

Hansen, L., Bjørkhaug, H., 2017. Visions and expectations for the Norwegian bioeconomy. Sustainability 9 (3), 341.

Alkemade, F., Suurs, R.A.A., 2012. Patterns of expectations for emerging sustainable technologies. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 79 (3), 448–456. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.techfore.2011.08.014.

Van Lente, H., Rip, A., 1998. Expectations in technological developments: an example of prospective structures to be filled by agency. In: Disco, C., Van der Meulen, B. (Eds.), Getting New Technologies Together. Studies in Making Sociotechnical Order. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.

Budde, B., Konrad, K., 2019. Tentative governing of fuel cell innovation in a dynamic network of expectations. Res. Policy 48 (5), 1098–1112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2019.01.007.

van Lente, H., Spitters, C., Peine, A., 2013. Comparing technological hype cycles: towards a theory. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 80 (8), 1615–1628. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.techfore.2012.12.004.

Verbong, G., Geels, F.W., Raven, R., 2008. Multi-niche analysis of dynamics and policies in Dutch renewable energy innovation journeys (1970–2006): hype-cycles, closed networks and technology-focused learning. Technolo. Anal. Strat. Manag. 20 (5), 555–573. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537320802292719.

Dedehayir, O., Steinert, M., 2016. The hype cycle model: a review and future directions. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 108, 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. techfore.2016.04.005.

Weber, K.M., Rohracher, H., 2012. Legitimizing research, technology and innovation policies for transformative change: combining insights from innovation systems and multi-level perspective in a comprehensive 'failures' framework. Res. Policy 41 (6), 1037–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.10.015.

Mutter, A., 2019. Mobilizing sociotechnical imaginaries of fossil-free futures – electricity and biogas in public transport in Linköping, Sweden. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 49, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.10.025.

Tidwell, J.H., Tidwell, A., Nelson, S., 2018. Surveying the Solar power gap: assessing the spatial distribution of emerging photovoltaic solar adoption in the state of Georgia, U.S.A. Sustainability 10 (11), 4117.

Van Poeck, K., Östman, L., Block, T., 2018. Opening up the black box of learning-bydoing in sustainability transitions. Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.eist.2018.12.006.

Argyris, C., 1976. Single-loop and double-loop models in research on decision making. Adm. Sci. Q. 21 (3), 363–375. https://doi.org/10.2307/2391848.

Argyris, C., Schon, D.A., 1974. Theory in Practice: Increasing Professional Effectiveness. Jossey-Bass Inc. Publishers, San Fransisco.

Pahl-Wostl, C., Becker, G., Knieper, C., Sendzimir, J., 2013. How multilevel societal learning processes facilitate transformative change: a comparative case study analysis on flood management. Ecol. Soc. 18 (4), 28. https://doi.org/10.5751/es-05779-180458.

Sengers, F., Wieczorek, A.J., Raven, R., 2019. Experimenting for sustainability transitions: a systematic literature review. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 145, 1533–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.08.031.

Brown, H.S., Vergragt, P., Green, K., Berchicci, L., 2003. Learning for sustainability transition through bounded socio-technical experiments in personal mobility. Technol. Analy. Strat. Manag. 15 (3), 291–315. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09537320310001601496.

Rosenbloom, D., Meadowcroft, J., Sheppard, S., Burch, S., Williams, S., 2018. Transition experiments: opening up low-carbon transition pathways for Canada through

Technological Forecasting & Social Change 166 (2021) 120595

innovation and learning. Can. Public Policy 44 (4), 368–383. https://doi.org/ 10.3138/cpp.2018-020.

- Berkhout, F., Verbong, G., Wieczorek, A.J., Raven, R., Lebel, L., Bai, X., 2010. Sustainability experiments in Asia: innovations shaping alternative development pathways? Environ. Sci. Policy 13 (4), 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envsci.2010.03.010.
- Bjerkan, K.Y., Ryghaug, M., Skjølsvold, T.M., 2021. Actors in energy transitions: transition potentials in the intersection between Norwegian port and transport systems. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 72, 101868 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. erss.2020.101868. Under review.

Bjerkan, K.Y., Seter, H., 2019. Reviewing tools and technologies for sustainable ports: does research enable decision making in ports? Transp. Res. Part D: Transp. Environ. 17, 243–260.

Berg, J.L., 2001. Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences. Allyn and Bacon, Boston.

Tongco, D.C., 2007. Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. Ethnobot. Res. Appl. 5, 147–158.

Goodman, L.A., 1961. Snowball sampling. Ann. Math. Stat. 32 (1), 148–170.

Rodrigue, J.-P., Debrie, J., Fremont, A., Gouvernal, E., 2010. Functions and actors of inland ports: European and North American dynamics. J. Transp. Geogr. 18 (4), 519-529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2010.03.008.

Lam, J.S.L., Ng, A.K.Y., Fu, X., 2013. Stakeholder management for establishing sustainable regional port governance. Res. Transp. Bus. Manag. 8, 30–38. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.trm.2013.06.001.

Hall, P.V., O'Brien, T., Woudsma, C., 2013. Environmental innovation and the role of stakeholder collaboration in West Coast port gateways. Res. Transp. Econ. 42 (1), 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2012.11.004.

H.-F. Hsieh and S. E. Shannon, Three approaches to qualitative content analysis, 15 (9), (2005) 1277-1288. 10.1177/1049732305276687.

Statistics Norway, Table 04225: Ferry transport between Norway og international desitnations. Passengers and cargo, by port, direction, statistical variable and quarter, (2019a), downloaded from https://www.ssb.no/statbank/table/04225/, March 4th 2020.

Statistics Norway, Table 08923: Port statistics. Goods, by port, cargo type, direction, statistical variable and quarter (Norwegian only), (2019b), downloaded from htt ps://www.ssb.no/statbank/table/08923/, March 4th 2020.

City of Oslo, 2016. Climate and Energy Strategy for Oslo. Institution, Oslo.

Yap, X.-S., Truffer, B., 2019. Shaping selection environments for industrial catch-up and sustainability transitions: a systemic perspective on endogenizing windows of opportunity. Res. Policy 48 (4), 1030–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2018.10.002.

Gilbert, A.Q., Sovacool, B.K., 2017. US liquefied natural gas (LNG) exports: boom or bust for the global climate? Energy 141, 1671–1680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. energv.2017.11.098.

Bjerkan, K.Y., Seter, H., 2021. Policy and politics in energy transitions. a case study on shore power in Oslo. Energy Policy. Under review.

van Welie, M.J., Truffer, B., Yap, X.-S., 2019. Towards sustainable urban basic services in low-income countries: a technological innovation system analysis of sanitation value chains in Nairobi. Environ. Innov. Soc. Transit. 33, 196–214. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/i.eist.2019.06.002.

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan is a research scientist in transport research focussing on sustainable mobility. Her research has largely revolved around preconditions for implementing sustainable tools and technologies in transport, and the roles of actors and users in encouraging or discouraging successful implementation. She holds a master in political science, and is conducting a Ph.D. in science and technology studies, in which she studies the potential for sustainability transitions in Norwegian ports.

Marianne Ryghaug (Ph.D.), is professor of Science and Technology Studies at the Department of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture (NTNU-KULT) and is the leader of the research group on Energy, Climate and Environment. She has a long track record of nationally and internationally funded energy projects and is currently leading the expert working group on Transport in the Energy-SHIFTS Forum (2019–2021) funded by H2020 and is appointed as an expert advisor by the European Commission's Scientific Advicee Mechanism and the Group of Chief Scientific Advisors, (SAPEA); working group "A Systemic Approach For the Energy Transition in Europe".

Paper III

Energy Policy 153 (2021) 112259

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Energy Policy

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/enpol

Policy and politics in energy transitions. A case study on shore power in Oslo.



ENERGY POLICY

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan^{a, b,*}, Hanne Seter^a

^a SINTEF, Dept. of Mobility and Economics, Postboks 4760 Torgarden, 7465, Trondheim, Norway
 ^b Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Dept. of Interdisciplinary Studies of Culture, 7491, Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Keywords: Their position in transport systems allows ports to play a fundamental role in energy transitions. In increasingly Policy ambitious quests to promote sustainability, ports often look to shore power to reduce emissions. To fill knowl-Politics edge gaps regarding empirical experiences with shore power, this study turns to the transition to shore power in Port Oslo, Norway. In doing so, it demonstrates the instrumental role policy and politics can play in transitions. To Shore power explore this particular transition, we rely on document analysis and interviews with actors around the Port of Transition Oslo and discuss their involvement with reference to the Multiple-Streams Approach. We argue that the main reason for successful implementation in this case was the environmental thrust and the lack of controversy. The transition was supported by shore power's ability to address different problems experienced by different actors, by the lack of competition from other policies and by a range of political influences which gave momentum to and aligned policy domains. Specifically, we find that the political stream was less prominent in selecting a policy, but more prominent in realizing it. Although the experiences from this particular transition are not necessarily transferrable beyond this case, our study demonstrates the importance of policy alignment, and argues that holistic policy making could be crucial to ensure deep transitions - in which ports can be expected to be prominent.

1. Introduction

As links in transport networks, ports play a crucial role in both landbased and sea-based transport. Since many actors and stakeholders interact in the port area, ports could also function as energy hubs in the transport system. This implies that ports could play a critical role in energy transitions (Damman and Steen 2021). This paper dives into one such transition process and investigates the role of policy and politics in the transition to shore power in the Port of Oslo, Norway. The Port of Oslo aims to remove 85% of its CO2 emissions within 2030 (Port of Oslo 2018), and shore power is a focal point in its pursuit to become a zero-emission port. Shore power allows vessels at berth to shut down their fossil auxiliary engines and instead rely on shoreside electricity to power their operations. Shore power and has become the most prominent approach to improve the environmental footprint of ports (Bjerkan and Seter 2019). Above all, it reduces visible, local emissions in the port area, but is in most cases also expected to reduce global emissions (Hall 2010). However, current research provides few empirical accounts of experiences with use and implementation of shore power. This study

therefore provides a much-needed empirical account of the transition to shore power in the Port of Oslo.

The main objective of this study is to demonstrate the role of policy and politics in the transition to shore power in the Port of Oslo. Although we recognize that a range of other factors also impact transition processes, we wish to emphasize these because transition studies have been criticized for under-acknowledging aspects of power, policy and politics in transitions (Meadowcroft 2009; Shove and Walker 2007). We therefore conduct an in-dept analysis of the processes proceeding implementation of shore power in Oslo. Through document analysis and interviews with involved actors, we develop a timeline that structures and demonstrates the transition to shore power. This is analyzed and discussed with reference to the Multiple Streams Approach (MSA) (Kingdon (1984), which has been successfully applied to understand policy and politics in transitions in other domains (Normann 2015). By taking this approach, we address a research gap put forth by Svensson and Nikoleris (2018), elaborated in the latest agenda for sustainability transition research (Köhler et al., 2019): "Transitions (should) provide more systematic process explanations (...) with tighter links between events and

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112259

Received 8 July 2020; Received in revised form 5 February 2021; Accepted 15 March 2021

Available online 26 March 2021

 $^{^{*}}$ Corresponding author. SINTEF, Dept. of Mobility and Economics, Postboks 4760 Torgarden, 7465 Trondheim, Norway.

E-mail addresses: Kristin.ystmark.bjerkan@sintef.no, Kristin.ystmark.bjerkan@sintef.no (K.Y. Bjerkan), Hanne.seter@sintef.no (H. Seter).

^{0301-4215/© 2021} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

K.Y. Bjerkan and H. Seter

identification of critical conditions that link events". This paper responds to this call by identifying empirical steps (events) in the transition to shore power in Oslo and by defining timelines which inform about the prevalence of policy and politics throughout the transition process. We find that the problems, policy and politics emphasized by MAS are interdependent in their support of shore power. Our findings further stress the importance of policy alignment and holistic policy making, and that political work is essential to ensure policy realization as well as policy selection.

The transition literature contains interesting discussions on what constitutes a transition in terms of incrementality and timescales, and different types of transitions (pathways) that can be identified (e.g. Berkhout et al., 2004; Elzen and Wieczorek 2005; Geels and Schot 2007; Roggema et al., 2012). Within the scope of this paper, we choose to put a pin in those discussions. As such, we do not seek to problematize by what standards what we have observed is a transition and whether/how our observations are compatible to a particular theorized pathway. Rather, we observe that a new technology, with social and cultural bindings, has been implemented with the intent to impact energy practices. We consider this a change that per se is worthy of scientific scrutiny.

The article is structured as follows. In the next section, we will account for the theoretical underpinnings of this study, focusing especially on the Multiple Streams Approach. Section 3 presents methods and data, hereunder the actors who were most prominent in the transition to shore power. Section 4 presents and analyzes problems, policies and politics associated with the transition, before section 5 discusses how these contributed to reduce controversy and push for policy realization. Section 5 also discusses how the relations and interconnectedness between these streams supported this particular transition. Section 6 concludes and discusses implications for policy and research.

2. Multiple streams in the politics of energy transitions

This section describes the prevalence of policy and politics in transition studies, and elaborates on the Multiple Streams Approach, which we apply to structure and demonstrate the role of policy and politics in our case study on shore power.

2.1. Policy and politics in sustainability transitions

Although criticized for overlooking such aspects of transition, transition studies increasingly orient towards the roles of policy and politics. Several studies address how policy mixes can promote (or impede) transition (Kivimaa and Kern 2016; Kivimaa and Virkamäki 2014; Lindberg et al., 2019; Reichardt et al., 2015; Schmidt and Sewerin 2019; Uyarra et al., 2016) and existing studies provide different approaches for categorizing the content and functions of policy instruments (Kern and Howlett 2009; Kern et al., 2019; Rogge and Reichardt 2016). Further, scholars increasingly focus on how policy is produced, drawing on established theories of political science to highlight the roles policy and politics play in shaping transition pathways and outcomes (Köhler et al., 2019:22). These are inherently tied to the bargaining of political processes, and thereby expressions of different types of power being exercised (Ahlborg 2017; Avelino 2017; Avelino and Rotmans 2009; Grin 2010; Hoffman 2013; Pel 2016).

Politics are at play at niche, regime and landscape levels (Meadowcroft 2011), which has ushered a growing body of literature on politics in transitions (see Avelino et al., 2016 for a useful overview). Hess (2014) studied struggles between opposing political coalitions, and Raven et al. (2016) investigated the role of technology advocates in promoting sustainable technologies. Normann (2015, 2017) found that the breakthrough of emerging niches was influenced by specific political positions and political bargaining, as well as access to policymaking processes. Some studies have incorporated politics to refine existing theoretical understandings of transitions (e.g. Lockwood et al. (2017);

Geels (2014)), while others attend to politics inherent in transition management (e.g. Shove and Walker 2007; Smith and Stirling 2010).

Kern and Rogge (2018) argue that the full width of policy theories might be useful to analyze transition processes, depending on the focal point of the specific study. The focal point of this study is the transition to shore power in Oslo, and the strong prominence of policy and politics in this narrative makes the Multiple Streams Approach (MSA) useful to demonstrate the of roles policy and politics in transition.

2.2. The Multiple-Streams Approach

The Multiple-Streams Approach (MSA), originally presented by John W. Kingdon (1984), derives from political science theory, using a systemic approach to understand policy outcomes. It was developed to understand agenda-setting in policy processes, but is also useful to understand dynamics in the full policy process. The MSA originally evolved from the Garbage Can model of organizational choice, which considers policy outcomes to occur through coincidental interaction between opportunities, problems, solutions and participants (Olsen 1972). The MSA assumes that policy outputs are produced through interaction between three streams: problem, policy and politics. Policies change when policy entrepreneurs recognize and seize opportunity to exploit so-called "policy windows" (Sabatier 2007). We claim that such interactions were vital in the transition to shore power in Oslo.

2.2.1. The problem stream

The problem stream consists of problems looking for solutions (Winkel and Leipold 2016). Problems are unwanted situations that someone believe they can correct (Kingdon 1984). Even more important are *perceptions* of problems (Béland and Howlett 2016), as policies occur when "political entities want solutions to issues they perceive as problematic" (Jones et al., 2016:15). This implies that understandings of situations are more important that their actual state. In Norway, for instance, increasing attention to the cruise industry has spurred problem perceptions concerning local emissions from ships.

Problem perceptions typically arise from sudden events and shocks that jolt policy makers, or from permanent monitoring and feedback procedures (Béland and Howlett 2016; Jones et al., 2016). In this study for instance, we will see how monitoring GHG emissions singled out cruiseferries as particularly problematic. However, limited processing capacity implies that only a few problems receive political attention (Zahariadis 2007), and problems continuously compete with other problems over the short life-span of this attention (Cairney and Jones 2016). Problems could also lose attention because policymakers are content with what they have already achieved (or tried to achieve) or because vested actors fail to remain persistent (Normann 2015).

2.2.2. The policy stream

Kingdon (1984) considered policies to be a "primeval soup" in which ideas of how to solve problems floated around, waiting for someone to adopt them. As such, policies represented iteratively evolving strategies (Cairney and Jones 2016) that could be mobilized to solve particular problems (Winkel and Leipold 2016). In the policy stream, different solutions to the problem are identified and evaluated before one is selected (Béland and Howlett 2016). MSA assumes that certain policy characteristics make them more likely to be selected (Kingdon 1984), especially if they are technologically feasible (Jones et al., 2016), comply with the value-system of the community and supported by policy entrepreneurs (Jones et al., 2016; Normann 2015), are competitive in terms of costs, and have public and administrative acceptance (Liu et al., 2010; Normann 2015). The policies of MSA typically find their counterparts in the niches described by transition studies (Normann 2015).

In this study, shore power circulated the policy stream and was picked up as a solution to solve several problems to the City, the Port and to Shipowners. We will describe expectations associated with shore
K.Y. Bjerkan and H. Seter

power and its correspondence with technological feasibility, value acceptability and competitiveness.

2.2.3. The political stream

The political stream contains any political element that might impact policymakers' orientation towards a problem and potential solutions to the problem. In this stream, policymakers that are motivated and have the opportunity to do so, can choose to turn a solution into a policy (Cairney and Jones 2016:40), and developments in the stream occur through bargaining between different positions (Normann 2015).

The political stream is comprised of several potential influences, including the national mood, elections, replacement of executive or legislative officials, issue jurisdiction, stress and crisis, pressures from interest groups, party ideology, consensus and coalitions building (Béland and Howlett 2016; Jones et al., 2016; Kingdon 1984, 1995). In this study for instance, we will see how the constellation of political parties influenced the implementation of shore power in Oslo.

2.2.4. Stream interaction

Originally, Kingdon described the three streams as independent. He contended that transformative change occurs when the streams intersect, through so-called windows of opportunity (see Fig. 1), i.e. "opportunities for advocates of proposals to push their (...) solutions or push attention to their (...) problems " (Kingdon 1995:165). Windows of opportunity appear when streams change to the extent that they align (Normann 2015).

In the earliest application of MSA, this alignment implied a great deal of coincidental timing. It was therefore criticized for underacknowledging agency and deliberate attempts to connect the streams (Bendor et al., 2001; Mucciaroni 1992). Critics claimed that streams were *inter*dependent rather than independent, implying that change in one stream triggers change in another. Zahariadis (2007) argues, however, that whether streams are independent or interdependent is an empirical issue, especially because the rationales in the policy process can shift.

The MSA tries to mend the agency deficit through introducing policy *entrepreneurs* into the mix of streams, who represent an interesting parallel to niche actors in transition studies. Policy entrepreneurs "skilfully engage in coupling [streams] to launch their "pet" proposals onto the policy agenda" (Winkel and Leipold 2016). They are not only advocates of specific solutions, but also power brokers and manipulators who initiate actions when windows of opportunity emerge (Zahariadis 2007).

3. Methods

In demonstrating the role of policy and politics in the transition to shore power in Oslo, we have studied a *contemporary* transition. Given the lack of research on contemporary transitions there is need for exploratory work, for which case studies are particularly suited (e.g. Berg 2001; Bidart et al., 2012; Rowley 2002). Case studies are analyses of subjects (e.g. transition to shore power) within an analytical frame (e. g. MSA) that provide meaning and allow interpretation (Thomas 2011).

Our study primarily focuses on the four actors who were most prominent in this transition. Since the early 2000s the **City of Oslo** has struggled to tackle poor air quality (NPRA 2010). Environmental and climate issues are high on the City's agenda and it has introduced a range of environmental policy measures, including infrastructure for cycling and public transport, car free zones, incentives for use of electric vehicles, and biofuels. Since 2016, the City has aimed for a 95% reduction of GHG emissions by 2030 (City of Oslo 2016), necessitating emission reductions also in the port area.

The **Port of Oslo** is a public enterprise owned by the City of Oslo, located in the city center of Oslo. It is the busiest port in Norway, and expects a 50% volume increase by 2030 (Port of Oslo 2018). The Port is managed by a politically appointed board and the Port Director, who

oversees the doings of the (by Norwegian standards) large and specialized port organization. The Port is expected to take a leading role in reducing emissions. Accordingly, it plans to become a zero-emission port, and has launched an action plan which highlights 17 actions estimated to reduce CO₂ emissions with 85 per cent (Port of Oslo 2018).

The **local energy company**, Hafslund, is owned by the City of Oslo. It has 80 powerplants with 100% renewable power from hydropower (Hafslundeco.no, 2020), and its activities are continuously diversifying and strengthening its position in electrification and energy systems. The company is preparing to actively facilitate and shape energy transitions, through for instance establishing subsidiary companies particularly dedicated to innovation and business development in electrification.

Three Scandinavian **cruiseferry**¹ lines operate between Oslo and cities in Denmark and Germany, carrying more than 2 million passengers a year (Port of Oslo 2020). Cruiseferries are the largest source of CO₂ emissions in the Port of Oslo, and half of these are emitted at berth. The ferries are located at two different quays. Shore power was established at the first quay in 2011, and at the second quay in 2019.

3.1. Sequential timed events plotting

Inspired by process theory (e.g. Bidart et al., 2012), transitions could be understood as "temporal sequences of events, timing and conjunctures of event-chains", where processes are "sequences of events (...) enacted by (...) actors" (Geels and Schot 2007). This study does not provide a full-blown processual analysis of the transition to shore power in Oslo, but borrows from process theory to structure the actors' narratives about policy and politics.

To capture these narratives, we used sequential timed events plotting (STEP), which was originally designed to identify events and errors leading to accidents (Hendrick and Benner 1987). The main goal of STEP analysis is to understand how different actors perceive and influence processes (Stanton et al., 2019). In practical terms, STEP involves developing time lines for all actors involved in a particular process (e.g. transition), focusing on the actions and interactions within and between actors (Rausand and Ute 2009). This provides a multi-linear description of the process (Sklet 2004). Fig. 2 presents our timeline for actors involved in the transition to shore power in Oslo.

3.2. Document analysis

Document analysis has been central in identifying the steps (events) in the transition process. We reviewed planning and policy documents related to policies and objectives in the Port of Oslo and the City of Oslo. Particularly prominent were the Port Climate Strategy (2017) and Zero Emission Action Plan (2018), and the City Climate Strategies (2016, 2019) and Plan for emission free Oslo Fjord. We also relied on media coverage and opinion pieces in local and national media (Aftenposten 2017; Aftenposten 2018a; Aftenposten 2018b; Elgvin 2017; NRK 2018; Vårt Oslo 2017). Documents were mainly accessed through web searches, and some were suggested by interviewes. The document analysis provided important background information for the interviews and helped to identify preliminary events and timelines for each actor.

3.3. Qualitative interviews

Based on the document analysis, preliminary timelines were developed for each actor. Interviews were conducted to test, remove, or modify preliminary events, and to identify additional events. The interviews provided the actors' subjective perceptions of transition events. Considering the lack of pre-existing knowledge on transitions in ports and empirical experiences with shore power (Bjerkan and Seter, 2019)

 $^{^{1}}$ Cruiseferries combine features of a cruise ship with a passenger and car ferry, which is common in the seas of Northern Europe.

K.Y. Bjerkan and H. Seter

Energy Policy 153 (2021) 112259



Fig. 1. Multiple-Streams approach. Sources: Jones et al., (2016), Zahariadis (2007).



Fig. 2. Timed events in the story of shore power in Oslo.

semi-structured interviews were considered appropriate.

For each actor we defined an interview guide based on the actor's preliminary timeline, with questions related to each event (i.e. what was the motivation behind ...? When did you first start to discuss ...?). The interviews provided detailed, chronological accounts of events in the preliminary timeline. When one event was thoroughly accounted for, the interviewes asked the interviewee to describe what happened next. In some cases, the interviewee did not have knowledge about all events, which made it necessary to interview several representatives of the same actor.

Given the comprehensiveness and uniqueness of the interviews, all questions and topics from the interview guide cannot be displayed here. However, Table 1 gives a stylistic image of an interview guide based on a hypothetical, preliminary timeline.

In total, we conducted 12 interviews about shore power in the Port of Oslo. Seven of these were conducted with actors involved in implementing shore power for the cruiseferries; the Port of Oslo (n = 3), the City of Oslo (n = 1), shipowners (n = 3) and the local energy company (n = 2). Four interviews were conducted with users in the port who considered or had actually implemented shore power for the own operations. These interviews mainly served to shed light on the problem stream and the policy stream, and were not directly relevant to the transition process itself. Finally, we conducted an interview with the politically independent environmental organization Zero, which mainly served to inform about the political stream. Interviewees were identified through the researchers' network or suggested by other interviewees (i. e. snowballing, Goodman 1961). The interviewees were all closely involved in the process of implementing shore power in Oslo, and all provided in-depth information on what perspectives were guiding their decisions. The interviews were conducted on telephone and lasted approximately 1 h.

Interviews were transcribed, and coded and analyzed using the NVivo software. Preliminary events were used as codes, and iteratively modified and added/removed as interviews shed light on new and existing events. As such, the final set of codes corresponded to the set of

events described in the next section.

3.4. Selection of case and events

The Port of Oslo is an interesting case for understanding energy transitions in ports. For one, it is a frontrunner port in applying dedicated and ambitious strategies for energy transition. Second, it is distinguished from international frontrunner ports because of its smaller size and its geopolitical location. Thirdly, the use of shore power in Oslo has generated substantial discussion, media coverage and interest. The transition process was therefore well documented. Finally, given that the last shore power connection was opened 2019, the interviewees had events fresh in their memory and provided first-hand accounts of the process.

To tell the story of policy and politics in the transition to shore power in Oslo we selected events that *expressed or influenced the actors' motivations and decision-making*. Selected events are listed in Table 2. Events that have impacted technical specifications and the practical realization of shore power (e.g. dialogue conference with suppliers, technology providers and other stakeholders) were generally not included. Such events were only included if they directly impacted transition progress, such as laying power cables to the second quay (Event 4).

4. The problems, policies, and politics of shore power in Oslo

This section accounts for the transition to shore power in Oslo. First, we present problems that made shore power a relevant solution. Then we describe how shore power evolved as a policy and how it allowed actors to solve their problems. Finally, we introduce political influences that we consider instrumental in the transition to shore power.

4.1. The problem stream: multiple problems for multiple actors

In Oslo, arguments for shore power related to both local environmental issues and global climate issues, and these discussions started

Table 1 Stulistic evenu	ala interrieur mida hosed an hunathetia	mit wenimilera les	alina					
Impar cyani	hie mierview guine based on nypoureue	an, premiunary un	nemic.					
Timeline			2008		2012		2018	
Event no.	Event 0		Event 1		Event 2		Event 4	
Event	First discussion of shore power	What happened	Launched policy document	What happened	Received public funding	What happened	Entered into collaboration	What happened
description		after?		after?		after?	agreement	after?
Questions	When did you first start to discuss shore		Why did you launch?		When did you start to discuss		Who suggested you enter into	
	power in your organization?				applying for funding?		formal collaboration?	
			Who was involved in		Who initiated the application?		What was your motivation?	
			developing this policy?					
			What reaction did you		How did this relate to the		What plans do you have for this	
			receive?		policy document?		collaboration?	

Energy Policy 153 (2021) 112259

Table 2

Short	description	of events in	the	transition	to	shore	power	in	Os	lo
-------	-------------	--------------	-----	------------	----	-------	-------	----	----	----

nort de.	scription of events in the transition to shore power in osio.	
Event	Description	Year
#1	The Fjord City program. Introduced shore power as principle in sustainable transport	2008
#2	First shore power installation. Initiated by Shipowner1. Shipowner1 funded 70% of all costs. The rest was funded by the	2011
#3	Port of Oslo (approx. 8%) and public agencies (approx. 22%). Action plan for shore power in the Port of Oslo. Introduced the port's goal that "all passenger ships with regular calls shall have the secretarizet to use the secretary approx.	2012
#4	Power cables to second quay. The Port of Oslo places power cables to used by Sbipowners 2 and 3	2012
#5	Mapping of emissions in the port. Highlighted the need for cutting emissions from the cruise ferries	2014
#6	Local election. A new green-left city council replaced eighteen years of conservative city government.	2015
#7	Climate Strategy for City of Oslo. Aimed for shore power and other measures to reduce port emissions with at least 50% within 2030	2016
#8	Plan for Emission Free Fjord. Called for the City Council to initiate use of shore power for cruiseferries from 2020 at the latest.	2016
#9	Financial support from Enova. Grants covered 75% of costs with establishing shore power at the second quay.	2016
#10	The Port of Oslo's Climate Strategy. Identified shore power as solution to reduce port objective in the City's Climate Strategy of 2016.	2017
#11	The City of Oslo repurchases energy company. The City of Oslo regained over 90% ownership and removed the company from the stock market	2017
#12	Shipowner2 committed to use shore power.	2018
#13	Penalty fee for cruiseferries without shore power. Introduced by the Port Board.	2018
#14	Shipowner3 committed to use shore power.	2018
#15	Subsidiary to energy company established. Dedicated to innovation and business development of future solutions for electrification.	2018
#16	Action plan for zero emission port. Included shore power as one of seventeen measures to reduce CO2 emission in the port by 85%	2018
#17	Shore power for international cruiseferries is launched.	2019

about ten years before shore power for cruiseferries was implemented. Locally, there was a desire to "improve the city" (City of Oslo 2008; City of Oslo 2016), by addressing the disconnect between the urban population and the seaside. In promoting the motto "The Blue and the Green, the City in between" (City of Oslo 2008), the Fjord City Program aimed to redevelop the urban shore side to connect urban life with the fjord. This mirrors worldwide trends, where cities redevelop port areas to accommodate growing city populations (e.g. Jauhiainen 1995; Oakley 2005; Wang 2014). Shore power was suggested together with other so-called "principles" for promoting a sustainable city by the fjord in 2008, but these principles were less specific, such as increasing accessibility to the fjord or better utilization of the area. To connect the city and the seaside, redeveloping port areas was important to reduce local emissions and noise, which also threatened the port's position and legitimacy in the urban environment (Port of Oslo 2012), and jeopardized the desire to improve the city. This also corresponded with the problem agendas of port users, whose economy and reputation relied on solving noise issues.

"The most important thing we can do, economically, is to operate 24/t, and then we need to be as noise free as possible (...) this is why we choose shore power (..) because neighbors call to complain".

Port User A

Although the Port also addressed local emissions (e.g. nitrogen, sulfur), the "climate problem" (Port of Oslo 2017) and CO2 emissions were increasingly emphasized. As discussed below, the 2015 elections raised global emissions on the agenda and produced the City's ambitious CO2 objectives. The City's 2016 ten-point plan for an emission free fjord (Event 8) further pinpointed passenger vessels, particularly emissions from vessels at berth, and as such pointed at the port as problem owner when it came to vessel emissions.

"It is important that the ports have electricity and shore power to ships when they are at port".

Port User B

In 2014 the Port did a mapping of emissions sources that lay the foundation for their actions. This allowed the port to identify its primary emission problem and became a decisive event for the port's priorities with respect to climate and environmental actions:

"We became very interested in fact-based actions"

The Port of Oslo

After monitoring and documenting its emission sources, the Port found cruiseferries to represent 38% of CO₂ emitted from vessel operations in the port (Port of Oslo 2018).

"First, the hotels in these ferries are energy intensive, and second, the ferries come and go every day"

Port of Oslo

This made cruiseferries the first priority for reducing emissions in the port. To shipowners, this represented potential image problems. Shipowner1 therefore collaborated with an environmental organization to explore how to improve their sustainability profile. As a big actor, they felt expected to take social responsibility.

"[We] are expected to take social responsibility and follow developments (..) Travelling with us should not compromise the customer's personal perceptions. [Still] we expect to get economic return and recognition"

Shipowner1

These motivations were also tied to commercial assessments that suggested a proactive, green reorientation was necessary to maintain (or improve) own market position and to prepare for the green future; Shipowner1 launched its sustainability initiatives expecting to be rewarded and recognized as an early mover.

Hence, shore power responded to problems associated with global emissions, as well as local emissions which reduced urban life quality, and the public's access to the shoreside. Local port emissions were further considered a threat to the legitimacy of port activities in urban areas, which are common problems in port cities (Fusco Girard 2013). According to MSA, however, policies become successful not only because they respond to problems, but also because these problems are raised on the political agenda. In the case of Oslo, these problems represented an opportunity to raise political flags. As elaborated below, the increased thrust of environmental policy produced more attention to emission problems and sustainable urbanism, encouraging local politics to capitalize on green sentiments by expressing drive and deliverability.

4.2. The policy stream: shore power for port and city sustainability

Local port emissions represented a challenge in connecting the city with the seaside. Historically, port areas have not been attractive housing or recreational areas because of noise and pollution. With the introduction of shore power local air pollution and noise would be significantly reduced (Poulsen et al., 2018; Vaishnav et al., 2016), and it may therefore be an efficient tool to improve the relationship between ports and their neighboring communities.

The City also considered shore power a response to reducing global

emissions. The 2016 Climate Strategy (City of Oslo 2016) aimed to reduce the City's CO_2 emissions with 95% by 2030,² and shore power was introduced as one of 16 priority areas. However, it did not suggest detailed approaches for how to promote shore power. Rather, specific actions to initiate shore power rested on a ten-point plan for reducing emissions in the Oslo Fjord approved by the City Council in September 2016. The plan originated from a private proposal by representatives of the conservative opposition and was unanimously approved. The plan therefore represented cross-partisan consensus regarding emission reduction. Among other, the plan stated that the city council should initiate shore power for cruiseferries from 2020 and promote national regulation which allowed ports to require calling vessels to use shore power.

"The work in 2016 pointed out a clear direction and ambitions for the Port of Oslo"

City of Oslo

As port owner, the City's increasingly explicit port policies also compelled the Port to raise its own ambition in terms of emission reduction. As stated by the Port's 2012 Action plan for shore power the Port aimed for "all passenger ships with regular calls [to] have the opportunity to use shore power" (Port of Oslo 2012). In the wake of Shipowner1's shore power installation (2011), the Port prepared for a second shore power connection. The port applied for public funding to establish shore power for Shipowner2 and Shipowner3 in 2016, although neither were at this time planning to use shore power. The funding covered 75% of the costs and was decisive for the Port's decision to establish shore power at the second quay. The ambitious national policy for electrification of transport, expressed through this funding scheme, thus directly enabled similar policies at the local level. Following policy developments in the City, the Port launched their own climate strategy aiming to reduce climate emissions with 50% by 2030, in which shore power was essential to succeed.

"After the climate strategy of the City of Oslo was launched, we decided at the Port of Oslo, that we needed our own climate strategy."

The Port of Oslo

In 2018, the Port launched its Action Plan for Zero Emission Port, aiming to reduce CO_2 emissions in the port by 85% within 2030. The Port's action plan represented efforts to merge port and city policies on energy and sustainability. The interviews suggested that the work with the Action Plan for Zero Emission Port (2018) marked the beginning of a closer policy collaboration between the Port and the City. Previously, these two had not cooperated to a large extent on joint policies.

"[We worked] shoulder by shoulder with the bureaucrats, who have lifted issues to a political level (..) Everyone who has been involved have learned more about the port than they had anticipated, which is a benefit in itself".

Port of Oslo

This collaboration revolved around defining an appropriate policy mix, which allowed the City to reach its ambitious emission reduction goals while avoiding disrupting the Port's operations and customer relations. It was important to the City that the action plan resonated in the Port and that the Port assessed the realism in proposed policy mixes. This collaboration further allowed knowledge transfer from the Port to the City, and the Port stressed a sufficient understanding of port and maritime business in the City.

To shipowners, shore power represented a solution to maintain

² Using 1990 as year of reference.

reputation in times when sustainability in general and vessel emissions in particular were prominent in public debate. One shipowner highlighted shore power as a solution to problems associated with their environmental profile:

"We did something that people can see and understand, because we are so visible and close to the city"

Shipowner1)

To Shipowner 1, initiating and financing shore power in 2011 (Event 2) addressed problems related to green profiling. These problems were particularly pressing because the shipowner's port operations were close to the urban environment and therefore visible to the population. As such, shore power was a way of ensuring co-existence with the urban population also among shipowners.

As such, in reducing local and global emissions and thereby facilitating co-existence between the port and the urban population, shore power responded to the problems facing the City, the Port and the Shipowners alike. The MSA further stresses that successful policies hold comparative advantage over other potential solutions. One could also imagine other policies to solve these problems, such as reducing traffic to the port, refusing particularly polluting vessels, moving or modifying port operations, or requiring vessels to operate on non-polluting fuels. However, there did not seem to be any explicit discussion around these alternatives after the mapping of the emissions was launched in 2014, and shore power appeared in policy documents as early as 2008. As such, it seems that shore power was established as the chosen solution quite early, and that there was **no real competitor** to shore power in tackling these challenges.

Shore power corresponds well with the advantageous policy characteristics emphasized by Kingdon (1984); technological feasibility, value compliance, and competitiveness. For one, shore power was technologically feasible and power supply in the region was abundant. Following the entrepreneurial work of Shipowner1, an industrial standard for shore power connections was launched, suggesting that the port's work to establish shore power at the second quay faced few technological challenges. The Port also sought to enhance technological feasibility through inviting technology suppliers and users (i.e. shipowners) to a dialogue conference on shore power in which participants provided input to design an optimal solution. Further, shore power complied with the green political climate characterizing the city, but also reflected national calls for protecting Norwegian fjords from ship emissions. In contrast to other potential policies, shore power was also pushed forward by policy entrepreneurs. Shipowner1 relied on own initiative and funding to establish shore power in several Norwegian ports, and through dialogue and collaboration it raised ports' awareness and knowledge about shore power. Shipowner1 even claimed their solutions to have inspired the industrial shore power standard, suggesting that their entrepreneurialism reached beyond Norwegian shores. As elaborated below, Zero further appeared to play an instrumental role in setting shore power on the political agenda and actively worked to produce cross-partisan consensus around the proposal that eventually produced a political resolution for the introduction of shore power to cruiseferries.

Finally, shore power was a superior policy because costs were low and acceptance high. The generous public support **scheme** for electrification of transport has enabled approximately 90 Norwegian ports to install shore power. In Oslo, this support scheme covered 22% of Shipowner1's costs with establishing the first facility, and 75% of the Port's costs with establishing the second facility. Further, there is large **political consensus** and **public acceptance** concerning shore power, which has continued the long line of strong incentives for electrification of transport. Public acceptance could also be particularly high because shore power impacts the population directly; in reducing visible air pollution it improved public health and public access to the shore.

4.3. The political stream: green-left push in public policy

Several political influences can be identified in the transition to shore power in Oslo, and in the following we highlight political influences that we consider to have been crucial for its success.

4.3.1. Political and administrative restructuring

The 2015 local elections accelerated attention to port sustainability. These elections changed the political landscape in Oslo, as the landslide of the Green Party allowed a green-left city council to replace eighteen years of conservative city government. This spurred substantial emphasis on climate and environmental policy, and subsequent political influences which collectively supported the transition to shore power. For one, the change in government implied new political priorities, new agenda setting and new values underpinning policies and instruments. In July 2017, the Climate Agency was established as a permanent agency to oversee the implementation of the City's climate strategies (City of Oslo 2016; City of Oslo 2019). This reflected the new city government's emphasis on climate and environment, and their effort to realize ambitious policy. The Agency was for instance heavily involved in developing the City's Climate Strategy and the Port's Zero Emission Action Plan, and became instrumental in aligning the policy perspectives of the Port and the City.

4.3.2. Political steering

Another political influence following the local election was more active **port ownership**. Before the 2015 elections, local politics were largely unconcerned with port activities. Norwegian ports have historically enjoyed great autonomy from public owners, which in Oslo has been reflected in the lack of coordination between the Port and the City in matters of port sustainability. However, the years following the local elections saw an increasing politization of port issues, which evolved through direct collaboration between the Port and the City, and through more political engagement by the port board.

The City's 2016 Climate Strategy represented an opportunity for the new rule to demonstrate this political shift. It allowed the new local government to make their mark on the political landscape and to point out direction and ambition for the city's emission reductions. Active ownership from the City, with more explicit port policy, thus became apparent.

"[The City's 2016 Climate Strategy was] first and foremost a political document, which pointed out a clear direction and the level of ambition for the Port of Oslo"

City of Oslo

Following the City's ambitious emission reduction goals, the Port decided to define specific reduction measures as well. The Port considered it vital to adjust to the political goals of their owner, and in raising their own reduction targets they hoped to avoid a politically controlled process. Hence, the Port's efforts were motivated by their concern that the City might interfere with port business and that the Green-Left City government would exercise its formal power over port activities and strategies, which resides in the City's ownership of the port and the politically appointed Port Board. The discussions with the bureaucrats in the Climate Agency were not without controversies, but the collaboration gave a mutual understanding of what level the goals of the Port of Oslo needed to be to be politically accepted.

"Initially, we believed [the objectives] were too ambitious, but it was clear that it would not be politically acceptable [to reduce ambitions], [and then] they [would] begin with nonsensical measures. So, we need to be ambitious and go the extra mile and define demanding measures" Although the election represented a political shift, it did not introduce a large number of opposing ideas between the City government and the Port. The Port of Oslo seems to have decided on going into dialogue with the Climate Agency and then adjust their own policies in line with the expectations raised by the City government.

"It is more interesting to collaborate, getting the different stakeholders to meet, and solve problems together"

The Port of Oslo

Controversy around shore power was more prominent in the reactions of the shipowners. The shipowners found expectations of using shore power challenging since it implied long-term, expensive investments. Given the age of cruiseferries calling on the Port of Oslo, the shipowners would have to retrofit "old" vessels. One shipowner had already installed catalysts which reduced local emissions, and sunk costs were therefore substantial. Thus, they expected costs with retrofitting vessels to outweigh potential gain. Nonetheless, all shipowners eventually started to use shore power, but displayed different, political rationales for doing so. As seen above, Shipowner1 took a proactive stance towards green consumerism and became an early mover to remain on the good side of their market. Although initially hesitant, Shipowner2 redecided because their company owner shared the sustainability ambitions of the Port and the City, and resolutely decided that the company itself would bear the costs of retrofitting. The company had used shore power since the early nineties and was continuously working to accelerate shore power use and implement additional measures from its sustainability strategy.

"In the end the [company] owner decided that we should take the money from our own pockets to get [shore power] done (..) The motivation was simply that we wanted to go for sustainability (..) [In other ports] we are the ones investing and pushing for shore power (..) Shore power is one of the pillars [of the company]"

Shipowner2

Finally, Shipowner3 only agreed to use shore power because of **political pressure**. A penalty fee for cruiseferries without shore power was introduced by the Port Board in 2018. The Port Board argued that the cruiseferries had been given enough time to adjust, and the penalty fee was introduced. In addition, a discussion piece was published in a national newspaper where a Port Board member representing the Green Party referred to the lacking shore power connection for all cruiseferries as "demoralizing" for the green shift in Oslo.³ With the political engagement of the Port Bord, it became difficult for Shipowner3 to withstand the pressure.

"We were given an ultimatum, as we see it (..) I won't say we had a business case that showed us it was sensible (..) There was political pressure to do it [use shore power]".

Shipowner3

4.3.3. Public energy ownership

The transition to shore power was also supported by renewed local **energy politics**. In the 1990s, the conservative city council privatized the City's energy company. In 2017, however, the City of Oslo repurchased stocks, regained over 90% ownership and removed the company from the stock market. This was part of a strategy to strengthen public ownership of power and electricity in the city (Aftenposten, 2017). A year after the repurchase, the local energy company, now owned by the City, established a subsidiary company dedicated to

innovation and business development related to future solutions for electrification.

"It is amazing [when] [the local energy company] wishes to contribute to Oslo becoming the Climate City that is politically envisioned (..) [As owners we] do not want to dictate how to run the company, but [the City] wishes to show direction and main trajectories for the company, without distorting commercial aspects"

City of Oslo

The repurchase and restructuring of the local energy company were ideologically based decisions to proactively induce energy transitions in which public ownership was an objective per se. These actions were intended to substantiate electrification policies, which in turn supported environmental policies. The energy company could as such be considered a tool for the City to accelerate electrification.

"We have a good dialogue with [the energy company] about electrification in Oslo (..) [also] to ensure that capacity, infrastructure and other issues are aligned to provide a satisfactory transition pace"

City of Oslo

However, although the energy company can be seen as an important tool to accelerate electrification, transitioning towards zero emission takes time, and a holistic approach is needed.

"We need a holistic approach, where the number of shore power systems are seen in relation to for instance solar panels, the use of hydrogen, and the need for batteries for peak-shaving"

Energy Company

Public ownership as a tool for promoting electrification thereby allowed the energy company to engage in new business areas and promote the electrification of transport and port activities, thereby supporting the ambitious objectives of the City. A continuous dialogue between the City and the energy company has been vital for the City of Oslo.

4.3.4. Environmental thrust

A final and very prominent political influence in the transition to shore power was the instrumental role of environmental organizations (Bellona and Zero), who promoted ambitious port policies and shore power. Bellona had a long-time collaboration with Shipowner1 and argued strongly for the shipowner to install shore power in 2011. Zero engaged to accelerate discussions around shore power.

"It was hard, slow, and [there was] little interest [in shore power] the among ports and users (..) So to make it happen we needed political resolutions".

Zero.

Bellona and Zero therefore exerted substantial influence over the Action Plan for Zero Emission Port. They actively pushed the City for stricter emission objectives, requested an action plan for the port and exercised pressure to realize it.

"There is no doubt that Zero was a driving force that influenced politically to have [the action plan] realized. They exercised significant pressure on all politicians in the city council"

Port of Oslo

Zero also engaged directly with shipowners and the port to "push shore power" and to facilitate its actual implementation.

"We had a close collaboration with shipowner 2 to push them in the direction of implementing shore power."

³ See https://www.aftenposten.no/meninger/debatt/i/xqV9j/fossile-dans kebaater-geir-rognlien-elgvin only available in Norwegian.

K.Y. Bjerkan and H. Seter

Following the political opposition's proposal to introduce shore power in April 2016, the initial response from the new government was to wait with installing shore power until shipowners were ready to introduce new cruiseferries in 2020–2021. They argued that installing shore power to be used by old cruiseferries was not economically viable. However, in September 2016, the ten-point plan for an emission free fjord, initially suggested by representatives of the opposition, was unanimously adopted by the city council. During the course of these five months, Zero had actively engaged with both the green-left rule and the conservative opposition to ensure cross-partisan consensus and to more explicitly include the port in the ambitious environmental policy of the new city government.

"We had a dialogue with the opposition about how to improve port policy and helped them devise a proposal that they submitted. Although the green-left wanted to present the "best" environmental policies themselves, after some push from us, they realized that this [proposal] was an improvement of policies that they actually agreed on. So they could not vote it down, as it improved policy"

Zero

Hence, Zero worked with the green-left city government to demonstrate how the proposal from the opposition represented a way of improving environmental policies, leading to the spectrum of political parties standing by the goal of strengthening the environmental profile of the port. Zero therefore seems to have played a decisive role in *accelerating* the introduction of shore power. Although no political wing opposed shore power per se, they clearly disagreed on under what circumstances it should be implemented. Hence, the political discussion did not center on what policy to adopt, but when to implement it. This suggests that shore power was not really politically controversial.

"[We] did not experience that [controversy in discussions on shore power]. The controverse was more how detailed the resolutions politicians make should be, how much micro-management"

Zero

The involvement and successful entrepreneurialism of Zero demonstrates the position of the environmental organizations, compelling both the City and the Port to take their requests into consideration. The Port therefore initiated dialogue with Zero so that Zero could learn more about the realities that the port and its users were operating under.

"We invited to dialogue so that they can participate, discuss, meet our customers (...) to avoid suggestions that are not knowledge-based. (...) We have entered into a collaboration agreement with [the environmental organizations] (...) to have good, competent discussions with them and their networks"

Port of Oslo

As such, it was important for the Port to install realism in the issues being lobbied by environmental organizations. The Port realized that these had valuable competence and networks, and recognized the need to develop a common understanding of realistic opportunities. Therefore, the Port entered into collaboration agreements with both Bellona and Zero in 2019 to ensure that the political pressure exercized by these organizations aligned with the leeway and ambitions of the port.

This study therefore hints at politicization of shore power. There had been a long-standing political wish to implement shore power dating back to at least 2008, which was explicitly incorporated into plans and policy documents for nearly a decade before it was eventually implemented with a broad cross-partisan consensus. As such, politics have been less instrumental in deciding *if* to realize shore power, but rather influenced the pace of transition. This pace could have been rushed by the local and national moods' increasing awareness and problem perceptions associated with local emissions from ships. Further, the new city government demonstrated push in climate and environmental policies: by involving progressive environmental organizations, establishing the Climate Agency, actively using their port ownership and repurchasing the local energy company. As such, the political influences considered crucial by MSA, including national mood, elections, administrative appointments, and interest groups, were all instrumental in pacing up the transition to shore power in Oslo. These all represent important support structures for the legitimacy and implementation of policy. However, what appears most decisive political influence is this case, was the work to establish cross-partisan consensus in 2016, which not only accelerated shore power, but also raised the port on the political sustainability agenda and triggered other sustainability efforts in the port.

5. Discussion

The previous chapter has told the story of how shore power for cruiseferries was implemented in the Port of Oslo. We consider the success factor of this story to be its environmental thrust and lack of controversy. More precisely, we would like to argue that this study demonstrated how *lack of controversy is necessary but not sufficient for a policy to be implemented*. The lack of controversy rested on all three streams presented in the MSA. For one, the lack of controversy resulted from the ability of shore power to address the problem agendas of numerous actors: it allowed the City to redevelop urban areas; it allowed the Port and the City to set ambitious emission reduction targets; it allowed shipowners to demonstrate social responsibility.

Second, the lack of controversy rested heavily on the policy characteristics of shore power: it was technologically feasible, ushered by policy entrepreneurs in Shipowner1 and Zero, and a green national mood, heavily supported by public funds and public acceptance. Furthermore, shore power was alone able to address the largest emission source identified in the emission mapping conducted by the port, which made it a clear first choice for the transition work in the port.

Third, shore power had been a long time coming through broad cross-partisan consensus; emerging as a proposal from the conservative right but implemented by the environmentalist left. As such, politics were not evident in this case through the formation of alliances, the mobilization of arguments or clashes of interest. Rather, politics became evident in the implementation of shore power, reflecting how policies might also hold political purposes (May and Jochim, 2013). A particular example of this is the role of Zero. Zero clearly acted as a policy entrepreneur in applying their vast shore power knowledge to place shore power more forcefully on the political agenda. More prominently, the work of Zero in brokering between political wings did not really concern what policy to choose - because nobody bluntly opposed shore power but rather getting a political resolution that pushed its implementation. Although the timeline of shore power shows it had been brewing for quite some time, it appeared to be at a halt until hit by the environmental thrust, as particularly represented by Zero working with both political wings to achieve a political, binding resolution that ensured and accelerated implementation. This resolution was in turn sustained by a number of political support structures following the 2015 elections, such as the Climate Agency and active ownership strategies.

We therefore suggest that the role of politics does not end with the selection of a policy, but that it extends also into the implementation of policy. As such, we like to stress how politics can "affect the extent to which [policy is] broadly and faithfully implemented, or, routinely and strategically ignored, deflected, altered or overturned" (Malen 2006:83). Especially in the case of environmental and climate policy, where the stakes are high and a variety of opposing stakeholders and interests are involved, the policy implementation might require even more political work than policy adoption. In this study, the prominence of politics in implementation contributes to show how the lack of political controversy around the solution (i.e. shore power) in policy

adoption itself was not sufficient. Rather, a series of political decisions proceeded its successful implementation. Although the political work to ensure consensus around the 2016 resolution was perhaps the most decisive political influence, implementation also followed influences that expressed the wish of the new political rule to plot a new course for the city, like establishing a climate agency, wielding more active port and energy ownership, and formally collaborating with environmental organizations. These influences could also represent an increasing politization of energy issues and port business, as these topics became an opportunity for the new city rule to raise their political flags and place a green-left mark on something that originated in the opposition and was unanimously adopted.

5.1. Stream interdependence

This empirical case provides ammunition to the early critics of MSA, because the transition to shore power in Oslo *did* involve significant interdependence and interaction between streams, and suggested that the streams evolved in symbiosis rather than coincidentally intersecting at a given point. This interdependence could have consolidated the importance of policy and politics in this transition, as the streams aligned, supported, and strengthened each other. Fig. 3 displays an attempt to illustrate how this works in this case.

This study demonstrates that problem perceptions could be modified both by the policy stream and the political stream, for instance by placing new problems on the agenda, increasing attention to existing ones or suggesting how acute problems are. In the case studied here, we could for instance see how politics shaped the problem stream when a political member in the new port board following the 2015 elections publicly criticized shipowners for not using shore power. Although shore power policies at that point in time were well established on the political agenda and among policy makers, this criticism gained substantial media coverage and thereby raised the issue in public opinion. As this corresponded with greater media attention to vessel emissions in Norwegian fjords, the publicity following a symbolic, political statement about shore power in Oslo might have strengthened the problem perception of the public, thereby increasing the reputational risks of shipowners reluctant to use shore power.

Problem perceptions could also result from the perceived prominence and forcefulness of policy. Whereas strong and prominent policies could signal that the problems they target are serious and acute, weaker policies that receive little attention could communicate that the problems they address are less pressing. One example of the former in our study was the generous support scheme for shore power, which is one of many components in the strong Norwegian policy portfolio for electrification of transport. The millions distributed to establish shore power connections communicate that at-berth vessel emissions are a problem worth addressing, and could particularly increase the problem perceptions and urgency of ports yet to establish shore power, as they observe one port after the other making these investments.

The strength of policy could also indicate how seriously a problem should be dealt with; the generous support scheme for shore power could for instance incline ports and cities to monitor emissions (problems), or policies aiming to connect the fjord and the city could produce more awareness and problematization around their disconnect.

Conversely, this study also illustrates how problem perceptions can impact both policy and politics. For one, problem perceptions can inform about what solutions are needed. In our study, this could for instance be reflected in complaints about port noise and emissions from neighboring communities, which in many Norwegian ports have been central in developing port areas and activities. As such, problem perceptions of port neighbors provide direct support to shore power as a policy for allowing the co-existence of the port and the city's population.

Second, problem perceptions can impact the politics stream, for instance by assessing whether existing political constellations are equipped to deal with these problems. In our study, this was best exemplified by the green landslide in the 2015 election. The new greenleft city council following the elections could be an expression of public perceptions of climate change being so severe that the public saw the need for political change in order to more effectively address them.



Fig. 3. Symbiosis between streams.

Finally, this study also demonstrates the perhaps obvious interdependence between policy and politics. Policy is shaped by politics, which can place more thrust behind policy, alter existing policies or shut them down entirely. In our study, this is well demonstrated by the range of political influences following the 2015 elections that installed revived pace and vigor in policies for port sustainability and shore power. Policy can therefore be a way to demonstrate political drive or to strengthen political image, for instance through the Port Board's penalty fee, which was not really expected to impact the problem (i.e. cruiseferry emissions) but rather gave a symbolic political statement.

Conversely, more or less successful policies can impact politics in producing calls for political change. If policies do not reflect the national mood or societal values, or if they are considered insufficient to counter problems, they could influence the political stream. In our study, we could argue that the inability of existing policy to sufficiently address climate and environmental problems led to a shift in political leadership (i.e. local election outcome), which in turn spurred the establishment of administrative units and positions (e.g. Climate agency, political port board) and produced more or less political steering (i.e. of energy resources and port business). As such, politics could be considered responses to developments in the policy stream, and vice versa.

6. Conclusion and policy implications

In this study we have applied the Multiple Streams Approach to demonstrate the role of policy and politics in the transition to shore power in Oslo. As seen above, the alignment of and mutual support between streams could explain why this transition was successful. For one, shore power addressed problems experienced by a number of actors, who thus benefitted from its implementation. Second, there was little competition from other policies that could abate the same problems, and shore power was pushed forward by increasingly ambitious and aligned policies related to electrification of transport, urban development, environment and climate, port policy and energy policy. Third, political shifts established support structures equipped to sustain and implement a politically uncontroversial policy. Table 3 displays a brief overview of the main keywords for each of the streams.

Hence, the most important policy implication of this study relates to policy alignment. The interwovenness of actors and policies in this transition, demonstrates the usefullness of holistic policy making in progressing transition. Shore power was supported by urban policies to connect the city and the fjord, by energy policies to ensure electrification, by climate policies that encompassed the port, and by ownership policies that ushered sustainable port policy. The policies grew increasingly detailed and ambitious over time, and an explicit representation of such policy convergences is the intentional agreement between the port and the energy company to establish a joint venture for installing, operating and maintaining shore power facilities. Realizing policy alignment is a demanding task in the complex political system that parties and other stakeholders operate within. However, when the

Table 3

Overview of problems, policies and politics in the transition to shore power in Oslo.

Problems	Policy	Politics
Disconnect seaside/urban population	No obvious competitor	Political consensus Environmental thrust
Global GHG emissions	Strong policy entrepreneur	Political support structure
Local emissions	Mature technology	Political support structure
Image problems for shipowners	Sufficient power supply	Environmental thrust Local elections
	National funding	Climate Agency
	Public acceptance	Active port ownership
		Political steering
		Energy politics

problem at hand generates broad political agreement, and several policy entrepreneurs recognize and seize opportunity, policy windows open.

Although other policies, targeting other problems and being supported by other political influences, might be more relevant to other ports and cities, aligning these to provide mutual support is equally important. Both politically and administratively, the City of Oslo played a critical role in developing holistic policy which supported the transition to shore power. Similar approaches to holistic policy making could promote transitions in other cities. Not the least, this is vital to ensure deep transition, in which ports could be prominent because of their position between intersecting sociotechnical systems (Bjerkan et al., 2020). Deep transitions could be considered "a process by which some rules emerge, come to be aligned to each other and diffuse to various systems" (Schot and Kanger 2018). Policy is one expression of rule sets (on the metalevel or nor) at the core of deep transitions, and holistic policy could for instance promote deep transition through allowing the rise of different surges (i.e. support one without disabling others), reducing competition between niches or levels, and facilitating coupling between sectors and policies. Cross-sectoral approaches target the nexus between multiple sectors of policy making (Boas et al., 2016) and could enable holistic transition work. Cross-sectoral coupling is particularly potent in transitions involving the port sector, which joins countless domains and sectors whose transition work might follow non-compatible pathways.

The scientific literature on energy issues in ports tends to focus on large frontrunner ports (Bjerkan and Seter 2019), and considering that most ports worldwide are in the small-medium range, studies targeting these ports complement state-of-the-art. However, the observations made in this study are unlikely to represent any (attempted) transition to shore power. For one, each port is characterized by distinct features (e.g. difference sizes, actors, activities, geopolitical prerequisites) that impact what sustainability efforts are made and how they are carried out (Damman et al., 2019). Second, Norwegian ports in general are in a unique position, due to strong national incentives for electrification of transport (including shore power), large supply of hydropower, and because 90% of the electricity production capacity is owned by public authorities (Energifakta 2019). Third, the Port of Oslo is not representative of Norwegian ports; it has a larger, specialized organization, personnel dedicated to environment and sustainability, and a more progressive, active owner than most ports.

This study offers two contributions to transition research. For one, it adds to the transition field by systematically exploring the role of policy and politics, and as is one of relatively few studies exclusively dedicated these aspects of transition processes. Second, this study responds to a call for bringing process explanations into transition studies, by drawing on STEP analysis to review a specific transition process. We find this a useful approach to discern factors that enable or disable transition. Although our study has focused on the prominence of policy and politics, similar approaches could be applied to explore other aspects of transition, such as agency, the role of incumbents or social movements, niche developments etc. Although a daunting task – and far beyond the scope of this study – conducting an all-encompassing process review of a specific transition, covering (and perhaps comparing?) the width of explanations that research offers in understanding transitions, could be a next step in consolidating process approaches in transition studies.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Kristin Ystmark Bjerkan: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Funding acquisition, Project administration. Hanne Seter: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing, Project administration.

K.Y. Bjerkan and H. Seter

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thankfully acknowledge the financial support for this research from the Research Council of Norway, grant number 281002. We also extend our gratitude to the interviewees who shared their experiences and perspectives, as well as referees for valuable comments and suggestions.

References

- Aftenposten, 2017. The City of Oslo repurchases Hafslund and restructures (Oslo kommune kjøper tilbake Hafslund og deler opp selskapet). downloaded from htt ps://www.aftenposten.no/osloby/i/WpkLg/oslo-kommune-kjøper-tilbake-hafslun d-og-deler-opp-selskapet. December 18 2019.
- Aftenposten, 2018a. The Port of Oslo will force international ferries to use shore power (Oslo Havn vil tvinge utenlandsfergene til å bruke strøm fra land). downloaded from. https://www.aftenposten.no/osloby/i/BJEld7/oslo-havn-vil-tvinge-utenlandsferge ne-til-aa-bruke-stroem-fra-land. December 19 2019.
- Aftenposten, 2018b. Stena Line wishes to cut emissions in Oslo (Stena Line vil kutte utslipp i Oslo), downloaded from. https://www.aftenposten.no/osloby/i/zLl6zv/St ena-Line-vil-kutte-utslipp-i-. Oslo December 19 2019.
- Ahlborg, H., 2017. Towards a conceptualization of power in energy transitions. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 25, 122–141. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.eist.2017.01.004.
- Avelino, F., 2017. Power in Sustainability Transitions: analysing power and (dis) empowerment in transformative change towards sustainability. Environmental Policy and Governance 27 (6), 505–520.
- Avelino, F., Rotmans, J., 2009. Power in transition: an interdisciplinary framework to study power in relation to structural change. Eur. J. Soc. Theor 12 (4), 543–569. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368431009349830.
- Avelino, F., Grin, J., Pel, B., Jhagroe, S., 2016. The politics of sustainability transitions. J. Environ. Pol. Plann. 18 (5), 557-567. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15530988 2016 1216782
- Béland, D., Howlett, M., 2016. The role and impact of the multiple-streams approach in comparative policy analysis. J. Comp. Pol. Anal.: Research and Practice 18 (3), 221-227. https://doi.org/10.1080/13876988.2016.1174410.
- Bendor, J., Moe, T.M., Shotts, K.W., 2001. Recycling the garbage can: an assessment of the research Program. Am. Polit. Sci. Rev. 95 (1), 169–190.
- Berg, B.L., 2001. Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences. Allyn and Bacon, Boston.
- Berkhout, F.G.H., Smith, A., Stirlingh, A., 2004. Socio-technological regimes and transition contexts. In: Elzen, B., et al. (Eds.), System Innovation and the Transition to Sustainability. Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd, Cheltenham.
- Bidart, C., Longo, M.E., Mendez, A., 2012. Time and process: an operational framework for processual analysis. Eur. Socio Rev. 29 (4), 743–751. https://doi.org/10.1093/ esr/ics053.
- Bjerkan, K.Y., Seter, H., 2019. Reviewing tools and technologies for sustainable ports: does research enable decision making in ports? Transport. Res. Transport Environ. 17, 243–260.
- Bjerkan, K.Y., Ryghaug, M., Skjølsvold, T.M., 2020. Energy Transitions in the Intersection between Port and Transport Systems. The Role of Port Actors. Energy Research & Social Science, Under review.
- Boas, I., Biermann, F., Kanie, N., 2016. Cross-sectoral strategies in global sustainability governance: towards a nexus approach. Int. Environ. Agreements Polit. Law Econ. 16 (3), 449–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-016-9321-1.
- Cairney, P., Jones, M.D., 2016. Kingdon's multiple streams approach: what is the empirical impact of this universal theory? Pol. Stud. J. 44 (1), 37–58. https://doi. org/10.1111/pj.12111.
- City of Oslo, 2008. In: The Fjord City Program (Fjordbyplanen). Agency for Planning and Building Services. City of Oslo: Oslo. https://www.oslo.kommune.no/getfile.php/13 4073-1421674380/Tjenester%200g%20tilbud/Plan%2C%20bygg%200g%20eiendo m/Overordnede%20planer/Omr%C3%A5de%20-%200g%20planprogrammer/Plan %20for%20Fjordbyen.pdf.
- City of Oslo, 2016. Climate and energy strategy for Oslo. The city of Oslo: Oslo. https:// www.oslo.kommune.no/getfile.php/13174213-1480690015/Tjenester%20og%20t ilbud/Politikk%20og%20administrasjon/Etater%2C%20foretak%20og%20ombud/ Klimaetaten/Dokumenter%20og%20rapporter/Climate%20ad%20Energy%20Str ategr%20for%2000slo%20ENG.pdf.
- City of Oslo, 2019. Climate strategy for Oslo towards 2030. Byrådssak 2014/19, city of Oslo: Oslo. https://tjenester.oslo.kommune.no/ekstern/einnsyn-fillager/filtjeneste /fil?virksomhet=976819837&filnavn=byr%2F2019%2Fbr1%2F 2019029283-2129575.ndf.
- Damman, S., Steen, M., 2021. In: A Socio-Technical Perspective on the Scope for Ports to Enable Energy Transition, vol. 91. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, p. 102691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102691.

Energy Policy 153 (2021) 112259

- Damman, S., Steen, M., Bjerkan, K.Y., Kenzhegaliyeva, A., 2019. A multi-level perspective on the scope for ports to accelerate energy transitions. In: International Sustainability Transitions Conference, Ottawa, Canada.
- Elgvin, G.R., 2017. Fossile cruiseferries (Fossile danskebåter). Aftenposten. June 10th 2017. https://www.aftenposten.no/meninger/debatt/i/xqV9j/fossile-danskebaat er-geir-rognlien-elgvin.
- Elzen, B., Wieczorek, A., 2005. Transitions towards sustainability through system innovation. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 72 (6), 651–661. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.techtore.2005.04.002.
- Energifakta, 2019. Ownership in the energy sector. downloaded from. https://energifakta anorge.no/en/om-energisektoren/eierskap-i-kraftsektoren/. January 23 2019.
- Fusco Girard, L., 2013. Toward a smart sustainable development of port cities/areas: the role of the "historic urban landscape" approach. Sustainability 5 (10), 4329–4348.
- Geels, F.W., 2014. Regime resistance against low-carbon transitions: introducing politics and power into the multi-level perspective. Theor. Cult. Soc. 31 (5), 21–40. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0263276414531627.
- Geels, F.W., Schot, J., 2007. Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways. Res. Pol. 36 (3), 399–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.003. Goodman, L.A., 1961. Snowball sampling. Ann. Math. Stat. 32 (1), 148–170.
- Goodman, L.A., 1961. Snowball sampling. Ann. Math. Stat. 32 (1), 148–170. Grin, J., 2010. The governance of transitions. In: Grin, J., et al. (Eds.), Transitions to
- Sustainable Development New Directions in: Gin, J., et al. (203.), Franklinds to Sustainable Development New Directions in the Study of Long Term Transformative Change. Routledge, New York.
- Hall, W.J., 2010. Assessment of CO2 and priority pollutant reduction by installation of shoreside power. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 54 (7), 462–467. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.resconrec.2009.10.002.
- Hendrick, K., Benner, L., 1987. Investigating Acceidents with STEP. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- Hess, D.J., 2014. Sustainability transitions: a political coalition perspective. Res. Pol. 43 (2), 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.10.008.
- Hoffman, J., 2013. Theorizing power in transition studies: the role of creativity and novel practices in structural change. Pol. Sci. 46 (3), 257–275.
- Jauhiainen, J.S., 1995. Waterfront redevelopment and urban policy: the case of Barcelona, Cardiff and Genoa. Eur. Plann. Stud. 3 1, 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09654319508720287.
- Jones, M.D., Peterson, H.L., Pierce, J.J., Herweg, N., Bernal, A., Lamberta Raney, H., Zahariadis, N., 2016. A river runs through it: a multiple streams meta-review. Pol. Stud. J. 44 (1), 13–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpj.12115.
- Kern, F., Howlett, M., 2009. Implementing transition management as policy reforms: a case study of the Dutch energy sector. Pol. Sci. 42 (4), 391. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11077-009-9099-x
- Kern, F., Rogge, K.S., 2018. Harnessing theories of the policy process for analysing the politics of sustainability transitions: a critical survey. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 27, 102–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.11.001.
- Kern, F., Rogge, K.S., Howlett, M., 2019. Policy mixes for sustainability transitions: new approaches and insights through bridging innovation and policy studies. Res. Pol. 48 (10), 103832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103832.
- Kingdon, J.W., 1984. Agendas, Alternatives, and Public Policies. Little Brown & Co, Boston.
- Kingdon, J.W., 1995. In: Agendas, Alternatives, and Public Policies, second ed. Longman, New York.
- Kivimaa, P., Kern, F., 2016. Creative destruction or mere niche support? Innovation policy mixes for sustainability transitions. Res. Pol. 45 (1), 205–217. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.resp0.2015.09.008.
- Kivimaa, P., Virkamäki, V., 2014. Policy mixes, policy interplay and low carbon transitions: the case of passenger transport in Finland. Environmental Policy and Governance 24 (1), 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1629.
- Köhler, J., Geels, F.W., Kern, F., Markard, J., Wieczorek, A., Alkemade, F., Avelino, F., Bergek, A., Boons, F., Fünfschilling, L., Hess, D., Holtz, G., Hyysalo, S., Jenkins, K., Kivimaa, P., Martiskainen, M., McMeekin, A., Mühlemeier, M.S., Nykvist, B., Onsongo, Elsie, Pel, B., Raven, R., Rohracher, H., Sandén, B., Schot, Johan, Sovacool, B., Turnheim, B., Welch, D., Wells, P., 2019. An agenda for sustainability transitions research: State of the art and future directions. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 31. 1–32.
- Lindberg, M.B., Markard, J., Andersen, A.D., 2019. Policies, actors and sustainability transition pathways: a study of the EU's energy policy mix. Res. Pol. 48 10, 103668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp0.2018.09.003.
- Liu, X., Lindquist, E., Vedlitz, A., Vincent, K., 2010. Understanding local policymaking: policy elites' perceptions of local agenda setting and alternative policy selection. Pol. Stud. J. 38 (1), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0072.2009.00345.x.
- Lockwood, M., Kuzemko, C., Mitchell, C., Hoggett, R., 2017. Historical institutionalism and the politics of sustainable energy transitions: a research agenda. Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space 35 (2), 312–333. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0263774x16660561.
- Malen, B., 2006. Revisiting policy implementations as a political phenomenon. In: Honig, M.I. (Ed.), New Directions in Education Policy Implementation. State University of New York. Press, New York.

May, P.J., Jochim, A.E., 2013. Policy regime perspectives: policies, politics, and governing. Pol. Stud. J. 41 (3), 426–452. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12024. Meadowcroft, J., 2009. What about the politics? Sustainable development, transition

Meadowcroft, J., 2009. What about the politics? Sustainable development, transition management, and long term energy transitions. Pol. Sci. 42 (4), 323. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11077-009-9097-z.

Meadowcroft, J., 2011. Engaging with the politics of sustainability transitions. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 1 (1), 70–75. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.003.

Mucciaroni, G., 1992. The garbage can model & the study of policy making: a critique. Polity 24 (3), 459–482. K.Y. Bjerkan and H. Seter

- Normann, H.E., 2015. The role of politics in sustainable transitions: the rise and decline of offshore wind in Norway. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 15, 180–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2014.11.002.
- Normann, H.E., 2017. Policy networks in energy transitions: the cases of carbon capture and storage and offshore wind in Norway. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 118, 80–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.02.004.
- Npra, 2010. In: Tiltaksutredning for Luftkvalitet I Oslo Og Bærum Kommune. National Public Roads Administration. http://www.luftkvalitet.info/Libraries/Rapporter /Tiltaksutredning_for_luftkvalitet_i_Oslo_og_B%C3%A6rum_2010-2015.sflb.ashx. May 4th 2020.
- Nrk, 2018. The cruiseferry cuts emissions (Danskebåten kutter utslippene). downloaded from. https://www.nrk.no/ostlandssendingen/danskebaten-kutter-utslippene-1.141 02935. December 19 2019.
- Oakley, S., 2005. Working port or lifestyle port? A preliminary analysis of the port adelaide waterfront redevelopment. Geogr. Res. 43 (3), 319–326. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1745-5871.2005.00331.x.
- Olsen, J.P., 1972. Public policy-making and theories of organizational choice. Scand. Polit. Stud. 7, 45–62.
- Oslo, Vårt, 2017. Cruiseferries critized as environmental dovetails. Claim to take the environment seriously (Danskefergene kritiseres for å være miljøsinker. Selv mener de miljøet tas på alvor). downloaded from. https://www.vartoslo.no/danskefergen e-kritiseres-for-a-vaere-miljosinker-selv-mener-de-miljoet-tas-pa-alvor/. December 18 2019.
- Pel, B., 2016. Trojan horses in transitions: a dialectical perspective on innovation 'capture'. J. Environ. Pol. Plann. 18 (5), 673-691. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15239088.2015.1009003.
- Port of Oslo, 2012. Action plan for shore power in the port of Oslo, Port of Oslo: Oslo. https://www.oslohavn.no/filestore/PDF/2012/Planer/20121127Handlingsplanforl andstrm.pdf.
- Port of Oslo, 2017. Climate strategy port of Oslo, More transport on sea. downloaded from. http://www.ohv.oslo.no/filestore/Milj/2017Mertransportpsj-Klimastrat egit03b1Awn2.pdf. January 10 2020.
- Port of Oslo, 2018. Zero emission action plan. downloaded from. http://www.ohv.oslo. no/filestore/Milj/2018ActionPlan-PortofOsloasazeroemissionport-inenglish.pdf. January 10 2020.
- Port of Oslo, 2020. International cruiseferries. downloaded from. https://www.oslohavn. no/no/meny/ferger/utenlandsbater/. May 4th 2020.
- Poulsen, R.T., Ponte, S., Sorm-Friese, H., 2018. Environmental upgrading in global value chains: the potential and limitations of ports in the greening of maritime transport. Geoforum 89, 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.01.011. Rausand, M., Utne, I.B., 2009. Risikoanalyse - teori og metoder. Trondheim:Tapir
- Akademisk Forlag.
- Raven, R., Kern, F., Verhees, B., Smith, A., 2016. Niche construction and empowerment through socio-political work. A meta-analysis of six lowcarbon- technology cases. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 18, 164–180.
- Reichardt, K., Negro, S.O., Rogge, K.S., Hekkert, M.P., 2015. Analyzing interdependencies between policy mixes and technological innovation systems: the case of offshore wind in Germany. ISU Working Paper #15.04, Universiteit Utrecht: Utrecht. http://www.geo.uu.nl/isu/pdf/isu1504.pdf.

- Rogge, K.S., Reichardt, K., 2016. Policy mixes for sustainability transitions: an extended concept and framework for analysis. Res. Pol. 45 (8), 1620–1635. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.resp0.2101.04.004.
- Roggema, R., Vermeend, T., Dobbelsteen, A.V.d., 2012. Incremental change, transition or transformation? Optimising change pathways for climate adaptation in spatial planning. Sustainability 4 (10), 2525–2549.
- Rowley, J., 2002. Using case studies in research. Managment Research News 25 (1), 16–27.
- Sabatier, P.A. (Ed.), 2007. Theories of the Policy Process. Westview Press, Boulder, Colorado.
- Schmidt, T.S., Sewerin, S., 2019. Measuring the temporal dynamics of policy mixes an empirical analysis of renewable energy policy mixes' balance and design features in nine countries. Res. Pol. 48 (10), 103557. https://doi.org/10.1016/jl. respol.2018.03.012.
- Schot, J., Kanger, L., 2018. Deep transitions: emergence, acceleration, stabilization and directionality. Res. Pol. 47 (6), 1045–1059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. reson0.2018.03.009.
- Shove, E., Walker, G., 2007. Caution! Transitions ahead: politics, practice, and sustainable transition management. Environ. Plann.: Economy and Space 39 (4), 763–770.
- Sklet, S., 2004. Comparison of some selected methods for accident investigation. J. Hazard Mater. 111, 29–37.
- Smith, A., Stirling, A., 2010. The politics of social-ecological resilience and sustainable socio-technical transitions. Ecol. Soc. 15 (1), 11.
- Stanton, N., Salmon, P., Walker, G., Stanton, M., 2019. Models and methods for collision analysis: a comparison study based on the Uber collision with a pedestrian. Saf. Sci. 120, 117–128.
- Svensson, O., Nikoleris, A., 2018. Structure reconsidered: towards new foundations of explanatory transitions theory. Res. Pol. 47 (2), 462–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. respol.2017.12.007.
- Thomas, G., 2011. A typology for the case study in social science following a review of definition. *Discourse, and Structure*, Qualitative Inquiry 17 6, 511–521. https://doi. org/10.1177/1077800411409884.
- Uyarra, E., Shapira, P., Harding, A., 2016. Low carbon innovation and enterprise growth in the UK: challenges of a place-blind policy mix. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change 103, 264–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.10.008.
- Vaishnav, P., Fischbeck, P.S., Morgan, M.G., Corbett, J.J., 2016. Shore power for vessels calling at U.S. Ports: benefits and costs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50 (3), 1102–1110. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04860.
- Wang, H., 2014. Preliminary investigation of waterfront redevelopment in Chinese coastal port cities: the case of the eastern Dalian port areas. J. Transport Geogr. 40, 29–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2014.02.012.
- Winkel, G., Leipold, S., 2016. Demolishing dikes: multiple streams and policy discourse analysis. Pol. Stud. J. 44 (1), 108–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12136. Zahariadis, N., 2007. The multiple-streams framework: structure, limitations, prospects.
- Zahariadis, N., 2007. The multiple-streams framework: structure, limitations, prospects In: Sabatier, P.A. (Ed.), Theories of the Policy Process. Westview Press, Boulder, Colorado.

5.1 Paper summaries on transition work

In the following I describe ways in which the content and shaping of transition work is covered by papers published as part of this thesis, as all three papers to not explicitly refer to the concept of transition work. The empirical foundations of the three papers, as well as empirical foundations of discussions in Chapters 6 and 7, are summarized in Table 13.

	Content of transition work	Shaping of transition work
Paper 1	Coordinate port and city policy and strategies Enable port users through funding schemes Structure initiatives among port users Develop shared visions Develop projects across port actors Implement technologies (electrification) Test new technologies Adapt practices to new technologies Incorporate technology/emission demands in contracts	Socio-technical system elements: Regulation and policy Artifacts and technologies Infrastructure Public opinion Normative rules (port role) Local and international landscape pressures
Paper 2	Co-create visions Build shared imaginaries and worldviews Understand value chain developments Mobilize for regulation Formalize networks Establish subsidiary company Exchange knowledge and viewpoints Learn about technologies and innovations Experiment Map competence needs Build or acquire competence Define issue jurisdiction	Socio-technical system elements: Regulation and policy Artifacts and technologies Markets Normative and cognitive rules Port roles Landscape pressures Expectations for the future Directionality Actors and niches Network building Technology implementation Broad learning
Paper 3	Adopt policy Aling policies/strategies/perspectives Apply for funding Build consensus Build network Claim jurisdiction Co-create solutions Collaborate Design technology Develop policy strategies Exercise pressure Implement technology Legitimize technology Lobby Map problems Provide funding Raise awareness Restructure organization Set policy objectives	Socio-technical system elements: Infrastructure: cables in place Public opinion: perception of port, port- population relationship Local government structure Normative and regulative rules Penalty fee Issue jurisdiction Politicization Local and international pressures Emissions and noise Urbanization Political consensus Technologies and actors Technologies and actors Technological maturity Company profiling Economic strength Organizational (re)structuring

Table 13. Content and shaping of transition work.

Paper 1: Actor roles in the Port of Oslo

Paper 1 focuses on the port actors' roles and how those roles might constitute transition work. Although it does not refer explicitly to transition work, but rather to the potential of actor roles and constellations to shape energy transitions, the paper accounts for actions and activities that fall under the different roles that actors might take. It discusses actor roles with reference to the role typology developed by Schot, Kanger and Verbong (2016), who distinguished between different types of users: user-producers, user-legitimators, user-intermediaries, user-consumers, and user-citizens.

User-producers contribute to transitions through designing, modifying, and testing niche innovations, while user-legitimators provide support to innovations by attaching values and symbolic meaning that spark interest and increase diffusion. Schot et al. (2016) describe user-intermediaries as establishing support structures that enable other actors to participate in transformation processes, whereas user-consumers are end-users of emergent niche innovations that incorporate these into daily practices. Lastly, user-citizens engage to progress niche innovations at the expense of incumbent technologies or competing niches, such as through lobbyism, grassroots opposition, or social movements.

Paper 1 investigates the prevalence of the above-described five roles in the Port of Oslo. The investigation is based on 20 semi-structured interviews with actors in the port and with actors whose daily operations relied on port services. Drawing on these interviews, the paper discusses the prominence of roles and their implications for transitions in sea transport, hinterland transport, and port operations. It concludes that all roles were prevalent in port operations, but not in the other two domains. Thus, the paper argues that, collectively, port actors were in better position to shape energy transitions in ports than in connected transport systems.

By examining the roles in the port, Paper 1 also allows for a description of the transition work done by the different actors in the different domains. Albeit not explicitly referred to as such, codes used to identify actor roles in the interview data revealed what types of transition work activities that characterized the roles described by Schot et al. (2016). This includes transition work in the form of designing, modifying, or testing innovations (producer role), promoting and creating positive narratives (legitimator role), establishing support structures and systems, infrastructure, and regulation (intermediary role), and incorporating innovations in daily operations and practices (consumer role). Thus, the analysis of the prevalence of actor roles revealed that the transition work of port actors mainly related to port operations.

Paper 1 provides several examples of the shaping of transition work. For example, it points to the role of policy in providing directionality for actors, and regulatory changes that increased public port owners' incentives to engage in port matters. Furthermore, ambitious policy could be considered the result of landscape pressures related to climate change and local pollution, which directly initiated many efforts to reduce emissions. Also, regime rules could be considered to have shaped transition work in the Port of Oslo. For instance, cognitive rules that identify ports as maritime could keep ports from doing transition work in the hinterland domain.

Paper 1 also shows that transition work revolved around electrification, and that the maturity of niche innovations (e.g., shore power) or lack thereof (e.g., fuels and energy carriers in maritime transport) informed the transition activities of actors in and around the port. Actors' efforts to promote transition might also have been shaped by their own strategies to maintain or strengthen market position and/or survive as incumbents of the existing regime.

Paper 2: Transition pathways in the ports of Oslo and Kristiansand

Paper 2 deals more directly with transition work than Paper 1 and makes explicit reference to the concept. More specifically, Paper 2 investigates the social processes that the Port of Oslo and the Port of Kristiansand are engaged in and discusses how they might constitute different pathways towards transition in the two ports. The paper claims to understand how "social processes build transition work." However, following the conceptualization of transition work in this thesis, I would argue that the social processes also constitute examples of transition work themselves.

The social processes investigated in Paper 2 refer to activities that are typically associated with the building and strengthening of niches. One of these processes concerns the use and building of social networks. Social networks are important to transition work because they can offer different types of resources (e.g., financial, human, culture, reputation) that could be produced and exchanged within networks. In turn, this might allow actors collectively to promote low-emission technologies or to create protective spaces around emerging innovations, especially when actors draw on a diverse pool of resource and are integrated into stable network relations. A second social process investigated in Paper 2 is the creation of expectations. Efforts to co-create, diffuse, or translate expectations and visions could lay the foundation for further transition work because they coordinate and align actors, build legitimacy and protection around niches, mobilize resource, and reduce risk perceptions. Finally, Paper 2 investigates processes of social learning, in which actors gain knowledge about, for example, technology, regulation, impacts, markets and users, or they reorient assumptions that guide their interpretations and actions. Such learning processes could contribute to transition work by modifying innovations, expectations, or perceptions in ways that make them drive transitions more effectively.

To explore the above-mentioned social processes in the ports of Oslo and Kristiansand, 25 interviews with ports and port stakeholders were analyzed. The ports are considered to share similar transition contexts in that they belong to the same geopolitical and macro-economic realities, are public owned, are located in urban areas, have similar traffic, and are making similar efforts in terms of progressive sustainability. However, Paper 2 finds that transition work differs between the two ports, which are considered to follow distinct transition pathways. While transition work in the Port of Oslo is described as strategic, coordinated, and scalable, transition work in the Port of Kristiansand is considered incremental and nicheoriented.

The characteristics described above are based on differences in social processes (expectations and vision-making, network building, and social learning), and Paper 2 supports its claims by exemplifying how the two ports relied on and engaged in these processes as part of their

transition work. For example, Paper 2 shows that transition work in the Port of Oslo was characterized by explicit attempts to facilitate visions (e.g., their zero-emission action plan) and produce shared imaginaries (e.g., the concept of the future port with zero emissions). The transition work in the port was also characterized by the formalization of extensive networks and the establishment of strategic alliances to align ambition and perceptions, and to prepare for the implementation of niche innovations (e.g., shore power).

Both the Port of Oslo and the Port of Kristiansand relied on their networks and experimentation to learn about technologies and innovations that could reduce emissions in their port area. However, the ports diverged with regard to reorientations around port roles and mandates. This was not a prominent feature in the Port of Kristiansand. Furthermore, transition work in the Port of Kristiansand was less characterized by vision-making and dedicated network building than in the Port of Oslo.

Paper 2 also shows that the studied social processes can contribute to shape further transition work. First, expectations about the future, which in Paper 2 were seen to provide directionality and guide actor orientations towards specific niches, could be considered expressions of perceived landscape pressures. As such, expectations could be understood as the actors' specific interpretations of how the landscape level would develop. Second, by bringing together actors with different backgrounds, network building could provide resource and competence that would allow decision-making, and aligning strategies and objectives could induce more efficient technology implementation. Third, and finally, learning processes in the two ports laid an obvious foundation for further transition work: broad learning allowed actors to orient more competently and effectively among the many niche innovations that were relevant to port sustainability, while deep learning could have redefined cognitive and normative rulesets that enhanced the ports' capacity and motivation for progressing transition.

Paper 3: The implementation of shore power in the Port of Oslo

Whereas Papers 1 and 2 take a broad perspective on transition work, Paper 3 studies one specific example of transition work in the Port of Oslo, namely the implementation of shore power. Shore power allows vessels visiting the port to shut down their (fossil) auxiliary engines, and instead rely on electricity from the shoreside to power the vessel while at berth. In the Port of Oslo, two different shore power facilities have been established, and Paper 3 describes and analyzes implementation processes in order to demonstrate the role of policy and politics in energy transitions. To do so, the paper relies on the multiple streams approach to identify and analyze how problems, policymaking, and politics produce windows of opportunity that facilitate implementation of shore power. The streams are investigated with reference to interviews held with 12 persons who had either been directly involved in the implementation process or had used or planned to use shore power in the port.

Paper 3 finds that the successful implementation of shore power in the Port of Oslo rested on the ability of the specific niche innovation to solve different problems for different actors, such as the disconnect between the fjord and the urban population, noise, and local and global air emissions. A further finding is that shore power was technologically feasible and faced little competition from other innovations. The paper also finds that implementation followed a green-left political push in policymaking, in which public ownership of the port and the energy system, as well as increased political thrust from environmental organizations, were instrumental in ensuring the realization of consensus-based policy adoption.

As Paper 1, the objective of Paper 3 is not explicitly to describe transition work. However, by investigating the introduction of shore power, it captures transition work among the many stakeholders involved. Paper 3 mainly describes extensive transition work associated with developing and adopting policy, and with developing strategies for realizing policy objectives. In this regard, the paper provides evidence of significant collaboration and dialogue around the alignment of policies, perspectives, and strategies between different actors. Paper 3 also provides examples of activities related to designing, developing, and funding emerging technologies. Finally, the paper particularly demonstrates political transition work, such as expressed in lobbyism, consensus-building, and the exercise of political power.

Additionally, Paper 3 provides insights into the shaping of transition work. For example, discussions on the interactions between problems, policy, and politics shed light on how one such stream might shape the development of another stream. A prominent development identified in the implementation of shore power was the increasing politicization of port business. This might have resulted from increasing landscape pressures associated with climate change and urbanization, but it might also have been an expression of increasingly normative discussions of ports. In addition to the obvious contribution of technological maturity, the transition work presented in Paper 3 is also clearly linked to the strategic, financial, and promotional assessments of corporations. Thus, Paper 3 complements Paper 1 and Paper 2 in terms of its coverage of socio-technical elements that might shape transition work.

Part C: Cross-cutting analysis

6 The contents of transition work in Norwegian ports

As I have shown in the preceding chapter, the research reported in this thesis contains many stories of the transition work being done in ports. This chapter draws on the research documented in Papers 1–3 to address the second research question of this thesis, namely the content of transition work. Accordingly, I present the transition work done in the three case ports and relate it to the theoretical concepts and understandings that are used to conceptualize transition work in Chapter 3. As I have shown in Chapter 3, these concepts and understandings provide many perspectives on how sustainability transitions progress. Thus, they are laden with (mainly unexpressed) notions of what could or should be done to ensure such progress, but the ways in which these could impact transition processes have yet to be understood as particular types of "work."

In the following subchapters I demonstrate how the important contributions of, for example, technological experimentation, vision-making, governance, and politics, manifest in transition work. Following my understanding of transition work as agency applied for a specific purpose, namely the acceleration of sustainability transitions, in this chapter I show how established ideas of the dynamics and processes of sustainability transitions could also be interpreted as different expressions of transition work, as summarized in by Table 13. By reinterpreting this multitude of approaches to understanding transitions as narratives of *who does what*, I aim to encourage more active narratives around the progress of transitions.

Above all, this chapter tends to *what* is being done to progress sustainability transitions. However, it is important to make a note on whose transition work is described as well. As mentioned in Chapter 3, my application of transition work has mainly captured the agency of human actors, although recognizing that the agency of non-human actants (e.g., vessels, infrastructure) could also be vital to transition work in ports. As also described in Chapter 3, scholars of sustainability transitions have studied how many different actor groups might shape transition processes, including governments and policymakers, incumbent firms and industries, niche actors, NGOs, consumers, and social movements. All these groups have potential for doing transition work, and this range of transition agents is also relevant to the transitioning of ports. Nonetheless, this thesis primarily describes transition work conducted by actors closely located to the transition site, such as public authorities and incumbents in the port, logistics, and transport sectors, as well as incumbents of different industrial sectors. Although other actors, such as niche actors (e.g., energy providers) and civil society (e.g., NGOs, media, neighboring communities) have played a part in the transition work described in this thesis, future research could more elaborately explore transition work expressed in actors, values, and discourses originating outside the port. Therefore, it is important to emphasize that transition work can be executed by any actor, independent of their physical location vis-à-vis the transition site or their relation to existing regimes. Executives of transition work have in common that they deliberately and purposively seek to progress sustainability transitions.

Table 14. Examples of transition work discussed in the thesis.

Technological work	Visionary work
Entrepreneurial work	Develop shared visions
Designing/co-create technological solution	Facilitating vision-making
Test new technologies	Produce shared imaginaries
Implement technologies	Exchange knowledge and worldviews
Adapt practices to new technologies	Align policies, visions, and strategies
Governance and policy work	Political work
Define policy	Mobilize for regulation
Set objectives	Adopt policy
Coordinate policy domains	Raise awareness and knowledge
Intermediate	Legitimize technology
Establish/provide funding (schemes)	Influence political agenda
Structure initiatives	Consensus-building
Incorporate heterogeneous expectations	Lobbyism
Corporate/organizational (re)structuring	
Reflexive work	Relational work
Learn about technologies and innovations	Build and formalize networks
Experimentation, trial and error	Engage informal networks
Identify competence/knowledge needs	Broker
Purchase competence	Coordinate
Renew or claim problem/issue jurisdiction	Unite actors in specific projects
Learn from others	Align policies, visions, and strategies
Learn about each other	Identify shared needs and opportunities
Align perspectives and worldviews	

Thus, the typology of transition work presented in Table 14 is not innately distinct from prevailing understandings of transition dynamics, but rather builds on these to demonstrate ways in which they might be observed in explicit expressions of transition work. Although there are probably many ways to group or structure the different activities that could comprise transition work, the reflections presented in the following subchapters (6.1–6.6) are a first contribution to the development of a conceptual framework for describing transition work. I discuss transition work with reference to six different subgroups, which may interconnect and build on each other. Above all, relational work seems to span all types of transition.

The above-described typology of transition work is based on activities that are prominent in the empirical material of this thesis, and future studies of transition work in other contexts and domains would be useful to complement or modify the categories of transition work discussed here. The grouping described in the following subchapters is further colored by the empirical focus on this dissertation on *public* port organizations, which implies that activities associated with, for example, creating markets, identifying demands, and other commercially oriented rationales behind transition work, are less prominent in the framework.

6.1 Technological work

I understand *technological transition work to encompass any activity related to the development, implementation, and application of emerging niche innovations.* As demonstrated in Papers 1–3, port actors engaged in many phases of niche development. For instance, port actors have designed solutions to accommodate needs not met by the market, as exemplified by how Shipowner 1 engaged in entrepreneurial work to develop the first shore power facility in Port of Oslo. Furthermore, three case ports provided sites for piloting technology that R&D was seeking to validate (e.g., shore power in the Port of Kristiansand) and they entered into co-creational processes to ensure successful design and implementation processes (e.g., dialogue meeting on shore power in the Port of Oslo).

My understanding of technological transition work echoes many existing notions in STS and studies of sustainability transitions alike. For example, co-creational processes represented by the dialogue meeting on shore power could reflect the importance of user perceptions, as emphasized by SCOT theory (Pinch & Bijker 1984). Orchestrated by the Port of Oslo (Paper 1), the conference could be an expression of the port's attempt to identify relevant social groups (power suppliers, technology providers, end-users) and their perceptions of problems and potentials inherent in the proposed shore power solution. Furthermore, technological transition work has an obvious connection to strategic niche management, as expressed in, for example, how ports and port actors nurture specific niches by setting aside funding for their own and others' investments in emerging technologies (shore power, electrification) or by seeking funding to invest in specific technologies. As such, technological transition work also encompasses different port actors' implementation of niche innovations and their efforts to adapt practices to new technologies. Many of these adaptations follow early involvement in testing and pilot studies (e.g., DNV's Green Shipping Programme), which are considered vital to progress transition, by transition management in particular (Loorbach 2007) and by transition scholars in general (Ryghaug & Skjølsvold 2021). Such experimental activities have allowed for substantial learning, which is discussed as an expression of reflexive transition work in Subchapter 6.5.

6.2 Visionary work

I understand visionary transition work to emphasize attempts to produce shared, collective perceptions and understandings of what the future could and should look like. Visionary transition work could have an incremental character (e.g., focusing on specific technological innovations or practical planning), as well as a more transformative character (i.e., reorientation of fundamental ideas and mandates). Papers 1–3 provide many examples of the former kind of visionary transition work, such as how vision-making centered on specific low-emission solutions. For instance, in the Port of Kristiansand the visions that guided sustainability efforts mainly centered on electrification activities. In the Port of Oslo, the co-creation of a concept for the future zero-emission port was oriented heavily towards specific technological specificities, such as the production, storage, and distribution of energy carriers, automated vessels, carbon capture and storage, alternative fuels for heavy duty vehicles (HDVs), and smart energy management.

Existing understandings in STS and studies of sustainability transitions are also concerned with visionary work. For example, in SCOT (Pinch & Bijker 1984), the success of technological artifacts is considered to be the product of relevant social groups' ability to build shared perceptions and systems of meaning around those artifacts. This success could be considered one parallel to visionary work. Similarly, strategic niche management (SNM) (e.g. Schot & Geels 2008) explicitly refers to the creation of visions and expectations as fundamental to the nurturing of emerging niches. Thus, both SCOT and SNM include examples of visionary transition work, but both relate the work to a specific technological artifact or to a specific niche. As such, these perspectives display a similarly incremental character as much of the visionary transition work discussed in this thesis, which Papers 1–3 all show strongly revolves around electrification. However, in contrast to SCOT and SNM, some of the visionary transition work identified in this thesis was also directed at *collections* of technologies (e.g., the future port concept in Oslo). The visionary work of ports cannot be limited to specific technical systems, technological artifacts, niches, or innovation systems. The port sector serves to demonstrate the need for transition scholars to move away from technology-centered or innovation-centric approaches, and towards studying how transitions unfold through interactions between multiple technologies and the systems surrounding them. Thus, those favoring the emerging notions of whole-system transformations and deep transitions (e.g. Kanger & Schot 2019, McMeekin et al. 2019, Schot & Kanger 2018) are well advised to learn from ports as potential transition sites. I elaborate further on this point in Chapter 8.

In addition to visionary work encompassing multiple technological innovations, visionary transition work in the research for this thesis revolved less around visions that were not technology-specific, but rather revolved more around ideas and perceptions of what ports should be. Visionary work in the ports of Oslo and Kristiansand, both publicly owned and located in urban areas, needed to incorporate visions for the ports' neighboring communities and/or the city as a whole. Particularly in the Port of Oslo, visionary work related to developing shared understandings and perceptions of reality. There, developing bodies or systems of meaning, perceptions, and framing (Pesch 2015, Pinch & Bijker 1984) related to what problems the port and its users should address, what possibilities they could envision for solving those problems, and how to engage in those specific problems or capitalize on the envisioned possibilities. For example, as shown in Paper 3, the Port of Oslo wanted to work closely with both the City of Oslo and influential environmental organizations to exchange viewpoints and worldviews and to exchange knowledge about the practical and operational functioning of the port. The port hoped that would contribute to align perceptions of what were realistic transition pathways and goals, and thereby maintain the port's autonomy and legitimacy as a transition agent. This kind of visionary transition work resembles ideas of translation, as the Port of Oslo clearly sought to harmonize the perceptions of others with their own. For instance, harmonization and alignment was considered crucial to set shared objectives and develop specific strategies to fulfil them. This finding clearly points to a link between visionary work and policymaking.

6.3 Governance and policy work

I understand governance and policy work to cover activities that provide direction for transition work and/or enable others to act in line within that direction. Defining policy mixes

is vital for accelerating transition processes, and previous studies of sustainability transitions have focused on the characteristics of policies that address sustainability issues, such as their design, consistency, and credibility (e.g. Kern & Howlett 2009, Rogge & Reichardt 2016). Although policies could be considered to abate directionality failures, coordinating different policies is in itself crucial to avoid transformational failure altogether (Weber & Rohracher 2012). For this thesis, policy work also revolved around providing directionality. Papers 1–3 all refer to how strong, predictable policies have led to the establishment of electrification at the core of transition pathways in energy and transport sectors. Similarly, all three papers show how the Port of Oslo worked with its users, the city, and environmental organizations to develop policy that directed the sustainable development of the entire port area. In addition, policy work was characterized by policy coordination. In the case of the Port of Oslo, collaboration between the port and the city produced emission reduction objectives and policies for the Port that conformed with objectives and strategies for the city as a whole, as expressed in the city's climate strategy (City of Oslo 2016, City of Oslo 2019) and Fjord City Program (City of Oslo 2008), and the zero-emission action plan for the Port (Port of Oslo 2018).

Strong and clear objectives and integrated policy could be a precondition for effective governance (Nilsson & Nykvist 2016). As shown in Subchapter 3.3, governance entails interactions dedicated to solving societal problems and/or creating societal opportunities (Kooiman 2003). In general, scholars have increasingly oriented their attention towards governance as a way to implement solutions (Mayntz 2003), and in studies of sustainability transitions, governance is particularly studied by scholars of transition management. The studies reported in Papers 1–3 provided several examples of governance in the transition work of ports, and such work was particularly prominent in the Port of Oslo. First, in subchapters 6.2 and 6.3, I have already shown how the port engaged in what transition management considers strategic activities, which include developing visions and setting goals and associated strategies for reaching them (Loorbach 2010). Second, the Port of Oslo initiated several tactical activities (ibid.), which provided structures and contexts (e.g., rules, regulation, organizations, institutions, networks) that enabled transition work. For instance, the port established a support scheme under which port users could apply for funds to invest in lowor zero-emission technologies. The Port also assisted port users in applying for funds from public support programs. Another interesting tactical aspect of the transition work of the port and the city alike was organizational restructuring. Following the 2015 local elections, the new political rule of the City of Oslo sought to leave a green mark by increasing the visibility and effectiveness of environmental policy, as described in Paper 3. To do so, it reorganized the administrative structure of the city administration to establish the Agency for Climate, which was given explicit responsibility to realize climate policy.

Governance aspects of transition work also appeared in the organizational restructuring of the local energy company. Considering how electrifications is at the core of strategies for reducing climate emissions, and considering how energy is a crucial issue in sustainable transformations of entire societies, the City engaged to reestablish public ownership of the local energy company. As seen in Paper 3, the City not only repurchased the company and removed it from the stock market, but also established a subsidiary company intended to develop innovations and business areas that could further electrification. Similarly, the Port of Oslo—in common

with several other Norwegian ports—prepared to set up a joint venture dedicated to establishing, operating, and maintaining facilities to provide shore power to vessels in the port. The administrative restructuring undertaken by the City and the Port could be considered expressions of governance work aiming to facilitate and accelerate transition.

A third example of governance work in the Port of Oslo related to its intermediary work. While certain aspects of intermediation can contain elements of political work (e.g., brokering) or relational work (e.g., matchmaking, coordination, configuring), the facilitatory work of intermediaries can be considered expressions of governance. As discussed at length in Subchapter 7.4, intermediation was a prominent feature of transition work in the Port of Oslo, and as shown in Paper 1 it could be considered an enabler of other types of transition work. The port contributed to facilitate transition by setting demanding emission reduction targets, calculating port fees according to the emission levels of vessels, and by establishing the support scheme mentioned above. However, to succeed with the implementation of those policies, the port relied also on political efforts. Considering how the adoption and execution of policy often following political debate and voting, both governance and policy work are closely tied to political transition work.

6.4 Political work

Politics is a multifaceted construct that could be ascribed many different definitions and emphases. For example, politics can be considered equivalent to conflict, state business, governance, and resolution practices. I consider *political transition work to span activities that more and less explicitly draw on power resources in the pursuit of particular values and priorities (e.g., sustainability) or particular distributions of gains and losses.* As such, I emphasize politics as an exercise of power and a means for resolving differences.

Politics has gained an increasingly prominent position in studies of sustainability transitions, as "any attempt to steer societies towards sustainability will involve and affect politics" (Hendriks & Grin 2007:346). Politics can also play a crucial role in destabilizing unsustainable regimes and systems (Oers et al. 2021). Given its interconnectedness with governance and policy, studies of sustainability transitions are increasingly drawing on policy theory to understand the role of politics in transition processes (see Avelino et al. 2016 for a useful overview), such as by studying opposing political coalitions (Hess 2014) or technology advocates (Raven et al. 2016), or by discussing theoretical and ontological understandings of transition politics (Geels 2014, Lockwood et al. 2017, Shove & Walker 2007, Smith & Stirling 2010). Thus, political debate and political processes of decision-making are considered obvious contributors to transitions. However, the ways in which the processes constitute transition work (e.g., in the form of specific activities intended to progress transitions) has yet to be discussed by transition scholars. This thesis contributes to fill this gap by pointing to ways in which actors in and around the Port of Oslo worked to gain political support for their initiatives.

Overall, political work is not very prominent in the sustainability efforts of ports. One probable reason for this is the general lack of political interest in the port sector and the prominence of operational and commercial perspectives in port mandates. As ports have enjoyed significant autonomy from public owners, administratively and politically, there has been little need in

the past for ports to engage politically. However, in this thesis I provide examples of an increasing politization of (public) ports, following the needs of cities to reduce emissions and demonstrate vigor in the face of climate change. Climate change has spurred greater interest among public port owners, which have increasingly taken jurisdiction over port issues, which in turn requires ports to relate more actively to the political sentiments of their owners. Thus, political aspects of transition work could be expected to become more prominent in the years to come. However, currently, political transition work primarily seems to be a feature of larger ports, typically those located in larger cities with larger emission problems and more imminent land use conflicts. This point is also reflected in this thesis.

In this thesis, political transition work is most prominently captured in Paper 3. The paper shows that there was a lack of controversy around the technology under debate (i.e., shore power), which implies that institutional work, framing, and interpretive flexibility were not prominent aspects of political transition work. Rather, political transition work revolved around deflating practical and symbolic disagreements between opposing coalitions to accelerate implementation. Thus, consensus-building was at the forefront of political transition work. In doing that work, environmental organizations relied heavily on established networks and power relations, in which they functioned as translators between political wings. This finding could point to ways in which political work might appear in the form of intermediation activities, such as brokering.

Another example of brokering is the Port of Oslo's extensive translation efforts in dialogue and collaboration with the City and with environmental organizations. The efforts had an obvious political nature, as they sought to harmonize understandings of what ports (can) do to accelerate transition, which contributes to align political pressures for accelerated transition with the reality assessments of the Port. To the Port, such alignment was essential to foster political decisions that did not disturb its operations and its relations with its customers. One such clash between political ambition and operational pragmatism occurred during the introduction of the second shore power facility. As shown in Paper 3, the political side of the port board publicly criticized shipowners for not converting to shore power and threatened to sanction their non-use with penalty fees. On the one hand, the incident represented political work on the side of the board member, who succeeded in exerting significant pressure on Shipowner 3 in particular. On the other hand, it demonstrated to the Port that it needed to engage more in political circles and with political circles in order to harmonize political ambition with its own operational reality.

Paper 3 also describes political transition work that did not relate specifically to the introduction of shore power, but rather sought to the strengthen the City's overall grasp of energy and sustainability transitions. Decisions to restructure the city administration and repurchase the local energy company, which held significant political symbolism, were aimed at increasing the efficiency of climate policy in general and to demonstrate determination on the side of the new political rule in particular. This finding also points to interconnections between political transition work and governance, as political work was done explicitly to enhance governance and policy implementation.

6.5 Reflexive work

I understand *reflexive transition work as activities that enable the progress of transitions through enhancing knowledge, increasing awareness, or reorienting perceptions.* In studies of sustainability transitions, reflexive activities are a central component of transition management, as they provide knowledge and learning that is needed to develop new ways to structure, frame, and manage societal functions (Loorbach & Rotmans 2010). Reflexive transition work also resembles ideas of learning that are inherent in strategic niche management (Schot et al. 2016), which distinguishes between (1) learning processes that increase knowledge about technologies, associated markets, and user preferences (i.e., broad learning), and (2) learning processes that enable reorientation of fundamental assumptions that guide interpretations and behaviors (i.e., deep learning). Although existing studies of sustainability transitions have not described them as such, learning processes could be induced or activated to progress transitions, and as such provide examples of transition work.

In this thesis, I consider reflexive transition work to include knowledge about technologies and actors, as well as reorientation of role perceptions. Paper 2 demonstrates how the Port of Oslo and the Port of Kristiansand learned about technologies and innovations by engaging their networks. In Kristiansand especially, experimentation through R&D projects proved useful by demonstrating to the port what kind of knowledge and competence it needed to execute transition work effectively. Consequently, the Port expanded its organization with staff whose expertise matched the competence it needed. Similar reflections characterized the transition work in the Port of Oslo, which also formed strategic alliances with consultants and sectors that were coupled with the port (e.g., the energy sector, maritime transport) in order to establish a knowledge-based foundation for its transition work. One example of such work was the mapping of emission sources in the port area, as described in Paper 3, which allowed the Port to orient its transition work towards port operations that could provide the most cost-efficient emission reductions.

A second expression of reflexive transition work in this thesis concerns ports' efforts to learn about other actors and sectors that they connect with on a daily basis. This related primarily to the visionary work described in Subchapter 6.2, whereby the Port of Oslo in particular sought to learn about the perspectives of its owner and its users in order to harmonize reality perceptions and ideas for the future. Although increasing the familiarity between organizations was necessary in purely practical terms (e.g., to produce shared policies and objectives), it also allowed for adjusting the Port's own expectations of the transition work of others and demonstrated what were others' expectations of the Port. This in turn enabled the Port to incorporate the transition work of the port actors into its own transition work.

A third expression of reflexive transition work in this thesis is the reorientation of normative expectations of the Port of Oslo itself. In Chapter 2 I have shown how port authority functions increasingly include community management, and Papers 1–3 all demonstrate how the Port has moved beyond traditional port roles. The Port claimed jurisdiction over sustainability issues and incorporated sustainability into short-term and long-term strategies to preserve its legitimacy in the city government and in the population. This clearly indicates the port's explicit purpose of doing transition work, and in this regard probably contrasts the majority of

Norwegian ports, where commercial business operations still dominate port strategies. The reason why this kind of transition work has become a particular feature of the Port of Oslo is discussed further in Subchapter 7.4.

6.6 Relational work

Relational work permeates most transition efforts discussed this thesis. I understand *relational transition work to encompass any activity aimed to progress transition in which an actor engages or interacts with another actor*. All the above-presented examples of transition work (i.e., in subchapters 6.1 to 6.5) to some degree relied on relational work. For instance, in technological transition work, technology implementation required collaboration between technology providers, facility owner, and end-users. In visionary transition work, relational work was an inherent aspect of developing shared visions and aligned policy. In governance, relational work was necessary to orchestrate the sustainability efforts of many port users. Thus, relational work could be an inherent aspect of the orchestrating capacity of ports, which refers to their ability to "coordinate multi-actor processes, foster synergies, and minimize trade-offs and conflicts across scales, sectors and time" (Hölscher et al. 2019:796).

Relational work was also essential when lobbying for accelerated policy adoption (political transition work) and in maintaining dialogues that fostered learning and reflection (reflexive transition work). Thus, this subcategory of transition work clearly demonstrates the relevance of actor-network theory (e.g. Callon 1986, Latour 1996) in understandings of transition work, as the transition work described in this thesis emerged through reciprocal relationships between the heterogeneous myriad of port actors and users. Relational work may also appear in the form of configuring activities that aim at aligning technologies, users, and infrastructure, which implies that relational work could be considered an expression of both intermediation (e.g. Stewart & Hyysalo 2008) and the system-building emphasized in understandings of large technical systems (e.g. Hughes 1987) and technological innovation systems (e.g. Bergek et al. 2008).

Thus, based on the research done for this thesis, I argue that the relational work done by ports is fundamental to any other type of transition work. Perhaps the most prominent feature of relational transition work is the building and maintenance of networks, as practically all transition work necessitates well-functioning relations with others. Paper 2 in particular demonstrates the role of diverse networks in providing support for transition work, nurturing and developing technological solutions, establishing knowledge and competence, and strengthening legitimacy. Paper 2 also demonstrates the importance of relational work by pointing to how the different network relations in the Port of Oslo and Port of Kristiansand contributed to produce dissimilar transition pathways. For instance, the progressive transition work in the Port of Oslo was characterized by extensive dialogue with users and stakeholders, inclusive port planning processes, and formalized relations in joint ventures and collaboration agreements. Hence, the idea or ability to capitalize on network relations appear crucial for both the speed and direction of transition work.

6.7 Summary of transition work in ports

In this chapter I have presented the building blocks of transition work in the three case ports studied in this thesis, thus addressing the second research question: *How are actors in the*

port sector working to promote and accelerate transition in and around ports? With reference to the empirical work done as part of this thesis, this chapter has proposed a conceptual framework for transition work that distinguishes between six types of such work. These subgroups of transition work are in no way mutually exclusive and do not provide a complete categorization of transition work. Rather, the groups serve to simplify the many facets of transition work and provide one way of collecting and gathering different activities that are dedicated to progress transition. As a framework for transition work, the subgroups also demonstrate that existing understandings of the dynamics and processes that constitute transitions are abundant with transition work. However, in order to gain better understanding of transitions in the making and to learn for future transition activities, the stories need to be reframed into active narratives of who does what.

Furthermore, the discussions in this chapter show that distinguishing one type of transition work from another is difficult. For example, visionary work is inherent in efforts to define policy objectives, which are also the results of political work, such as in the form of elections and public debate. Moreover, governance activities, such as establishing funding programs and innovation support, directly relate to technological work. Additionally, reflexive and relational work could be considered inherent aspects of any kind of transition work. These examples also demonstrate that one kind of transition work can contribute to shape other facets of transition work. As such, they also points to the third research question of this thesis, which asks about *how particular forms of transition work emerge*.

7 The shaping of transition work in Norwegian ports

In the preceding chapter I have presented and discussed the types of transition work that was conducted in the three case ports, thereby providing answers to RQ2 about how actors in the port sector are working to promote and accelerate transitions. In this chapter I move on to discuss *the shaping of transition work*, corresponding to RQ3 about how particular forms of transition work emerge. In addressing this question, I discuss and exemplify throughout this chapter how transition work might emerge in response to developments in socio-technical configurations. As described in Subchapter 3.5, I understand socio-technical configurations to be interactions and interrelations between elements that lie at the core of transition dynamics as understood by the multi-level perspective (MLP) (e.g. Geels 2004), thus comprising landscapes, niche innovations, socio-technical regimes, socio-technical systems, and actors. Accordingly, throughout the following subchapters I make a series of claims regarding the shaping of transition work, as listed in Table 15.

Element of socio- technical configuration	Transition work is shaped by	Subchapter
Socio-technical system	the unique specificities of socio-technical systems	7.1
Niches Actors	the perceptions of risk associated with specific technologies the need to manage actor complexity the internal transition work of businesses and corporations	7.2
Landscape	pressures that demonstrate the need for transition work pressures that set the scope for transition work pressures that contest existing rationalities	7.3
Regime	normative rules that produce intermediation	7.4

Table 15. Examples of the shaping of transition work discussed in the thesis.

Collectively, the claims provide insights into dynamics that generate and shape transition work. Furthermore, they demonstrate how transition work is shaped by the uniqueness of transition sites, such as expressed by the characteristics of socio-technical systems, the specific actors present, and the innovations relevant to them, as well as the pressures, norms, and perceptions specific to each transition case. Although the uniqueness of ports also comprises place and geographic contexts (Damman & Steen 2021), I do not pay specific attention to the geography of sustainability transitions when discussing the shaping of transition work. Rather, I relate the shaping of transition work to elements of socio-technical configurations. In discussing socio-technical configurations, Geels (2002) particularly emphasizes socio-technical elements that are typically associated with socio-technical systems. Therefore, I first provide examples that show how system elements represent unique socio-technical contexts for transition work in ports. I then move to exemplify and discuss how transition work might follow unique actor constellations, perceptions of different niche innovations, and different types and degrees of landscape pressure. Finally, I discuss and exemplify how changing normative rules associated with the role of port organizations shape transition work through ushering in intermediation.

7.1 Shaping by socio-technical systems

This thesis shows how transition work emerges within the socio-technical contexts of ports. A frequent saying in the Norwegian port domain is that "when you have seen a port, you have seen one port." This implies that knowing and understanding the workings of an individual port provides little knowledge about any other port, highlighting the uniqueness of every port, also in terms of potentials and barriers in its sustainability endeavors. For example, this could be expressed in the specific characteristics of the socio-technical systems of which ports are part. Therefore, in this subchapter I exemplify and discuss how transition work is shaped by

i) the unique specificities of socio-technical systems

As shown in Chapter 3, literature on sustainability transitions describes a range of factors that comprise socio-technical systems, including regulation and policies, artifacts, infrastructure, public opinion, and markets. First, the transition work described in this thesis tended to follow lines of regulations and policies. As discussed in Chapter 6, the making of and lobbying for policies and regulation can be essential aspects of transition work. However, regulations and policies also constitute important contexts for transition work. As elaborated in Subchapter 7.3, regulation and policies could be considered expressions of intentional pressures that demonstrate the need for transition work and set the scope of such work. Thus, this thesis shows how regulation and policy shape transition work by directing the efforts of ports. Norwegian ports actively relate to several national regulations (e.g., on pollution, noise, emissions, safety) and policies (e.g., goods transfer from road to sea) in their daily operations, which underlines how the boundaries of port systems are hard to define. However, this thesis shows that the transition work of ports is primarily directed by regulations and policies on the local level. In Kristiansand, local policy directed the Port to substantiate already emerging electrification efforts, for instance by requesting the Port to document its work and strategies. In Oslo, local policy pushed for holistic approaches to transition work. The City of Oslo's very ambitious goals to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 95% before 2030 compelled the Port to set strong targets and to incorporate its many users into a series of different sustainability initiatives. By contrast, in the Port of Narvik, the lack of local policy might have been one reason for the lack of transition work. There, local policy and regulations informed only to a limited extent about desired ambitions and directions for sustainability efforts in the Port. Thus, different local policy and regulation in the three cases encouraged different levels and directions of transition work. Although transition perspectives from the field of geography are not a prominent feature of discussions in this thesis, the above discussion in this subchapter (7.1) clearly points to how place-specific contexts could inform the transition work of ports (i.e., by local agenda setting).

Second, transition work was shaped by the opportunities and lock-ins represented by *artifacts and technologies* in the studied ports. Technological lock-ins are a key challenge in decarbonization (e.g. Foxon 2007, Unruh 2000), and in this thesis I provide at least two examples of lock-ins, in which sunk costs contribute to reduce incentives to invest in alternative technologies (Klitkou et al. 2015). The substantial sunk costs and life spans of artifacts in ports and in maritime transport domains are examples of lock-ins that might shape transition work. This was the case then the Port of Oslo worked to establish a second shore

power facility and faced heavy opposition from shipowners due to the age of their vessels. Lock-ins to particular vessels also slowed transition work I Narvik. Since vessels calling on the Port of Narvik were not equipped to use shore power, the port held back on implementation until growing volumes of other types of vessels encouraged it to work on installing high-voltage shore power. In the Port of Kristiansand, there were examples of how artifacts might represent opportunities for transition work. For instance, the installation of solar panels on roofs tops might have been enabled by particular building designs, while the port's early implementation of low voltage shore power was ushered in by the prominence of vessels and rigs that remained in the port for weeks at a time and only needed power for hotel operations. These examples all suggest that the non-human actors emphasized in ANT (e.g., Callon 1984) might also be part of transition work.

Lock-ins are also apparent in how transition work is shaped by existing *infrastructure*, which has even longer historical trajectories than the lock-ins represented by artifacts. Given the longevity of infrastructure, it provides very concrete examples of path dependencies that could facilitate only incremental changes, and speaks to how transition work is done also within socio-material systems (Birch 2017). The role of infrastructure is discussed by several transition scholars (Broto et al. 2014, Frantzeskaki et al. 2016, Gillessen et al. 2019) and is an obvious element in the transition work of ports, which themselves are important infrastructural nodes and examples of infrastructure is evident in how *ports located between different types of infrastructure have different opportunities for initiating and driving change*, and I provide two examples of this.

The first example relates to transport infrastructure. The transition work of the Port of Narvik was aimed equally towards the rail domain and the maritime domain, and it aimed to ensure regional and global supply and logistics chains that moved transport from road to rail and sea. The efforts were mainly enabled by the Port of Narvik's position as an intermodal junction for sea and rail transport, which allowed it to pursue connected transport corridors from China and Russia to North America. The second example of how infrastructure might produce specific transition work relates to energy infrastructure. The ability to direct transition work towards particular types of energy is strongly affected by the availability of energy. In the Port of Kristiansand and Port of Oslo, existing energy infrastructure represented opportunities and challenges in transition work aimed at electrification. Ambitions and priorities in such transition work depend on sufficient power capacity and power effects being available at the right locations, which has been a challenge in the electrification of maritime transport in Norway (Bjerkan et al. 2019). In the ports in Kristiansand and Oslo this produced different types of transition work. Paper 2 shows how available power effects in urban areas were crucial aspects of the Port of Kristiansand's work with high voltage shore power. The Port to maintained dialogue and negotiations with the local energy company (i.e., relational transition work) on how to ensure sufficient power effects for cruise vessels without jeopardizing the energy security of the city, which resulted in the energy company offering disconnected tariffs⁷. In Oslo, the availability of energy infrastructure also produced specific transition work. However, in contrast to the Kristiansand case, lack of grid capacity and effects were not a challenge in Oslo. Rather, the Port's transition work was shaped by *opportunities* relating to energy infrastructure. As shown in Paper 3, the successful implementation of shore power in 2019 followed infrastructure measures taken by the port seven years earlier, when, as part of other development activities, new power cables extended the local electricity grid to specific quays. These cables could in themselves be considered as an element of the Port's long-term visionary transition work (e.g., envisioning full electrification of port activities), but also demonstrate how transition work might include activities that in fact modify existing sociotechnical system elements (e.g., infrastructures) in ways that enable further or future transition work. This also points to the duality of structure and the potential mutual influence between transition work (i.e., agency) and socio-technical systems (i.e., structure).

The above discussion shows how the transition work of ports was guided by opportunities (e.g., rail infrastructure in Narvik, grid extension in Oslo) and lock-ins (e.g., grid capacity in Kristiansand) associated with the infrastructures surrounding the ports. Transition work was also shaped was by the *markets* and economies that surround them. Although many ports represent linkages in global supply chains and allow the connecting of global markets (Becker et al. 2013), they also represent local and regional industrial centers that provide jobs and steady revenue streams (Bailey & Solomon 2004), and that support regional trade and growth (Cheon 2017). As such, ports are located at the intersection between the different value chains that regional sectors and economies are bound to, and, as motors in regional development, transition work of ports needs to accommodate also regional markets. In particular, this thesis shows that ports are compelled to incorporate into their transition work the markets and value chains of which port users are part. Considering the quasi-commercial profile of public ports (i.e. as public entities with corporate characteristics), ports are strongly motivated to maintain good relations with their customers. Thus, port organizations need to balance delicately more or less ambitious transition strategies against the business orientations and market development by which the multitude of port users navigate.

Paper 3 provides one example of how transition work is connected to opportunities that ports users see in their markets. In Oslo, a port user expected to make changes in its own supply and production lines that would allow it to make use of vessels more suited for low-emission technologies and shore power. In turn, this enabled the port to expand its transition work for full electrification of port operations. Another example illustrates how transition work could be limited by the markets that port users associate with, in this case the Port of Narvik's users in the mining industry. With the regional growth of this industry, and its effort to expand market shares, it has become an even more prominent user of port services in Narvik. The maritime transport of iron ore, characterized by infrequent and/or irregular port calls, provided little opportunity for implementing shore power. As such, the relatively lagging

⁷ Disconnected tarrifs, or flexible tariffs, implied that the energy company's customer (i.e., the ports' shore power facilities) could be immediately disconnected from power supply when power needed to be directed elsewhere (e.g., to the city). The customer was compensated with lower energy tariffs.

transition work of the Port of Narvik with regard to electrification could be considered a consequence of the port's close connection to the market developments of specific users.

The above-mentioned examples illustrate potential clashes between the ambitions of port organizations and port users, as the often-incremental transition work displayed by commercially oriented port users might contribute to discourage or slow down more transformative or disruptive transition work in port organizations. The relationship between the transition work of the port organization and the transition work of port users is discussed further in Subchapter 7.2.

A final element of socio-technical systems that seemed to shape transition work in the investigated ports is *cultural discourse* and public opinion around ports. Overall, this thesis shows that *public discourse shapes transition work by pointing to perceived problems with ports and by calling ports to demonstrate that they are working to solve those problems.* Such discourse seemed to shape transition work in all three ports and is probably relevant to ports as transition sites in general. The public appears to hold rather negative perceptions of ports. Ports are rarely welcomed by their neighboring communities, as they are considered unaesthetic and associated with noise, disturbance, and high traffic volumes. Moreover, in recent years, public debate has addressed emissions from cruise ships in Norwegian fjords. Although this debate has led to a series emissions reduction measures (Norwegian Maritime Authority 2017), it has also cemented a negative narrative around maritime transport.

Such a critical discourse also shapes transition work in ports. All three case ports continuously assessed and accounted for community responses when planning and undertaking their activities. Worldwide, ports in urban areas are under pressure to concede land, and the redeveloping of port areas is a main element in many plans for city development (Jauhiainen 1995, Oakley 2005, Wang 2014). Paper 3 shows that in the Port of Oslo such redevelopment was considered essential to remedy the disconnect between the urban population and the coast. Further, all three ports were developing plans to relocate port activities farther away from cities, but nonetheless faced complaints, aversion, and resistance from neighboring residential areas also in their prospective locations. Similar resistance to port development projects has been found in other Norwegian ports, where local media coverage has voiced opposition based on insufficient investigations before approving plans, infringement on recreational areas, and reduced access to the coast and the commons (e.g. Fanaposten 2013, Fædrelandsvennen 2017, Nordlys 2012, Telemarksavisa 2009). The negative discourse around ports has pushed ports to focus on communicating their roles as a community leaders and engines in the regional economy. For instance, the Port of Oslo has worked actively to demonstrate its low contribution (4%) to the city's CO₂ emissions (Port of Oslo 2018) and the port has gone to lengths to redevelop port areas in ways that give the urban population access to the port and a sense of ownership of it. Thus, transition work could be considered a strategy for maintaining (or raising) the legitimacy and acceptance of urban ports. This signals that the rationale behind transition work does not necessarily derive from innate desires to realize environmental sustainability; it could also stem from needs to ensure the continued relevance and legitimacy of incumbents (e.g., port organizations), resembling transformation pathways that evolve around the reorientation of incumbent actors (Geels et al. 2016).

In this subchapter I have provided an overview of how socio-technical systems could shape transition work. I have given examples of how socio-technical system elements are often unique to each transition site (i.e., each port), but I have also provided more general lessons about the shaping of transition work, as summarized in Table 16. Additionally, I have hinted at issues that are central in discussions on how transition work is shaped by actors, niches, regimes, and landscape pressures. In the discussion above I have demonstrated how the actions taken by port organizations could be considered responses to sustainability efforts made by the public. The media attention paid to polluting ships and the calls of neighboring communities for clean and silent shoreside spaces represent obvious pressures and might themselves be considered expressions of transition work. This underscores how crucial the transition work of other actors is for the transition work of port organizations. This point is elaborated in the next subchapter.

Table 16. Summary of the ways in which socio-technical systems may shape transition work.

Regulations and policies shape transition work by directing efforts.

Artifacts and technologies shape transition work by representing sunk costs and technological lock-ins.

Infrastructure shapes transition work by providing different opportunities for transition work.

Markets shape transition work by compelling the incorporation of market developments into transition work.

Cultural discourse shapes transition work by pointing to perceived problems and the need for specific actors to solve them

7.2 Shaping by actors and technologies

Considering how the implementation of technologies relates directly to actors that are operating in ports, the ways in which technologies shape transition work are equally related to ways in which port actors could shape transition work. Thus, in this subchapter I will first exemplify and discuss how transition work is shaped by technologies, before turning to how transition work is shaped by actor complexity and the sustainability efforts of corporate actors. This subchapter elaborates on ports as potential transition sites, comprised of heterogeneous actor-networks connected to a series of sectors and industries. As the diversification of industries and actors around ports increases (ESPO 2020c), understanding how transition work emerges between port organizations and port actors is increasingly important. Therefore, in the following, I exemplify and discuss how transition work is shaped by

- ii) technology perceptions
- iii) needs to manage actor complexity
- iv) internal transition work of business and corporations.

Thus, while much of this thesis discusses the transition work of port organizations themselves, this subchapter addresses more explicitly the role of corporations, business, and industry in ports, and the ways in which these can singlehandedly or through interaction with the port
organization shape transition work in the port area. As such, this chapter leans on Damman and Steen's (2021) understanding of ports as not only port organizations, but also as networks of port actors.

7.2.1 Technology perceptions

In Subchapter 7.1 I have hinted at how technology and artifacts could shape transition work in ports. In line with the STS perspectives presented in Chapter 3, technologies gain ground to the extent that they align with non-technical system elements, are perceived to solve problems better than other technologies, or are incorporated into stable networks of human and non-human actors. Transition scholars refer to several processes that shield and progress niches and innovations, for example expressed in strategic niche management and technological innovation systems. Thus, transition scholars and STS alike have considered technologies as integrated with social system elements (e.g., organizations, legislation, users, worldviews) or social processes (e.g., vision-making, network building, market creation). This implies that technologies are not only shaped by transition work, but also that technologies could shape transition work themselves.

Literature on port sustainability lists many different fuels and energy sources that could power port operations, vessels, and vehicles, including wind and solar energy, LNG, biofuels, hydrogen, and batteries (Bjerkan & Seter 2019, Lim et al. 2019). However, the transition work of ports to date seems to have focused on only a few of these. This thesis shows that transition work is shaped by technology perceptions that guide transition work towards particular niche innovations. More specifically, technology perceptions in the case ports directed transition work by pointing it towards relevant and legitimate niche innovations with immediate users, which underscores the incremental character of much transition work to date. Transition work oriented towards technologies perceived as relevant to the actors and operations specific to each of the three ports. For instance, the Port of Kristiansand's orientation towards low voltage shore power was enabled by its services to the offshore industry, while electrification of port operations in the Port of Oslo was possible because electric models of machinery and equipment for terminal operations were already available in the market. By contrast, similar wide-scale electrification efforts in the Port of Narvik were absent because no electric machinery was equipped to perform necessary operations in their terminal. Thus, the existence of relevant technologies in the market is essential for transition work.

This thesis also shows transition work to orient towards technologies that are perceived as legitimate. Paper 1 shows that transition work oriented towards electrification, not only because technologies were already available in the market (e.g., shore power, electric cranes, and machinery), but also because of the directionality provided by policy and the availability of vast hydropower resources that enabled decarbonization. The paper argues that electrification enjoyed great legitimacy and was universally perceived as a viable approach to foster transitions. Similarly, Paper 3 points to the common technology perceptions of shore power among political wings as one reason for the successful implementation of shore power in the Port of Oslo. By contrast, transition work seemed more reluctant when it came to niche-innovations associated with greater controversy. Such controversy related to insecure market and provision developments, and it was particularly exemplified by discussions about

alternative fuels and new energy carriers in transport, including hydrogen, biofuel, biogas, LNG, ammonia, and methanol. As argued in Paper 1, transition work in transport domains lagged behind the port domain due to insecurities about what technology (i.e., fuel, energy carrier) would become dominant and the fear of investing in the "wrong" technology. Thus, transition work stalled because actors in the transport domain were still debating what technology to invest in, and, awaiting directions from policymakers, they were continuously seeking more knowledge about the implications of making a selection.

Finally, this thesis shows that technology perceptions point transition work towards niche innovations with immediate use. Although there are examples of ports implementing technological solutions not directly connected to any of their users (e.g., solar panels in Port of Kristiansand, electric vehicles in Port of Oslo), it seems that transition work is mainly focused on technologies that the ports expect to be taken into immediate use. For instance, the efforts of the Port of Oslo to introduce a second shore power facility (Paper 3) were heavily centered on dialogues with shipowners to ensure that the investments would not remain unused. Although the port itself framed its efforts as a desire to create demand and to "kill the chicken" (referring to the chicken-and-egg problem), they could also be considered efforts to ensure that demand was in place before the facility was operational. Conversely, ports were less eager to implement technologies or provide fuels that were not in demand. For instance, there were efforts to establish LNG in the Port of Kristiansand, where industrial clusters and regular port users were encouraged to consider LNG. However, as LNG facilities require stable outtake and use, the plans fell through, because the port and the LNG provider were unable to recruit committed LNG users. Instead, the port oriented its transition work towards technologies with confirmed, expected use. This speaks to challenges with moving transition work in more transformative directions, which is discussed further in Chapter 8.

7.2.2 Actors

The empirical data underlying this thesis mainly relate to the transition work of port organizations. However, the transition work of port organizations is intertwined with the practices, demands, opportunities, and perceptions of port users and the communities of which ports are a part. Although it was not a prominent feature of the analyses reported in Papers 1–3, the findings hint at corporations and businesses in ports being inherent aspects of transition work, as well as their potential to shape the pace and direction of transition work.

Business and industry actors can engage in most transition processes and thereby influence transitions in many ways. Based on the empirical work done for this thesis, I suggest that corporate port actors contribute to shape transition work in ports in mainly two ways: *by mere existence, and as purposeful transition agents*. By merely existing and operating in the port area, port actors display the complexity that port organizations need to manage in their transition work. Port actors could be considered components of large technical systems, actornetworks or socio-technical systems that port organizations need to integrate into their system building or transition work. Actors represent different perspectives, opportunities, and challenges, which are strongly connected to the sectors and industries of which actors are a part. For example, Paper 2 shows how expectations about the future and the need to transition was tightly connected to the value chains of which actors were a part. It follows that

transition work in port organizations needs to incorporate and align the complexity represented by the heterogenous mass of port actors.

Thus, actors shape transition work by placing sector and industry-specific restraints on transition work. In Chapter 6 I have demonstrated how port organizations take actor complexity into account in visionary work, and in building and learning from networks. Here, I further argue that the degree and prevalence of actor complexity have bearings on how port organizations manage and develop their transition work. For example, the different functions of port actors imply that they orient towards different technological innovations. Hence, to incorporate different industries into the same transformation processes, port organizations need to take holistic approaches to transition work that span multiple niche innovations. The work with the concept for the future zero-emission port in Oslo is one example. Incorporating the complex mass of port actors into transition work also demonstrates the need for intermediation, which could be provided by researchers or other external facilitatory resources, or by the port organization itself (as elaborated in Subchapter 7.4). Taking on intermediation could be challenging for many ports. In fact, it seems that the first sustainability efforts of port organizations typically engaged single port users that were the most willing and progressive businesses in the port. By contrast, more systemic and encompassing approaches to transition work, which include the full width of more and less reluctant industries in the port (and the technologies relevant to them), could become more relevant as the port organization grows into and develops its role as an intermediary. Thus, progressive industries with their own explicit transition work represent an important component in the initiation of transition work.

The above discussion points to the second way that I consider actors to shape transition work, namely as autonomous agents conducting transition work of their own. This implies that many port actors are willing to promote and facilitate transition processes themselves, and to apply their own agency to do transition work that might and might not interfere with the transition work of port organizations. This suggests that the business-internal processes of corporate port actors—related to, for example, their transformational potential (Loorbach & Wijsman 2013) or business model innovation (Wainstein & Bumpus 2016)—are also relevant to the transition work of port organizations. This thesis shows that the transition work of the Port of Oslo related to the needs of port actors to demonstrate their transition work to their markets and the public. Hence, transition work was shaped by the branding of corporations, whose attempts to develop green corporate profiles were prominent features of their transition work. For instance, Shipowner1 worked to establish shore power because its operations and activities were located close to the city center, thereby making its contribution to port emissions physically visible to the public. Previous research has also pointed to how ports tend to prioritize environmental measures that abate problems with high visibility (Poulsen et al. 2018). Considering how Shipowner1 considered the public to represent potential customers, tackling visible emission problems allowed the shipowner to provide those customers with a "greener product." The prominence of green profiling in the transition work of corporations is evident in Paper 3, which shows that Shipowner2 agreed to retrofit its own vessels to comply with an already established corporate image as a frontrunner in sustainability. In the same paper, the decision of Shipowner3 to retrofit for shore power could be interpreted as efforts to maintain its own reputation, as it followed political scapegoating in local media. Hence, internal decision-making processes and rationales of all three shipowners contributed to the transition work of the port organization.

Although it is difficult to make such assumptions based on the empirical data of this thesis, the prominence of profiling perspectives among corporate port users could suggest that transition work might become an example of greenwashing, or transition washing, in which transformative change is not the endgame. In line with this, and interesting to note, the transition work of businesses and corporations did not merely follow value-laden reflections, which contrasts with understandings of transformative change agents as value-driven and dedicated to change systems in line with their own values (Haan & Rotmans 2018). Rather, economic interest also drove the transition work of businesses. Progressive port actors were typically large, profiled corporations with deep pockets, and expected long-term economic returns from investing in low-emission technologies. For instance, Shipowner 1 provided 70% of the funds for establishing the first shore power facility in the Port of Oslo. Conversely, port actors that could not demonstrate a business case struggled to initiate transition work on their own. One example was freight forwarders in Kristiansand, who were unable to shift transport to low-emission transport modes because their customers were unwilling to prioritize emission reduction over delivery times.

Collectively, the above-mentioned examples demonstrate the role of businesses and corporations in shaping transition work. They shaped transition work by merely existing as complex, heterogeneous actor-networks that port organizations needed to account for in their transition work. Business and corporations also shaped transition work by bringing own, internal transition work (or lack thereof) into the transition work of port organizations. However, the port organizations' need to include port actors in their transition work, and the perceived need of port actors to conduct transition work themselves, were not necessarily expressions of their innate desires and free spirits. Rather, they had grown from substantial pressure for transformative change, primarily following awareness of increasingly acute climate change. In the next subchapter, I pay specific attention to how pressures for change contributed to shape transition work in ports.

7.3 Shaping by landscape pressures

In the preceding subchapter I have provided examples of how niche and actor elements of socio-technical configurations contribute to shape transition work. More specifically, I have shown how transition work emerges in relation to perceptions of technologies, and through needs to manage actor complexity and respond to the internal transition work of businesses and corporations. However, the port organizations' active management and involvement of port actors also follow intentional change pressures on the landscape level.

As shown in Chapter 3, the landscape refers to the external structure and the exogeneous environment that encompass the socio-technical regime and includes both material and non-material structures (Geels 2002, Geels 2004, Rip & Kemp 1998). Landscape pressures can be long-term as well as acute (Köhler et al. 2018), and they can serve to structure the activities of incumbents while being beyond the incumbents' reach (Geels 2004). Thus, incumbents such as port organizations have typically been assumed unable to alter landscape factors

deliberately but are instead pressured by changes on the landscape level that create windows of opportunity for niche innovations. In the sustainable reorientation of transport systems, landscape pressures are typically related to increased transport demand, climate change, local pollution, energy security, and the digitization of society (Geels 2012, Nykvist & Whitmarsh 2008). Similarly, for ports, landscape pressures typically include the material and spatial contexts of the port, infrastructure, artifacts, fuel and energy prices, broad political sentiments, values, symbols, cultural beliefs, and consumption patterns. Furthermore, Damman and Steen (2021) point to increasing exogenous pressures on ports resulting from global warming, and subsequent international policy for emission reduction in ports and the maritime sector.

I relate my discussion on how landscape pressures might shape transition work to understandings of landscape pressures as intentional and unintentional pressures. Morone et al. (2016:64) consider the socio-technical landscape as a "multi-layered institution that is constantly changing and responding to both global and local activities." To increase their understanding of how the landscape level exerts pressure on the socio-technical regime, they attempted to open "the black box of landscapes" and distinguish between intentional and unintentional landscape pressures. Morone et al. consider unintentional landscape pressures to result from exogenous shocks (e.g., natural disasters, war) and/or other unpredictable activities that are not deliberately undertaken to place pressure on the regime level. This understanding mainly resembles most understandings of landscapes in sustainability transitions. However, Morone et al. depart from many scholars by drawing attention to intentional landscape pressures, which they consider to be deliberately exerted by local or global landscape actors (e.g., government and public agencies, NGOs, the public) to misalign the landscape and the regime. Thus, actors are crucial to Morone et al.'s operationalization of intentional pressure: they discuss intentional pressures that are exerted by governments on European, national, and regional levels, in addition to committing to agreements, environmental associations, certification bodies, and industry associations. Although the authors contend that intentional pressures themselves could be induced by unintentional shocks, such pressures are distinguished as deliberate attempts to induce regime shifts. This is a critical distinction, as it allows for viewing transitions and regime alterations as something that could be influenced. For example, Sovacool (2016:212) argues that the pace of transition depends on whether transition is "managed or incentivized" or whether it occurs "more naturally as a function of changes in technology, price or consumer demand." Following Morone et al. (2016), intentional pressures could be enacted through incentives and constraints (i.e., economic channels) and through advocacy and direct influence (i.e., political channels). As such, their understanding of intentional pressures strongly emphasizes how power, politics, and policy could contribute to steer transition processes.

The understanding of intentional landscape pressures presented by Morone et al. (2016) is quite broad and could encompass any policy that targets sustainability, for instance in response to exogenous climate change related pressures. Accordingly, some of the following subchapters can also be read as discussions on how transition work is shaped by policy, which is already hinted at in Subchapter 7.1. The ways in which policy might facilitate transitions have already been thoroughly addressed by transition scholars who have studied, for instance,

policy mixes (e.g. Kern et al. 2019), how policy might protect and nurture emerging niches (e.g. Smith & Raven 2012), how policy could foster technological innovation (e.g. Bergek et al. 2008), and how policy reforms could be designed with reference to transition management (e.g. Voß et al. 2009). By lending ear to Morone et al., the following discussions on the shaping of transition work depart from much of existing research on transition policy because they present policy as expressions of intentional landscape pressures. More specifically, I exemplify and discuss how transition work could be shaped by:

- i) unintentional pressures that contest existing rationalities
- ii) intentional pressures that demonstrate the need for transition work
- iii) intentional pressures that set the scope for transition work.

In common with Morone et al.'s study (2016), my discussions on how intentional pressure shape transition work center on pressures expressed by lactors in the form of governments and environmental organizations.

7.3.1 Contesting rationalities

In the research for this thesis, unintentional landscape pressures were primarily represented by intensified pressures associated with climate change, and the shaping of transition work by such pressures was found particularly evident in the Port of Oslo. Specifically, climate change pressures shaped transition work by strengthening the constitutive power of green sentiments, which in turn contested the rationalities under which the Port operated. As shown in Paper 3, the years around 2015 experienced a substantial surge in green sentiments, cumulating in the election win of green-left parties in the local election in Oslo. The rise of green sentiments also strengthened the constitutive power of those sentiments. Constitutive power originates in discourse, institutions, and practices "that cannot be traced to an actor or specific action" (Ahlborg 2017:127), and it implies that power resources are established, instituted, or enacted through, for example, social rules and norms (Avelino & Rotmans 2009:552). With a surge of green political moods on the landscape level, the Port of Oslo was increasingly compelled by orient to green norms and discourses, which contested the existing norms and rationalities the Port adhered to in its daily operations. Therefore the Port was compelled to reorient its rationality.

The rise of green constitutive power manifested in the Port's relations with the Agency for Climate, the Port's Board of Directors, and environmental organizations. As shown in Paper 3, the new city government from 2015 established the Agency for Climate to demonstrate its environmentalist profile, which reflects the increasing weight of green ideology. With the City's increasing jurisdiction over port issues, the port was now compelled to work closely with the Agency to plan and strategize the Port's transition work, which resulted in contestations between the green ideologies of the City and the business-oriented pragmatism that historically has characterized port management. The Port was particularly worried that symbolic policies would unsettle its relations with established clients and port users. Therefore, the transition work of the port needed to accommodate progressive environmental ideologies while still ensuring realism and operational feasibility in policy deliverables.

Similar considerations appeared in the Port's relation with its politically appointed Port's Board of Directors, which called for the introduction of penalty fees for cruise ferries that did not use shore power at berth. The Port was reluctant to introduce such fees because it feared they would disrupt established customer relations. Again, the Port was forced to weigh what it considered symbolic and politically motivated pressures against maintaining its professional relationship with shipowners, which was based on the Port's understanding of the economic and operational realities of shipowners. This example shows how intensified landscape pressures interfered with the business-oriented rationale that guided the Port, and how these pressures reflected in the increasing constitutive power of green rationalities.

The constitutive power of green rationalities was also exemplified in the Port's engagement with environmental organizations. Transition scholars have argued that NGOs, such as environmental organizations, play an important role in framing sustainability issues (Allan & Hadden 2017), and they could be considered representations of pressures on regimes and incumbents (Westley et al. 2011). Environmental organizations could further be considered the embodiment of green norms and ideologies. As such, increasingly green landscape pressures could enhance the constitutive power manifest in environmental organizations. One example of how transition work in the Port of Oslo responded to such power relates to the establishment of the second shore power facility, as described in Paper 3. Paper 3 shows the prominent position of the environmental organization Zero, which brokered an agreement between political wings to produce cross-partisan policy adoption. This policy directly intervened in the transition work of the Port by instructing the continued implementation of shore power for cruise ferries. Another example of the strengthened constitutive power represented by environmental organizations appeared in the Port's increasing collaboration efforts with both Zero and Bellona. As elaborated in Paper 2, the Port entered into collaboration agreements to ensure that the ambitious environmental policies that had been fiercely lobbied for by environmental organizations did not compromise the operational and commercial realities of the Port. The Port's rationale for formally connecting with environmental organizations could reflect perceptions in the Port about the constitutive power of environmental organizations in political circles. Therefore, to the Port, it was important to develop shared understandings of how the Port could and should proceed with its transition work. It expected shared understandings to ensure that the power manifest in environmental organizations would legitimatize the transition work of the port and align political expectations with the ambitions and directions of transition work in the port.

7.3.2 Demonstrating the need for transition work

In the following subchapters I demonstrate how intentional landscape pressure might shape the content and direction of transition work. As mentioned in the introduction to Subchapter 7.3, these discussions depart from the understandings of landscape pressures that many transition scholars apply, which consider landscape pressures to be exogenous macrodevelopments beyond the direct influence of actors—what Morone et al. (2016) label unintentional landscape pressures. By contrast, Morone et al. consider intentional landscape pressure to be deliberately exerted and enacted through, for instance, incentives and advocacy. In this thesis, I argue that intentional landscape pressures primarily shape transition work by demonstrating the need for transition work. For ports, this need is expressed in the many emission objectives provided by European, national and local government actors. For example, the European Union highlights ports in its "Green Deal," which aims for zero net emissions of greenhouse gases by 2050 (European Commission 2019a), and its "Fit for 55," which aims to reduce climate emissions by 55% before 2030. The Norwegian Government suggests that all ports should be emission-free by 2030, "where conditions are favorable"⁸ (Norwegian Government 2019a). Furthermore, to fulfil its ambitious emission reduction objectives, the City of Oslo expects the Port to reduce 85% of its climate emissions by 2030. These policies are all concrete expressions of the efforts of governmental actors to address climate change challenges, which represent a prominent exogenous landscape pressure on ports. As such, they also exemplify the connection between intentional and unintentional landscape pressures.

The need to conduct transition work not only derived from the awareness of climate policies and the acute needs demonstrated by ambitious emission objectives. The need to do transition work also derived from the way intentional pressures allocated accountability and responsibility for tackling climate challenges. This was obvious in the ways intentional pressures led to new or renewed issue jurisdiction in ports and cities. Although jurisdiction typically refers to the formal legal right of an actor to define policy concerning a certain issue, I would argue that an actor's awareness of its potential influence and mandate for action is equally important. During my research I found that transition work was shaped by the jurisdiction of ports over sustainability issues, and by the jurisdiction of cities over port issues. The responsibility of ports to engage with sustainability issues is demonstrated by intentional pressures both nationally and internationally. The European Union points to the role of ports in reducing climate emissions (e.g. EU 2014, European Commission 2019b), while a handful Norwegian regulations and policies demonstrate ports' environmental responsibilities. For example, the Norwegian Pollution Control Act of 1981 specifically addresses "facility owners" such as ports in matters of local pollution, stating their responsibility for the sum of emissions from areas and facilities they own. This lawfully commits public and private ports to ensure that activities in the port area do not exceed local air quality limits. Although the Norwegian Climate Change Act of 2017 does not refer to ports or other domains specifically, it commits all sectors to contribute towards national emission reduction targets. Furthermore, revised regulation on ports and waters displays a renewed focus on the role of ports in environmental issues, including reduction of climate gas emissions, sustainable port operations, and local air quality (Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries 2019, Ministry of Transport 2020) Thus, national and European landscape pressures collectively point to the responsibility of ports to deal with sustainability issues.

However, national and European pressures do not automatically translate into transition work. For instance, the extent and content of transition work has been found to vary greatly between ports (Bjerkan et al. 2021c). I suggest that one reason for this could be that the

⁸ Translated from the Norwegian source: "*Regjeringen vil i samarbeid med kommuner og havnemyndigheter ha som mål å ha utslippsfrie havner* der det ligger til rette for det *innen 2030*" (p. 7).

degrees of issue jurisdiction, such as over port issues, vary between different cities. This implies that intentional pressures on higher levels need to be substantiated, interpreted, and enacted on local levels. Paper 3 provides two examples of how modified jurisdiction shaped transition work. First, the paper shows how the Port of Oslo was gradually granted jurisdiction over sustainability issues, as expressed in the many policy documents addressing the divide between the population and the shoreside. This corresponds to the Norwegian port sector's increasing orientation towards zero emissions, and it signals a looming shift from the commercially oriented logistics hubs that ports have historically constituted. Second, Paper 3 shows how the City of Oslo was gradually granted jurisdiction over port issues, which signals a shift from the historically prominent laissez-faire approaches cities have taken to port business. Both changes in issue jurisdiction could have contributed to shape transition work because they encouraged the setting of specific policy objectives, as well as the development of specific measures. Ambitious emission reduction targets for the city as a whole compelled the City to incorporate the Port into its policy development and the port to more explicitly and ambitiously include sustainability concerns into their operations. As active governance and steering by owners appear to be important drivers in the sustainability efforts of ports (Bjerkan et al. 2021b), the city's jurisdiction over port issues is vital in setting the frames for transition work.

The prominence of city jurisdiction over port issues calls for the need to note potential differences between the public and the private port sector and the role of public port ownership. Public port owners have historically practiced non-invasive port ownership, in which ports are primarily considered regional economic engines and facilitators of transport and logistics. With increasing jurisdiction over port issues as well as sustainability issues, public port owners might become strongly inclined to engage more actively with the transition work of their ports. However, private port owners have obvious jurisdiction over port issues, but not necessarily over sustainability issues. In the private port sector, transition work could be an option when it is affordable and leads to profit, while public ports could be expected to experience pressure from owners to do transition work, despite the costs associated with it (Bjerkan et al. 2021c). Thus, while intentional pressures that shape transition work in public ports are closely related to public policy and pressures exerted through political channels, transition work in private ports could be expected to rely even more on intentional pressures exerted through what Morone et al. (2016) label economic channels (e.g., tax deductions, subsidies) or pressures from powerful collaborators or customers.

7.3.3 Setting the scope of transition work

Intentional landscape pressures contribute to set the scope for transition work. This relates to the inclusion (or exclusion) of sectors from the transition work of ports, as well as to core priorities identified by landscape actors. As explicitly discussed in Paper 1, the transition work of ports could orient towards the port domain as well as maritime and (hinter)land transport sectors. Government actors on several levels have emphasized the inclusion of the maritime sector in the transition work of ports. For instance, in its initial greenhouse gas strategy, the International Maritime Organization (IMO 2018) encouraged ports to support emission reductions in shipping in order to reduce and phase out fossil fuels. The IMO has further called for voluntary cooperation between the port and shipping sectors to reduce GHG emissions

from ships (IMO 2019), and the IMO project "Green Voyage 2050" has entered into a strategic partnership with the International Association of Ports and Harbors (IAPH) to substantiate the role of ports in transforming the shipping sector. The role of ports in transitioning the maritime sector is also evident in the European Union, as expressed in calls to grant ports the opportunity to regulate access for severely polluting vessels (European Commission 2019b:11). Similar attempts to shape transition work have been expressed by Norwegian government actors, who in new regulations stipulate that ports can vary port fees according to the emission levels of vessels (Ministry of Transport 2021), and that ports can reject and temporarily limit time in port for vessels that pose environmental threats. Thus, national landscape actors have targeted the port sector's function as nodes in maritime transport, emphasizing their importance for greening maritime transport and industries (Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries 2021, Norwegian Government 2019a). They also consider ports to be essential for ensuring the efficiency of multimodal transport chains, which is cardinal to increase the attractiveness of maritime transport and shift goods transport from road to sea (Ministry of Fisheries and Coastal Affairs 2013, Ministry of Transport 2015).

This maritime orientation on national and international levels is reflected in the maritime orientations of port organizations. By contrast, port organizations rarely orient towards land transport. Despite pollution legislation that targets pollution in entire port areas (Ministry of Climate and Environment 1981), and despite new port regulation that takes into consideration the environmental consequences of port activities that "materialize onshore" (Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries 2019), port organizations are under little pressure to orient their transition work towards land transport. This is particularly evident in Paper 1, which shows that the Port of Oslo mainly oriented towards the maritime domain. The maritime profile of intentional pressures on ports also leads to underacknowledgement of the potential of ports to transition the many other sectors they engage with, including road and rail transport, as well as industrial production activities. This implies that European and Norwegian policymakers alike should pay more attention to the potential of ports to drive transformations in the many sectors connected to them. In line with this, the European Sea Ports Organisation (ESPO) has called for a more "holistic vision on how to strengthen the role of ports as engines of growth and recovery" (ESPO 2020b).

Thus far in this subchapter I have described how intentional pressures on transition work set the scope for transition work by identifying sectors to include in those efforts. Intentional pressures could also set the scope for transition work by defining the core priorities of transition work. The maritime orientation of intentional pressures might be one reason why landscape actors nationally, regionally, and globally have all requested the same technological priorities in the transition work of ports, namely shore power and alternative fuels. To facilitate the decarbonization of shipping, the IMO has specified that ports should provide shore power and alternative fuels, for example through collaboration with alternative fuels supply chains (IMO 2019). The EU has made similar efforts to ensure that member states make LNG and shore power available in all TEN-T core network ports⁹ (EU 2014, European

⁹ "The Trans-European Transport Network (TEN-T) policy addresses the implementation and development of a Europe-wide network of railway lines, roads, inland waterways, maritime shipping routes, ports, airports and railroad terminals (...) The Core Network includes the most important connections, linking the most important

Commission 2021). In Norway, port regulations (Ministry of Transport 2020) accentuate the Ministry of Transport's right to place requirements on how ports deal with the environment, such as by implementing shore power, shoreside charging, or infrastructure for alternative fuels. Thus, national landscape actors consider ports crucial as investors, owners, and operators of shore power facilities (Norwegian Government 2019a), and as potential providers of alternative fuels to vessels, and electricity for charging and shore power (Norwegian Government 2019b). In sum, landscape actors contribute to the shaping of transition work by pushing particular technologies to the foreground, thereby forcing (some) ports to initiate technologically oriented transition work.

7.4 Shaping by normative rule developments

In the preceding subchapter I have discussed how landscape pressures contribute to shape transition work, for example by contesting rationalities or displaying the need and scope for transition work. These discussions demonstrate the potential of green norms and values to shape transition work, which is also associated with the role of regime rules in transition dynamics (see Chapter 3). Therefore, in this chapter I pay attention to how the socio-technical regime might contribute shape transition work. More specifically, I exemplify and discuss how transition work could be shaped

iv) by normative rules that produce intermediation

In this thesis I regard normative rules to derive from expectations about the increasing orientation of ports towards community management, which adds to the more conventional and business-oriented roles of port organizations. As shown in Chapter 2, taking on a community-oriented role reorients the focus of port organizations and the ways in which they deal with sustainability. During my research, the changing normative expectations of ports above all seemed to produce intermediation. In the following subchapters, I first account for emergent normative perceptions of port roles, before discussing how these shape transition work by enabling or strengthening intermediation.

7.4.1 New norms for port organizations

Although ports have multiple objectives, such as facilitating trade and business, stimulating regional social and economic growth, and developing maritime and hinterland connectivity (DNV GL 2020), Chapter 2 shows that port organizations are increasingly orienting towards their community role and objectives associated with ensuring sustainable port activities. As such, they are seeking to service a wider set of "interests, a much larger port community and a much wider range of stakeholders" (ESPO 2020c). Norwegian port organizations are also becoming aware of the need and opportunity for reorienting towards the social and environmental dimensions of ports. In total, 82% of Norwegian ports have implemented innovations and technologies intended to improve port sustainability (Bjerkan et al. 2021b), and ports that take on community management are generally more progressive in their transition work (Bjerkan et al. 2021c). This corresponds to the qualitative findings discussed

nodes, and is to be completed by 2030" (European Commission 2022). Both the Port of Narvik and the Port of Oslo are part of the network of European core ports.

in this thesis, in which the Port of Oslo in particular is characterized by renewed normative perceptions and social learning concerning its role and function.

Normative rules associated with port roles are changing for several reasons. One reason is that ports are located close to urban populations and spaces, which increasingly compels ports to orient by the needs and desires of their neighboring communities. As mentioned in Subchapter 7.1, public perceptions of ports located in urban areas are becoming increasingly important to the legitimacy of port operations, as urbanization continues and urban populations are seeking access to fjords and waterfronts. Whereas the legitimacy of ports was previously tied to their visible contribution to work and prosperity, their legitimacy is currently more closely tied to their visible contribution to air emissions, water quality, and noise. As argued by Poulsen et al. (2018), the more visible a problem appears to neighboring communities, the greater the need of ports to remedy the problem. Consequently, ports are compelled to reorient their activities and communication to preserve their support and legitimacy in the public. This implies a need for ports to change their own narratives, a sort of translation of the port role as a key component of local communities, detached from the loud and dirty business with which ports are historically associated. For example, the latest press releases from the Port of Oslo (NTB 2021) mainly revolve around design and architecture, zero-emission efforts, redevelopment of port premises, bicycle infrastructure, parks and recreation, collaboration with environmental organization, and services and events for the neighboring community. This displays how the Port is actively seeking to promote itself as a community manager that not only tends to the needs of its users and stakeholders, but also seeks to ensure amiable co-existence between the Port and the urban population. This is also evident in Paper 3, which describes how initiatives to reduce emissions from the Oslo fjord were motivated by wishes to connect the city with the fjord.

Thus, normative expectations of ports have evolved as responses to increasingly close coexistence between ports and urban populations, and are a result of ports being increasingly recognized as problem owners and decisive elements in climate and environmental policy. Papers 1–3 all shed light on changing role perceptions in the Port of Oslo. Paper 2 demonstrates how the social processes in which the Port engaged as part of its transition work were intertwined with changing perceptions of mandates and expectations experienced by the port. The paper finds that the Port of Oslo was distinguished by deep learning around role perceptions, leading the Port to take ownership of emission problems in the port area and to become a more active community manager, with an explicit aim of aligning port actors in pursuit of sustainability. Thus, the issue jurisdiction described in Subchapter 7.3 is one expression of new norms associated with the port role.

Paper 3 further shows how role perceptions evolved in symbiosis with agenda setting and policymaking. This paper demonstrated how the disconnect between the city and the fjord induced problem ownership at the Port of Oslo, which related not only to emissions in the port area but also to more existential issues related to the co-development of the Port and the City. Responding to these challenges required the Port to look beyond the port area and expand the Port's system boundaries, which also encouraged a series of policy documents and

the involvement of many stakeholders to develop solutions with high technological feasibility and public acceptance.

Based on above-mentioned accounts, as well as accounts of community management presented in Subchapter 2.2, the predominant aspects of emergent normative rules that are associated with the port role are presented in Figure 10. As evident from the figure, normative expectations of ports bear strong resemblance to many of the activities that comprise transition work, as listed in Table 5. These normative expectations could also express what types of transition work port organizations should strive to do, such as intermediation. The overview presented by Figure 10 could also inspire ports and researchers alike to define a template for practicing or measuring transition work, such as by identifying where transition efforts should be directed to allow holistic and transformative change processes.



Figure 10. Summarized normative expectations of ports.

7.4.2 Intermediation as response to new norms

Collectively, Papers 1–3 suggest that the Port of Oslo's increasing orientation towards new normative expectations required it to do more pronounced intermediary work. The community manager role, which captures many aspects of new port roles, finds its counterpart in the intermediary role,¹⁰ which has been extensively discussed by transition scholars (e.g. Kivimaa et al. 2019b, Mignon & Kanda 2018, Stewart & Hyysalo 2008). Intermediaries are considered to "perform relational work between multiple actors and technologies" (Barnes 2019:773), suggesting that intermediaries are positioned in-between different networks, actors, and institutions (Kanda et al. 2020). In an elaborate discussion of intermediaries that engage to progress transition, Kivimaa et al. (2019a:1072) refer to intermediaries as follows:

actors and platforms that positively influence sustainability transition processes by linking actors and activities, and their related skills and resources, or by connecting transition visions and demands of networks of actors with existing regimes in order to create momentum for socio-technical system change, to create new

¹⁰ Bjerkan et al. (2021c:299) explicitly juxtapose dimensions of intermediaries and dimensions of community managers.

collaborations within and across niche technologies, ideas and markets, and to disrupt dominant unsustainable socio-technical configurations.

Kivimaa et al. (2019a:1063) further suggest that current literature on intermediation "presents a wide range of interpretations of intermediaries, with varying levels of capacity to influence change, i.e. change agency (..), intent to drive sustainability transitions (..), and normativity ranging from neutral to strongly advocating a certain position (..)". Research on intermediation is therefore far from uniform. For example, intermediation can include many of the transition work activities listed in Table 5, such as the alignment of interests and visions across actors, the creation of narratives and the framing of issues, as well as lobbying, problem structuring and translation. Nevertheless, from the vast literature on transition intermediaries, it is clear that intermediation is a vital aspect of transition work. This thesis also demonstrates the prominence of intermediation in transition work and shows how intermediation might emerge in response to the new norms around the roles summarized in Figure 10. Given the multitude of potential intermediation activities, I focus my reflections on how normative expectations of the Port of Oslo led to intermediation on three bundles of activity typically considered key in studies of intermediation: configuring, facilitating, and brokering.

The Port of Oslo mainly engaged in configuring to accommodate normative expectations of the Port as a promoter of green technologies. The *configuring* of intermediaries refers to networking activities that position elements of socio-technical systems in such a way that they promote or foster systemic transformation. A comprehensive understanding of configuration focuses on how intermediaries engage in "configuring technical and social elements" (Kivimaa et al. 2019a:1071) to "align (...) multiple system elements into configurations that work" (Barnes 2019:769). Most prominent in this regard was the Port's engagement in technological configuring, which enabled the Port to implement green technologies. One example related to the introduction of shore power. As shown in Paper 3, the implementation process rested on a dialogue meeting with technology providers and users to identify feasibility challenges and preconditions for use. This meeting represented configuring between technologies and users, which is considered important to ensure that technologies cater to user needs (Bergek 2020, Sovacool et al. 2020b). Another example of configuring that promoted green technologies related to the development of the zero-emission port concept, which included the implementation of several different technologies and energy sources to improve port sustainability. This could be regarded an example of configuring that aimed at aligning a set of technologies or innovations, but also at aligning the use of those technologies (Stewart & Hyysalo 2008).

More prominently, this thesis shows that new normative expectations lead to facilitation, because facilitating is necessary for transition work to unites and enhance efforts across many actors. Stewart and Hyysalo (2008:306) describe the facilitating function of intermediaries as "providing opportunities to others by educating, gathering and distributing resources, influencing regulations and setting local rules." As *facilitators*, intermediaries can shape and encourage interactions and cooperation, vision creation, the adaption and use of technological solutions, niche development, and project realization (Kivimaa et al. 2019a). To

facilitate diffusion, intermediaries further create spaces in which innovations can grow and settle, be they physical, sociocultural, economic, or regulatory (Stewart & Hyysalo 2008). As part of the new normative expectations of ports, which to greater extent held port organizations accountable for sustainability issues and transition work in entire port areas, ports were expected to include the multitude of port actors in strategies for emission reduction and port (re)development. Thus, facilitating was necessary to unite and enhance sustainability efforts among port actors.

Several examples of facilitatory work in the Port of Oslo enabled the port to demonstrate its sense of responsibility for the constellation of transition work in the port. First, the Port set emission targets for the port area that required port users to raise their own ambitions, which, given the ambitious policies of its owner, could have been an expression of the Port's efforts to interpret and translate policy into practice (Fischer & Guy 2009:2591). Second, the Port deliberately sought to provide opportunities and resources to others, for instance by establishing a financial support scheme and aiding port users in applying for funds to invest in low-emission technologies. Third, the Port demonstrated its responsibility for transition work in the entire port area by setting rules that guided the actions and behaviors of other port actors. One example of this was the introduction of the Environmental Port Index (EPI), which allowed the port to calculate port fees on the basis of vessels' emission levels at berth, thereby economically rewarding vessels with low emissions. Fourth, and finally, the Port facilitated holistic approaches to transition work by providing direction and highlighting probable transition pathways. As shown in both Papers 2 and 3, the Port of Oslo contributed to reduce insecurity and risk perception among port users by extensive actor involvement when monitoring emissions and developing solutions for emission reduction, and by providing stepby-step strategies to fulfil reduction objectives. For that purpose, it practiced intermediation to facilitate transition through the articulation of expectations and visions (Kivimaa 2014), through reducing uncertainty, and by guiding activities (Stewart & Hyysalo 2008).

Normative rules increasingly associated with ports further point ports towards transition work that resembles brokering, which is another feature of intermediation. *Brokering* refers to activities that raise support from different actors, which intermediaries obtain by negotiating and leading dialogues to enhance understandings about technologies, their prerequisites, and impacts. These activities are also closely related to the building and mobilization of networks, for example to establish protective spaces or articulate expectations (Kivimaa et al. 2019b). Spiro et al. (2013) refer to brokering as the filling of "structural holes," as brokers fill the gap between actors who lack a direct connection to each other. Paper 2 particularly shows that networking activities were a prominent feature of the transition work in the Port of Oslo, and effective in accommodating normative expectations about, for instance, aligning interests and lobbying.

Above all, brokering activities in the Port of Oslo served to accommodate new normative expectations of collaboration and collective action. One aspect of brokering is coordination, which refers to intermediaries as go-betweens and links between actors that do not have a direct relationship (Aspeteg & Bergek 2020), which could allow intermediaries to negotiate and communicate needs and requirements between different actors (Stewart & Hyysalo

2008). As collective action and collaboration are themselves expressions of renewed norms for port roles, coordination activities obviously contributed to accommodate normative expectations. The coordinating role of the Port of Oslo is evident in all Papers 1–3. The Port of Oslo was considered an epicenter for dialogue, which encouraged interaction between port actors. As a node in actor-networks, the Port had extensive relations that provided a comprehensive overview that allowed for the development of a holistic approach to transition work. Several examples of existing transition work in the Port could be considered as having coordinative functions: the monitoring of emissions in the port area, the dialogue meeting on shore power, and the development of the zero-emission port concept. Thus, to accommodate expectations of the Port as a driver of collaboration and collective actions across the entire port area, the Port needed to know and navigate the different interests, opportunities, and obstacles related to each port actor.

In sum, Subchapter 7.4 demonstrates how expectations of ports encourage ports to incorporate intermediation in their transition work. this not only adds to the functions and competencies port organizations need to carry, but also accentuates the potential of ports to drive transitions across actors, sectors and systems.

8 Conclusions

The purpose of this thesis is to conceptualize transition work within the frames of research on sustainability transitions, and to increase understandings of the content and shaping of transition work. To do so, I have relied on understandings of agency in sustainability transitions and STS, which collectively point to the role of actors in processes of stability and change. Perspectives from sustainability transitions and STS both emphasize the roles of human and non-human actors alike, and, in this thesis, material agency is among other inherent in how transition work relates to technologies and artifacts, infrastructure, and legislation. Nonetheless, this thesis has mainly described transition work being conducted by human actors.

To increase the understanding of transition work, I have turned to a hitherto underexplored transition site, namely ports. In Chapter 2 I accounted for existing research on how ports are currently approaching sustainability issues and how the focus of ports has shifted towards community management. Previous research on port sustainability has to a large degree lacked empirical accounts of the actual experiences of ports and qualitative understandings of ways in which ports engage with sustainability. Currently, scholars typically understand sustainability efforts in ports as the implementation of specific technologies, solutions, and practices, or exnovation of unsustainable technologies or practices. To better capture the processes that precede such implementation and integrate them into understandings of wider societal change, I have drawn on perspectives that see transitions as socio-technical changes. This has enabled me to develop the concept of transition work.

8.1 The conceptualization, contents, and shaping of transition work

In this concluding subchapter, I revisit the first research question of this thesis: How could agency be operationalized to capture more fully the active dimensions that promote sustainability transitions? Although the term transition work has been mentioned by several scholars (e.g. Löhr et al. 2022, Poland et al. 2019, Skjølsvold et al. 2018, Sørensen et al. 2018), it has yet to be fully conceptualized as activities explicitly intended to drive transitions. In this thesis, I therefore understand transition work as all deliberate and purposeful activities aimed at progressing sustainability transitions. This understanding sees transition work as an element of socio-technical change processes, which are at the core of studies of sustainability transitions. Different perspectives within the field of sustainability transitions emphasize different aspects of change processes, such as experimental governance, the positioning of niche innovations, or the building of innovation systems. In discussing transition work, I have particularly drawn on the multi-level perspective (MLP), which considers change to follow interaction dynamics between socio-technical regimes, landscapes, and niches (e.g., Geels 2004). Collectively, the well of publications on sustainability transitions provides countless examples of activities that constitute transition work (see Table 5), albeit without them being conceptualized as such. The notion of transition work that I put forward in this thesis further conveys the important role of actors and agency in socio-technical change processes, as highlighted by both transition scholars and STS.

To increase attention paid to transition practices, I seek to conceptualize transition work as agency applied and directed at a particular end (i.e., sustainability transitions), and as

something that could be empirically observed. This leads to the empirical observations discussed in this thesis, and is related to the second research question of this thesis: How are actors in the port sector working to promote and accelerate transitions in and around ports? This thesis describes an array of transition work, which I have grouped into six categories: technological, visionary, policy, governance, reflexive, and relational. Technological work includes activities aimed at developing, testing, encouraging, or implementing technologies or niche innovations, whereas visionary work is dedicated to producing or aligning visions, worldviews, and strategies. This obviously relates to policy work, in which visions are expressed in specific and explicit plans and objectives. The execution of such plans and objectives is typically at the core of *governance* work, which includes elements of transition management, as well as strategic niche management and intermediation. Political transition work, such as translation of perceptions and visions, setting problem agendas and mandates, was not a prominent feature in the case ports, but is likely to increase with increasing politicization of port issues. The last two types of transition work discussed in this thesis, reflexive work and relational work, could both be considered inherent elements of any other kind of transition work. Whereas reflective transition work encompasses activities that increase knowledge and awareness or reorient perceptions, relational transition work points to engagements and interactions with other actors that enable transition work. This thesis also demonstrates how different types of transition work are intertwined, and how one type of transition work could produce other types of transition work. This leads to the last research question of this thesis, which addresses the shaping of transition work.

The third and final research question addressed in this thesis asks; how do particular forms of transition work emerge? In discussing the shaping of transition work, I have referred to how transition work emerges within the context of socio-technical configurations. I consider these to be interrelations and interconnections between elements that represent the transition dynamics described in the multi-level perspective (Geels 2004), which comprise actors, landscapes, niche innovations, socio-technical regimes, and socio-technical systems. Considering how my use of socio-technical configurations draws on understandings inherent in the MLP, my application of socio-technical configurations is also nested within the challenges that many transition scholars have identified in the MLP. For instance, the MLP has been criticized mainly for unclear distinctions between socio-technical systems and sociotechnical regimes (Smith et al. 2010, Sorrell 2018), which Geels (2011) concurs is particularly a challenge in empirical applications of the MLP. Furthermore, the regime concept could refer to the rules and institutions that guide actor behavior, while also being perceived as a broader analytical approach to describe the status quo (Smith et al. 2010). Such lack of clarity, and other criticisms levelled towards the MLP as mentioned in Subchapter 3.2.3, have often been addressed through theoretical add-ons and borrowing from established theories in different disciplines and research fields (Geels 2010, Geels 2020), such as institutional theory (Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2014, Fuenfschilling & Truffer 2016), power relations (Avelino & Wittmayer 2016), agency (Hassink et al. 2018), and actor-network theory (Prayag et al. 2020). Thus, the full set of MLP publications to date have evolved into an intricate theoretical complex that is challenging to apply empirically, especially when transitions accelerate and spread across sectors and technologies. Thus, by relying on MLP understandings to define

socio-technical configurations, both empirical and ontological challenges with delineating elements from each other (e.g., system versus regime) and operationalizing abstract constructs (e.g., landscapes) remain. However, it has not been my overall intention to engage with these perceived shortcomings of MLP. Rather, I choose to rely on the dynamics that the MLP describes as influences on transition processes, as well as influences emphasized by other strands of research on sustainability transitions, to frame discussions on how transition work emerges within socio-technical configurations.

Throughout Chapter 7, I have discussed and exemplified how socio-technical elements shaped transition work in the ports studied, and I have posed a series of claims about how transition work in ports has emerged. Discussions around these claims are summarized in Table 17. The first claim is that transition work is shaped by the *unique specificities of socio-technical systems*. The specific transition work of the ports investigated here relates to lock-ins and opportunities provided by artifacts and infrastructure, as well as opportunities provided by markets, and cultural and public discourses on ports. Discussions about unique transition contexts have also pointed towards ways in which transition work is shaped by actors and technologies, landscape pressures and normative rules.

Table 17. Summary of the claims about the shaping of transition work.

Soci	io-technical systems
•	Regulations and policies shape transition work by directing efforts.
•	Artifacts and technologies shape transition work by representing sunk costs and technological lock-ins.
•	Infrastructure shapes transition work by providing different opportunities for transition work.
	Markets share transition work by compelling norts to incorporating the market developments of their
	Markets shape rational work by competing ports to incorporating the market developments of their
•	Cultural discourse shapes transition work by pointing to perceived problems and the need for specific
	actors to solve them.
Acto	ors and technologies
•	Direct transition work towards relevant and uncontroversial niche innovations with immediate users
•	Need to manage actor complexity, and to place sector- and industry-specific restraints on transition work
•	Internal processes of business and corporations produce transition work of their own.
Lan	dscape pressures
•	Contest rationalities by increasing the constitutive power of green norms and discourses
•	Demonstrate the need for transition work by defining objectives and allocating responsibilities
•	Set the scope for transition work by defining what sectors to involve and what priorities to emphasize
Normative rules	
•	Lead to configuring by requesting green technologies
•	Lead to facilitating by encouraging transition work to unite and enhance efforts across actors
•	Lead to coordination by necessitating collective action and collaboration

I have made three claims relating to *the role of actors and technologies in shaping transition work*. First, I have shown that transition work orients towards technologies that are perceived as relevant and uncontroversial (i.e., technologies that face little competition) and technologies that are expected to be taken into immediate use. Second, I have shown that port organizations needed to incorporate the myriad of different port actors into their transition work and that high degrees of actor complexity might encourage holistic

approaches to transition work. The transition work of port organizations could also be shaped by the internal transition work of other port actors.

One of the most prominent findings in this thesis relates to how transition work emerges in response to landscape pressures. In Chapter 7 I have shown how transition work responded to intensified pressures associated with climate change, as expressed in the increased constitutive power of green sentiments and ideology. This was manifest in the Agency for Climate and environmental organizations, whose thrust compelled the Port to to reorient its rationalities from pragmatic business operations towards progressive sustainability efforts. I further claim that transition work is shaped by what Morone et al. (2016) label intentional landscape pressures, in the form of policy objectives and strategies, demonstrate pressures that are deliberately exerted to progress sustainability transitions. However, such pressures presuppose the existence of systems for politics and governance that are not only able to operationalize global and regional pressure (e.g., in the forms of international treaties and regulations), but also, independently of them, are able to define and execute progressive pressures (e.g., policy objectives) of their own. This thesis shows that the need for transition work is particularly substantiated when landscape actors define or shift issue jurisdictions, here exemplified by ports' new responsibility for sustainability issues and cities' renewed responsibility for port issues. Intentional landscape pressures also shape transition work by setting the scope for transition work. More specifically, intentional landscape pressures point to what sectors ports should engage with (or not) in their transition work, and what niche innovations should be core priorities in transition work.

The final claim of this thesis is that transition work could be shaped by normative rules that produce intermediation. Such rules emerge in the form of new expectations directed at ports, mainly related to involving their wider surroundings in such efforts. To comply with norms that include multilateral engagement, nurturing relationships, collective action, and promotion of green technologies, it is fruitful to concentrate transition work on intermediation activities. In the Port of Oslo, configuring activities around technologies and policies allowed for collaboration and renewed problem agendas, while facilitating activities allowed for promoting green technologies and practices. Finally, brokering activities–i.e., connecting and negotiating between actors –allowed for building and strengthening network relations, and fostered exchanges of knowledge and resources.

In addressing the three overall research questions of this thesis, I have explored what transition work is, what it might contain, and how it might be shaped. However, discussions in preceding chapters have said little about the potential of ports to facilitate whole-system transformations. Based on the findings of my analysis, in the following I will share some reflections on how transition work, as described in the preceding chapters, could impact the transitioning of port sectors. In doing so, I draw on the empirical work of this thesis to argue that transition work could be one way to facilitate whole-system transformations.

8.2 Transition work and transition potentials

Transition scholars have established a number of transition typologies, suggesting that transitions could occur and progress in different ways. However, the role of actors and deliberate actions is more or less absent from current discussions on transition pathways.

Rather, the discussions tend to emphasize either interactions between the different levels of the MLP (Geels & Schot 2007) or interactions between regimes (Raven & Verbong 2007). Admittedly, Smith et al. (2005) present a model of transformation in which they highlight the ability of actors to coordinate and manage responses to change pressures. Also, Geels and Schot (2007) refer to activities that are central under different transition pathways, such as voicing criticism, adjusting regime rules, and developing and adopting novelties and innovations. As such, the existing literature hints at the role of agency applied in producing specific transition pathways. As discussed in Subchapter 7.1 and explicitly addressed in Paper 2, different transition pathways might comprise different types of transition work. Paper 2 shows how the transition work in the Port of Kristiansand and Port of Oslo rested on different approaches to social transition processes, for instance expressed in the degree of incrementalism/transformation and the involvement of port actors. This shows that transition work could be understood as an active narrative on the creation of transition pathways. Further, considering the heterogeneity of ports and the socio-technical systems that surround them, this thesis shows that ports are likely to have different scopes, ambitions, and directions in their transition work and thus follow different transition pathways (Bjerkan et al. 2021b, Bjerkan et al. 2021c).

However, ports could also be considered a particularly potent site for aligning transition pathways across sectors and domains. In the following, I discuss how transition work could be one way to connect the different socio-technical configurations that ports comprise, and thereby facilitate deep transition or whole-system transformation. Considering the many different sectors, markets, and value chains that intersect in ports, the port sector represents a useful site for understanding deep transitions. Scholars who study sustainability transitions are increasingly recognizing the need to consider interconnections and interactions between socio-technical systems, and there is a need for "more sustained interest in the dynamics occurring across rather than within systems" (Rosenbloom 2020:336). Perhaps most prominent are reflections on *deep transitions*, originally formulated through the works of Kanger and Schot (Kanger & Schot 2019, Schot & Kanger 2018), who define deep transitions as "a series of connected and sustained fundamental transformations of a wide range of sociotechnical systems in a similar direction" (Schot & Kanger 2018:1045). By using the term deep transitions, they emphasize the very long timelines and path dependencies that alter sociotechnical systems (Kanger & Schot 2019, Schot & Kanger 2018). Other transition scholars refer to whole-system transformations when discussing large-scale transition processes. For example, Geels (2018b:230) recognizes that the MLP should be extended to conceptualize reconfigurations of whole systems, in which scholars "broaden [their] analytical attention from singular niche innovations to whole system change." Similarly, McMeekin et al. (2019) argue that whole system approaches are useful because system interactions reconfigure the overall system architecture. Other scholars have discussed interactions between multiple niches or multiple regimes (Konrad et al. 2008, Raven & Verbong 2007, Skjølsvold & Ryghaug 2020), sectors (Bauknecht et al. 2020, Konrad et al. 2008), or systems (Papachristos et al. 2013, Rosenbloom 2020). However, many of these scholars are "focused at interactions between regimes of the same or similar sociotechnical or societal systems" (Papachristos et al. 2013:54), suggesting that transformations spanning different sectors have received little

attention. This implies that there is a need to turn to transition sites such as those in ports, as they comprise and span a range of different sectors.

Different sectors in ports all attend to their own societal functions, such as the provision of sea transport services, waste management or terminal operations. These functions are connected to the sectors' own specific landscape pressures, regime rules, niche innovations, actors, and systems. This implies that port areas consist of several socio-technical configurations (for examples, see Figure 11), which contribute to uphold the many different societal functions in ports. Consequently, increasing our understanding of how transition work could induce transformations that span across sectors calls for attention to the full set of socio-technical configurations involved.



Figure 11. Example of socio-technical configurations in ports.

One reason for tending to socio-technical configurations in ports, is the emphasis of transition scholars on how whole-system transformations are enabled by connections between systems, or, as I argue, between socio-technical configurations. The analysis of this thesis suggests that many of the socio-technical configurations in Figure 11 interact and relate to each other, making the port sector a good example of what Rosenbloom (2020) labels "sites of interaction." As seen in Figure 12, interactions between socio-technical configurations in ports could emerge in several ways. For example, different configurations could be connected through similar socio-technical systems. Port facilities such as quays, gates, and the port area itself, are shared by several configurations that depend on them to carry out their societal functions. Socio-technical configurations can further be linked through their reliance on similar technologies and artifacts, such as cranes, port trucks and tractors, arrival/departure systems, logistics systems, goods, and containers. However, I also consider it possible for socio-technical configurations to be connected through common mindsets and through cognitive and normative orientations. As we have seen in this thesis, and particular Paper 2, port actors share many of the same problem agendas related to efficiency and economic margins, environmental reputations, unfavorable discourses around ports and transport, and an under-recognition of their attention to societal functions. Some configurations are also characterized

by certain behavioral norms, such as the lengths actors go to solve problems, and their creative ad-hoc approaches to ensuring that jobs get done.



Figure 12. Examples of connections between socio-technical configurations in ports

Thus, societal functions in ports, and the socio-technical configurations that support them, are connected in several ways, making ports an interesting case for increasing our understanding of whole-system transformations. Because such transformations depend on connections between subsystems that allow transformations to move between socio-technical configurations, transition scholars have paid attention to how systems or sectors could be delineated. They argue that different systems, regimes, configurations or sectors could be linked through metarules (Kanger & Schot 2019), complementarities (Markard & Hoffmann 2016), structural and functional couplings between elements in socio-technical configurations (Konrad et al. 2008, Rosenbloom 2020), and fulfilment of and impact on societal functions (Papachristos et al. 2013). Based on the analysis in this thesis, I suggest that following transition work could also be a useful approach to identify couplings between systems, regimes, or sectors, because the transition work that actors engage in often involves more than one socio-technical configuration. This is also reflected in the prominence of relational work pointed out in this thesis. In the following, I give three examples of how transition work could form and produce linkages between socio-technical configurations in ports and thereby promote whole-system transformation.

First, my analysis in this thesis shows that visionary transition work might connect different socio-technical configurations, as particularly demonstrated by the Oslo case. There, visionary

transition work was seen in the whole-system approach to conceptualizing the future zeroemission energy system of the port, in which the City, the Port, and its users co-developed a holistic concept that considered the port area to be a single, shared eco-system of sustainable energy sources. The concept pointed to local production of electricity and hydrogen, extensive shore power installation, the use of batteries for peak shaving, and provision of alternative fuels for trucks and long-haul, as well as smart management of all energy solutions combined (Port of Oslo 2020). Establishing and using these solutions implied the involvement of several socio-technical configurations in the port, such as those surrounding road transport service provision, shipping service provision, provision of terminal operations, and of course the provision of different kinds of energy sources. In addition to specifying solutions that might be included in the port's future energy system, the work with this concept made explicit reference to the City's ambitions of 95% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2030, which presupposes significant emission reductions in the port area as well. This committed actors in different socio-technical configurations to not only pursue specific niche innovations, but also to identify and develop transition approaches that would support and align with the City's ambitions.

Second, in this thesis I have shown that reflexive transition work might connect socio-technical configurations through learning, for example associated with DNV's Green Shipping Programme and the monitoring of port emissions. The Green Shipping Programme has provided its many members with knowledge and experience regarding niche innovations that reduce emissions from the maritime transport sector. Paper 2 discusses the role of this program as a network node joining different sectors to learn from solutions and "propel transitions", as it shared resources and developed joint expectations and visions. These examples of transition work involved actors from several socio-technical configurations (e.g. Figure 11), such as regional and local authorities, goods owners, shipowners, technology providers, and port and industry organizations. Paper 3 shows how monitoring emissions in the entire port area allowed for the identification of primary emission problems and subsequent prioritizing between transition efforts, exemplified by extending shore power to international cruiseferries. These instances of learning involved representatives of several socio-technical configurations in the port area, such as industrial companies and goods owners that relied on maritime transport services, and shipowners that provided transport services themselves.

Learning processes could have contributed to align transition work between the sociotechnical configurations in several ways. Broad learning, specifically learning about technologies, regulations, social, cultural and environmental impacts, market potential, and user preferences (Schot et al. 2016), was evident both in the Green Shipping Programme and in the emissions monitoring done by the Port of Oslo. Both aforementioned efforts could be considered to provide knowledge about technologies, as well as about the other actors involved and the realities in which they operate. In turn, this could strengthen the ability of port organizations to build and mobilize a heterogeneous set of actors and networks, as they had shared perceptions of niche innovations and shared perceptions of reality, including what are the (documented) challenges and needs when it comes to transition work. Collaborative aspects of transition work rely heavily on the ability of actors to communicate precisely and effectively, which not only requires actors to have competence in the issues they are discussing, but also knowledge of the actors with which they are discussing. Thus, the learning process could also enable or shape the mobilization of networks towards common ends. Hence, when actors in different socio-technical configurations perceive the same challenges and needs, there is reason to believe that the scopes and ambitions for transition work in those configurations would also align.

My third and final example of how transition work might connect socio-technical configurations relates to brokering, which is a prominent aspect of both relational and political transition work. Paper 1 discusses the potential influence of goods owners in negotiations on procurement of services from transport and shipping companies. The paper references discussions between procurers belonging to different socio-technical configurations (e.g., industrial production, waste management, forwarding) about placing joint requirements when buying transport services, such as those related to energy efficiency, fuels, or emissions. Although these intentions had not yet been put into practice, they suggested that port users themselves identified ways in which coordination between the sets of socio-technical configurations of which goods owners were part might collectively impact the sustainability activities in socio-technical configurations surrounding maritime transport providers.

The three examples of transition work, which spanned socio-technical configurations in the Port of Oslo, all demonstrate that the complexity of ports might allow the port sector to pursue whole-system approaches (e.g., McMeekin et al. 2019) to transition work.

8.3 Critical reflections on the nature of transition work

Throughout this thesis, I have provided many examples and discussions around the content and emergence of transition work. I will in the following supplement these with a few critical reflections around the basis for and assumptions underlying my understanding and application of transition work as a concept.

8.3.1 Incremental or transformative transition work

This thesis shows that there are many factors that might keep ports on incremental development paths, such as lock-ins to artifacts and infrastructures, intra-sectoral competition, historical emphasis on the operational functions of ports, the position of ports between different sectors and levels of governance, the autonomy of ports' business, and the lack of political interest in port issues. Consequently, most initiatives that ports have taken to improve sustainability, as described in this thesis and elsewhere, could be considered incremental technology switches. The many electrification activities in ports, such as shore power, electric cranes, tractors, and excavators, are all examples of such incremental technology shifts. These incremental steps have been strongly connected to generous public support schemes, vast power resources, and the availability of market ready technologies, implying little risk associated with their introduction. They are further enabled by visions relating to short-term policy strategies (e.g., shore power to maritime transport) that encourage sectors to harvest immediate effects. Thus, in sum, this thesis has mainly described incremental transition work done by incumbent actors, based on short-term visions that could be realized without greater alteration of existing socio-

technical systems. However, there are also examples of transition work with a more transformative character. The concept of the future zero-emission port that is under development in the Port of Oslo (Port of Oslo 2020), has involved a multitude of stakeholders from different sectors in the establishment of long-term visions and agendas that go beyond simple technology shifts (e.g., business model innovation, alternative fuel production, smart port operations, waste heat recovery).

These contrasts bring out some ontological unclarities around the concept of transition work and how transformative activities need to be in order to be classified as transition work. In this regard, it is possible to see a parallel between the transformative nature of transition work and discussions on different transition pathways, indicating how transitions might evolve through different dynamics, involving different degrees of incumbency and disruption (e.g. Geels et al. 2016). When it comes to the disruptiveness of transition work, I will make two claims. First, I argue that transition work could be placed on a continuum with incremental transition work at one end and transformative transition work at the other end of the spectrum. This argument is inspired by established ideas of what distinguishes transitions from transformations (e.g. Hölscher et al. 2018), suggesting that incremental transition work mainly orients towards technical transitions allowed within existing socio-technical contexts, whereas transformative transition work orients towards large-scale socio-technical changes across domains and societies. Following such an interpretation implies that much transition work currently being done in ports is of an incremental nature, although it is difficult to ascertain if activities that appear incremental at one point in time might hold transformative effect in the longer run (Skjølsvold et al. 2022). As such, one should take care in prematurely concluding on the transformative potential of different expressions of transition work.

My second claim is that transition work can contain both incremental and transformative elements. This is obvious from the transition work done by the Port of Oslo, where the initial transition work revolved around short-term visions for specific technological transitions within the socio-technical system into which the Port was already locked. However, that transition work has since evolved into holistic, long-term visions for the transformation of the entire port area. Hence, the port organization has arrived at a point where it works for large-scale change, while stepwise and incrementally working on modifying the socio-technical systems into which it is currently locked. This suggests that incremental transition work might be an important opening act that enables long-term visions for transformative, disruptive transition work. However, such an understanding of transition work might pose a challenge in terms of communicating the dire need for disruptive change.

8.3.2 Motives and rationales behind transition work

In Chapter 3 I have accounted for the theoretical lineage behind my conceptualization of transition work, wherein I have shown how studies of sustainability transitions depart from other approaches to socio-technical change by specifically addressing how socio-technical change dynamics could produce more sustainable societies. This directionality of sustainability transitions also implies a normative stance, which is echoed in the conceptualization of transition work suggested in this thesis: sustainability transitions *ought* to be progressed. The definition of transition work provided here stresses that activities are done "deliberately and purposively to progress sustainability transitions," and thereby fall in line with the normative

directionality of sustainability transitions research. However, this does not mean that actors themselves need to recognize or label their own activities as transition work, or that they should engage in transition work because of concerns for the climate and environment. In fact, this thesis suggests that many actors might engage in transition work—seeking to protect climate and environment—because they feel obliged or compelled to, either by landscape pressures or by market forces. Therefore, I consider it possible to seek deliberately to progress transitions also out of concern for the perseverance of own organization or corporation, as exemplified by the many corporate actors who expect they will either transition or perish. Thus, my concept of transition work emphasizes how actors deliberately and purposefully engage, but it does not require actors to display particular rationales (e.g., concern for climate) in order for their activities to qualify as transition work. This will be important to keep in mind as the quest to speed up transition grows ever more imperative.

Another challenge with the rationales that underly the transition work of actors relates to individual or collective perceptions of what sustainability transitions entail. Although I do not consider it necessary for actors to identify their own activities as transition work in order for their work to be classified as such, the empirical work in this thesis shows that many actors themselves refer to the concept of sustainability transitions. However, how they understand this term has not been explored in depth. Although the transition work of ports is explicitly tied to emission reductions and decarbonization, ports do not necessarily express explicit desires for large-scale transformative change. Thus, a broad understanding of transition work, as suggested above, might run the risk of deflating the need for disruptive change and legitimizing incremental changes that prolong the status quo. The empirical data drawn upon in this thesis points to a tendency of actors (public or private, incumbent or not) to equate and identify transition with precisely the shift towards low- or zero-emission technologies. Such understandings, especially with the increasing mainstreaming of the transition concept, run the risk of downplaying the dramatic need for behavioral and structural shifts among other expressed in ideas of deep transition (Schot & Kanger 2018). As argued in Chapter 2, similar tendencies have been observed in research on port sustainability, in which technological transitions are in the forefront. Therefore, continued research on transition work—also in the port sector—should more critically engage with how actors perceive sustainability, what sustainability transitions entail, and how actors should engage to achieving such transition. There is also reason to ask if there is need for policy that to a greater extent stipulates transformative directions for ports and other sectors. My operationalization shows that transition work also revolves around processes that are not explicitly tied to innovation, such as vision-making, political and relational work, and suggests technological innovation is by far sufficient for transformations to occur. As such, there is need for transformative policy (e.g., Kivimaa et al. 2017, Rogge et al. 2020) that recognizes the necessity of initiating transition processes with greater disruptive potential.

8.4 The future of research and ports as transformative sectors

By delving into the transition work of ports I have sought to show how actors deliberately engage to promote or accelerate transition processes. Accordingly, this thesis points to implicit and established notions and understandings of how sustainability transitions proceed. This particularly includes the different types of transition work exemplified in Chapter 6, which refers to specific domains in studies of sustainability transitions, dedicated to what role, for example, politics, power, governance, and innovation play in transition processes. However, despite leaning on understandings of agency from STS, discussions of transition work could more elaborate draw on the many different STS perspectives that engage with sociotechnical change and agency. Considering how this thesis has paid little attention to actants and material agency, I encourage future research to add nuance to concepts of transition work by emphasize more strongly non-human agencies.

Chapter 6 also hints at interconnections and dynamics between different types of transition work, such as how relational work is probably an aspect of any other transition work, whereas visionary work could be instrumental in succeeding with, for example, political work. However, in order to substantiate and better understand such dynamics, further research on transition work should more thoroughly unravel how different types of transition work are intertwined, and whether there are hierarchical relations that make certain types of transition work particularly effective in producing or accelerating transition work altogether.

A hierarchy in relations is hinted at in understandings of transition management (e.g., Loorbach & Rotmans 2010), which distinguish between difference phases of transition governance in which different activities (strategic, tactic, operational, reflexive) are conducted in a particular order. This could suggest that the order of transition work is an important aspect to consider when planning or deliberately executing transition work. Thus, looking further into the order of different transition activities, for example by explicit reference to understandings inherent in transition management, could be a useful avenue for further research. Future research could also more explicitly connect transition work to the production of specific transition pathways. The current transition work in ports is evolving along lines of transformation pathways, in which incumbent actors make adjustments—incremental or radical—to reorient the regimes of which they themselves are a part. In other domains and sectors, where locks-in in infrastructure and artifacts might be weaker, transition work might induce more disruptive change dynamics.

In discussing the shaping of transition work, this thesis draws on existing ideas of sociotechnical change processes. For example, my discussions on the shaping of transition work navigate by understandings of socio-technical configurations, which draw heavily on the multilevel perspective (MLP). However, I consider my use of socio-technical configuration to be *one* way of structuring the shaping of transition work, which to me represents more of an analytical choice than an ontological stance. That means that there may be other ways to analyze or structure the shaping of transition work. For example, it would be interesting to explore the shaping of transition work within the frames of STS perspectives, whose flat ontologies contrast the layered structuring provided by the MLP and thus the socio-technical configurations of this thesis. Furthermore, the shaping of transition work could be studied with reference to transition politics. In this thesis, shaping by politics is most evident in discussions on how intentional pressures could alter issue jurisdiction, define target objectives, or increase the pace of transition work. Politics could also relate closely to innovation processes that foster technological maturation, and function as an amplifier of role expectations that encourage intermediation (Aspeteg & Mignon 2019). Although in this thesis I have emphasized the transition work of a particular actor group (i.e., port organizations), it is clear that transition work in complex transition sites such as ports is undertaken by different actors, whose transition work might vary in itself and also respond to different political contexts and pressures.

Another potential analytical framework for expanding the study of transition work could be the geography of sustainability transitions (GOST). Damman and Steen (2021) have already pointed out the uniqueness of ports with reference to place and geographical contexts, suggesting that the scope for ports to enable transitions results partly from the interaction between local social factors (e.g., networks, capabilities, institutions), and site- and locationspecific factors (e.g., energy, industry, infrastructure, traffic). Thus, drawing more on insights from research on geography in sustainability transitions would be useful to enrich empirical explorations of the shaping of transition work and how it is shaped by local and regional settings. For example, place-specific institutions, norms, and values (Hansen & Coenen 2015, Raven et al. 2012) could produce divergent expectations of port roles and transition work in ports. Furthermore, industrial specialization at specific sites (Hansen & Coenen 2015) could determine the relevance and usability of technologies and innovation for specific ports. Others have emphasized the influence of "distanciated" policy interventions (Binz et al. 2020:2), which in Norwegian ports could materialize through EU policies for the provision of alternative fuels (EU 2014).

Hence, the shaping of transition work could probably be studied and understood from many different perspectives, and potentially from as many perspectives as there are perspectives on the nature of transitions, be they actor-oriented or process-oriented. Therefore, I would welcome attempts that add, deepen and explore further the conceptual developments of transition work done here. What is sure, is by investigating transition work as it occurs in the port sector, this thesis draws attention to a very interesting and under-researched transition site. Ports represent a potential locus for deep transition work, that, to date, have been largely overlooked by policymakers. Currently, national and European policy continues to portray a rather narrow framing of the agency of ports, exemplified by their roles as implementers, providers, or facilitators of low-emission technologies and energies. For ports to capitalize on their position as nodes in transport systems, and on their potential locus in large-scale transition processes, policy needs to move away from seeing ports as owners of incremental implementations and towards seeing ports as drivers of transformation.

References

Acciaro, M. (2015): *Corporate responsibility and value creation in the port sector*, International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications, 18 3, pp. 291-311 10.1080/13675567.2015.1027150

Acciaro, M., H. Chiara & M. I. Cusano (2014a): *Energy management in seaport: A new role for port authorities*, Energy Policy, 71 pp. 4-12

Acciaro, M., T. Vanelslander, C. Sys, C. Ferrari, A. Roumboutsos, G. Giuliano, J. S. L. Lam & S. Kapros (2014b): *Environmental sustainability in seaports: a framework for successful innovation*, Maritime Policy & Management, 41 5, pp. 480-500 10.1080/03088839.2014.932926

Ahlborg, H. (2017): *Towards a conceptualization of power in energy transitions*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 25 pp. 122-141 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.01.004</u>

Allan, J. I. & J. Hadden (2017): *Exploring the framing power of NGOs in global climate politics*, Environmental Politics, 26 4, pp. 600-620 10.1080/09644016.2017.1319017

Altheide, D., M. Coyle, K. DeVriese & C. Schneider (2008): Emergent Qualitative Document Analysis. In Hesse-Biber, S. N. and Leavy, P., "Handbook of Emergent Methods". New York:The Guilford Press

Ashrafi, M., M. Acciaro, T. R. Walker, G. M. Magnan & M. Adams (2019): *Corporate sustainability in Canadian and US maritime ports*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 220 pp. 386-397 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.02.098</u>

Aspeteg, J. & A. Bergek (2020): *The value creation of diffusion intermediaries: Brokering mechanisms and trade-offs in solar and wind power in Sweden*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 251 pp. 119640 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119640</u>

Aspeteg, J. & I. Mignon (2019): Intermediation services and adopter expectations and demands during the implementation of renewable electricity innovation – Match or mismatch?, Journal of Cleaner Production, 214 pp. 837-847 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.01.034

Avelino, F. (2017): *Power in Sustainability Transitions: Analysing power and* (*dis*)*empowerment in transformative change towards sustainability*, Environmental Policy and Governance, 27 6, pp. 505-520

Avelino, F., J. Grin, B. Pel & S. Jhagroe (2016): *The politics of sustainability transitions*, Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 18 5, pp. 557-567 10.1080/1523908X.2016.1216782

Avelino, F. & J. Rotmans (2009): *Power in Transition: An Interdisciplinary Framework to Study Power in Relation to Structural Change*, European Journal of Social Theory, 12 4, pp. 543-569 10.1177/1368431009349830

Avelino, F. & J. M. Wittmayer (2016): *Shifting Power Relations in Sustainability Transitions: A Multi-actor Perspective*, Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 18 5, pp. 628-649 10.1080/1523908X.2015.1112259

Bailey, D. & G. Solomon (2004): *Pollution prevention at ports: clearing the air,* Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 24 pp. 749-774

Barnes, J. (2019): *The local embedding of low carbon technologies and the agency of userside intermediaries,* Journal of Cleaner Production, 209 pp. 769-781 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.10.258</u>

Bauknecht, D., A. D. Andersen & K. T. Dunne (2020): *Challenges for electricity network governance in whole system change: Insights from energy transition in Norway*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 37 pp. 318-331 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.09.004

Becker, A. H., M. Acciaro, R. Asariotis, E. Cabrera, L. Cretegny, P. Crist, M. Esteban, A. Mather, S. Messner, S. Naruse, A. K. Y. Ng, S. Rahmstorf, M. Savonis, D.-W. Song, V. Stenek & A. F. J. C. C. Velegrakis (2013): *A note on climate change adaptation for seaports: a challenge for global ports, a challenge for global society,* Climatic Change, 120 4, pp. 683-695 10.1007/s10584-013-0843-z

Berg, B. L. (2001): Qualitative research methods for the social sciences. Boston:Allyn and Bacon

Bergek, A. (2020): *Diffusion intermediaries: A taxonomy based on renewable electricity technology in Sweden*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 36 pp. 378-392 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.11.004</u>

Bergek, A., S. Jacobsson, B. Carlsson, S. Lindmark & A. Rickne (2008): *Analyzing the functional dynamics of technological innovation systems: A scheme of analysis*, Research Policy, 37 3, pp. 407-429 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.12.003</u>

Berggren, C., T. Magnusson & D. Sushandoyo (2015): *Transition pathways revisited: Established firms as multi-level actors in the heavy vehicle industry*, Research Policy, 44 5, pp. 1017-1028 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.11.009</u>

Bergqvist, R. & N. Egels-Zandén (2012): *Green port dues — The case of hinterland transport*, Research in Transportation Business & Management, 5 pp. 85-91 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2012.10.002</u>

Bergqvist, R., C. Macharis, D. Meers & J. Woxenius (2015): *Making hinterland transport more sustainable a multi actor multi criteria analysis*, Research in Transportation Business & Management, 14 pp. 80-89 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2014.10.009</u>

Berkhout, F. G. H., A. Smith & A. Stirlingh (2004): Socio-technological regimes and transition contexts. In Elzen, B. et al., "System Innovation and the Transition to Sustainability". 48-75. Cheltenham:Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd

Binz, C., L. Coenen, J. T. Murphy & B. Truffer (2020): *Geographies of transition—From topical concerns to theoretical engagement: A comment on the transitions research agenda*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 34 pp. 1-3 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.11.002

Birch, K. (2017): Materiality and sustainability transitions: integrating climate change in transport infrastructure in Ontario, Canada, Prometheus, 34 3-4, pp. 191-206 https://doi.org/10.1080/08109028.2017.1331612 Bjerkan, K. Y., N. M. Bjørge & S. Babri (2021a): *Transforming socio-technical configurations through creative destruction: Local policy, electric vehicle diffusion, and city governance in Norway*, Energy Research & Social Science, 82 pp. 102294 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2021.102294</u>

Bjerkan, K. Y., L. Hansen, H. Seter & M. Steen (2021b): Implementing measures for environmental sustainability: barriers and drivers in Norwegian ports. Working Paper 03/21, Norwegian Centre for Energy Transition Strategies: Trondheim

Bjerkan, K. Y., L. Hansen & M. Steen (2021c): *Towards sustainability in the port sector: the role of intermediation in transition work*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 401 pp. 296-314 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2021.08.004</u>

Bjerkan, K. Y., H. Karlsson, R. S. Sondell, S. Damman & S. Meland (2019): *Governance in transitioning maritime passenger transport towards sustainability*, World Electric Vehicle Journal, 10 74, pp.

Bjerkan, K. Y. & H. Seter (2019): *Reviewing tools and technologies for sustainable ports: does research enable decision making in ports?*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 17 pp. 243-260

Bogner, A. & W. Menz (2009): The theory-generating expert interview: Epistemological interest, forms of knowledge, interaction. In Bogne, A. et al., "Interviewing experts". 43-80. Houndsmill:Palgrave Macmillan

Bowen, G. A. (2009): *Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method*, Qualitative Research Journal, 9 2, pp. 27-40 10.3316/QRJ0902027

Broto, V. C., S. Glendinning, E. Dewberry, C. Walsh & M. Powell (2014): *What can we learn about transitions for sustainability from infrastructure shocks?*, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 84 pp. 186-196 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2013.08.002</u>

Brown, R. R., M. A. Farrelly & D. A. Loorbach (2013): Actors working the institutions in sustainability transitions: The case of Melbourne's stormwater management, Global Environmental Change, 23 4, pp. 701-718 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.02.013</u>

Brown, T., D. Schlachtberger, A. Kies, S. Schramm & M. Greiner (2018): *Synergies of sector coupling and transmission reinforcement in a cost-optimised, highly renewable European energy system*, Energy, 160 pp. 720-739 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.06.222</u>

Burch, S., A. Shaw, A. Dale & J. Robison (2014): *Triggering transformative change: a development path approach to climate change reponse in sommunities*, Climate Policy, 14 4, pp. 467-487 10.1080/14693062.2014.876342

Calderón, M., D. Illing & J. Veiga (2016): *Facilities for Bunkering of Liquefied Natural Gas in Ports*, Transportation Research Procedia, 14 pp. 2431-2440 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.05.288

Callon, M. (1984): Some Elements of a Sociology of Translation: Domestication of the Scallops and the Fishermen of St Brieuc Bay, The Sociological Review, 32 1, pp. 196-233 https://doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1467-954X.1984.tb00113.x

Callon, M. (1986): The Sociology of an Actor-Network: The Case of the Electric Vehicle. In Callon, M. et al., "Mapping the Dynamics of Science and Technology: Sociology of Science in the Real World". 19-34. London:Palgrave Macmillan UK

Cheon, S. (2017): *The economic-social performance relationships of ports: roles of stakeholders and organizational tension*, Sustainable Development, 25 pp. 50-62

Chlomoudis, C. I., A. V. Karalis & A. A. Pallis (2003): *Port Reorganisation And The Worlds Of Production Theory*, Industrial Organization, pp.

City of Oslo (2008): The Fjord City Program (Fjordbyplanen). Agency for Planning and Building Services, City of Oslo: Oslo <u>https://www.oslo.kommune.no/getfile.php/134073-</u> <u>1421674380/Tjenester%20og%20tilbud/Plan%2C%20bygg%20og%20eiendom/Overordnede</u> <u>%20planer/Omr%C3%A5de%20-%20og%20planprogrammer/Plan%20for%20Fjordbyen.pdf</u>

City of Oslo (2016): Climate and Energy Strategy for Oslo. The City of Oslo: Oslo <u>https://www.oslo.kommune.no/getfile.php/13174213-</u>

<u>1480690015/Tjenester%20og%20tilbud/Politikk%20og%20administrasjon/Etater%2C%20for</u> <u>etak%20og%20ombud/Klimaetaten/Dokumenter%20og%20rapporter/Climate%20and%20E</u> <u>nergy%20Strategy%20for%20Oslo%20ENG.pdf</u>

City of Oslo (2019): Climate Strategy for Oslo towards 2030. Byrådssak 2014/19, City of Oslo: Oslo <u>https://tjenester.oslo.kommune.no/ekstern/einnsyn-</u> <u>fillager/filtjeneste/fil?virksomhet=976819837&filnavn=byr%2F2019%2Fbr1%2F2019029283-</u> <u>2129575.pdf</u>

Coenen, L., P. Benneworth & B. Truffer (2012): *Toward a spatial perspective on sustainability transitions*, Research Policy, 41 6, pp. 968-979 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.02.014</u>

Damman, S. & M. Steen (2021): A socio-technical perspective on the scope for ports to enable energy transition, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 91 pp. 102691 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102691</u>

De Langen, P. W. (2007): Stakeholders, conflicting interests and governance in port clusters. In Brooks, M. R. and Cullinane, K., "Devolution, Port Governance and Port Performance". 457-477. Amsterdam:Elsevier

Di Vaio, A., L. Varriale & F. Alvino (2018): *Key performance indicators for developing environmentally sustainable and energy efficient ports: Evidence from Italy*, Energy Policy, 122 pp. 229-240 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.07.046</u>

DNV GL (2020): Port: Green Gateways to Europe. 10 Transitions to turn ports into decarbonization hubs, downloaded from https://download.dnvgl.com/green-ports?portmain=1, November 17th 2020

Duygan, M., M. Stauffacher & G. Meylan (2019): *A heuristic for conceptualizing and uncovering the determinants of agency in socio-technical transitions*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, pp. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.02.002</u>

Dwarakish, G. S. & A. M. Salim (2015): *Review on the Role of Ports in the Development of a Nation*, Aquatic Procedia, 4 pp. 295-301 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqpro.2015.02.040</u>

Elder-Vass, D. (2008): *Searching for realism, structure and agency in Actor-Network Theory*, The British Journal of Sociology, 59 1, pp. 455-473

Elzen, B., F. W. Geels, C. Leeuwis & B. van Mierlo (2011): *Normative contestation in transitions 'in the making': Animal welfare concerns and system innovation in pig husbandry,* Research Policy, 40 2, pp. 263-275 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.09.018</u>

Erlinghagen, S. & J. Markard (2012): *Smart grids and the transformation of the electricity sector: ICT firms as potential catalysts for sectoral change*, Energy Policy, 51 C, pp. 895-906

ESPO (2019): ESPO Environmental Report 2019. European Sea Ports Organisation: Brussels https://www.espo.be/media/Environmental%20Report-2019%20FINAL.pdf

ESPO (2020a): ESPO Environmental Report 2020. European Sea Ports Organisation: Brussels https://www.espo.be/media/Environmental%20Report-WEB-FINAL.pdf

ESPO (2020b): EU Mobility Strategy paves the way for Green Deal implementation but needs a vision on seaports as engines of growth and recovery, downloaded from https://www.espo.be/media/2020.12.16_Mobility%20strategy.pdf, 2021.04.27

ESPO (2020c): Position of the European Sea Ports Organisation on a Strategy for Sustainable and Smart Mobility downloaded from

https://www.espo.be/media/2020.09.29%20Transport%20Strategy%20ESPO%20Position%2 0Paper.pdf, 2021.04.27

ESPO (2020d): TEN-E review must recognise seaports as key players in the energy sector, downloaded from

https://www.espo.be/media/2020.12.03%20ESPO%20TEN%20E%20Review%20Position.pdf, 2021.04.27

ESPO (2021): ESPO Environmental Report 2021. European Sea Ports Organisation: Brussels https://www.espo.be/media/ESP-2844%20(Sustainability%20Report%202021)_WEB.pdf

EU (2014): On the deployment of alternative fuels infrastructure Directive 2014/94/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 October 2014,

https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/d414289b-5e6b-11e4-9cbe-01aa75ed71a1/language-en

European Commission (2016): On the implementation of the EU Maritime Transport Strategy 2009-2018. Comission Staff Working Document,

https://ec.europa.eu/transport/sites/transport/files/swd2016 326.pdf

European Commission (2019a): A European Green Deal, downloaded from https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en, 2021.06.17

European Commission (2019b): The European Green Deal, downloaded from <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:b828d165-1c22-11ea-8c1f-01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/DOC 1&format=PDF</u>, 2021.04.27

European Commission (2021): European Green Deal: Commission proposes transformation of EU economy and society to meet climate ambitions. Press release July 14th 2021, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_21_3541</u>

European Commission (2022): Trans-European Transport Network (TEN-T), downloaded from <u>https://transport.ec.europa.eu/transport-themes/infrastructure-and-investment/trans-european-transport-network-ten-t_en</u>, 2022.04.19

European Environment Agency (2017): Trends in atmospheric concentrations of CO2 (ppm), CH4 (ppb) and N2O (ppb), between 1800 and 2017, downloaded from https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/daviz/atmospheric-concentration-of-carbon-dioxide-5#tab-

<u>chart 5 filters=%7B%22rowFilters%22%3A%7B%7D%3B%22columnFilters%22%3A%7B%22p</u> <u>re config polutant%22%3A%5B%22CO2%20(ppm)%22%5D%7D%7D, 2022.02.02</u>

European Union (2017a): Priorities for the EU's maritime transport policy until 2020: Competitiveness, Decarbonisation, Digitalisation to ensure global connectivity, an efficient internal market and a world-class maritime cluster. Council of the European Union: Brussels <u>http://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-8180-2017-INIT/en/pdf</u>

European Union (2017b): Regulation (EU) 2017/352 Establishing a framework for the provision of port services and common rules on the financial transparency of ports, downloaded from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32017R0352&from=EN, 2021.09.02

Fanaposten (2013): Godshavn-motstand på Facebook. Fanaposten, https://www.fanaposten.no/nyheter/godshavn-motstand-pafacebook/lgcmjD!ef8fbcfe575c482ab84b9fdcca4c581f/, June 25th 2018

Fenton, P. (2017): The role of port cities and transnational municipal networks in efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions on land and at sea from shipping – An assessment of the World Ports Climate Initiative, Marine Policy, 75 pp. 271-277 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.12.012

Ferrari, C., F. Parola & A. Tei (2015): *Governance models and port concessions in Europe: Commonalities, critical issues and policy perspectives,* Transport Policy, 41 pp. 60-67 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2015.03.012</u>

Figenbaum, E. (2017): *Perspectives on Norway's supercharged electric vehicle policy*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 25 pp. 14-34 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2016.11.002</u>

Fischer, J. & S. Guy (2009): *Re-interpreting Regulations: Architects as Intermediaries for Low-carbon Buildings*, Urban Studies, 46 12, pp. 2577-2594 10.1177/0042098009344228

Fischer, L. B. & J. Newig (2016): *Importance of Actors and Agency in Sustainability Transitions: A Systematic Exploration of the Literature*, Sustainability, 8 5, pp. 21 10.3390/su8050476

Foxon, T. J. (2007): Technological lock-in and the role of innovation. In Atkinson, G. et al., "Handbook of Sustainable Development". 140-152. Cheltenham:Edward Elgar

Fraedrich, E., S. Beiker & B. Lenz (2015): *Transition pathways to fully automated driving and its implications for the sociotechnical system of automobility*, European Journal of Futures Research, 3 1, pp. 11 10.1007/s40309-015-0067-8

Frantzeskaki, N., S. Jhagroe & M. Howlett (2016): *Greening the state? The framing of sustainability in Dutch infrastructure governance*, Environmental Science & Policy, 58 pp. 123-130 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2016.01.011</u>

Frantzeskaki, N. & D. Loorbach (2010): *Towards governing infrasystem transitions: Reinforcing lock-in or facilitating change?*, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 77 8, pp. 1292-1301 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2010.05.004</u>

Fuenfschilling, L. & B. Truffer (2014): *The structuration of socio-technical regimes*— *Conceptual foundations from institutional theory*, Research Policy, 43 4, pp. 772-791 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.10.010</u> Fuenfschilling, L. & B. Truffer (2016): *The interplay of institutions, actors and technologies in socio-technical systems — An analysis of transformations in the Australian urban water sector,* Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 103 pp. 298-312 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.11.023</u>

Fædrelandsvennen (2017): Planer om ny havn møter motstand. Fædrelandsvennen, <u>https://www.fvn.no/nyheter/lokalt/i/GVQz9/Planer-om-ny-havn-moter-motstand</u>, June 25th 2018

Geels, F. W. (2002): *Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: a multi-level perspective and a case-study*, Research Policy, 31 8, pp. 1257-1274 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00062-8</u>

Geels, F. W. (2004): From sectoral systems of innovation to socio-technical systems: Insights about dynamics and change from sociology and institutional theory, Research Policy, 33 6, pp. 897-920 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2004.01.015</u>

Geels, F. W. (2005): *The dynamics of transitions in socio-technical systems: A multi-level analysis of the transition pathway from horse-drawn carriages to automobiles (1860–1930),* Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 17 4, pp. 445-476 10.1080/09537320500357319

Geels, F. W. (2007a): *Feelings of discontent and the promise of middle range theory for STS*, Science, Technology, & Human Values, 32 6, pp. 327-651 10.1177/016224390303597

Geels, F. W. (2007b): *Transformations of Large Technical Systems: A Multilevel Analysis of the Dutch Highway System (1950-2000)*, Science, Technology, & Human Values, 32 2, pp. 123-149 10.1177/0162243906293883

Geels, F. W. (2010): Ontologies, socio-technical transitions (to sustainability), and the multilevel perspective, Research Policy, 39 4, pp. 495-510 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.022

Geels, F. W. (2011): *The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 1 pp. 24-40

Geels, F. W. (2012): A socio-technical analysis of low-carbon transitions: introducing the multi-level perspective into transport studies, Journal of Transport Geography, 24 pp. 471-482 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.01.021</u>

Geels, F. W. (2014): *Regime Resistance against Low-Carbon Transitions: Introducing Politics and Power into the Multi-Level Perspective*, Theory, Culture & Society, 31 5, pp. 21-40 10.1177/0263276414531627

Geels, F. W. (2018a): *Disruption and low-carbon system transformation: Progress and new challenges in socio-technical transitions research and the Multi-Level Perspective*, Energy Research & Social Science, 37 pp. 224-231 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.010</u>

Geels, F. W. (2018b): Low-carbon transition via system reconfiguration? A socio-technical whole system analysis of passenger mobility in Great Britain (1990–2016), Energy Research & Social Science, 46 pp. 86-102 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.07.008</u>

Geels, F. W. (2020): *Micro-foundations of the multi-level perspective on socio-technical transitions: Developing a multi-dimensional model of agency through crossovers between social constructivism, evolutionary economics and neo-institutional theory*, Technological
Forecasting and Social Change, 152 pp. 119894 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119894

Geels, F. W. & R. Kemp (2007): *Dynamics in socio-technical systems: Typology of change processes and contrasting case studies*, Technology in Society, 29 4, pp. 441-455 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2007.08.009</u>

Geels, F. W., F. Kern, G. Fuchs, N. Hinderer, G. Kungl, J. Mylan, M. Neukirch & S. Wassermann (2016): *The enactment of socio-technical transition pathways: A reformulated typology and a comparative multi-level analysis of the German and UK low-carbon electricity transitions (1990–2014)*, Research Policy, 45 4, pp. 896-913 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.01.015

Geels, F. W. & J. Schot (2007): *Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways*, Research Policy, 36 3, pp. 399-417 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.003</u>

Geels, F. W. & W. A. Smit (2000): *Failed technology futures: pitfalls and lessons from a historical survey*, Futures, pp. 867-885

Geels, F. W. & B. Verhees (2011): *Cultural legitimacy and framing struggles in innovation journeys: A cultural-performative perspective and a case study of Dutch nuclear energy (1945–1986),* Technological Forecasting & Social Change, 78 pp. 910-930

Genus, A. (2016): Sustainability Transitions: A Discourse-institutional Perspective. In Brauch, H. et al., "Handbook on Sustainability Transition and Sustainable Peace". Charm:Springer International Publishing

Genus, A. & A.-M. Coles (2008): *Rethinking the multi-level perspective of technological transitions*, Research Policy, 37 9, pp. 1436-1445 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.05.006

Gernert, M., H. El Bilali & C. Strassner (2018): *Grassroots Initiatives as Sustainability Transition Pioneers: Implications and Lessons for Urban Food Systems*, Urban Science, 2 1, pp. 23

Ghosh, B. & J. Schot (2019): *Towards a novel regime change framework: Studying mobility transitions in public transport regimes in an Indian megacity*, Energy Research & Social Science, 51 pp. 82-95 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.12.001</u>

Gibbs, D., P. Rigot-Muller, J. Mangan & C. Lalwani (2014): *The role of sea-ports in end-to-end maritime transport chain emissions*, Energy Policy, 64 pp. 337-348

Giddens, A. (1984): The Constitution of Society. Outline of the Theory of Structuration. Berkley and Los Angeles:University of California Press

Gillessen, B., H. Heinrichs, J. F. Hake & H. J. Allelein (2019): *Natural gas as a bridge to sustainability: Infrastructure expansion regarding energy security and system transition*, Applied Energy, 251 pp. 113377 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113377</u>

Gliedt, T., C. E. Hoicka & N. Jackson (2018): *Innovation intermediaries accelerating environmental sustainability transitions,* Journal of Cleaner Production, 174 pp. 1247-1261 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.11.054</u>

Gonzales-Aregall, M., R. Bergqvist & J. Monios (2019): Port-driven measures for incentivizing sustainable hinterland transport. In Bergqvist, R. and Monios, J., "Green Ports. Inland and

seaside sustainable transportation strategies". 193-210. Amsterdam, Oxford UK and Cambridge Massachussetts:Elsevier

Goodman, L. A. (1961): *Snowball Sampling*, The Annals of Mathematical Statistics, 32 1, pp. 148-170

Grin, J., J. Rotmans & J. Schot (2011): *On patterns and agency in transition dynamics: Some key insights from the KSI programme*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 11, pp. 76-81 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.04.008</u>

Gubrium, J. F. & J. A. Holstein (1997): The new language of qualitative method. Oxford:Oxford University Press

Haan, F. J. d. & J. Rotmans (2018): *A proposed theoretical framework for actors in transformative change*, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 128 pp. 275-286 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.12.017</u>

Hamann, K. R. S., J. R. Holz & G. Reese (2021): *Coaching for a Sustainability Transition: Empowering Student-Led Sustainability Initiatives by Developing Skills, Group Identification, and Efficacy Beliefs,* Frontiers in Psychology, 12 pp. 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.623972

Hansen, T. & L. Coenen (2015): *The geography of sustainability transitions: Review, synthesis and reflections on an emergent research field*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 17 pp. 92-109 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2014.11.001</u>

Hassink, J., J. Grin & W. Hulsink (2018): Enriching the multi-level perspective by better understanding agency and challenges associated with interactions across system boundaries. The case of care farming in the Netherlands: Multifunctional agriculture meets health care, Journal of Rural Studies, 57 pp. 186-196 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2017.12.018</u>

Haukkala, T. (2018): A struggle for change—The formation of a green-transition advocacy coalition in Finland, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 27 pp. 146-156 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.12.001

Hekkert, M. P., R. A. A. Suurs, S. O. Negro, S. Kuhlmann & R. E. H. M. Smits (2007): *Functions* of innovation systems: A new approach for analysing technological change, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 74 4, pp. 413-432 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2006.03.002

Hendriks, C. M. & J. Grin (2007): *Contextualizing Reflexive Governance: the Politics of Dutch Transitions to Sustainability*, Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 9 3-4, pp. 333-350 10.1080/15239080701622790

Hess, D. J. (2014): *Sustainability transitions: A political coalition perspective*, Research Policy, 43 2, pp. 278-283 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.10.008</u>

Hess, D. J. & B. K. Sovacool (2020): Sociotechnical matters: Reviewing and integrating science and technology studies with energy social science, Energy Research & Social Science, 65 pp. 101462 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101462</u>

Hoffman, J. (2013): *Theorizing power in transition studies: the role of creativity and novel practices in structural change*, Policy Sciences, 46 3, pp. 257-275

Holstein, J. A. & J. F. Gubrium (1995): The active interview. Thousand Oaks:Sage

Hossain, M. (2016): *Grassroots innovation: A systematic review of two decades of research*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 137 pp. 973-981 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.140</u>

Hossain, T., M. Adams & T. R. Walker (2019): *Sustainability initiatives in Canadian ports*, Marine Policy, 106 pp. 103519 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103519</u>

Howcroft, D., N. Mitev & M. Wilson (2004): What we may learn from the osicla shaping of technology appraoch. In Mingers, J. and Willcocks, L., "Social theory and philosofy for information systems". 329-371. Chichester:John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Hsieh, H.-F. & S. E. Shannon (2005): *Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis*, 15 9, pp. 1277-1288 10.1177/1049732305276687

Hughes, T. P. (1983): Networks of power. Electrification in Western Society 1880-1930. Baltimore, Maryland: The John Hopskins University Press

Hughes, T. P. (1987): The evolution of large technical systems. In Bijker, W. E. et al., "The Social Construction of Technological Systems. New Directions in the Sociology and History of Technology". 55-82. Massachusetts:MIT Press

Hyysalo, S., M. Johnson & J. K. Juntunen (2017): *The diffusion of consumer innovation in sustainable energy technologies*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 162 pp. S70-S82 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.045</u>

Hölscher, K., N. Frantzeskaki & D. Loorbach (2019): *Steering transformations under climate change: capacities for transformative climate governance and the case of Rotterdam, the Netherlands*, Regional Environmental Change, 19 pp. 791-805 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1329-3</u>

Hölscher, K., J. M.Wittmayer & DerkLoorbach (2018): *Transition versus transformation: What's the difference?*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 27 pp. 1-3 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.10.007</u>

IMO (2018): Initial IMO strategy on reduction of GHG emissions from ships. International Maritime Organization:

http://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/Documents/Resolution%20MEPC.304(72)%20on%20Initia I%20IMO%20Strategy%20on%20reduction%20of%20GHG%20emissions%20from%20ships.p df

IMO (2019): Resolution MEPC.323(74) (adopted on 17 May 2019) Invitation to member states to encourage voluntary cooperation between the port and shipping sectors to contribute to reducing GHG emissions from ships, downloaded from https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/Environment/Documents/Resolution

https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/Environment/Documents/Resolution 323(74).pdf, 2021.06.17

IPCC (2021): Summary for Policy Makers. In Masson-Delmotte, V. et al., "Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change".

IPCC (2022): Climate Change 2022. Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change:

https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FinalDraft_FullRe port.pdf Jasanoff, S. (2015): Future imperfect: science, technology and the imagniations of modernity. In Jasanoff, S. and Kim, S.-H., "Dreamscapes of modernity. Sociotechnical imagniaries and the fabrication of power". 1-33.

Jauhiainen, J. S. (1995): *Waterfront redevelopment and urban policy: The case of Barcelona, Cardiff and Genoa*, European Planning Studies, 3 1, pp. 3-23 10.1080/09654319508720287

Jia, H., R. Adland, V. Prakash & T. Smith (2017): *Energy efficiency with the application of Virtual Arrival policy*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 54 pp. 50-60 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.04.037</u>

Johnson, H. & L. Styhre (2015): Increased energy efficiency in short sea shipping through decreased time in port, Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 71 pp. 167-178 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2014.11.008

Kanda, W., M. Kuisma, P. Kivimaa & O. Hjelm (2020): *Conceptualising the systemic activities of intermediaries in sustainability transitions,* Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 36 pp. 449-465 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.01.002</u>

Kanger, L. & J. Schot (2019): *Deep transitions: Theorizing the long-term patterns of sociotechnical change*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 32 pp. 7-21 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2018.07.006</u>

Kern, F. (2015): *Engaging with the politics, agency and structures in the technological innovation systems approach*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 16 pp. 67-69 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.07.001</u>

Kern, F. & M. Howlett (2009): *Implementing transition management as policy reforms: a case study of the Dutch energy sector*, Policy Sciences, 42 4, pp. 391 10.1007/s11077-009-9099-x

Kern, F. & K. S. Rogge (2018): *Harnessing theories of the policy process for analysing the politics of sustainability transitions: A critical survey,* Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 27 pp. 102-117 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.11.001</u>

Kern, F., K. S. Rogge & M. Howlett (2019): *Policy mixes for sustainability transitions: New approaches and insights through bridging innovation and policy studies,* Research Policy, 48 10, pp. 103832 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103832</u>

Kingdon, J. W. (1984): Agendas, Alternatives, and Public Policies. Boston:Little Brown & Co.

Kivimaa, P. (2014): Government-affiliated intermediary organisations as actors in systemlevel transitions, Research Policy, 43 8, pp. 1370-1380 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.02.007

Kivimaa, P., W. Boon, S. Hyysalo & L. Klerkx (2019a): *Towards a typology of intermediaries in sustainability transitions: A systematic review and a research agenda*, Research Policy, 48 4, pp. 1062-1075 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.10.006</u>

Kivimaa, P., S. Hyysalo, W. Boon, L. Klerkx, M. Martiskainen & J. Schot (2019b): *Passing the baton: How intermediaries advance sustainability transitions in different phases*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 31 pp. 110-125 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.01.001</u>

Kivimaa, P., H.-L. Kangas & D. Lazarevic (2017): *Client-oriented evaluation of 'creative destruction' in policy mixes: Finnish policies on building energy efficiency transition*, Energy Research & Social Science, 33 pp. 115-127 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.002</u>

Kivimaa, P. & F. Kern (2016): *Creative destruction or mere niche support? Innovation policy mixes for sustainability transitions*, Research Policy, 45 1, pp. 205-217 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.09.008

Klitkou, A., S. Bolwig, T. Hansen & NinaWessbergd (2015): *The role of lock-in mechanisms in transition processes: The case of energy for road transport*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 16 pp. 22-37 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.07.005</u>

Komatsu Cipriani, T., C. Kaletka & B. Pelka (2020): *Transition through design: enabling innovation via empowered ecosystems*, European Planning Studies, 28 5, pp. 1010-1025 10.1080/09654313.2019.1680612

Konrad, K., B. Truffer & J.-P. Voß (2008): *Multi-regime dynamics in the analysis of sectoral transformation potentials: evidence from German utility sectors,* Journal of Cleaner Production, 16 11, pp. 1190-1202 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2007.08.014</u>

Kooiman, J. (2003): Governing as Governance. London:SAGE Publications

Kungl, G. (2015): Stewards or sticklers for change? Incumbent energy providers and the politics of the German energy transition, Energy Research & Social Science, 8 pp. 13-23 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.04.009

Köhler, J., F. Geels, F. Kern, E. Onsongo, A. Wieczorek, F. Alkemaade, F. Avelino, A. Bergek, F. Boons, H. Bulkeley, L. Fuenfschilling, D. Hess, G. Holtz, S. Hyysalo, K. Jenkins, P. Kivimaa, J. Markard, M. Martiskainen, A. McMeekin, M. S. Mühlemeier, B. Nykvist, B. Pel, R. Raven, H. Rohracher, B. Sandén, J. Schot, B. Sovacool, B. Turnheim, J. v. d. Bergh, D. Welch & P. Wells (2017): A research agenda for the Sustainability Transitions Research Network. Sustainability Transitions Research Network: https://transitionsnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/STRN Research Agenda 2017.pdf

Köhler, J., F. W. Geels, F. Kern, J. Markard, A. Wieczorek, F. Alkemade, F. Avelino, A. Bergek, F. Boons, L. Fünfschilling, D. Hess, G. Holtz, S. Hyysalo, K. Jenkins, P. Kivimaa, M. Martiskainen, A. McMeekin, M. S. Mühlemeier, B. Nykvist, Elsie Onsongo, B. Pel, R. Raven, H. Rohracher, B. Sandén, Johan Schot, B. Sovacool, B. Turnheim, D. Welch & P. Wells (2019): A research agenda for sustainability transitions research: state of the art and future directions. Sustainability Transitions Research Network: <u>https://transitionsnetwork.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/STRN_Research_Agenda_2017.pdf</u>

Köhler, J., B. Turnheim & M. Hodson (2018): Low carbon transitions pathways in mobility: Applying the MLP in a combined case study and simulation bridging analysis of passenger transport in the Netherlands, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, pp. 119314 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.06.003

Latour, B. (1987): Science in action. How to follow scientists and engneers through society. Cambridge, Massachusetts:Harvard University Press

Latour, B. (1996): On actor-network theory: A few clarifications, Soziale Welt, 47 4, pp. 369-381

Latour, B. (1999): *On Recalling Ant*, The Sociological Review, 47 1_suppl, pp. 15-25 10.1111/j.1467-954X.1999.tb03480.x

Law, J. (1992): Notes on the theory of the actor-network: Ordering, strategy, and heterogeneity, Systems practice, 5 4, pp. 379-393 10.1007/BF01059830

Lawhon, M. & J. T. Murphy (2012): *Socio-technical regimes and sustainability transitions:Insights from political ecology*, Progress in Human Geography, 36 3, pp. 354-378 10.1177/0309132511427960

Lemos, M. C. & A. Agrawal (2006): *Environmental Governance*, Annual Review of Environmental Resources, 31 pp. 297-325

Lim, S., S. Pettit, W. Abouarghoub & A. Beresford (2019): *Port sustainability and performance: A systematic literature review*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 72 pp. 47-64 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2019.04.009</u>

Lindberg, M. B., J. Markard & A. D. Andersen (2019): *Policies, actors and sustainability transition pathways: A study of the EU's energy policy mix*, Research Policy, 48 10, pp. 103668 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.09.003</u>

Linder, A. (2018): *Explaining shipping company participation in voluntary vessel emission reduction programs*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 61 pp. 234-245 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.07.004</u>

Lockwood, M., C. Kuzemko, C. Mitchell & R. Hoggett (2017): *Historical institutionalism and the politics of sustainable energy transitions: A research agenda*, Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space, 35 2, pp. 312-333 10.1177/0263774x16660561

Loorbach, D. (2007): *Governance for sustainability*, Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy, 3 2, pp. 1-4 10.1080/15487733.2007.11907996

Loorbach, D. (2010): *Transition management for sustainable development: A prescriptive, complexity-based governance framework*, Governance, 23 1, pp. 161-183 10.1111/j.1468-0491.2009.01471.x

Loorbach, D., N. Frantzeskaki & F. Avelino (2017): *Sustainability Transitions Research: Transforming Science and Practice for Societal Change*, Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 42 1, pp. 599-626 10.1146/annurev-environ-102014-021340

Loorbach, D., N. Frantzeskaki & R. L. Huffenreuter (2015): *Transition management. Taking stock from governance experimentation*, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 58 pp. 48-66

Loorbach, D. & J. Rotmans (2010): *The practice of transition management: Examples and lessons from four distinct cases*, Futures, 42 3, pp. 237-246 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2009.11.009

Loorbach, D. & H. Shiroyama (2016): The Challenge of Sustainable Urban Development and Transforming Cities. In Loorbach, D. et al., "Governance of Urban Sustainability Transitions. European and Asian Experiences". 3-12. Springer

Loorbach, D. & K. Wijsman (2013): *Business transition management: exploring a new role for business in sustainability transitions*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 45 pp. 20-28 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.11.002</u>

López-Aparicio, S., D. Tønnesen, T. N. Thanh & H. Neilson (2017): *Shipping emissions in a Nordic port: Assessment of mitigation strategies*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 53 pp. 205-216 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.04.021</u>

Lozano, R., L. Fobbe, A. Carpenter & K. Sammalisto (2019): *Analysing sustainability changes in seaports: Experiences from the Gävle Port Authority*, Sustainable Development, 27 3, pp. 409-418 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1913</u>

Löhr, M., C. Chlebna & J. Mattes (2022): *From institutional work to transition work: Actors creating, maintaining and disrupting transition processes*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 42 pp. 251-267 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2021.12.005</u>

Markard, J. & V. H. Hoffmann (2016): *Analysis of complementarities: Framework and examples from the energy transition*, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 111 pp. 63-75 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.06.008</u>

Markard, J. & B. Truffer (2008): Actor-oriented analysis of innovation systems: exploring micro–meso level linkages in the case of stationary fuel cells Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 20 4, pp. 443-464 10.1080/09537320802141429

Markard, J., S. Wirth & B. Truffer (2016): *Institutional dynamics and technology legitimacy* – *A framework and a case study on biogas technology*, Research Policy, 45 1, pp. 330-344 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.10.009</u>

Mayntz, R. (2003): New challenges to governance theory. In Bang, H. P., "Governance as social and political communication". Manchester:Manchester University Press

McMeekin, A., F. W. Geels & M. Hodson (2019): *Mapping the winds of whole system reconfiguration: Analysing low-carbon transformations across production, distribution and consumption in the UK electricity system (1990–2016)*, Research Policy, 48 5, pp. 1216-1231 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.12.007</u>

Meuser, M. & U. Nagel (2009): Experts and Changes in Knowledge Production. In Bogner, A. et al., "Interviewing experts". 17-42. Houndsmill:Palgrave Macmillan

Michael, M. (2017): Actor-Network Theory. Trials, trails and translations. London:Sage Publications

Mignon, I. & W. Kanda (2018): *A typology of intermediary organizations and their impact on sustainability transition policies*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 29 pp. 100-113 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2018.07.001</u>

Ministry of Climate and Environment (1981): Forurensningsloven [Law on protection from pollutions and waste], downloaded from <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/1981-03-13-6?q=forurensingsloven</u>, 2021.09.02

Ministry of Climate and Environment (2017): Lov om klimamål (klimaloven) [Law on climate targets (Climate Act)], downloaded from <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/2017-06-16-60?q=klimaloven</u>, 2021.09.02

Ministry of Climate and Environment (2020): Klimaplan for 2021-2030 [Climate Plan for 2021-2030], downloaded from <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-st.-13-20202021/id2827405/</u>, 2021.09.02

Ministry of Fisheries and Coastal Affairs (2013): Strategi. Mer gods på sjø. Regjeringens strategi for økt nærskipsfart [Strategy. More goods on sea. The government's strategy for increase coastal shipping], downloaded from

https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/fkd/naerskipsfartsstrategi 2013.pdf, 2021.06.16

Ministry of Local Government and Regional Development (2008): Lov om planlegging og byggesaksbehandling (plan- og bygningsloven) [Law on planning and building], downloaded from https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/2008-06-27-71, 2021.09.02

Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries (2007): Lov om skipsssikkerhet [Law on ship safety], downloaded from https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/2007-02-16-9?q=avfall%20skip, 2021.09.02

Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries (2019): Lov om havner og farvann [Law on Ports and Fairways], downloaded from <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/NL/lov/2019-06-21-70</u>, 2021.02.22

Ministry of Trade Industry and Fisheries (2021): Meld. St. 10 (2020-2021) Grønnere og smartere - morgendagens maritime næring [White Paper 10 Greener and smarter - tomorrow's maritime industry], downloaded from

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/391f633b512b4866a4193ba67be27c3b/no/pdfs /stm202020210010000dddpdfs.pdf, 2021.06.16

Ministry of Transport (2015): Nasjonal havnestrategi [National Port Strategy]. Ministry of Transport:

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/7a2d341125bc485ebdb0065e5ad1db05/nasjona I havnestrategi 21012015.pdf

Ministry of Transport (2017): Nasjonal Transportplan 2018-2029 [National Transport Plan 2018-2029] Report to the Storting No. 33 (2016-2017), Ministry of Transport and Communications,: Oslo <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-st.-33-20162017/id2546287/</u>

Ministry of Transport (2020): Iverksettingsrundskriv N-2/2020 - Ny havne- og farvannslov og oppheving av Iverksettingsrundskriv: Ny havne- og farvannslov av 9.12.2009 [Implementation memo N-2/2020 New regulation on ports and waterways], downloaded from

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/700b761b440145a6ac393217ea0b2292/nyhavne--og-farvannslov---utsendelse-av-iverksettingsrundskriv-pdf.pdf, 2021.06.16

Ministry of Transport (2021): Nasjonal Transportplan 2022-2033 [National Transport Plan 2022-2033], downloaded from

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/fab417af0b8e4b5694591450f7dc6969/no/pdfs/ stm202020210020000dddpdfs.pdf, 2021.06.16

Moon, D. S.-H. & J. K. Woo (2014): *The impact of port operations on efficient ship operation from both economic and environmental perspectives*, Maritime Policy & Management, 41 5, pp. 444-461 10.1080/03088839.2014.931607

Morone, P., A. Lopolito, D. Anguilano, E. Sica & V. E. Tartiu (2016): *Unpacking landscape pressures on socio-technical regimes: Insights on the urban waste management system*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 20 pp. 62-74 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.10.005</u>

Mullen, C. & G. Marsden (2016): *Mobility justice in low carbon energy transitions,* Energy Research & Social Science, 18 pp. 109-117 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.03.026</u>

Naber, R., R. Raven, M. Kouw & T. Dassen (2017): *Scaling up sustainable energy innovations? Smart grids in the Netherlands*, Energy Policy, 110 pp. 342-354 10.1016/j.enpol.2017.07.056

Nilsson, M. & B. Nykvist (2016): *Governing the electric vehicle transition – Near term interventions to support a green energy economy*, Applied Energy, 179 pp. 1360-1371

Nordlys (2012): Hva er galt med Tromsø? <u>https://www.nordlys.no/nyheter/hva-er-galt-med-tromso/s/1-79-6099862</u>, June 25th 2018

Norwegian Coastal Administration (2020): Tilskudd til investering i effektive og miljøvennlige havner // Investment grants for efficient and environmentally friendly ports (Norw. only), downloaded from https://www.kystverket.no/Maritim-infrastruktur/Havner/tilskudd-til-effektive-og-miljovennlige-havner/, 2021.04.21

Norwegian Coastal Administration (2021): Tilskudd til godsoverføring fra vei til sjø // Investment grants for shifting goods from road to sea downloaded from <u>https://www.kystverket.no/sjotransport-og-havn/tilskuddsordninger/tilskudd-til-godsoverforing-fra-vei-til-sjo/</u>, 2021.09.02

Norwegian Government (2019a): The Government's action plan for green shipping, downloaded from

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/2ccd2f4e14d44bc88c93ac4effe78b2f/thegovernments-action-plan-for-green-shipping.pdf, 2021.06.16

Norwegian Government (2019b): Handlingsplan for infrastruktur for alternative drivstoff i transport//Action plan for infrastructure for alternative fuels in transport, downloaded from https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/67c3cd4b5256447984c17073b3988dc3/handlingsplan-for-infrastruktur-for-alternative-drivstoff.pdf, 2021.06.16

Norwegian Maritime Authority (2017): Utslipp til luft og sjø fra skipsfart i fjordområder med stor cruisetrafikk/Air and water emissions from vessels in fjords with heavy cruise traffic (Norw. only), downloaded from

https://www.sdir.no/contentassets/aa3110d909b74450b4f2dcf23d370280/direktoratetsrapport-og-underliggende-dokumentasjon-samlet-utgave.pdf?t=1619166401528, 2021.04.23

NTB (2021): Press releases about Port of Oslo, downloaded from <u>https://kommunikasjon.ntb.no/presserom/oslo-havn/r?publisherId=4639457</u>, 2021.05.10

Nykvist, B. & L. Whitmarsh (2008): A multi-level analysis of sustainable mobility transitions: Niche development in the UK and Sweden, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 75 9, pp. 1373-1387 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2008.05.006</u>

Oakley, S. (2005): Working Port or Lifestyle Port? A Preliminary Analysis of the Port Adelaide Waterfront Redevelopment, Geographical Research, 43 3, pp. 319-326 10.1111/j.1745-5871.2005.00331.x

Oers, L. v., G. Feola, E. Moores & H. Runhaar (2021): *The politics of deliberate destabilisation*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 40 pp. 159-171 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2021.06.003</u>

Official Norwegian Report (2018): Sjøveien videre [Sea routes to come]. Official Norwegian Report 2018:14, Oslo

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/c6840d9ad8b74cd5ab7f12781626c4f1/no/pdfs/ nou201820180004000dddpdfs.pdf (Norwegian only)

Papachristos, G., A. Sofianos & E. Adamides (2013): *System interactions in socio-technical transitions: Extending the multi-level perspective*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 7 pp. 53-69 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2013.03.002</u>

Partzsch, L. (2017): 'Power with' and 'power to' in environmental politics and the transition to sustainability, Environmental Politics, 26 2, pp. 193-211 10.1080/09644016.2016.1256961

Penna, C. C. R. & F. W. Geels (2015): *Climate change and the slow reorientation of the American car industry (1979–2012): An application and extension of the Dialectic Issue LifeCycle (DILC) model*, Research Policy, 44 5, pp. 1029-1048 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.11.010

Pesch, U. (2015): *Tracing discursive space: Agency and change in sustainability transitions*, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 90 pp. 379-388 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.05.009</u>

Pfadenhauer, M. (2009): At Eye-level: the expert interview - a talk between expert and quasi-expert. In Bogner, A. et al., "Interviewing experts". 81-97. Houndsmill:Palgrave Macmillan

Pinch, T. J. & W. E. Bijker (1984): *The Social Construction of Facts and Artefacts: or How the Sociology of Science and the Sociology of Technology might Benefit Each Other*, Social Studies of Science, 14 3, pp. 399-441 10.1177/030631284014003004

Poland, B., C. Buse, P. Antze, R. Haluza-DeLay, C. Ling, L. Newman, A.-A. Parent, C. Teelucksingh, R. Cohen, R. Hasdell, K. Hayes, S. Massot & M. Zook (2019): *The emergence of the transition movement in Canada: success and impact through the eyes of initiative leaders*, Local Environment, 24 3, pp. 180-200 10.1080/13549839.2018.1555579

Port of Kristiansand (2016): Action plan for shore power // Handlingsplan for landstrøm, downloaded from <u>https://www.portofkristiansand.no/filer/Landstr%C3%B8mplan-</u> <u>Kristiansand-Havn.pdf</u>, 2021.09.02

Port of Oslo (2012): Action plan for shore power in the Port of Oslo. Port of Oslo: Oslo <u>https://www.oslohavn.no/filestore/PDF/2012/Planer/20121127Handlingsplanforlandstrm.p</u> <u>df</u>

Port of Oslo (2015): Blue-Green strategy in Port of Oslo 2013-2023// Blågrønn strategi i Oslo havn 2013-2023. Port of Oslo: Oslo

https://www.oslohavn.no/filestore/Bildearkiv/Milj/2015BlgrnnstrategiiOsloHavn.pdf

Port of Oslo (2017): Climate Strategy Port of Oslo. More transport on sea, downloaded from http://www.ohv.oslo.no/filestore/Milj/2017Mertransportpsj-KlimastrategiiOsloHavn2.pdf, January 10 2020

Port of Oslo (2018): Zero Emission Action Plan, downloaded from <u>https://www.klimaoslo.no/wp-content/uploads/sites/88/2019/03/Action-Plan-Port-of-Oslo-as-a-zero-emission-port.pdf</u>, 2021.04.23

Port of Oslo (2020): Sydhavna som nullutslippshavn // Sout Port as zero emission port, downloaded from https://devweb.oslohavn.no/globalassets/oslo-havn/dokumenter/oslo-havn-publikasjoner-2021/20210224-brosjyre-sydhavna-som-nullutslippshavn-web.pdf,

Port of Rotterdam (2021): Throughput recovers in second half year at the fully operational port of Rotterdam, downloaded from <u>https://www.portofrotterdam.com/en/news-and-press-releases/throughput-recovers-second-half-year-fully-operational-port-rotterdam</u>, 2021.09.01

Ports of Norway (2017): Infrastruktur for alternative drivstoff i havn//Infrastructure for alternative fuels in ports. Ports of Norway: Oslo

Poulsen, R. T., S. Ponte & H. Sornn-Friese (2018): *Environmental upgrading in global value chains: The potential and limitations of ports in the greening of maritime transport,* Geoforum, 89 pp. 83-95 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.01.011</u>

Prayag, G., L. K. Ozanne, R. Martin-Neuninger & P. Fieger (2020): *Integrating MLP and 'after ANT' to understand perceptions and responses of regime actors to Airbnb*, Current Issues in Tourism, pp. 1-18 10.1080/13683500.2020.1768226

Puig, M., C. Wooldridge & R. M. Darbra (2014): *Identification and selection of Environmental Performance Indicators for sustainable port development*, Marine Pollution Bulletin, 81 1, pp. 124-130 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.02.006</u>

Ramos, V., R. Carballo, M. Álvarez, M. Sánchez & G. Iglesias (2014): *A port towards energy self-sufficiency using tidal stream power*, Energy, 71 pp. 432-444 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2014.04.098

Raven, R., F. Kern, B. Verhees & A. Smith (2016): *Niche construction and empowerment through socio-political work. A meta-analysis of six low-carbon technology cases,* Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 18 pp. 164-180

Raven, R., J. Schot & F. Berkhout (2012): *Space and scale in socio-technical transitions*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 4 pp. 63-78 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2012.08.001</u>

Raven, R. & G. Verbong (2007): *Multi-Regime Interactions in the Dutch Energy Sector: The Case of Combined Heat and Power Technologies in the Netherlands 1970–2000,* Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 19 4, pp. 491-507 10.1080/09537320701403441

Rip, A. & R. Kemp (1998): Technological change. In Rayner, S. and Malone, E. L., "Human choice and climate change". 327-399. Columbus, Ohio:Batelle Press

Rogge, K. S., B. Pfluger & F. W. Geels (2020): *Transformative policy mixes in socio-technical scenarios: The case of the low-carbon transition of the German electricity system (2010–2050)*, Technological Forecasting & Social Change, 151 pp. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.04.002

Rogge, K. S. & K. Reichardt (2016): *Policy mixes for sustainability transitions: An extended concept and framework for analysis*, Research Policy, 45 8, pp. 1620-1635 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.04.004

Rohracher, H. (2003): *The role of users in the social shaping environmental technologies*, Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research, 16 2, pp. 177-192 https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610304516

Rosenbloom, D. (2020): *Engaging with multi-system interactions in sustainability transitions: A comment on the transitions research agenda*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 34 pp. 336-340 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.10.003</u>

Russell, S. & R. Williams (2002): Social shaping of technology: frameworks, findings and implications for policy with glossary of social shaping concepts, Shaping technology, guiding policy: Concepts, spaces and tools, pp. 37-132

Ryghaug, M. (2002): Å bringe tekster i tale - mulige metodiske innfallsvinkler til tekstanalyse i statsvitenskap, Norsk statsvitenskapelig tidsskrift, 18 pp. 303-327

Ryghaug, M. & T. M. Skjølsvold (2021): Pilot Society and the Energy Transition. The coshaping of innovation, participation and politics. Cham, Switzerland:Palgrave Macmillan

SAPEA (2021): A Systemic Approach to the Energy Transition in Europe. 978-3-9820301-9-7, Science Advice for Policy by European Academies: Berlin <u>https://www.sapea.info/wp-content/uploads/energy-transition-report.pdf</u>

Schipper, C. A., H. Vreugdenhil & M. P. C. de Jong (2017): *A sustainability assessment of ports and port-city plans: Comparing ambitions with achievements*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 57 pp. 84-111 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.08.017</u>

Schmidt, T. S. & S. Sewerin (2019): *Measuring the temporal dynamics of policy mixes – An empirical analysis of renewable energy policy mixes' balance and design features in nine countries*, Research Policy, 48 10, pp. 103557 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.03.012</u>

Schot, J. & F. W. Geels (2008): *Strategic niche management and sustainable innovation journeys: theory, findings, research agenda, and policy,* Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 20 5, pp. 537-554 10.1080/09537320802292651

Schot, J. & L. Kanger (2018): *Deep transitions: Emergence, acceleration, stabilization and directionality,* Research Policy, 47 6, pp. 1045-1059 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.03.009

Schot, J., L. Kanger & G. Verbong (2016): *The roles of users in shaping transitions to new energy systems*, Nature Energy, 1 pp. 16054 10.1038/nenergy.2016.54

Seyfang, G., A. Haxeltine, T. Hargreaves & N. Longhurst (2010): Energy and communities in transition: Towards a new research agenda on agency and civil society in sustainability transitions. CSERGE Working Paper EDM No. 10-13, University of East Anglia, The Centre for Social and Economic Research on the Global Environment (CSERGE): Norwich https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/48803/1/636134792.pdf

Shove, E. & G. Walker (2007): *Caution! Transitions Ahead: Politics, Practice, and Sustainable Transition Management*, Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space, 39 4, pp. 763-770

Sislian, L., A. Jaegler & P. Cariou (2016): *A literature review on port sustainability and ocean's carrier network problem*, Research in Transportation Business & Management, 19 pp. 19-26 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2016.03.005</u>

Skjølsvold, T. M. (2015): Vitenskap, teknologi og samfunn. En introduksjon til STS // Science, technology and society. An introduction to STS. Oslo:Cappelen Damm Akademisk

Skjølsvold, T. M., I. M. Henriksen & M. Ryghaug (2022): *Beyond the car: how electric vehicles may enable new forms of material politics at the intersection of the smart grid and smart city*, Urban Geography, pp. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02723638.2022.2044692</u>

Skjølsvold, T. M. & M. Ryghaug (2020): *Temporal echoes and cross-geography policy effects: Multiple levels of transition governance and the electric vehicle breakthrough*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 35 pp. 232-240 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.06.004</u> Skjølsvold, T. M., W. Throndsen, M. Ryghaug, I. F. Fjellså & G. H. Koksvik (2018): Orchestrating households as collectives of participation in the distributed energy transition: New empirical and conceptual insights, Energy Research & Social Science, 46 pp. 252-261 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.07.035

Smith, A., T. Hargreaves, S. Hielscher, M. Martiskainen & G. Seyfang (2016): *Making the most of community energies: Three perspectives on grassroots innovation*, Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space, 48 2, pp. 407-432 10.1177/0308518x15597908

Smith, A. & R. Raven (2012): *What is protective space? Reconsidering niches in transitions to sustainability*, Research Policy, 41 6, pp. 1025-1036 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.12.012

Smith, A. & A. Stirling (2010): *The Politics of Social-ecological Resilience and Sustainable Socio-technical Transitions*, Ecology and Society, 15 1, pp. 11

Smith, A., A. Stirling & F. Berkhout (2005): *The governance of sustainable socio-technical transitions*, Research Policy, 34 10, pp. 1491-1510 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.07.005

Smith, A., J.-P. Voß & J. Grin (2010): Innovation studies and sustainability transitions: The allure of the multi-level perspective and its challenges, Research Policy, 39 4, pp. 435-448

Solomon, B. D. & K. Krishna (2011): *The coming sustainable energy transition: History, strategies, and outlook,* Energy Policy, 39 11, pp. 7422-7431 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.09.009

Sopjani, L., J. J. Stier, S. Ritzén, M. Hesselgren & P. Georén (2019): *Involving users and user roles in the transition to sustainable mobility systems: The case of light electric vehicle sharing in Sweden*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 71 pp. 207-221 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2018.12.011</u>

Sornn-Friese, H., R. T. Poulsen, A. U. Nowinska & P. de Langen (2021): *What drives ports around the world to adopt air emissions abatement measures?*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 90 pp. 102644 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102644

Sorrell, S. (2018): *Explaining sociotechnical transitions: A critical realist perspective*, Research Policy, 47 7, pp. 1267-1282 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.04.008</u>

Sovacool, B. K. (2016): *How long will it take? Conceptualizing the temporal dynamics of energy transitions*, Energy Research & Social Science, 13 pp. 202-215 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.12.020</u>

Sovacool, B. K. (2017): *Experts, theories, and electric mobility transitions: Toward an integrated conceptual framework for the adoption of electric vehicles,* Energy Research & Social Science, 27 pp. 78-95 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.02.014</u>

Sovacool, B. K. & D. J. Hess (2017): Ordering theories: Typologies and conceptual frameworks for sociotechnical change, Social Studies of Science, 47 5, pp. 703-750 10.1177/0306312717709363

Sovacool, B. K., D. J. Hess, S. Amir, F. W. Geels, R. Hirsh, L. Rodriguez Medina, C. Miller, C. Alvial Palavicino, R. Phadke, M. Ryghaug, J. Schot, A. Silvast, J. Stephens, A. Stirling, B. Turnheim, E. van der Vleuten, H. van Lente & S. Yearley (2020a): *Sociotechnical agendas:*

Reviewing future directions for energy and climate research, Energy Research & Social Science, 70 pp. 101617 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101617</u>

Sovacool, B. K., B. Turnheim, M. Martiskainen, D. Brown & P. Kivimaa (2020b): *Guides or gatekeepers? Incumbent-oriented transition intermediaries in a low-carbon era*, Energy Research & Social Science, 66 pp. 101490 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101490</u>

Spiro, E. S., R. M. Acton & C. T. Butts (2013): *Extended structures of mediation: Re-examining brokerage in dynamic networks*, Social Networks, 35 1, pp. 130-143 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socnet.2013.02.001</u>

Statistics Norway (2021a): Table 09518: Port calls per quarter, by port, flag, quater and statistical variables, downloaded from https://www.ssb.no/statbank/table/09518/tableViewLayout1/, 2021.09.01

Statistics Norway (2021b): Table 13233: Port calls per year, by vessel type, flag, year, port and statistical variables, downloaded from https://www.ssb.no/statbank/table/13233/, 2021.09.01

Steen, M. & T. Weaver (2017): *Incumbents' diversification and cross-sectorial energy industry dynamics*, Research Policy, 46 6, pp. 1071-1086 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.04.001

Stewart, J. K. & S. Hyysalo (2008): *Intermediaries, users and social learning in technological innovation*, International Journal of Innovation Management, 12 3, pp. 295-325

Styhre, L., H. Winnes, J. Black, J. Lee & H. Le-Griffin (2017): *Greenhouse gas emissions from ships in ports – Case studies in four continents*, Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 54 pp. 212-224 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.04.033</u>

Svensson, O. & A. Nikoleris (2018): *Structure reconsidered: Towards new foundations of explanatory transitions theory*, Research Policy, 47 2, pp. 462-473 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.12.007

Söderholm, K. (2013): *Governing socio-technical transitions: historical lessons from the implementation of centralized water and swere systems in NOrthern Sweden 1900-1950,* Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 7 37-52, pp. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2013.03.001

Sørensen, K. H., V. A. Lagesen & T. S. M. Hojem (2018): *Articulations of mundane transition work among consulting engineers*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 28 pp. 70-78 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2018.02.003</u>

Telemarksavisa (2009): Demonstrerer mot storhavn på Auen. Telemarksavisa, <u>https://www.ta.no/grenland/demonstrerer-mot-storhavn-pa-auen/s/1-111-4396347</u>, June 25th 2018

The NOx Fund (2021): The NOx Fund, downloaded from https://www.noxfondet.no/en/, 2022.04.19

Torkjazi, M., N. Huynh & S. Shiri (2018): *Truck appointment systems considering impact to drayage truck tours*, Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review, 116 pp. 208-228 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2018.06.003</u>

Unruh, G. C. (2000): *Understanding carbon lock-in*, Energy Policy, 28 pp. 817-830 10.1016/S0301-4215(00)00070-7

Van der Brugge, R., J. Rotmans & D. Loorbach (2005): *The transition in Dutch water mangement*, Regional Environmental Change, 5 pp. 164-176 10.1007/s10113-004-0086-7

van der Lugt, L., M. Dooms & F. Parola (2013): *Strategy making by hybrid organizations: The case of the port authority*, Research in Transportation Business & Management, 8 pp. 103-113 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2013.06.005</u>

van Lente, H., W. P. C. Boon & L. Klerkx (2020): *Positioning of systemic intermediaries in sustainability transitions: Between storylines and speech acts,* Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 36 pp. 485-497 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.02.006</u>

van Welie, M. J. & H. A. Romijn (2018): *NGOs fostering transitions towards sustainable urban* sanitation in low-income countries: Insights from Transition Management and Development *Studies*, Environmental Science & Policy, 84 pp. 250-260 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.08.011</u>

Verhoeven, P. (2010): A review of port authority functions: towards a renaissance?, Maritime Policy & Management, 37 3, pp. 247-270 10.1080/03088831003700645

Voß, J.-P., A. Smith & J. Grin (2009): *Designing long-term policy: rethinking transition management*, Policy Sciences, 42 4, pp. 275-302 10.1007/s11077-009-9103-5

Vähäkari, N., V. Lauttamäki, P. Tapio, M. Ahvenainen, T. Assmuth, J. Lyytimäki & J. Vehmas (2020): *The future in sustainability transitions - Interlinkages between the multi-level perspective and futures studies*, Futures, 123 pp. 102597 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2020.102597

Wainstein, M. E. & A. G. Bumpus (2016): *Business models as drivers of the low carbon power system transition: a multi-level perspective*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 126 pp. 572-585

Wang, H. (2014): *Preliminary investigation of waterfront redevelopment in Chinese coastal port cities: the case of the eastern Dalian port areas*, Journal of Transport Geography, 40 pp. 29-42 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2014.02.012</u>

Weber, K. M. & H. Rohracher (2012): *Legitimizing research, technology and innovation policies for transformative change: Combining insights from innovation systems and multilevel perspective in a comprehensive 'failures' framework*, Research Policy, 41 6, pp. 1037-1047 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.10.015</u>

Weingart, P. (1997): From "Finalization" to "Mode 2": old wine in new bottles?, Social Science Information, 36 4, pp. 591-613 10.1177/053901897036004002

Wells, P. & P. Nieuwenhuis (2012): *Transition failure: Understanding continuity in the automotive industry*, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 79 9, pp. 1681-1692 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2012.06.008

Westley, F., P. Olsson, C. Folke, T. Homer-Dixon, H. Vredenburg, D. Loorbach, J. Thompson, M. Nilsson, E. Lambin, J. Sendzimir, B. Banerjee, V. Galaz & S. van der Leeuw (2011): *Tipping Toward Sustainability: Emerging Pathways of Transformation*, AMBIO, 407, pp. 762 10.1007/s13280-011-0186-9

Williams, R. & D. Edge (1996): *The social shaping of technology*, Research Policy, 25 6, pp. 865-899 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-7333(96)00885-2</u>

Wittmayer, J. M., F. Avelino, F. van Steenbergen & D. Loorbach (2017): *Actor roles in transition: Insights from sociological perspectives*, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 24 pp. 45-56 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2016.10.003</u>

Wittmayer, J. M. & D. Loorbach (2016): Governing Transitions in Cities: Fostering Alternative Ideas, Practices, and Social Relations Through Transition Management. In Loorbach, D. et al., "Governance of Urban Sustainability Transitions. European and Asian Experiences". 13-32. Springer

Appendixes

Appendix A. Interview guide Paper 1 and Paper 2

Α	Surroundings
A1	Could you tell us about [your organization] and its work with climate and environment?
A2	What surroundings are more important to [your organization] when it comes to energy and climate? Mandate/allocations
	Budgets
	Political guidance/orders
	Decision/planning processes
	Collaboration partners (formal, informal)
	Other public actors/levels
	Private industries/corporations
	Interest organizations
A3	What relations does [the organization] have with the port in Oslo/Narvik/Kristiansand?
A4	Is [your organization] required to abide by particular public rules, regulations, laws, guidelines, etc., when it comes
	to [the organization's] relation with the port? Could you elaborate on these?
	What about (adjusted to each informant):
	Lecrinical standards, product specifications
	Subsidies, other allocations and support
	• Object clauses
	Mandates/allocations
	 Procedure requirements (e.g., with regard to decision-making, fund allocation, measure implementation)
A5	How would you describe the port's functions today?
	Goods handling
	Transport
	Industry and production
	Workplace
	Premise provider
16	Access to energy sources
Ab	what functions do you think the port/ports should have in the future?
D	The organization and zero omission ports
B	The organization and zero-emission ports
B B1	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do
B B1 B2	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port?
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port?
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have?
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography
B B1 B2 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets
B B1 B2 B3 B3 B4	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets
B B1 B2 B3 B3 B4	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets
B B1 B2 B3 B3 B4	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port?
B B1 B2 B3 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port? Regulation Economy Bestonsplitting
B B1 B2 B3 B3 B4	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port? Regulation Economy Responsibilities Political priorities
B B1 B2 B3 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port? Regulation Economy Responsibilities Political priorities Collaboration
B B1 B2 B3 B3	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port? Regulation Economy Responsibilities Political priorities Collaboration
B B1 B2 B3 B3 B4 B4	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port? Regulation Economy Responsibilities Political priorities Collaboration
B B1 B2 B3 B3 B4 B4 B5 B6	The organization and zero-emission ports How would you describe the goals and visions for emission reductions and energy in [your organization]? Why do you have these goals? How do you consider the role of [your organization] in reducing emissions in and outside the port? How do you experience the ability of [your organization] to work for reduced emissions in and outside the port? What do you (not) have? Knowledge and competence about technology Best available technology Ability to influence other actors Make use of relations with other actors Capital to invest Economic predictability/solidity Infrastructure/material Access to energy sources Personal contacts/networks Localities/geography Competition/markets What does [your organization] consider to be the most important challenges and issues when it comes to reducing emissions in and around the port? Regulation Economy Responsibilities Political priorities Collaboration Do you have any thoughts on how to deal with these? Does [your organization] work with specific measures or solutions to reduce emissions in and outside the port?

	Planned
B7	How does [your organization] experience pressure to work for emission reductions?
	How
	Why
B8	What expectations does [your organization] have of other actors when it comes to reducing emissions from
	activities related to the port/ports? Who is responsible?
B9	How important do you consider it that the port and port actors move in the direction of zero emissions?
	Why
	How
С	Rewards and sanctions
C1	What consequences will it have for [your organization] to work for emission reductions? Short and long term
	Mandate/resource allocation/economy
	Reputation and relation with collaboration partners
	Public reputation
C2	What consequences will it have for [your organization] <i>if it does not</i> work for emission reductions? Short and long
	term
	Mandate/resource allocation/economy
	Population and relation with collaboration partners
1	Reputation and relation with conaboration partners
	Public reputation

Appendix B. Overview of actors interviewed and the use of interview data.

		Paper1	Paper2	Paper3	Background
	Port of Narvik				х
Port authorities	Port of Kristiansand		Х		
	Port of Oslo	Х	Х	Х	
	City of Narvik				Х
Local authorities	City of Kristiansand		Х		
	City of Oslo	Х	Х	Х	
Regional authorities	Agder County		Х		
Regional authorities	BaneNOR		Х		
National authoritics	Norwegian Coastal				X
National authorities	Administration				X
Terminal operators	Yilport	Х	х		
	Green Carrier		Х		
	Glencore		Х		
	LKAB				х
Port users	Heidelberg	Х	Х	Х	
	Skanska	х	Х	Х	
	GC Rieber Salt	Х	Х	Х	
	Samskip	Х			
	DB Schenker	Х			
Manistra Transment Drawidana	Norlines		Х		
Manume transport Providers	DFDS			х	
	ColorLine	х	Х	Х	
	Stena Line			х	
	Bring		Х		
	Agder Kollektivtrafikk				х
Road transport providers	DB Schenker	х			
	Norlines		Х		
	Gasnor		Х		
En energia presidente	Agder Energi		Х		
Energy providers	Naturgass Nord				х
	Hafslund	Х	Х	Х	
	Norwegian Ports				Х
Trada and interest experimetions	Norwegian Coastal				v
frade and-interest organizations	Shipowners				X
	GCE NODE		Х		
	Zero			Х	



ISBN 978-82-326-5344-7 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-5781-0 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

